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Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of Golden
Wheel Tiandi Holdings Company Limited (“Golden Wheel” or the “Company”)
and its subsidiaries (together, the “Group”), I am pleased to present the annual
results of Golden Wheel for the year ended 31 December 2021 (the “Year”) to our

shareholders.

\ AW R B D
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Chairman’s Statement

OVERALL REVIEW

The COVID-19 pandemic has affected millions of individuals and has adversely
impacted worldwide economies, including the People’s Republic of China (“PRC”),
where the Group has significant land bank and operations. The Group’s operations
in the PRC were first, and critically, affected by the COVID-19 pandemic in the
first half of 2020 given, amongst others, the suspension in construction and sales
activities as well as the complete closure of certain of the Group’s hotels in the PRC
for a period of time, as required by the local authorities. Further, since mid-2021, a
number of high-profile Chinese property developers began to experience difficulties
in securing external financing from PRC banks and offshore capital markets. The
onshore bank lending and the offshore capital markets that have funded the growth
and development of the PRC real estate sector have experienced an unprecedented
inflection point. The Group, like many companies in the PRC real estate sector, has
been severely and negatively affected by this downturn affecting the PRC real estate

sector in the following respects:

406 33 i 2 22 1)
Wuxi Golden Wheel Starry Plaza

2021 4E JE# % ANNUAL REPORT 2021

7



8

F
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(a)

Difficulty raising onshore and offshore financing:

Since mid-2021, the Group, like many companies in the PRC real estate
sector, has been unable to access typical financing channels, such as bank
lending and capital markets for equity and debt. Reduced bank lending for
real estate development has resulted in reduced access by property developers
to onshore capital. In addition, reduced bank lending for mortgage finance for
buyers, as well as concerns of buyers about future property price movements
and the ability of property developers to complete projects have resulted in
reduced property sales. Adverse reaction to these onshore events by offshore
capital markets has limited the Group’s funding sources to address upcoming
maturity on its outstanding indebtedness. The offshore bond market,
on which the Group relies heavily for refinancing and growth capital, is
effectively not available for private-owned Chinese property developers. The
difficulty faced by the Group in raising onshore and offshore financing has

significantly exacerbated its current liquidity pressures.
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Huafu
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(b)

F s
Chairman’s Statement

Decrease cash flows and liquidity in a deteriorating market:

In light of the tightened government policies, the multiple high-profile credit
events and the deteriorating consumer sentiment in the PRC real estate sector,
sales for residential property in the PRC has shown a significant slowdown
and prices for residential properties also suffered a substantial reduction. Many
of the Company’s subsidiaries had recorded a decrease in its accumulated
attributable contracted sales, a decrease in gross profit margin and a decrease
in the cash collection rate for the second half of 2021 as compared with the
corresponding period in 2020, which reflects a deteriorating real estate market.
The market downturn has, in turn, materially and adversely impacted the
Group’s ability to realise its inventory or implement any significant disposal
of its investment properties to generate sufficient cash to service its debts in
a timely manner and sustain its operations. The introduction of tightened
measures by local governments also led to a substantial increase in the cost of

compliance, which has further hampered the Group’s ability to raise cash from

the sale of developed properties.
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20214 JE# % ANNUAL REPORT 2021

9



10

F
Chairman’s Statement

SR > J T HERFA SR B I W B) & K UL R B AT
fraEss - AEEO MR T HE G - WM
KIETE B fronsk g Tt i &

DRI » 74 2 A 4 A0 1) 40 B BRI IR S s o
BE-_FZ—F+_A=+—HILFE &£
BEHEEGBMCELBEAFAERSAMERE
Kt ARAMEE A ZI ARE48211 58
TR A R2308.1 HETC

BE_Z-—FTHA=Z+T—HIEFE A%
P F) ) SE AR B O O R ST 2 8 ol B B 1
K- o 7 42 B W SE B ST T 8 8 SE 7 i i
IR E R R T 10.4% -

Je 3R 3

S ERAE TS 4 32 Bl COVID-19 K 16 HY 3 28 o
CIZE Ve VWP E ¥ Ed: Mok
4R ) E B BT LE ) R I ) R AR I
COVID-19 1 M % 2 - COVID-19% 16 R T2
1817 T 5% A A B Y JE R - S (O g
Gy F A o B 2 A IR W B R
Hh R ) 2 B (A RS A B 5 i) SR AR
B N3 ARSI 5 R i) iy 28 1 6 i B 6 1
o RBHE KRB E S8 EARREAR
I 353 B TR 3 B JC A 18 0 o 468 v B v o Rt
B E 47 B2 TR 4 it 4 38 COVID-19 & 1 9 9 )%
870 COVID-19 8 1 1 9 0 S i 28 > 3 o — 25 f
tH 2 T BUOR DA A A 0 8 i SR s A
B > B COVID-19 % 15 0 R &5 > TR H A
T R L S T A L AR AR AR o B R
W o ZMMBIK (45 B) Fe 4 A KB —
A58 5% 1T 48 8 B B AR TROEL At PR T R RS e o Bl
Z T 1 D5 AR B T R AR — 4 T i o R R W
M E -

Nevertheless, in order to maintain the Group’s liquidity position and fulfill its
payment obligations, the Group has accelerated its pre-sale activities, together with

offering a significant discount on its projects in order to increase sales.

As a result, the Group has achieved a record high contracted sales during the
year. For the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group and its joint ventures and
associates achieved total contracted sales and attributable contracted sales amounting
to RMB4,821.1 million and RMB2,308.1 million, respectively.

Property leasing and hotel operation businesses of the Group have mostly returned
to pre-pandemic period for the year ended 31 December 2021. The Group’s revenue
in property leasing and hotel operation business had increased by 10.4% when

compared to the corresponding year of 2020.

FUTURE OUTLOOK

The global economy continues to be affected by the effects of the COVID-19
pandemic. The PRC real estate sector is no exception and continues to be impacted
by continuing regional outbreaks of COVID-19 in China, including cities where
the Group’s major businesses are located. The COVID-19 pandemic has continued
to affect the business operations of the Group in multiple aspects, including, among
others, (i) a slowdown in property sales and a decrease in property sale prices and
rental lease income in the PRC due to deteriorating consumer sentiment in the PRC;
(ii) increased costs in raw materials and manpower; and (iii) increased difficulty
and costs in accessing global capital markets due to overall negative investor
sentiment, significant volatility and liquidity disruptions. While the PRC central
and local governments have taken various measures to manage COVID-19 cases and
reduce potential spread and impact of the COVID-19 pandemic, and have further
introduced various policies to boost the economy and stimulate the local property
markets, the COVID-19 pandemic is far from over, especially with the emergence of
new variants, such as the Delta variant and the Omicron variant. Different countries,
including China, continue to suffer the impact of renewed lockdowns and other
restrictive measures imposed in light of further waves of outbreaks. The combination
of the above circumstances has resulted in a significant uncertainty which the Group

is facing in the coming year.
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Chairman’s Statement

Since the beginning of 2022, there has been a significant change in the government’s
guidance for regulatory policy on the real estate sector. Though keeping the prices
of land and housing as well as market expectations stable and implementing city-
specific policies, the government aims to supporting the commodity housing market
better meeting the reasonable needs of homebuyers, so as to promote the virtuous

cycle and healthy development of the real estate industry.

The Group will continue its efforts to recover from the volatility in the China real
estate industry, and expedite the sales of properties and investment properties, and
collection of receivables, while maintaining more stringent cost control measures of

containment of discretionary capital expenditures.

In respect of the restructuring of our existing senior notes, as noted in the 14
January 2022 announcement, the Company has obtained strong support for the
proposed restructuring and the Cayman Scheme from the existing noteholders
representing more than 85% of the aggregate principal amount of the existing
notes. The Company is confident of the successful implementation of the Cayman
Scheme, pursuant to which the existing senior notes will be restructured. Once the
Cayman Scheme become effective, the maturity profile of the our senior notes will
be extended by 3 years, the interest rate of the New Notes will be decreased to 10%
and will only repay 10% and 25% of the principal amount for the first and second
year respectively, which will greatly ease and reduce the debt servicing pressure on

the Company and improve its overall financial condition.

Looking ahead, the Group will continue to carry out its core strategy, that is,
“focusing on the development and operation of projects that are physically connected
to metro stations or other transportation hub”. Together with the Group’s prudent
financial management, the Group believes it could maintain its competitive edge for

further development and expansion.

Wong Yam Yin

Chairman

30 March 2022
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Management Discussion and Analysis

M A NANJING

T T3 Completed properties

o S 8 25 Golden Wheel International Plaza

o & HGHEAT 4L Golden Wheel Walez

o %% K Golden Wheel Building

o %8 7% BE [ Golden Wheel Green Garden

o T 5% 35 % 4 [/ Nanjing Jade Garden

o G 4B IE Golden Wheel New Metro

o G 29645 P Golden Wheel Star Plaza

o 4 A 37 J7 Golden Wheel Star-cube

o B H A% % 7T Golden Wheel Jingiao Huafu

o 8 8T B R Golden Wheel Binary Star Plaza

o 7 5% 6 1L Nanjing Shiguang Shanhu

o B 5% 42 i I 7E 4 JE Nanjing Golden Wheel Romantic Tower
o T 5 4 #i /K ML ZE FE Nanjing Golden Wheel Shuiying Hua Ting

PH 3 49 % Properties under development

o T 5 4 #i 22 9E E BE Nanjing Golden Wheel Cuiyong Hua Ting
o B 5% 42 i AL 0 Nanjing Golden Wheel Galaxy Center

T 5 8 48 % 45 P Hotel operation and management

o B 5% 42 i 55 2% 7 J5 Nanjing Golden Wheel Atour Hotel
o 7 0 4 5 15 1 Nanjing Golden Wheel Courtyard Marriott

Hy AL B Metro leasing
o U{fl 35 2 1 metro station

BiM YANGZHOU
2% T4 Completed properties
o Bi Gz 2
Yangzhou Golden Wheel Star City
o BN E R BOS
Yangzhou Powerlong Golden Wheel Plaza
o BB R [ Yangzhou Lakeside Emerald House
o B E LR 2 Yangzhou Vanke Future Lighe

PH % B4 3 Properties under development

o B34 1 9% Yangzhou No.1 Golden Bay
o B B Yangzhou Kaichen Mansion

G
HUNAN

L3l
CHANGSHA o

L3
ZHUZHOU

#H suznou TL %%
Ho 8 B Metro leasing JIANGSU
o 44 35 25 4 metro stations
o WEE

8 WUXI LIAN YUNGANG

T T3 Completed properties
o 0685} 5 ¥ B )t 44 Wuxi Golden Wheel Star Plaza
o 85 S W W BE B M
Wuxi Golden Wheel Lakeside Orchid Garden YANGZHOU
PH 8% B4 3 Properties under development ﬁj jj‘( oF %ﬁ
o S H R NANJING , WUXI
Wuxi Golden Wheel Starry Plaza # }H O
Ho S B Metro leasing CHANGZHOU ﬁ w
: ‘ SUZHOU
o 12t B (8 11wt B i R A

12 metro stations (8 metro stations not yet operated)

% M CHANGZHOU

©% T3 Completed properties
o #HH 2 H5F Changzhou Junwang Jia Di

B 1 TAN YUNGANG

PH %5 H1 4 3 Properties under development

o i v #8518 K ¥ Golden Wheel Shangdu Age City Mansion
o [ AB I B Shangdu Fengjing

o TN IR Galaxy Light

o [ it B2 R Shangpin Xuefu

# ¥ HONG KONG

% T3 Completed properties
o G K Golden Wheel Plaza

IR 3
JIANGSU

IR
HUNAN

¥ CHANGSHA Hil
B3 T4 % Completed properties HONG KONG
o« RU AR LK Changsha Golden Wheel Star Plaza

Ho$H B Metro leasing
o 51 3 B (1 AR HE ) 5 mecro stations (not yet operated)

¥ zHuzHOU

T T4 Completed properties

o & REACE B Golden Wheel Time Square
o Bk 445 35 2% 4 [ Zhuzhou Golden Wheel Jade Garden
o BRI 48R EEAG HE I (— 1) Zhuzhou Golden Wheel Jingiao Huafu (Phase T)

BH 85 1) 2 Properties under development
o BRI 4 AR 22 (1) Zhuzhou Golden Wheel Jingiao Huafu (Phase IT)

20 K b B A B A il GOLDEN WHEEL TIANDI HOLDINGS COMPANY LIMITED
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Management Discussmn and Analysis

BUSINESS REVIEW

Contracted sales

The Group currently has 18 projects on sale. During the year, the Group has
launched the pre-sale of two new projects in Lianyungang and Yangzhou, namely
Galaxy Light and Kaichen Yuan, respectively. For the year ended 31 December
2021, the Group and its joint ventures and associates achieved total contracted sales
value and contracted sales area of approximately RMB4.82 billion (2020: RMB4.08
billion) and approximately 384,177 sq.m. (2020: 327,204 sq.m.), respectively.

Projects completed during 2021

The Group originally planned to complete and deliver four new projects in 2021.
Unfortunately, as affected by the COVID-19 pandemic, the Group had managed
only to complete and deliver two projects, namely, Golden Wheel Romantic Tower
and Golden Wheel Shuiying Hua Ting. Both of the projects are located in Nanjing.
Aggregate saleable gross floor area (“GFA”) of the newly completed projects
amounted to approximately 87,145 sq.m. As at 31 December 2021, an aggregate
GFA of approximately 61,372 sq.m. of these newly completed projects was sold and

delivered.

New land acquired during 2021 in mainland China

As affected by the COVID-19 pandemic, the Group adopted a more prudent
approach in new land acquisition during 2021. As a result, the Group did not
acquire any new land but only invested in one associate in 2021 in which the Group
has a 20% equity interest. The project of the new associate is located in Lianyungang
city, with a land area of 15,279 sq.m. The land cost of the project was RMB210

million.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

AR 48 ] A - M ot A
REZFBZ—E+ZH=+—H0 > AEEHA T
56 75 491,528,843 T 17 K > 46 102,658 F
HACRTHEAEEWE  §32819T HKkH
Y £9123,084 T HKERTHREVE 4
673,734F 75 K B 8 h ) 3 T 40 596,548 F- 75 K
AEAERBEAARENYE -

TREIAERR -F _—F+ A =+—H
9 36 76 H HESE -

AGHMEATZER Ul M

Projects by subsidiaries of the Group City Site area
Frk

sq.m.

PR

Completed properties

SRERES R 11,341

Golden Wheel International Plaza Nanjing

LRERE kS 2046

Golden Wheel Waltz Nanjing

AN | S 4918

Golden Wheel Building Nanjing

THRER [ 10,334

Golden Wheel Green Garden Nanjing

SRER il 81,615

Golden Wheel Star City Yangzhou

SRERIS il 13501

Golden Wheel Time Square Zhuzhou

HRERAR [ 7212

Nanjing Jade Garden Nanjing

SRAHE CIS 918

Golden Wheel New Metro Nanjing

SRENAE Bk 29,540

Golden Wheel Star Plaza Nanjing

ks B 45,645

Zhuzhou Golden Wheel Jade Garden Zhuzhou

EHERELAL 4 31981

Wauxi Golden Wheel Star Plaza Wuxi

SRETT [ 18,300

Golden Wheel Star-cube Nanjing

SREREN B 4628

Golden Wheel JinQiao Huafu Nanjing

Land bank of the Group

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had a total land bank of approximately
1,528,843 sq.m., including approximately 102,658 sq.m. of completed but unsold
properties, approximately 32,819 sq.m. of own used properties, approximately
123,084 sq.m. of completed investment properties, approximately 673,734 sq.m.
of properties under development and approximately 596,548 sq.m. of properties

developed by the joint ventures and associates.

The following table sets forth an overview of the Group’s property projects as at 31
December 2021:

i3
55/ o/ A Y|
e i ARgmRy ik RewmE
[ANEE ] RIAH LA BREmH BAETH BT
Actual/
estimated Actual/
construction estimated GFA held for Investment
commencement construction Percentage of  Total unsold GFA/ Company’s properties
date completion date completion Total GFA own use GFA
i &0 Fik Frk Frk
moneh/year montlyear sq.m. sq.m. sq.m.
FWELA FNE-A 100% 200 25 31,674
Jul-04 Jan-09
FNE-JI ~FE2 /] 100% = = 2,444
Jan-08 Feb-10
Z-£1A Z=H2R 100% = S 28
May-01 Feb-03
LIV FZELA 100% = 5 =
Aug-01 Sep-02
FNEM —WE=R 100% 5672 = 2977
Aug-08 Mar-14
FAELA —~ZHmA 100% 15 = =
May-09 Apr-12
——-} —~ZHE+2R 100% = = 3073
Jan-11 Dec-13
——FAR = | 100% 1 = 18357
Aug-11 Dec-13
——f+=4 ~IER A 100% 1732 = =
Nov-11 Jun-14
~ME=A —~ME+ZR 100% 8,905 = 1482
Dec-14 Dec-18
L i “NEFZA 100% 3809 = 19,625
Dec-14 Dec-16
L —~HMEFZR 100% 403 = 2181
Dec-14 Dec-16
—JE+ZA —tE+ZA 100% 482 - 2,742
Dec-14 Dec-17
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Projects by subsidiaries of the Group

RUSRELATE

Changsha Golden Wheel Star Plaza

L e

Yangzhou Lakeside Emerald House
EHRETERY

Golden Wheel Binary Star Plaza
EfRRRE

Wuxi Golden Wheel Lakeside Orchid Garden
L PN

Golden Wheel Plaza

i amERER )

Zhuzhou Golden Wheel Jingiao Huafu (Phase I)
HRERIEESE

Nanjing Golden Wheel Romantic Tower
)R s d

Nanjing Golden Wheel Shuiying Hua Ting

it

Subtotal

FshihE

Properties under development

U Rt

Zhuzhou Golden Wheel JinQiao Huafu (Phase IT)
HRERRTER

Nanjing Golden Wheel Cuiyong Hua Ting
EHeREEHN

Wuxi Golden Wheel Starry Plaza
HRERERTL

Nanjing Golden Wheel Galaxy Center

T EA- Ik

Yangzhou No. 1 Golden Bay

INet

Subtotal

it
Total

Ul

City

3
Changsha
i
Yangzhou
A
Nanjing
5
Wuxi
#i
Hong Kong
B
Zhuzhou
L
Nanjing
X
Nanjing

Ry
Zhuzhou
[
Nanjing
&5
Wuxi
S
Nanjing
i

Yangzhou

W

Site area
ik
sq.m.
37152
10,682
9,588
70,989
3
54,793

7,593

32,921

533,925

37582
59722
2410
101,845

19,890

246,309

782,234

{74
fht i
BTHY

Actual/
estimated

construction
commencement
date

7

month/year

—MiE+=A
Dec-14
—LiEAA
Jun-17
—~WELZA
Dec-14
—tE+-A
Dec-17
—NELA
May-18
—MNEZ
Mar-18
—tE+2A
Dec-17
—~NENA
Apr-18

—~NE=J]
Mar-18
— N
Apr-19
~NELA
May-19
25
Feb-20
25
Jan-20

K/
hitest
anik]

Actual/
estimated
construction
completion date

i

month/year

—tE+-A
Dec-17
—VEEA
May-19
“ETZA
Dec-19
“LEFZH
Dec-19
“FELR
Jul-20
“REFZA
Dec-20
“-HERR
Jun-21
~-E-
Jan-21

Percentage of

completion

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

90%

95%

85%

30%

9%
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Management Discussion and Analysis

il

Ak KA
AREmR A famE
BRETR AR f T
GFA held for Investment
Total unsold GFA/ Company’s properties
Total GFA own use GFA
FhE ik ik
sq.m. sq.m. sq.m.
10,722 10,307 10,970
11484 - 1045
1 19977 24403
6,205 - -
4828 - -
15,580 - 1673
14713 = =
11,060 - -
102,658 32819 123,084
170,596 - -
115,282 - 2,500
99,039 - 15,097
195,353 - 46,647
29,220 = -
609,490 - 64,244
712,148 32819 187,328

20214 JE# % ANNUAL REPORT 2021 :15



6 AL o w20 A

Management Discussion and Analysis

1
fw/ K/ A KA
Lif 1 sttt ST il 9t
AELERBRATNZER il Wit HWIRY anik] TLILH BFENT PETT PET
Actual/
estimated Actual/
construction estimated GFA held for Investment
commencement construction Percentage of  Total unsold GFA/ Company’s properties
Projects by joint ventures and associates City Site area date completion date completion Total GFA own use GFA
Tk i 4 Fik Fik Fik
sq.m. month/year month/year sq.m. sq.m. sq.m.
BN SIS don M 6Ly —METZA -RERCRA 100% 013 - 63,400
Yangzhou Powerlong Golden Wheel Plaza (49%) ™! Yangzhou Dec-14 Dec-16
ARREL s HA 143% ~tE+A —~NEER 100% 3500 - =
Nanjing Shiguang Shanhu (25%) ** Nanjing QOct-17 Jul-19
ENRRRE Q350" Ll 25  —LEFDS “REAA 100% 42373 - -
Changzhou Junwang Jia Di (13.33%) ¥ Changzhou Dec-17 May-20
BRARZ 0 i 2,137 ~NERRA WA 100% 9,38 = =
Vanke Future Light (20%) ¥ Yangzhou Jun-18 Apr-21
SRHAHLKRES BZE 72,096 - ZRECA 0% 158,695 - -
Golden Wheel Shangdu Age Cicy Mansion ™’ Lianyungang Jan-21 Dec-24
GEG BZi 17,605 “EEMR O ZEFHCA 80% 56,092 = =
Shangdu Fengjing "¢ Lianyungang Apr-20 Dec-23
SR BZE 41478 i ZIEERA 5% 9651 - -
Galay Light 7 Lianyungang Jan-21 Jun-24
N i 57,548 ZCEZR ZEFFZA 60% 94,826 - -
Yangzhou Kaichen Mansion ™*** Yangzhou Feb-21 Dec-23
R BZi 15219 SRR ZEREDA 30% 3701 = =
Shangpin Xuefu ¥/ Lianyungang Jul-21 Dec-23
At 394,181 531,148 - 63,400
Toul
B3 Notes:
! I H A G A 499 BHEZ BB A g o ! The project is developed by a joint venture company in which the Group has a 49% interest.
’ I H A G A 259 JROHE 2 i 2 v B o ? The project is developed by an associate company in which the Group has a 25% interest.
2 FZIE H AR R 13,339 JROHEZ B8 A v B & The project is developed by an associate company in which the Group has a 13.33% interest.
4 FHIE H A B 209 OB A B A2 D - 4 The project is developed by a joint venture company in which the Group has a 20% interest.
> FZIEH AR SE A 379 SBORE 2 W m) B ’ The project is developed by an associate company in which the Group has a 37% interest.
6 ST H A FHEAT 109 FROHE 2 e 2 v B 8 o U The project is developed by an associate company in which the Group has a 10% interest.
’ ST H A A 379 JROHE 2 Wi 2 v B o ! The project is developed by an associate company in which the Group has a 37% interest.
8 FHIEH AR AT 24.59 IRRE 2 Bk 2 ) B o 8 The project is developed by an associate company in which the Group has a 24.5% interest.
’ R H A G R 209 JROHE 2 g s v BH g o 2 The project is developed by an associate company in which the Group has a 20% interest.
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Management Discussmn and Analysis

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had a land bank of approximately 673,734
sq.m. under development. Among these parcels of land, approximately 236,230
sq.m., 253,363 sq.m., 119,897 sq.m. and 64,244 sq.m. are for residential,

commercial and office, car park and investment properties purposes, respectively.

Property sales

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group’s revenue from sales of properties
amounted to approximately RMB1,512.3 million with an aggregate GFA of
approximately 92,609 sq.m. being sold and delivered. The average selling price of
these sold properties amounted to approximately RMB16,329 per sq.m.

As at 31 December 2021, there were total unrecognized contracted sales of RMB3.2
billion. The unrecognized contracted sales are expected to be recognized in 2022 and

2023 as and when the related projects are completed and delivered.

Property leasing
As at 31 December 2021, the Group had completed investment properties with
a total GFA of approximately 123,084 sq.m. The average occupancy rate of the

Group’s investment properties as at 31 December 2021 was over 80%.

Metro leasing and operational management business

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had leasing and operational management
contracts of 22 metro station shopping malls in four cities in China, namely,
Nanjing, Suzhou, Wuxi and Changsha. The Group had metro station shopping
malls with a total GFA of over 111,980 sq.m.

As at 31 December 2021, metro station shopping malls were under operations and

the overall occupancy rate was over 80%.

In view of its potential higher growth, the Group will continue to actively bid for
more leasing and operational management contracts of metro station shopping malls
in different cities and is optimistic that the Group will obtain more contracts of this

kind in the future.
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e 4
2 U E BT ILREAR BT R R > A
48 TR P JHL R A S S T S

WE
A=
£
ALEBHE G > B W AR R %
ik PSR E

RoFm A=A AR
P A R R A
SRBCAR P T 354107 R 1 27 3¢
SRR - 2200 W 5 WAS RS 6741 -
BB % P E R AR A
80% °

e R BE

25K BRI 25 8 A A A 4 T M OR 2 R e ) 4
MAERERE - R-ZFFELATIHE
7R 8 DA AR AR 49 £ 79,393,000 % T AR B T
20,000,000 5 v FE F 120 Hb 2 42 1 A PR W) ([ 9
o ) (B0 1R 55 : 6968) I M1 - BEAR
AEMR -F-_FFET_AZ-F - —FHH
1 R AT — R 513 G 1 L s E v
FE R B A R > b AR AR 2 494,917,726
EDT

MREFZ -+ A=+ -0 AREEER
R R IR R AT B A FR 2 ) 9 JF b T
ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬂ&ﬁ%ﬂ@ﬂxzki%ﬁia MR Ay AR 19327
BT -

A7 s 4 i R
ALEEREBHEMEEER (WE&EHKXH) B
B LA = AR H BUSAL R - %
THH BT R G o T AR 51,975
IR B ERE o

COVID-19 % 15 14 45 55 24 75 Vb () 48 3 1 78 05 )
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LN T R T RE R R
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Hotel operation

After the disposal of Silka West Kowloon Hotel in Hong Kong in 2019, the Group

has since focused its hotel business only in mainland China.

In April 2021, the Group’s new hotel, namely Nanjing Golden Wheel Courtyard

Marriott, commenced operation.

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had four hotels under operation, namely,
Nanjing Golden Wheel Atour Hotel in Nanjing, Golden Wheel Hampton by
Hilton in Changsha, Golden Wheel Hampton by Hilton in Yangzhou and Nanjing
Golden Wheel Courtyard Marriott. The total number of rooms for these four hotels
amounted to 674. The average room occupancy rate of these four hotels in 2021 was
80%.

Significant investments held

The Group considers desirable investment opportunities from time to time, which
are in the interests of the Group and its shareholders as a whole. On 14 July 2020,
the Group subscribed for 20,000,000 shares of Ganglong China Property Group
Limited (“Ganglong China Property”) (Stock Code: 6968) at a total consideration
of approximately HK$79,393,000. Subsequently, the Group disposed all of its
holding in Ganglong China Property by a series of transactions conducted between
December 2020 and May 2021 with a total gain on the disposal of approximately
HK$4,917,726.

As at 31 December 2021, the Group’s major investment was its equity investment
in the unlisted equity shares of Xiamen International Bank Co., Ltd with a carrying
value of RMB193.2 million.

Golden Wheel Plaza in Hong Kong
The Group’s first commercial project in Hong Kong, namely Golden Wheel Plaza,

has been completed and the occupancy permit was obtained in July 2020. The
project is located near the Tin Hau MTR station in Hong Kong and is a commercial

building with a total GFA of approximately 51,975 square feet.

The outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic has caused severe disruptions to the
economic and business activities in Hong Kong, resulting in an increase in vacancy
of office buildings as well as a decrease in rental for offices and retail shops. As such,
the Group’s first commercial project in Hong Kong has faced much more difficulties
when the Group launched the project in the second half of 2020. Nevertheless, as a
result of the hard work of the marketing team in Hong Kong, as of the date of this

Annual Report, more than 75% of the project was leased out.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Financing

On 6 January 2021, the Group issued additional senior notes in an aggregate
principal amount of USD85 million with a coupon rate of 14.25% per annum
and due in January 2023 (the “Additional Notes”). The Additional Notes were
consolidated and formed a single class with the USD 2023 Notes, which were
issued on 9 July 2020 by the Group in an aggregate principal amount of USD170
million with a coupon rate of 14.25% per annum (the “USD 2023 Notes”). The
Additional Notes, together with the USD 2023 Notes, have been admitted to the
official list of the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited (the “Singapore
Exchange”). Proceeds from the Additional Notes were applied to refinance the
Group’s then existing indebtedness. Details of the Additional Notes are set out in

the announcement of the Company dated 6 January 2021.

On 31 May 2021, the Group offered to exchange its then existing outstanding
12.95% senior notes due 2022 (the “USD 2022 Notes”) and its existing
outstanding USD 2023 Notes for the USD denominated senior notes due 2023
issued by the Company on 11 June 2021 (the “USD 2023 July Notes”) up to
the aggregate maximum acceptance amount of USD145 million (the “Exchange
Offer”). On 11 June 2021, the Exchange Offer was completed and the Group
issued an aggregate principal amount of USD144,999,000 of the USD 2023
July Notes with a coupon rate of 16%. Following completion of the Exchange
Offer, USD74,494,000 of the USD 2022 Notes, representing 37.25% of the total
aggregate principal amount of the outstanding USD 2022 Notes, has been cancelled
and exchanged for USD74,494,000 of the USD 2023 July Notes. The remaining
outstanding principal amount of the USD 2022 Notes was USD125,506,000
after such cancellation. Meanwhile, USD70,505,000 of the USD 2023 Notes,
representing 27.65% of the total aggregate principal amount of the outstanding
USD 2023 Notes, has been cancelled and exchanged for USD70,505,000 of the USD
2023 July Notes. The remaining outstanding principal amount of the USD 2023
Notes was USD184,495,000 after such cancellation. The principal purpose of the
Exchange Offer was to extend the maturity profile of the Group’s foreign-currency
denominated debt and improve the Group’s debt structure, enabling the Group to
develop more steadily and strengthen its balance sheets and cash flow management.
Details of the Exchange Offer are set out in the announcements of the Company
dated 31 May 2021, 9 June 2021 and 11 June 2021.
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In December 2021, the Group has announced a proposed restructuring of the
existing senior notes through a scheme of arrangement in the Cayman Islands
(the “Cayman Scheme”). On 6 December 2021, the Group had appointed its
financial advisors, as well as legal advisor, with a view to facilitating the timely
implementation of the Cayman Scheme. On 21 December 2021, the Company
entered into the restructuring support agreement (the “RSA”) with existing
noteholders representing approximately 60% of the aggregate outstanding principal
amount of the existing notes issued by the Group. The Group believed that the
successful implementation of the Cayman Scheme would reduce the short-term
debt burden of the Group, providing it with a sustainable capital structure and
a strengthened balance sheet that would allow the Group to comply with their
post-restructuring obligations and liabilities and to trade on a going concern
basis. On 14 January 2022, the Company announced that the existing noteholders
representing more than 85% of the aggregate outstanding principal amount of the
Group’s outstanding senior notes had executed or acceded to the RSA. Details of the
proposed restructuring of the existing senior notes are set out in the announcements
of the Company dated 6 December 2021, 10 December 2021, 21 December 2021,
31 December 2021, 14 January 2022, 2 March 2022, 10 March 2022 and 14 March
2022.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Results of operations
Revenue

The Group’s revenue consists of revenue derived from (i) sale of the Group’s
developed properties; (ii) rental income from property leasing; and (iii) hotel
operation. The following table sets forth a breakdown of the Group’s revenue and the
percentage of total revenue for the years indicated:

BETZA=Z+—HILEE
For the year ended 31 December

TR e e 2.2
2021 2020

ANRW¥FT % AR¥TIL %

RMB'000 % RMB000 %

[ b B Property development 1,512,330 84.8 1,144,467 824
UELiiN= Property leasing 207,159 11.6 207,594 14.9
T i 7 Hotel operation 63,006 3.6 37,058 2.7
Mt Total 1,782,495 100.00 1,389,119 100.00

Bamm#EE —F _EF+ A =+—HILFE
&N H1389.1 F & o HE &) 28.3% E#H A
“E A=t Hi@ﬁ%%A%%

1,782.5 A B0 » F B iy M) 8l 6 S G
JE A B RE B o

Revenue increased by approximately 28.3% from approximately RMB1,389.1
million for the year ended 31 December 2020 to approximately RMB1,782.5
million for the year ended 31 December 2021, primarily due to the increase in

revenue generated from property sales and hotel operation.
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P AR 5 2 W E 8B Property Sales in terms of Property Type

-

91.9% 1% Residential 62.3%
:g:gﬂ:‘ 8.0% T % Commercial 28.9% :g:—‘ﬂ:‘
2020 2021
0.1% 4 2 Office 8.8%

B N2 WS Property Sales in terms of Location

63.4% P Zhuzhou 2.2%
20.0% &S Wuxi 25.8%
e Jme 2.2 8.7% 29 Changsha 1.9%
6.7% i 2% Nanjing 69.3%
1.2% M Yangzhou 0.8%

69 o W R

\ Wuxi Golden Wheel
Lakeside Orchid Garden
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Property development

Revenue derived from property development business increased by 32.1%
from approximately RMB1,144.5 million for the year ended 31 December
2020 to approximately RMB1,512.3 million for the year ended 31 December
2021. The increase was primarily due to the increase in the average selling
price of the properties being sold during the year. The average selling price
of the sold properties increased from approximately RMB9,521 per sq.m. in
2020 to RMB16,329 per sq.m. in 2021.

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group achieved contracted sales
of approximately RMB4,821.1 million (2020: RMB4,081.0 million).

Property leasing

Revenue derived from property leasing business remained at a similar
level as that in 2020. The Group recorded income from property leasing of
approximately RMB207.6 million for the year ended 31 December 2020 and
approximately RMB207.2 million for the year ended 31 December 2021.

Hotel operation

Revenue derived from hotel operation increased substantially by 70.0% to
RMB63.0 million (2020: RMB37.1 million) for the year ended 31 December
2021. The increase was primarily due to the addition of two new hotels in
China. One of the two hotels commenced operation in October 2020 and the
other one commenced operation in April 2021. As a result, the number of

rooms operated by the Group increased from 445 in 2020 to 674 in 2021.
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885 AR Cost of sales
R B 7 AF B A AR 1 Y 8 A A The following table sets forth a breakdown of the Group’s cost of sales for the years
indicated:
BRET A=+ —HILEE
For the year ended 31 December
:g:#iﬁ — ? . EF‘
2021 2020
AR T % ARFTT %
RMB’000 % RMB 000 %
[ b B g Property development
ES N Land acquisition costs 628,142 34.7 415,442 35.9
AR A Construction costs 586,927 32.4 540,546 46.8
B AL R A Capitalised finance costs 166,743 9.3 135,030 11.7
FiIE B 52 Tax expenses 11,302 0.6 11,007 1.0
B A Impairment of assets 311,360 17.2 - -
/Nt Subtotal 1,704,474 94.2 1,102,025 95.4
VM E Property leasing 30,802 1.7 21,234 1.8
0 5 Hotel operation 74,749 4.1 32,718 2.8
At Total 1,810,025 100.0 1,155,977 100.0
AEENHENABBE T _FHET A The Group’s cost of sales increased from RMB1,156.0 million for the year ended
Sqr= H IEFEER AR 1,156.0 E BT E # 31 December 2020 to RMB1,810.0 million for the year ended 31 December
FoRCFTZA=ZT—AIEFEEM AR 2021. The increase was primarily due to the increase in cost of sales of the property
1,810.0 A B JC o %3800 J5 3 B | A 5 b BH development business which was mainly caused by the increase in the revenue
SET R AR > HF B 8 arising from property sales.
B E o

AREE T R AR EE A
AHH FE FENS MM E —F

19 45.3% o

The Group’s percentage of average land acquisition costs over average selling price
increased from 35.9% in 2020 to 45.3% in 2021.
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Gross (loss)/profit

The Group recorded a gross loss for the year ended 31 December 2021 which
was mainly due to the Group incurring gross loss from its property development
activities which, in turn, was mainly caused by the outbreak of the COVID-19

pandemic.

The Group incurred a gross loss from its property development activities which was
mainly due to the reduction of sales prices in order to boost sales volume and the

increase in construction cost as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic.

The gross profit margin for property leasing was 85.1% for the year ended 31
December 2021 (2020: 89.8%). The reduction of gross profit margin was due to the
fact that rental waivers were given to the lessees of the Group in the second half of

2021, resulted in a lesser amount of rental income received.

The Group’s hotel operation had recorded a negative profit margin of 18.6% for
2021 as compated to a profit margin of 11.7% in 2020. The Group opened a
new hotel in Nanjing in 2021 and higher operating costs incurred for set up the

operation.

Changes in fair value of investment properties

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group recorded a fair value loss
on investment properties of RMB1,597.7 million (2020: a fair value gain on
investment properties of RMB92.0 million). The fair value loss was mainly caused
by the outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic which has substantially affected the
rental income generated by the Group’s existing operating investment properties. In
addition, in order to improve the Group’s liquidity position and meet the Group’s
future payments under the restructuring of its senior notes, the Group had formed a
realization plan to dispose most of its investment properties at a discount in the next

three years.

The Group’s investment properties were revaluated on market value basis by an

independent property valuer.
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Management Dlscussmn and Analysis

Other income, expenses, gains and losses

The Group had a net gain of RMB17.8 million for other income, expenses, gains
and losses for the year ended 31 December 2021 (2020: RMB318.1 million). The
net gain in 2021 was mainly attributable to net foreign exchange gain of RMB110.6
million (2020: RMB231.7 million), interest income of RMB27.3 million (2020:
RMB31.5 million) and gain on repurchase of senior notes of RMB2.9 million (2020:
RMB37.0 million), which was set off against the losses on changes in fair value of
financial assets measured at FVIPL of RMB74.9 million. The Group had invested
US$12 million in a fund which invested mainly in bonds issued by PRC properties
developers. During the year, due to the collapse of the high yield bond market in the

PRC, the Group has recorded a fair value loss on its investment in this fund.

Finance costs

Finance costs consisted primarily of interest expenses on borrowings net of
capitalised finance costs. Finance costs increased from RMB233.5 million for
the year ended 31 December 2020 to RMB254.8 million for the year ended 31
December 2021 primarily due to a decrease in the amount of capitalized finance
costs as more projects have been completed during the year and thus less finance

costs could be capitalized.

During the year, the average cost of borrowings remained stable at 11.06% (2020:
11.02%).

Selling and marketing expenses
Selling and marketing expenses primarily consisted of advertising and promotional

expenses.

Selling and marketing expenses for the year ended 31 December 2021 amounted
to approximately RMB88.6 million (2020: RMB81.4 million), representing an
increase of approximately 8.8%. The increase was primarily due to the fact that the
Group needed to provide more incentives to its sales team in order to boost the sales
under the COVID-19 situation.
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Administrative expenses
Administrative expenses primarily include staff salaries and benefits, depreciation
and amortisation, office expenses, traveling expenses, professional fees, utilities and

property tax, land use tax and stamp duty.

Administrative expenses for the year ended 31 December 2021 amounted to
approximately RMB143.1 million (2020: RMB155.7 million), representing a
decrease of approximately 8.1% as compared to last year. During the year, the
Group continued to maintain tight cost control policy. As a result, even though
the Group has increased its operating scale as well as incurred cost on COVID-19
related prevention activities, the Group was able to reduce its overall administrative

expenses for the year.

Taxation

The Group recorded a credit balance of income tax which was due to the Group
incurred a loss from it operating activities during the year ended 31 December

2021.

(Loss)/profit attributable to equity shareholders of the Company

Due to the Group incurred a gross loss from its property sales as well as a
significantly revaluation loss on investment properties which was mainly caused by
the outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic, the Group had incurred a loss for the year
of RMB1,987.1 million.

Liquidity, financial and capital resources

Cash position

The Group had bank deposits and cash of approximately RMB1,214.9 million as of
31 December 2021 (2020: RMB1,413.3 million), including restricted bank deposits
of approximately RMB868.0 million (2020: RMB564.2 million). The decrease
in cash and bank balances was mainly due to the net repayment of bank and other

borrowings during the year.
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Management Discussmn and Analysis

Bank and other borrowings and gearing ratio
The Group had outstanding bank and other borrowings (including senior notes) of
approximately RMB5,045.3 million as at 31 December 2021 (2020: RMB6,116.4

million).

As at 31 December 2021, the Group’s net gearing ratio was approximately 130.7%
(2020: 95.6%). The net gearing ratio of the Group is calculated by dividing the
interest-bearing liabilities net of bank deposits and cash by the total equity of the

Company.

The Group’s debt-to-asset ratio (total indebtedness minus contract liabilities
divided by total assets) was approximately 61.7% as at 31 December 2021 versus

approximately 60.4% as at 31 December 2020.

Cost of borrowings

The Group’s average cost of borrowings (calculated by dividing total interest
expenses paid and payable by the average total bank and other borrowings during
the relevant year) was approximately 11.06% in 2021 as compared to approximately
11.02% in 2020.

Cash flows generated from operating activities

Cash generated from operating activities resulted primarily from pre-sales and
sales of developed properties, rental income and hotel income; while cash used
in operating activities resulted from our costs of land purchases, costs for the
development of properties, costs of operating completed properties held for sale and

taxes paid.
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For the Year, net cash generated from operating activities was approximately
RMB1,023.4 million, which was mainly attributable to (i) a decrease in properties
under development for sale of approximately RMB1,285.0 million, (ii) a decrease in
completed properties for sale of approximately RMB6.2 million, and (iii) an increase
in contract liabilities of approximately RMB489.0 million, which was offset by (a)
an increase in trade and other payables of approximately RMB192.4 million; and (b)

an increase in restricted bank deposits of RMB189.9 million.

For the year ended 31 December 2020, net cash generated from operating activities
was approximately RMB536.6 million, which was mainly attributable to (i) an
increase in trade and other payables of approximately RMB265.8 million; and (ii)
an increase in contract liabilities of approximately RMB910.5 million, which was
offset by (a) an increase in properties under development for sale of approximately
RMB96.6 million, (b) an increase in completed properties for sale of approximately
RMB758.0 million.

Cash flows generated from /(used in) investing activities

Cash generated from investing activities resulted primarily from disposal of financial
assets, interest and dividend received from financial assets and bank deposits while
cash used in investing activities was primarily driven by additions of property,
plant and equipment, acquisition of subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates, and

investment in investment properties and financial assets.

For the Year, net cash generated from investing activities was approximately
RMB207.0 million, which was primarily attributable to (i) the net disposal of
investment properties of approximately RMB162.1 million and (ii) the net payment

received by associates and joint ventures of approximately RMB54.6 million.

For the year ended 31 December 2020, net cash used in investing activities was
approximately RMB408.5 million, which was primarily attributable to (i) an
increase of investment properties of approximately RMB317.2 million; and (ii) net

purchases of financial assets of approximately RMB179.1 million.

Cash flows used in financing activities

The Group’s had net cash used in financing activities of approximately RMB1,729.5
million, which was primarily attributable to (i) a net decrease of senior notes of
approximately RMB432.6 million; (ii) a net repayment of bank borrowings raised
of approximately RMB545.6 million; (iii) an interest payment of approximately
RMB533.6 million; (iv) a withdrawal of deposits pledged for bank loans of
RMB113.9 million;
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Management Discussion and Analysis

For the year ended 31 December 2020, net cash used in financing activities of
approximately RMB249.1 million was primarily attributable to (i) a net increase
of senior notes of approximately RMB771.6 million; (ii) the proceeds from new
bank borrowings raised of approximately RMB468.7 million; partially offset by (a)
the repayment of bank borrowings of approximately RMB1,274.2 million; (b) an
interest payment of approximately RMB476.4 million; and (c) dividends payment of
approximately RMB26.3 million.

Net current (liabilities)/assets

The Group had net current liabilities of approximately RMB1,314.7 million as of
31 December 2021, and net current assets of approximately RMB1,287.6 million as
of 31 December 2020.

Restricted bank deposits

A portion of the Group’s bank deposits has restricted usage. These deposits are either
(i) placed with certain banks in the PRC and the usage of which are restricted to
certain of the Group’s property development projects in the PRC, or (ii) pledged to
banks as security for certain banking facilities granted to the Group, in which case
the use of the restricted bank deposits, subject to the banks” approval, is restricted to
the purposes as set out in the relevant loan agreements, or (iii) as security for certain
mortgage loans granted to our customers, in which case the restricted bank deposits
will be released upon receiving the building ownership certificates of the respective
properties by the banks from the customers as security for the mortgage loans
granted. As of 31 December 2021 and 2020, the Group’s restricted bank deposits
were approximately RMB868.0 million and approximately RMB564.2 million,

respectively.

Working capital

As of 31 December 2021 and 2020, the Group’s cash and cash equivalents amounted
to approximately RMB346.9 million and approximately RMB849.1 million,
respectively. The Group receives cash inflows mainly from pre-sales of its properties,
issue of senior notes and bonds and project-specific bank loans. The Group is
permitted to pre-sell its properties under development when it obtains the relevant
pre-sale permits. In addition to cash inflows from pre-sales, the Group typically
obtains project-specific bank loans once it receives the work commencement permits
for its projects or project phases, using the relevant land use rights and properties as

security.
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fE % Indebtedness

75 b 7 BR % oK K i A 5 AT i I Property developments require substantial capital investment for land acquisition
AR - P RER O BB TR R E BB . and construction and may take months or years before positive cash flow can be
AEBTEEBATMES ~ A7 LHA T ER generated. The Group principally funds its property developments from internal
B I T B L BH ) S T A RO DA R B AT BB funds, borrowings from banks and other parties, proceeds from sales and pre-sales
B R % 25 B A5 50O By H Y g e & o of its developed properties and proceeds from issuance of both debt and equity

BE-F L -F_FF+-H=+—H> securities. As of 31 December 2021 and 2020, the Group had the following
AR T 1 0 A (B R AR AT R LA A T outstanding bank and other borrowings:
BETZA=Z+—H
As of 31 December
e St e
2021 2020
ANBRH T AR T
RMB’000 RMB’000
TEHC A ERAT K Unsecured bank borrowings
AR—4F Within one year 33,163 92,640
A HCHRERAT 3K Secured bank borrowings
AR —4F (K 3k Within one year (note) 1,693,086 1,739,215
— 4P FER B RAE After one year but within two years 167,490 601,848
AL EHR R HAFE After two years but within five years 337,500 377,803
2,198,076 2,718,866
5T Total 2,231,239 2,811,506
BB EE R E R (R IEEATFLE) Senior notes and bonds (Exclude interest payables) 2,814,024 3,304,885
HEt Total 5,045,263 6,116,391

BESE - A R R R SRAT BRI EEA B SCE Note: Bank loans with a repayment on demand clause are included in the “Within one year” time

WMHGZ AR —FIRFHBE RN F = — band in the above maturity analysis. As at 31 December 2021, the aggregate principal
FrH A=+ —H ZERTHERZ AL A amounts of these bank borrowings amounted to RMB1,467.1 million (2020: RMB1,319.6
BAR 14671 H BT (ZFE R AR million). The Group believes that such bank borrowings will be repaid after one year in
1,319.6 F #70) o ASE BIAR 5 3% 55 4R AT i T AR accordance with the scheduled repayment dates.

TRA B R H R — R R -

AREEZRTHERC R ot Rl eatE - The Group’s bank borrowings are denominated in RMB, US$ and HK$. Details
WA R R AT 5 SR B R S AR 2 R of the assets pledged and guarantees for the secured bank borrowings are set out in

WA B IEM 12> 1301718219 23 notes 12, 13,17, 18, 19, 23 and 28 of the consolidated financial statements.
F28 e
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Capital commitments

The following table sets forth the Group’s contractual commitments as of the dates

indicated:
BET-A=+—H
As of 31 December
"R "R R
2021 2020
AR AR T T
RMB’000 RMB'000
NI E- SRR ER NS Commitments contracted for but not provided
28T N B TS R R B A P 2R in the audited consolidated financial statements
in respect of:
R B A R W S S PR Construction of properties under development for sale
BEY ¥ and investment properties under development 665,070 713,110
665,070 713,110

7 S T B < 6 R AR B A S T EL TR A B T 1)
=TI N AR R -

BAPA X

WE-F - ERCFFEL A=A
%3 JES VLN EL b T VTR
JEHE S B 0 36 - RS B AT
SRR 7 6 A S 0 D A

The Group’s contractual commitments represented its commitments to third party

construction companies with respect to the construction of its projects.

Capital expenditures

During the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020, the Group’s capital
expenditures were primarily related to the acquisition of land use rights, the
construction of properties, and purchase of property, plant and equipment. The

following table sets forth a breakdown of its capital expenditures for the years

indicated:
BET-A=+—H
As of 31 December
"R f “EFE
2021 2020
ANRHT L ANRETT
RMB’000 RMB’000
W i - ot {7 R R Acquisition of land use rights - 504,000
R Construction of properties 810,975 982,544
WEYE (AFEEECR T Purchase of property (including transfer
FEHEWE) - BB Bt from completed properties held for sale),

plant and equipment 82,632 47,762
Rt Total 893,607 1,534,306
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Contingent liabilities

—®o—f SR
2021 2020
ANBRH T AR T
RMB’000 RMB 000

Mortgage loan guarantees provided by the Group to
banks in favour of its customers 326,089 268,605

W PR RAT U B P 1 SR AT $2 S AR B 3
1 49 3£ FiT 75 HE 35 E By L M 4 98 B B0 K 1R
B bR o EER A A KR B % S BB A R
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FE AR HMIE fR BUH R 38 DL AR (56 =7 1Y
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LA 5 0L S b T L At S Y TR AR
R A T o

A 45 I i[5 Y A L i e A i TR R
74 B BB IR DL ~ AR S S S T
BB B T B AT E R R B LU A
S5 B Y £ B R By SRR E R - 5 A
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These guarantees will be released upon receiving the property ownership certificate
of the respective properties by the banks from the customers as a pledge for
security to the mortgage loans granted. In the opinion of the Directors, the fair
values of these financial guarantee contracts of the Group at initial recognition
are insignificant and the Directors consider that the possibility of default by the
purchasers of the Group’s properties is remote. Accordingly, no value has been
recognised at the inception of the guarantee contracts as at 31 December 2021 and
2020.

Off-balance sheet commitments and arrangements

Save as disclosed in this Annual Report, the Group has not entered into any
off-balance sheet guarantees or other commitments to guarantee the payment
obligations of any third parties. It does not have any interest in any unconsolidated
entity that provides financing, liquidity, market risk or credit support to it or

engages in leasing or hedging or research and development or other services with it.

Possible risks and uncertainties facing the Group

The Group’s financial condition, results of operations, businesses and prospects
may be affected by a number of risks and uncertainties. The following are the key
risks and uncertainties identified by the Group. There may be other risks and
uncertainties which are not known to the Group or which may not be material now

but could turn out to be material in the future.

Market risks

The Group is exposed to various types of market risks, including foreign exchange
rate risk, interest rate risk, credit risk, liquidity risk and equity price risk in the
normal course of its business. It manages and monitors these exposures on a regular
basis to ensure appropriate measures are implemented in a timely and effective

manner.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Foreign exchange rate risk

The primary economic environment in which most of our principal subsidiaries
operate is the PRC and the functional currency is RMB. The Group’s exposure to
foreign exchange risk is principally due to its US$ and HK$ denominated debts and
bank deposits in foreign currencies, mainly US$ and HK$. Differences resulting
from the translation of the financial statements of foreign operations into the
Group’s presentation currency are excluded. As of 31 December 2021 and 2020, the
Group’s foreign currency denominated monetary assets and monetary liabilities at

each reporting date are as follows:

R e e
2021 2020
A RFor ANRWTIC
RMB000 RMB’000
%f% Assets

I Us$ 4,226 191,993
iESTH HKS$ 24,413 35,129
28,639 227,122

=L Liabilities
EN US$ 3,132,809 3,734,484
iESTH HKS$ 1,272,583 1,311,930
4,405,392 5,046,414

N B 5 38 70 R o e THE — M & EEOR S L
5 0 B 7o RHE A RS 7 AR iR > fHL 3R T K
TCERAT A B B 1R o N R 5 R T K i
TEHZAE U AR AR SR o

HE =< ¢ B 0 368 3 48 A0 30 A 4 O S~ M
UNIVESE v 2 B 3 REN (R e
o S e S e B > M A 2L R 70 S A A L e
B e 0 B W % 1 ph RS W L -

Appreciation of RMB against US$ and HK$ generally results in a gain arising
from the Group’s US$ and HK$ denominated debts and a loss arising from its bank
deposits in US$ and HK$. A depreciation of RMB against US$ and HK$ would

have the opposite effect.

Fluctuations in foreign exchange rates have had and will continue to have an
impact on the business, financial condition and results of operations of the Group.
The Group currently does not have a foreign currency hedging policy but the
management monitors foreign exchange exposure closely and will consider hedging

significant foreign currency exposure should the need arise.

2021 4E JE# % ANNUAL REPORT 2021

33



34

BB A B AT

Management Discussion and Analysis

kS

A% S5 T T 1) B 4 U P 0 L B = 2 B B
SRAT 5~ ARG MEPE AT 77 A L RAT A Bk A R
74 4 1 7 ThG B Y (B M) R JL By o %  Bi BLE B
3 PR BRAT A7 3 BRAT 18 3K S 8 T R R A AR
57 B o A S [ B IR SIS AT B B BRSO
AR - MR IS A 470 A M 5 L

5 B B
S 35 T 07 R JE AT TR I A% 4 A 4 1 T B ) A
1R i R T 2B BB s AR Y

@  AEWE RS S MB IR IR R IR
) 25 T £ WD < L FE BRI 5 J%

(b) BRI AS 5 I i i 3 A 408 R 10 0K LR
S

A 4 T 7 S A7 ] 2 MBS TR TR £ S
JRB > BB R E E e

AR B R R R LY SR
B 1 SRAT R A0 IR o i R A O ORI PR 48 K
AR AR A3 > AT T AE TR A 4R 1 MRR B
AR B AT AR BB RS, - FEBEB T
A AR AT R CR B e O ) 3 DLk ] AR
55 B B 1) SRAT SOA IR T 30 o BT 35 > A
SR FRE 2 EL AR B R KR PR -

2 [ Y BRAT &5 B K2 BREIARAT 3R 5 B
B EFEN BE T R TR
T A=+ —H > %68% F44% 18R 1T 45 Bk &
32 PR SR AT A2 3 43 A O = 1) I = [ 4R AT >
B TR SR AT 1A A7 S A B A SR AT A5 B S 2 IR
WA BN 10% - ZERBEENEE
JRBE A PR > B % 5 BRAT 2 00 v B Y I A 4R
17 A5 BERE AR A RTE Ay (s B RE AR 4R T -

Interest rate risk

The Group’s exposure to cash flow interest rate risk relates primarily to the variable
rate bank borrowings, structured bank deposits and bank balances of the Group.
The Group is also exposed to fair value interest rate risk in relation to its fixed rate
restricted bank deposits, bank borrowings and senior notes and bonds. The Group
currently does not have a specific policy to manage its interest rate risk, but will

closely monitor the interest rate risk exposure in the future.

Credit risk
The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk which will cause a financial loss to it

due to the failure in discharging an obligation by the counterparties is arising from:

(a) the carrying amount of the respective recognised financial assets as stated in
the consolidated statement of financial position at the end of each reporting

period; and

(b) the amounts of contingent liabilities in relation to financial guarantee

provided by the Group.

The Group has no significant concentration of credit risk in respect of trade

receivables, with exposure spread over a large number of customers in the PRC.

The Group typically provides guarantees to banks in connection with its customers’
mortgage loans to finance their purchases of properties. If a purchaser defaults on the
payment of his mortgage during the term of guarantee, the bank may demand the
Group to repay the outstanding amount of the loan and any accrued interest thereon.
Under such circumstances, the Group is able to forfeit the customer’s deposit and re-
sell the property to recover any amounts payable by him to the bank. In this regard,

the Group considers that its credit risk is significantly reduced.

The Group has concentration of credit risk in respect of bank balances and restricted
bank deposits. As of 31 December 2021 and 2020, approximately 68% and 44%
of its bank balances and restricted bank deposits were deposited at three and three
banks, respectively, representing deposits at each bank with a balance exceeding
10% of total bank balances and restricted bank deposits. The credit risk of these
liquid funds is limited because these banks are State-owned banks located in the
PRC or banks with high credit ratings assigned by international credit-rating

agencies.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Liquidity risk

The Group has built an appropriate liquidity risk management framework for
short-term funding and liquidity management requirements. The Group manages
liquidity risk by maintaining banking facilities and continuously monitoring

forecasted and actual cash flows.

For further details, please refer to note 33b to the consolidated financial statements.
Please refer to notes 12, 13, 17, 18, 19, 23, 28 and 33 to the consolidated financial
statements for details of the pledges on the assets of, and guarantees provided by, the

Group.

Significant investments

Details of the Group’s significant investments during the Year are set out on pages

292 to 300 under the section headed “Schedule of Principal Properties”.
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ABOUT THIS REPORT

The Group is glad to issue this Environmental, Social and Governance (ESG) Report
to disclose the Group’s ESG information and performance over the past year in an
open and transparent manner. This report has been prepared in accordance with the
requirements of Appendix 27 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
the Stock Exchange (the “ESG Guidelines”), covering the period from 1 January to
31 December 2021, which is consistent with the Group’s financial year. This report
describes the business, policies, measures and performance of the Group’s operating
units in mainland China and Hong Kong. Given that the Group’s business is based
in Nanjing and there are relatively more projects in Nanjing which have a greater
impact on stakeholders, and the Environmental Critical Product Effectiveness
Indicators mainly cover the Nanjing headquarters, Hong Kong office, Nanjing
Golden Wheel International Plaza Xintiandi, Nanjing Golden Wheel Atour Hotel,
Golden Wheel Binary Star Plaza, Hong Kong Golden Wheel Plaza and Nanjing
Golden Wheel Galaxy Center. Compared with last year’s report, two additional core
projects are covered for this year. The Group will continue to collect and monitor
environmental and social data and expand the scope of disclosure. In preparing
this report, we provided an overview of the Group’s ESG performance based on the

reporting principles of “materiality”, “quantification”, “balance” and “consistency”.

Materiality: The Group determines the significant impact of ESG matters
on investors and other stakeholders and performs materiality
assessment through stakeholder engagement process and

materiality assessment process.

Quantification: This report discloses the KPIs in a quantitative manner and is
based on the standards, methods, assumptions and calculation tools
used for emissions and energy consumption provided by the Stock
Exchange.

Balance: This report presents an unbiased view of the Group’s ESG

achievements and challenges and avoids choices, omissions or

presentation formats that may unduly affect the decisions or

judgments of the readers of the report.

Consistency: Consistent disclosure statistics methods are used to the extent
possible and explanations are provided for any changes to the

methods used last year.
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BUSE A R
Environmental, Social and Governance Report

Information disclosed in this report has been checked by managers of the relevant
departments and reviewed and approved by the Board. This report is available in
English and Chinese versions. This report and the ESG reports of the Group for the
previous years are available on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company

(hteps://www.gwtd.com.hk/).

INTRODUCTION

The Group’s business is located in Hong Kong Special Administrative Region and
eight cities in two provinces in the Mainland China, including Nanjing, Yangzhou,
Wuxi, Suzhou, Changzhou and Lianyungang in Jiangsu Province and Changsha
and Zhuzhou in Hunan Province. Adhering to the management philosophy of
“making life more enjoyable through people-oriented, enterprising and pragmatic
development”, the Group always insists on providing customers with high-quality
products and services with rich professional expertise, so as to improve their quality
of life. While focusing on business operations, the Group also pays close attention
on industry development and is keen on social welfare. The Group is fully aware of
the importance of sustainable development, which can enhance the Group’s energy
use efficiency and operating efficiency and is indispensable to the Group’s long-term
development. Therefore, the Group is committed to implementing and improving
its environmental protection policies and measures, which have visible results. In
addition, the Group makes good use of the influence of the brand “Golden Wheel”
to actively encourage the public to do good deeds in the society, and this measure

brings quality service and positive influence to customers and project areas.

The Group’s management, including the Board, regularly reviews and meets to
attain better sustainable development and the Group’s future business direction.
Looking ahead, the Group will continue to implement its core strategy of “focusing
on the development and operation of projects adjacent to subway stations or
other transportation hubs”. It will also invest more resources in ESG to better
manage internal risks and strengthen the Group structure, which is conducive to
maintaining its competitiveness for future development and expansion. The Group is
also committed to enhancing its environmental, social and governance transparency
by expanding the scope of environmental performance indicator data collection
from five property projects to seven property projects in 2021, and continuously

improving the Group’s self-monitoring capability and the quality of this report.
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B35 5 8 RELEVANT LAWS AND REGULATIONS
AR A AR IR - 35 Bchs b <7 8 R B R During the Year, the Group strictly complied with the local laws and regulations
JRAE RN A B BT KRR - and there was no material violation during the Year.

& i Ay CER 2 B A 1 3

Aspects Certain laws and regulations adopted Chapter for this report
B v (RN RIEM RS R %) A B
Environment Environmental Protection Law of the People’s Republic | A. Environment

of China

v (e N RSB R S R BR )
Law of the People’s Republic of China on the Prevention
and Control of Air Pollution

v (P NRIEMBUK 5 B iR )
Water Pollution Prevention Law of the People’s
Republic of China

v (b AR SR AN [ B S BRI B R D)
Law of the People’s Republic of China on Prevention
and Control of Environmental Pollution by Solid Waste

VAR Gk NS 111o LY sy QiR
Law of the People’s Republic of China on the Prevention

and Control of Noise Pollution

v (PR FEANE A RE IR )
Law of the People’s Republic of China on Energy
Conservation

VAR GE IN:E T Ee 2 Bl
Environmental Impact Assessment Law of the People’s

Republic of China

v IR BT OR A B0 151D
Regulations on the Administration of Environmental
Protection of Construction Projects

v CESUHF R TBRSEORE BRI B A
Measures for the Administration of Environmental
Protection Acceptance upon Completion of
Construction Projects

VARG R INE S e SEP YRR
Law of the People’s Republic of China on Prevention
and Control of Soil Pollution

v (EEBRBIRE)

Law on Prevention and Control of Soil Pollution
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J& i o B Z A AR 7 I
Aspects Certain laws and regulations adopted Chapter for this report
1158 v (PEAREMBE L% B1. B 1
Employment Labour Law of the People’s Republic of China B1. Employment
v (RN RICAE 5 8 & R KD
Labour Contract Law of the People’s Republic of China
v RN R AN B R AN PR )
Law of the People’s Republic of China on Protection of
Minors
v R E THE)
Regulations on Prohibition of Child Labour
v EERMEREGD
Employment Ordinance of Hong Kong
v B R B ERRED
Employees’ Compensation Ordinance of Hong Kong
i B 5L 22 4 v (hEAREMBER2ERER) B2. fE B f e L% &
Health and safety Law of the People’s Republic of China on Work Safety B2. Employee health and safety
VAR GiE INCE ) e 3R
Law of the People’s Republic of China on Prevention
and Control of Occupational Diseases
FE fih FAE v (RN R E W E R ) BG. 7 i WAL MBS E R
Product liability Product Quality Law of the People’s Republic of China | B6. Product responsibility and service
v (hEANREAEEREE) quality
Construction Law of the People’s Republic of China
v (RN R AN E T A B )
Law of the People’s Republic of China on
Administration of Urban Real Estate
VARG YN PR (F )
Urban Planning Law of the People’s Republic of China
v (REARIEFEE &%)
Advertising Law of the People’s Republic of China
KA v (R NRIEN %) B7. &5
Anti-corruption Criminal Law of the People’s Republic of China B7. Anti-corruption
VARG E INE e e g i)
Anti-Unfair Competition Law of the People’s Republic
of China
v T B AL AR )

Prevention of Bribery Ordinance of Hong Kong
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2021 4F J§ 86 JH B ¥ AWARDS AND HONOURS IN 2021

A EE LR B A 2021 4F 1 T 7 o] RRf 8 The management and staff of the Group have achieved recognition from all sectors
J& 77 RS A S AR R EE R of the community for their sustainable development efforts during 2021 and the key
LUV achievements are as follows:

EEETHAERGRELEARARANE L& Nanjing Golden Wheel International Plaza Xintiandi of Nanjing Jade Golden Wheel

iy [ % JBE 35 B K M E 2021 4F — H €3 [ 2020 4F Realty Company Limited, a subsidiary of the Group, was awarded the honorary title of

JEE R I R T 2 i A ] SR “2020 Nanjing City Quality-assured Consumption Demonstration Unit” in January
2021.

Ty > SR BT RN 35 R e B A PR F R In addition, Zhuzhou Jade Golden Wheel Realty Company Limited, a subsidiary of
2021 AR B EY E - Hrh s - the Group, was awarded several honors in 2021, including:

— - [RRINE R B B BB S Ot 5ERE I Honorary title of the “Advanced Enterprise of Zhuzhou Overseas Chinese

nE . a0 oD
Wt Assisting Poverty Alleviation”;
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T BRI A AT 3 S B AR AR T II.  Honorary title of “the Advanced Unit of Real Estate Industry in Zhuzhou”;

[1]

il o BAGHIN—IIEE (—1) S8k III.  Golden Wheel Jinqiao Huafu Phase I Project (the first section of bidding)

TR AR MR AE ] > 06wl p BB S won the “Shen Nong Award” for construction projects of Zhuzhou, and

FRMI 2B ER TRERETE2ERE was awarded the “Standardized Construction Site for Production Safety

PRMEA T | of National Construction Projects” by the China Construction Industry
Association;

WO~ TASARBLE A AR B (B R B A IV.  “A-class Tax-paying Creditworthiness” unit (assessed by Tianyuan District
BRI T K T [~ R BB R R ) and Lusong District Tax Bureau of Zhuzhou City, the State Administration

of Taxation);
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Ho 2020 EAEESEHAEEFEM] X

AN T20204F B 5 i st S B0 | (R T
BT - RuRA TR arse) 4% -

BEAh o Fy 8 BAE 2021 4F FE BLE AN 2 40 28
1 e 8 1 5 I B > T I AE B R AL R
T 1 2 AR R 5 AL A J AR BT

V. “Excellent Unit of Provident Fund Business Cooperation in 2020”; and

VI.  “Advanced Unit of Real Estate Statistics in 2020” (awarded by Zhuzhou

High-tech Zone and Tianyuan District Statistics Bureau).

In addition, to recognize the Group for organizing and participating in volunteer
activities to combat the COVID-19 epidemic in 2021, Yuhua Chamber of
Commerce in Yuhuatai District, Nanjing City awarded the Group the title of

“Outstanding Organization Award”.
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STAKEHOLDER COMMUNICATION
MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT

AND

The Group has always attached great importance to communication with its
stakeholders, and formulated communication channels and plans with stakeholders
to encourage two-way discussions on sustainable development issues and to
understand the stakeholders’ views and expectations on sustainable development
related issues. Thereafter, policies and performance of the relevant issues are
discussed and identified within the Group and the significance of these issues to
the Group’s business and stakeholders is assessed to facilitate the Group’s long-term
development. In the future, the Group will continue to improve its communication

mechanism with stakeholders, proactively understand and respond to their demands,

and work with stakeholders to achieve a sustainable future.

Fifr & Bl

A 78 L I HE T K

> AR EEEN

Company’s operating information

Stakeholders Concerns Communication channels and methods of feedback
EHET > BTHEGGE > HEZR
Group staff Staff’s interests Direct communication
> ZEFTERE > BTG Tt
Work environment safety Staff hotline and handbook
> TR RR S Bt R > BT RE®)
Occupational health and Staff training and activities
development
JEOR BB > [ R > REKE
Shareholders and investors Return and growth General meeting of shareholders
> ZMEE > E MR EE
Profitability Regular disclosure of operating information

> ANEAE B R R
Corporate announcements/circulars, annual reports

and financial statements
> BEH M

Investor roadshows

HFB¥E >

Tenants and property owners

FEE i B3R e R

Product qualities and services
0 42
> E A
Product maintenance
7 )
> ZRR
Safety facilities

> ek

Rental level

> EFFMEENA
Customer satisfaction sutvey

> ERER - AR EBEATEERE
Keep close relationship through phone calls,
WeChat groups, e-mails, etc.

> ERK A
Routine inspections

> REEENE R R

Provide professional after-sale services
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Government authorities

Compliance with laws and

i I e T X T D X
Stakeholders Concerns Communication channels and methods of feedback
R AL > A > BEARRADETT RN R E B R E
Contractors Tendering methods Technique and quality assessment of tenderers
> R R > BRI LA RSP KA IE
Pay in time Set hiring standards and practices to ensure fairness
and justice
e > BT > RAAR - 2F - AEREEER
Suppliers Mode of procurement Open, impartial and fair tendering procedures
> S RIBITAH > EMTIEE &
Observation and Performance of Convene regular work meetings
contracts > WMEEE
Factory inspections
B > ESPEAEN > YT RO ST B R BUR

Follow and abide by national policies

> FAIRE
Profitability
> PEHEEE
Corporate social responsibility

(CSR)
> EEEWE

Operational transparency

regulations > ERFE R A TIERRT B B E M
> REEHE Hold regular meetings to review operating
Tax payment according to law procedures and relevant regulations
> TH%A > ROLEREA T R SEEUOR
Project security Formulate green working, construction and
building policies
fan 7} > NmHEE > 2B
Communities Public welfare Get actively involved in community affairs
> HREE >l BUR D S8 B BRI S At Y
Connections with communities Set policies to minimize operation impact on the
> EEEER environment and community
Community sanitation > ARG EE)
Organise charity events
A > KHER > W4 A BT B
Media Group governance Regular disclosure of information and news release

- R
Visit invitation

> BUEE B B AR R 2 R B0 A A
Information on investor and public relations are

provided for media organizations upon request

20 K b B A B A il GOLDEN WHEEL TIANDI HOLDINGS COMPANY LIMITED




E@?3\ Bi o Ag RAERIRE T MER

@E@IH%%%‘%LU&W%&%W AT
0 TR B R B K R ) R SRR
HEATE BRI A I E AR AR T

7S B W 5 T ST 5 = 7 R B o B M 2
ﬁi%ﬁﬂﬁ WA A% R GRE - 4L
FE RS ~ A A BOR & R
% TTEHE - FREREE RS s
ST 16 RBRBE - A R A A B R

I T R AR5 003 5 S A R R R B AR
Do T B o AR [ 0 A [ () 8 70 o B4R
MET LM - %57  BESm U

W E R - EAT AN E E AT -

A0 L W S B JBOOR A
SR A B R AR B R I A

S L BB - A R R
0 24 10 T B A S 1
WA 2 8 el B 1 LR R
T -

BRE b g R Eh
Environmental, Social and Governance Report

In accordance with the requirements of the ESG Guidelines, the Group
identified major issues and priorities involved in the Group’s operations through
communication with different stakeholders and internal discussions, and conducted
a materiality assessment. The materiality assessment process for the Year was as

follows:

I. The Group engaged an independent third-party consultant to assist it in the
materiality assessment. A total of 16 ESG-related issues were established by
taking into account the ESG Guidelines, corporate policies and management

strategies, industry benchmarking and stakeholders’ past comments, etc.

2. In order to understand the attention degree of stakeholders to relevant
issues and the importance of these issues, the Group communicates with
its staff, suppliers, customers, media, etc., through various communication
mechanisms to collect stakeholders’ opinions and conduct external materiality

assessment.

3. Analyze business priorities and policies through management meetings
to assess the importance of relevant issues to the Group from a Group

perspective.
4. Based on two parameters, i.e. the importance of the ESG issues established to

each stakeholder and the importance of the issues to the Group, the issues are

listed in order of importance and disclosed in matrix form.
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BREE ~ bk B 4% i i P P ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE ISSUES
IMPORTANCE MATRIX
R 4E B JE 55 8 R I R BSG UK > AM M & Based on our Group's business development and long-term ESG policies, we have
BT the following important matrix:
B 1SS R
ENVIRONMENT Greenhouse gas emission

2 HEUR SR
Use of resources and energy
3 JEEYEH
o A Waste management
High 4 SRR

Climate risk management

B I E

Importance to stakeholders

o) oe SE 10 G
o

RESPONSIBILITY Management of supply chain

(2] 1l FF (R R %4
@ Customer information and privacy security
() 12 g RS B 2%

Product and service quality

13 ke

Intellectual property protection

v

& ST T & )
Taxy Importance to the Group’s business High 14 e
Complaint management
e 15 K&
SOCIAL Anti-Corruption
A1 22 B

Community participation

16

BRI ET RN AEEARANEEN Based on the Group's business characteristics, issues of greater importance during
F) 5y E i B TS LR T R B & the Year are product and service quality, occupational health and safety, employment
B 756 - B L8R Rl R B HFEME > I equity, staff development and training, and complaint management, etc. This matrix
FEMERERE A EE SR g R of important issues is an important reference for the Group’s future ESG strategy
EIREEE T B RE A ERENE formulation, target setting and information disclosure.

LS =
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ENVIRONMENT

The Group is committed to enhancing the sustainability of its property

business to meet the challenges posed by global warming while reducing

the environmental impact of the business. The Group has incorporated the

concept of sustainability into all business processes, including project design,

development and construction, property operation, etc., in order to create

low-carbon and natural symbiotic products and communities for customers.

Through different green policies and internal guidelines, the Group strives to

guide its staff to practice green building, green construction and green office.

Al.

Emissions

Developing green policies to reduce greenhouse gas emissions
The Group attaches importance to the emissions generated from its
business and their management methods. The Group strictly complies
with national laws and regulations and regularly reviews the business
implementation process of each department. Emissions of greenhouse
gases and other air pollutants are inevitable in the business process of
property development. However, the Group has made its best efforts
to set up a number of green policies to ensure good management from
the source, reduce emissions, provide plant engineering for projects

and ensure that the green coverage rate reaches specific standards.

During the Year, the Group’s greenhouse gas emissions were mainly
from outsourced electricity and gasoline, and therefore, the Group has
been closely monitoring the emission sources to reduce the production
of greenhouse gases within its controllable range. For example, the
Group has a green policy for the use of resources to ensure its staff use

resources correctly to reduce unnecessary waste.
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Electricity usage

>

Group offices: The administrative department will be
responsible for checking whether the lights, computers, air
conditioners and other machines are turned off after office
hours; after the meeting room is used, the projector, computers

and other equipment shall be shut down in time.

Commercial projects: Air conditioners are required to be
used only in summer and winter of each year for a period of
approximately five months for project in Mainland China, with
an indoor temperature of not less than 26 degrees Celsius in
summer and not more than 20 degrees Celsius in winter to

reduce greenhouse gas emissions from refrigerants.

Gas usage

>

Hotel business: Replace some of the natural gas to be used with

other renewable energy.

Vehicle use

>

Strictly and uniformly arrange according to demand for vehicles

to reduce the use of vehicles.

For each project under construction, staff will be provided
with metro cards that are purchased collectively, and project
staff will be encouraged to use public transport when handling

project-related matters.
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Water resources management

The Group purchases water from municipal water supply agencies,
without any obstacles in obtaining suitable water sources. In terms
of sewage discharge, we set strict discharge guidelines to minimize
environmental damage. The Group understands that water resources
are precious natural resources, so we strive to improve water efficiency
and recycle water resources as much as possible. In the office, the
Group will remind employees to pay attention to water usage and
develop good habits of saving water through labels or posters. At the
same time, according to the Group’s green policy, water-saving faucets
and toilets have always been used in office areas, the surplus water left
in the office pantry every day will be recycled for cleaning water, and

the available water resources will be cherished.

For other property projects, the Group uses water resources in
accordance with engineering requirements and local environmental
requirements. Although sewage will inevitably be generated during
the development of property projects, the Group’s project sites will
be provided with appropriate facilities for sand settling of surface
runoff, such as sand settling ponds, silt collectors and sedimentation
tanks, which will be maintained regularly. In addition, rainwater and
sewage will be separated to ensure that sewage will be discharged
into municipal sewage pipes and rainwater will be discharged into
municipal rainwater pipes. Drainage networks will be provided to
ensure smooth channels to prevent water accumulation. Manholes in
the site will all be covered with care and temporarily sealed to prevent

debris from entering the drainage system.
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Solid waste management

In addition to the emission of greenhouse gases, other gas emissions
and sewage, the Group strictly complies with the Environmental
Protection Law of the People’s Republic of China, the Law of
the People’s Republic of China on the Prevention and Control of
Environmental Pollution by Solid Waste, the Law of the People’s
Republic of China on Promotion of Cleaner Production and the Waste
Disposal Ordinance of Hong Kong to strictly control solid waste. The
Group employs professional recyclers in all projects and offices to deal
with hazardous and non-hazardous wastes and recycle these wastes.
According to the requirements of Nanjing Municipal Domestic Waste
Management Regulations, which came into force on 1 November
2020, local companies are required to strictly implement waste
classification and set up more collection facilities in the office waste

collection area.

Waste separation facilities within the project

Green construction

The Group has stipulated in construction contractor agreements that
construction contractors will carry out the works in accordance with
the green construction guidelines, which include adopting a “three
level waste management hierarchy” in the construction process,
following the “avoid, recycle, and dispose” process, so as to avoid waste
generation from the beginning so as to reduce the production and
disposal of waste. All chemical containers should be clearly labeled
in accordance with the waste disposal (chemical waste) (general)
instructions, and chemical waste should be stored on a watertight
floor to prevent leakage. A refuse collection point or a movable
garbage bucket will be set up at the site for properly placing all solid
wastes. Hazardous and non-hazardous wastes are collected separately
and disposed according to law. Each project has designated staff
responsible for waste management related matters, and the project
manager is mainly responsible for approving the waste management
plan; the project intermediary is responsible for the implementation
of daily waste management; the general foreman is responsible for
supervising the workers’ compliance with the waste management
guidelines; and the project manager is responsible for coordinating the

actual arrangement and recording.
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Green project

The Group is fully aware of the importance of the concept of low
carbon and environmental protection to the sustainable development
of our business. In addition to formulating policies to improve the
efficiency of the use of energy and resources, we will also adopt more
different elements, including technology, design and other aspects to
reduce the environmental and ecological impact of the project before

and after construction.

The Group’s real estate project planning direction has always been to
focus on the development and operation of projects adjacent to subway
stations or other transportation hubs, and the most recent projects are
located on the subway roof or near high-speed railway stations. This
development direction does not only consider profit, but also shows
the experience of the Group in pursuing sustainable development.
Under the development policy of the complex adjacent to the subway
station or other transportation hubs, all aspects of living needs of
customers, including shopping, education, medical care, etc., within
the residential area and nearby areas, can be met without traveling far
away. This does not only improve the convenience of customers’ lives,
but also reduces greenhouse gas emissions generated by customers’
transportation in daily life. For other needs, customers can use green
and nearby public transportation means to achieve a sustainable

lifestyle.
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Under such general policy for project development, the Group has
also added the green concept to the site selection and design period
as eatly as before the construction, not only strictly complying with
the functional planning requirements of the project site, but also
conducting site visits during the site selection of the project to
understand the local ecology and supporting facilities. Before the
project is officially implemented, the Group will conduct project
environmental impact assessment in accordance with the regulations,
mainly conducting research and assessment on the water, soil, sound,
etc., that will be affected. Based on the results of the inspection and
evaluation, the Group will hold meetings and discussions and take

relevant measures based on the characteristics of each project.

During the project implementation phase, the Group designs the
project based on the topography of the project site and the overall
climate environment. The design team will carefully consider the
project orientation, natural ventilation, sunshine time, etc., to set up
the design scheme. In addition, the Group will set up energy-saving
teams based on demand, set up water and electricity consumption
quotas in advance, formulate rewards and punishment rules and
monitor the implementation of energy-saving work plans and targets
to improve energy efficiency. Procurement of materials in the project
design is also an important part of the Group’s focus. We carefully
select suppliers and use only high-quality materials and try our best to
use environmental-friendly materials, such as external wall insulation

materials and high-efficiency energy-saving lamps, etc.

2 R b ¥ B A B A ] GOLDEN WHEEL TIANDI HOLDINGS COMPANY LIMITED



58 o A4 B AE AT B Be b A AR
i 5 P 4 8 K 48 B 5 AR o 7E B
K7 > B AE B IR E SR WKL
M > 8 7 K 4 R 13 50K U T R
Aok AL 2 0 0 A2 B gt DA B R T
o R S K R A o T R SO E
A BT B K R 2 2 R Y
T S 7K HE B o 1 B B U7 T - HE A
B A T AR R R A A 1
T b DA 3 P A SR A e
A 1k 7 SR I A A B A
A DA 5B IR SR AR R B
R IE B A0 UL S PR A

S TR G R AT Y
B k1 8 > JAMAE A 2R K
2R BRI Z TR i DL B 6 A
RS M EMERA &8
% [F] J1 08 F o B R Mt - 3
AT ol F5 A8 R A B A0 8 AR
AP A e R R A A K B e R B R K
Bire ek - SH M EGEHA D EL
RS Y > EEBONERIFBRE W
ERBEEN T RREE LR
WK R AR EFEA
R it PR PR A A o i B4R [ 7E
HEY AN FLEE LA 10 Bk i R
e s FR A A BT D K BR B 5 44
BRI D 5 T B AR 4
R0 5 o PR 22 ] o T R 355 Ak ot 26
5 15.03% - A H 2 & AP &
Fit £ 1 KBk i - B L R E K
FHER o ML R F A E R
PoKER - B ERB SR AR -

BREE - A R HGE
Environmental, Social and Governance Report

In addition, the Group actively uses energy-saving and water-saving
measures and technologies at different stages. In terms of water saving,
some residential projects are equipped with rainwater collection ponds
to use non-traditional water sources such as rainwater for greening
irrigation and road washing, and water saving systems, for example,
drip irrigation or sprinkler irrigation are also used. Commercial
projects are also equipped with water-saving equipment, such as
installation of pressure-reducing valves and induction taps. In terms
of energy conservation, basically all projects adopt door and window
products with sealing strips to enhance the air tightness of doors and
windows, thus effectively preventing heat conduction caused by air
convection, reducing the frequency of heating used by customers and

reducing the overall greenhouse gas emissions of the project.

Golden Wheel Binary Star Plaza is a popular choice for shopping and
accommodation in Nanjing. We have adopted several measures to
achieve energy-saving and environment-friendly operation without
affecting the service level. The plaza management will compare and
review the data every other month with those of the same period in
the past. The plaza implements sustainable development measures and
plans to utilize renewable energy sources such as solar thermal and
solar photovoltaic. In view of the waste easily generated from the plaza
business, the Group strives to adopt the environmental protection
and low-carbon option to the maximum extent while keeping the
environment clean and tidy, and adopting sterilization technology
in public facilities to meet requirements in the epidemic situation.
Moreover, the Group has very strict standards in construction materials
and design, and we hope to save resources and reduce pollution to
the maximum extent, so as to provide people with applicable and
efficient use space. The green space rate of the plaza reaches 15.03%,
and trees are provided for shading and supporting facilities for rest,
and waterscape modeling is set in the landscape center. The Group
comprehensively considers shading and drainage requirements in its
greening design, with its green building certification recognized as

one star grade.
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Jo SRR T L 20214 20204
Types of exhaust emissions** 2021 2020
ALY (M)

Sulphur oxides (tonne) 54 0
REALY (AMH)

Nitrogen oxides (tonne) 10,954 0.18
R (F30)

Particulate matter (kg) 0.18 16.9
% SR B 2021 2020
Greenhouse gas emission 20214F 2020 4F
(—) B H % S PR B (2 M)

(I) Direct greenhouse gas emissions and reduction (tonne) 172 64
() R VB I] 22 U =5 S B B (M)

(IT) Energy indirect greenhouse gas emissions (tonne) 5,248 1,902
(=) At o 2 0 2 S R R (M)

(III) Other indirect greenhouse gas emissions (tonne) 107 14
U % S B PR A (A )

Total greenhouse gas emissions (tonne) 5,355 1,981
BEFRBEHE (CALRER (AW EF£8T)

Greenhouse gas emissions intensity (CO2e (tonne)/per employee) 8.0 2.4
JBE e 4 3 2021 4 2020 4F
Waste category 2021 2020
BHEBEEY (NW) W

Hazardous waste (tonne) Trace 0
FEBEYZE (AW HF£8T) M

Hazardous waste density (in tonne/per employee) Trace 0
T BEFEY) (LM

Non-hazardous waste (tonne)*** 60 31.9
EEBEEYEE (AW HF£8T)

Non-hazardous waste density (in tonne/per employee) 0.090 0.039
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KRG AL 2021 4F 20204F
Use of water resources 2021 2020
FEAK & (22 M)

Total water consumption (tonne) 145,033 26,872
HKEEE (AW, S48

Water consumption density (m tonne/per employee) 218 326
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There are five real estate projects in the scope of environmental performance
indicators in 2020, including the headquarters office in Nanjing, the Hong Kong
office, Nanjing Golden Wheel International Plaza Xintiandi, Nanjing Golden
Wheel Atour Hotel and Golden Wheel Binary Star Plaza.

There are seven real estate projects in the scope of performance indicator data
collection in 2021, including the headquarters office in Nanjing, the Hong Kong
office, Nanjing Golden Wheel International Plaza Xintiandi, Nanjing Golden
Wheel Atour Hotel, Golden Wheel Binary Star Plaza, in the scope of data collection
last year as well as Hong Kong Golden Wheel Plaza, and Nanjing Golden Wheel
Galaxy Center included in the scope of data collection this year.

The Group’s main businesses are property development, business management,
financial investment and hotels, which do not involve the use of packaging
materials.

The percentage change is a comparison between the five data collection items in
2020 and the data collection items in 2021, including the newly added Hong Kong
Golden Wheel Plaza and Nanjing Golden Wheel Galaxy Center.

Impacted by the COVID-19 pandemic, our employees significantly reduced their
air traveling, resulting an increase in exhaust gas emissions primarily from motor
vehicles not owned by the Group, and a significant reduction in indirect greenhouse
gas emissions from air travel.

The methodology for calculating non-hazardous waste was fine-tuned this year.
Comparing to that of 2020, more factors have been taken into account to enhance
data accuracy, such as number of employees, hours and days of work, etc., resulting
in a larger difference between the figures for the two years.

The significant increase in sulphur oxides and nitrogen oxides during the year

was due to the use of natural gas in the Golden Wheel Binary Star Plaza and

Nanjing Golden Wheel Atour Hotel. Natural gas is a kind of clean energy

and therefore the Group's emissions in this area do not have a significant

impact on the environment as compared to the use of other energy. Further,

a trace of hazardous wastes includes used lamps and batteries, as produced

during normal course of business of office and property management, and

they were disposed properly in accordance to relevant laws and regulations.
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Use of Resources

Green office

The Group’s green office does not only control greenhouse gas
emissions, but also includes the use of other resources, office
procurement and disposal of office waste. At present, the Group has
offices in Nanjing and Hong Kong, and the main wastes in the offices
are general domestic waste and used paper. We have actively advocated
to our staff to encourage them to reduce the use of disposable and
over-packaged goods. As for printing documents, we require our staff
to use environmentally-friendly paper under normal circumstances,
and the printing paper can be reused for internal use. All waste such as
packaging materials and office paper will be recycled by the Group’s
designated recycler. All staff within the Group have complied with the

internal Green Office Management Guidelines, including:

> Equipping staff with low-energy computers;

> Requiring staff to turn off lighting fixtures, air conditioners

and equipment before leaving the property;

> Full use of energy-efficient lighting system and LED lamps in

the office;

> Reasonable use and ordering of office supplies;

> Employees are encouraged to use double-sided printing
and reuse the single-sided printing paper to reduce paper

consumption;

> Recycling facilities are provided in the premises to recycle glass,

carton, paper, metal and other materials;

> Engaging professional recyclers to deal with wastes that may
harm the environment, such as lamp tubes, ink cartridges and

batteries;

> People are encouraged to use video conferencing and

teleconferencing as an alternative to business trips;
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> Paperless office; and

> Replacing printed publicity leaflets with internet-based

advertising for project marketing.

Water conservation

As the Group’s business involves the operation of shopping malls
and hotels, there will be a certain amount of water facilities and
consumption, and the Group will monitor the use of water resources
through the property management system. As water consumption of
the hotel business is the highest in the Group, we have implemented
a series of water saving measures for the hotel business, including
regular inspection and maintenance of water pipes by the engineering
department to prevent leakage and installation of water-saving faucet

and toilet to control water output.

In other property projects, both indoor and outdoor, the Group
has taken special measures to save the use of water resources. For
indoor areas, the Group’s engineering department is responsible for
controlling water use of landscape modeling and public areas mainly
using recycled water. The engineering department also needs to
conduct regular inspections to understand the actual situation and
explore areas for which water-saving measures can be taken. In terms of
outdoor design, the Group has applied the rainwater recycling system
and the design of “Sponge City” in different projects. “Sponge City”
is a design of a city model with both flood control and ecological and
environmental protection functions, including the design of rainwater
gardens, concave green spaces, permeable pavement, rainwater
collection ponds, etc., which can improve the efficiency of water
circulation. For example, the Group’s project, Golden Wheel Binary

Star Plaza, has been equipped with a rainwater recycling system.

Golden Wheel Binary Star Plaza is project integrating retail, service
apartments and hotels. As early as at the design stage, rainwater
collection pond facilities have been provided to collect rainwater for
outdoor plant irrigation, driveway cleaning, etc., to make good use of

water resources.
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A3.
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Usage amount of energy by emission source

AEJRBE A & (-8 - L 1) 20214 20204
Energy Consumption (‘000 kWh) 2021 2020
il

Petrol 13 201
seih

Diesel 0 25
KRR

Natural Gas 761 243
9]

Electric power 13,720 3,029
RETRARFE A B

Total energy consumption 14,493 3,498
BETRIHFER E (000 kwh /B4 B T)

Energy consumption density (in 000 kwh/per employee) 21.63 4.24
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A3.

The increase in energy use for the Year was mainly due to the
improvement of the epidemic situation and the inclusion of more

projects than last year.

Environment and Natural Resources

The impact of the Group’s business operations on the environment
and natural resources mainly relates to the consumption of electricity,
water resources, building materials and office supplies during the office
and construction process. We have also taken a series of environmental
protection measures to reduce emissions and consumption, and
implemented green buildings to reduce the impact of business

operations on the environment and natural resources.
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During the construction process, the Group mainly manages the
construction dust issue in accordance with the relevant requirements
such as the Environmental Protection Law of the People’s Republic
of China, establishes a complete set of spraying systems at all
construction sites, and reduces the air dust by driving mist cannon
trucks and regularly turning on the atomizing water spraying system
at the construction sites. In order to effectively reduce the dust
emission from the construction site, the construction site must meet
the requirements for the following: surrounding enclosure, hardening
of construction roads, covering of bare soil and material stacking, wet
operation of earthwork excavation and demolition works, cleaning of
vehicles entering and leaving the site, and airtight transportation of

slag cars.

In addition, the Group is very concerned about the impact on the
residents near the project. During the construction process, the Group
will always pay attention to whether the noise generated by the project
is controlled to meet the relevant standards and strictly observe the
legal construction time in the project area. As the light emitted from
the display screen on the external wall of the shopping mall may affect
nearby residents, we will turn off the lighting system of the screen at

10 p.m. every day to reduce light pollution.

Climate change

The Group is aware of the risks arising from climate change. The
management has identified and understood the possible opportunities
and risks to our business and actively responds to, manages and
monitors the risks associated with climate change. Extreme weather
brought about by climate change will directly bring physical risks
to our property development, investment, hotel operation and other
aspects. For example, extreme weather events such as rainstorm and
typhoon may affect the delivery period of the supplied materials,
causing project delay and directly affecting the normal operation
of the Group. Therefore, the Group should adopt relevant policies,
including supply chain management and green design, to strengthen
the adaptability of the Group’s business and projects and reduce the
short and medium term risks associated with climate change. As for
the long-term risk that climate change may bring, which is the risk of
social transformation, the Group has also adopted measures to adapt to

and resist climate change at the regulatory level.
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SOCIAL

Upholding the people-oriented concept, the Group is committed to creating

a harmonious and healthy working environment for its staff. We highly

respect the rights and interests of our staff, and also attach importance to

their personal growth, the Group’s supply chain management and quality

assurance. During the Year, we continued to improve our relevant policies to

provide high-quality products to our customers and our country based on the

interests of the Group and our staff.

BI.

Employment

The Group has always valued its staff as the Group’s greatest asset.
As a result, the Group strictly complies with the Employment
Promotion Law of the People’s Republic of China, the Labour Law
of the People’s Republic of China, the Labour Contract Law of
the People’s Republic of China, the Marriage Law of the People’s
Republic of China and other relevant laws and regulations, and has
formulated staff handbooks and set down regulations on remuneration
and dismissal. For example, all employees are required to sign an
employment contract, which sets out matters such as wages, benefits
and termination of the contract. The Group respects and embraces
different cultures. When we recruit new staff, all applicants, regardless
of their identity, gender, religion, disability, nationality, etc., can have
the same recruitment opportunities. During the recruitment process
the human resources department will require applicants to show their
identification documents. If an applicant cannot show any compliance
documents, the Group will not consider allowing the applicant to
proceed to the next recruitment step to avoid the employment of child
labour and forced labour. The Group has relevant anti-discrimination
and anti-harassment policies in both recruitment and business
processes, including the Anti-sex Discrimination Policy, which
defines discrimination and harassment so that stakeholders can clearly
understand the relevant definitions. In case of any relevant situation,
staff can immediately report through communication channels. The
Group also attaches importance to the training of talents and abilities.
We conduct annual performance appraisal with our staff every year
and have a clear promotion ladder. All staff have the same promotion
opportunities according to the results of the performance appraisal and

the corresponding qualifications and abilities.
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HEHE

Employment Policy Specific Provisions
T AR BT — A TAR R e A P9 /N > A0 BRGS0 DL SO 3
Working Hours 2 A HER AR o
The working hours of employees are generally 40 hours per week. Where overtime work is
required, the Group will offer overtime pay or grant or approve leave in lieu as appropriate.
B i id ALBBRIEN G TEERR B > TEEMRE L TERBFR R R A R4

Salary and Remuneration

HRF 08 > 3 RO RS - Rt Ah > B E R B TR £ LM
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The Group offers competitive remuneration packages to its employees based on factors such
as market wages, responsibilities, job complexity and work performance. Staff remuneration
is always paid in full as scheduled. The Group also pays discretionary bonuses to qualified

employees based on operation results and individual performance.

&

Vacation

B TR R 3 N RSLAN B 55 B0 1) BUE ] =2 A MR MR S LA B > A
s H M B B o SR P L B TR IR A AR 0 1 B AR BB

Employees are entitled to maternity leave, marriage leave and other leave, and may apply for
other casual leave in accordance with the Labour Law of the People’s Republic of China. The
Group’s female staff can apply for physiological leave of one day each month according to

their physical conditions.

B A A
Employee Benefits
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The Group pays contributions to the social insurance fund for its employees, and offers
working meal allowance, regular physical examination, employee activities, travel allowance
and other benefits stipulated by the state. If employees take training and relevant vocational
qualification examinations, the Group will provide additional leave for examination and
bear relevant training expenses. Hong Kong-based employees are also entitled to medical
insurance and the mandatory provident fund. The Group has also introduced a share option
scheme to reward employees who make outstanding contributions to the growth and

development of the Group.
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HMET A% MEHT A kB LA B T NS 9%)
il Total Number of Number of Lost The Percentage of Lost Employees
Categories Employees Employees in the Category
e [ 8 53
By Region
i 6 0 0%
Hong Kong
I K B 664 374 56%
Mainland China
HeAE s # oy
By Age Group
18-30 3% 186 146 78%
18-30
31-50 % 400 183 46%
31-50
st Lk b 84 45 84%
51 and Above
S EoE iy
By Employment Category
AL g 429 301 70%
General
H 198 65 33%
Middle
] 43 8 19%
Senior
ek Bl B 4y
By Gender
H 330 193 58%
Male
ok 340 181 53%
Female
EsE 4 670 374 56%
Total
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Occupational Health and Safety

Only ensuring a safe and healthy working environment can make
staff feel at ease and work more efficiently. We therefore strictly
implement relevant laws and regulations, including but not limited
to the Labour Law of the People’s Republic of China, the Law of the
People’s Republic of China on Work Safety, the Occupational Safety
and Health Ordinance of Hong Kong, the Industrial Injury Insurance
Ordinance and the Fire Prevention Law of the People’s Republic
of China, etc. In addition, we listen to the opinions of the staff
carefully and improve safety facilities, safety awareness and the safety
management principles of working environment. The Group also pays
work injury insurance for each staff. At the same time, the general
contractor of the project is also required to purchase relevant insurance

for the construction workers and put staff health on first place.

In order to improve fire safety awareness of the workers at the
Xintiandi Mall and various commercial users and increase the
emergency response ability and the self-rescue capacity of staff
and merchants, and enable staff to master certain fire prevention
knowledge, Golden Wheel Commercial Headquarter and Golden
Wheel Xintiandi Mall held evacuation drills and fire-fighting drills on
11 June 2021.
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In addition, the human resources department conducts statistics and
data collection on a unified basis every year, while the Administration
and human resources department conducts regular monthly meetings
to report and follow up relevant work. During the Year, there was no
serious occupational injury accident, and the number and rate of injury

case/death case in the line of duty was zero.

The Group also attaches importance to occupational safety at the
construction site of the project, and implements the principle of
“safety first and prevention first” during the entire construction
process. Project engineers hold monthly meetings with the Project
Safety Committee to monitor the implementation of the project
safety plan and revise the health and safety performance of the project.
The management of the Group will also regularly visit the site to
oversee the purchase, lease, use of safety protection equipment,
machinery equipment, construction machinery and accessories, fire
service facilities and equipment that meet the requirements of safety
construction, (including the safety protection for inflammable and
explosive and dangerous goods) and conducts routine inspection and
record on temporary electricity consumption and high falling objects.
The construction of a project shall strictly implement a tendering and
bidding system and shall be contracted out to a construction entity

with the relevant qualification grading.

The Group assists staff to establish harmonious and healthy
interpersonal relationships and advocates mutual support and care. We
believe that such a working environment is able to not only cultivate
team spirit, but also help increasing the overall operating efficiency of
the Group. For this purpose, the Group regularly holds staff activities,
including birthday parties, festival celebrations and group construction
activities days, to narrow the gap among staff and create a harmonious

working atmosphere so that staff can work happily.
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Each year, the Company holds a Spring Festival Evening Party
and annual Summary Meeting. During the meeting, the Company
reviewed the Group's history and the overall situation in the past. At
the same time, the Company released the Group's future development
directions, strategic objectives and working plans and tasks for the
new year in respect of its four major segments. In addition, in order
to appreciate the staff for their contribution to the Group, we have
commended and presented awards to excellent managers, excellent
staff and long-serving staff. Besides, various departments of the
Company will organize regular out-of-office activities from time to
time. There is a photo wall in the corridors of the Company's office,
which records the flashing moments of employees in various activities.
A diversified and inclusive corporate culture offers each employee more
opportunities to enable them to truly achieve their goals and truly

become “an integral part of the company”.

Development and Training

The Group is committed to providing the best quality products and
services to our customers. Professional staff and up-to-date industry
knowledge are behind maintaining excellent quality. As a result,
the Group regularly organizes trainings for its staff according to the
development requirements for different positions, including trainings

for pre-job, fire drill, construction engineering and service activities.

After entering the company, all new staff are required to attend pre-
job induction training provided by the human resources department
to learn about the history of the Group, organizational structure,
company rules and regulations, basic operation of office automation
system, various policies, etc., to make sure that they are familiar with

the values and objectives of the Group and understand their roles in

the Group.
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ZHlB T 52 IR 9 N3 5% IR 8
Zil B T A% N5 (%) (/) (/M)
iyl Number of Percentage of Training hours Training hours
Categories trained staff trained staff (hour) | per employee (hour)
1 o 85 ) 7y
By Region
it 0 0% 0 0
Hong Kong
e PN:3 21 3.16% 42 0.06
Mainland China
AU E 2y
By Age Group
18-30 7% 5 2.69% 10 0.05
18-30
31-50 0% 16 4.02% 32 0.08
31-50
sU L E 0 0% 0 0
51 and above
5 0 A9 25 1 1 2
By Employment Category
A 6 1.41% 12 0.03
General
F e 12 6.12% 24 0.12
Middle
g 3 7.32% 6 0.15
Senior
SN T &) 7y
By Gender
H1k 2 0.61% 4 0.01
Male
Ltk 19 5.63% 38 0.11
Female
B 21 3.16% 42 0.06
Total
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The above is only a fraction of the Group’s training record. Due to the persistence of COVID-19 during 2021, the various training
records from local offices could not be consolidated, and therefore they were not reflected on the form above. The Group will

continue to improve the system of collecting training information, and to provide a more completed disclosure in the next report.
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In addition, anti-corruption training is a key training program of
the Group, and its training contents have been clearly stipulated in
the staff manual. Engineering contracts, lease contracts and separate
anti-corruption clauses signed by the Company and third parties are
included in the manual to prevent any corruption. The Group also
strongly encourages its staff to participate in external training or
seminars, and provides examination leave and bears relevant training

expenses to support staff’s career development.

Employment Standards

During the Year, the Group strictly complied with the Labor Law of
the People’s Republic of China and the Law of the People’s Republic
of China on the Protection of Minors and other regulations on the
prohibition of child labour and forced labour. All employees of the
Group are recruited by the human resources department following
established standards and procedures, so as to ensure that all candidates
are able to meet the qualifications for employment. Based on the
relevant information submitted by the candidates, the human resources
department makes rigorous check and verification on the identity and
professional qualifications of candidates, so as to ensure that the legal
minimum working age is met and avoid any child labour. In addition,
the Group has cracked down on forced labour. All employees must
sign employment contracts upon commencement of employment,
which contain detailed information on work requirements and wages,
so that employees fully understand their responsibilities and the
Group’s expectations. If overtime work is required, we will consider
whether employees are given proper rest time. After overtime work,
we will arrange time off or provide overtime pay to ensure that
employees receive legal and reasonable compensations. In addition, we
will conduct analysis quarterly to strengthen human resource planning
and streamline working processes to avoid unnecessary overtime
work. During the Year, the Group did not commit any violation of
the Labour Law of the People’s Republic of China or other laws and
regulations related to the prevention of child labour or forced labour
in mainland China. However, if any violation is found, the human
resources department will immediately report it to the management
according to the established procedures, and then the management
will hold an internal meeting and appoint a person in charge to follow

up the violations and give relevant severe punishments.
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Management of Supply Chain

The Group firmly believes that a sound and sustainable supply chain
can maintain good quality of the products. We maintain stable
cooperative relationship with various suppliers. Apart from jointly
promoting business development, we also hope that through effective
supply chain management, suppliers can shoulder the vision of

building high-quality projects and society together with us.

When selecting engineering suppliers, the Group conducts open,
transparent and objective bidding. During the supplier selection
process, all staff members are required to submit the inquiry results by
each department in accordance with the internal standard process and
obtain an approval from the relevant department before the relevant
supplier becomes a qualified supplier of the Group. For a supplier that
cooperates with the Group for the first time, the Group will review the
supplier’s bidding documents and the data provided by the supplier,
including business license, professional qualification certificate, safety
production license and other management system approval certificate,
business introduction, etc., to confirm the supplier’s legitimacy,
operating results, qualifications and background, and its compliance
with the Group’s standards and requirements. The sustainability of
suppliers is also one of the Group’s considerations. The operation
data provided by suppliers, such as low-carbon production, use of
environment-friendly materials and green operation, will be the
key items considered by the contract department. Generally, under
the same conditions, suppliers within the same region will be
selected preferentially to reduce the greenhouse gas emissions from
transportation. In regulating the procurement and tendering process,
we will assess the environmental and social risks of our suppliers
and ensure that our suppliers meet our quality and environmental
protection requirements based on the principles of fair and equitable
assessment. We conduct annual performance evaluation on our
cooperative suppliers to monitor and evaluate their work progress and
quality as well as their sustainable development performance. The
suppliers that fail the performance evaluation, such as violation of laws
or regulations, and bad operations, will be blacklisted by the Group, or
even considered never to be hired to ensure the quality of the Group’s
projects. Currently, the Group has 74 suppliers within the scope of its

reports.
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Product Liability and Quality of Services

While providing high-quality real estate projects, the Group is also
committed to implementing various measures, so we always have
strict standards for project management and internal control. Every
detail of the Group’s projects is meticulous. All construction work is
conducted strictly in accordance with the Regulations on the Quality
Management of Construction Projects issued by the State Council,
and all contractors recruited conform to stringent qualification
requirements. Departments involved in project design, cost control and
project management must carry out project planning, procurement,
construction, supervision, acceptance and warranty according to the
Group’s standardised project management process. All the Group’s
projects are filed with the competent government authorities in
compliance with the requirements of laws and regulations, and relevant
licenses are obtained. After the completion of a project, an on-site
inspection conducted by the relevant authorities of the government is
required before receiving the completion record certification to ensure
the safe delivery of the project. In addition, as for project design, the
staff of the design department regularly checks whether there is any
infringement of the Group’s intellectual property rights in the market,
and the Group’s design is the original design of our staff. The Group
confirms that the intellectual property rights of the products are used
in the projects to maintain and protect the intellectual property rights.
The Group’s standardisation requirements for projects not only can
reduce internal management risks, but also ensure the consistency of
project quality. During the Year, the percentage of products sold to be

recycled for safety or health reasons was zero.
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The Group attaches great importance to customer relations and
has fostered close relationships with customers through various
communication channels. The Group has an enterprise resource
planning system for statistics of relevant consumer information. In
light of the personal information of customers contained in the system
and for the purpose of protecting the privacy of consumers, the Group,
in accordance with the General Principles of the Civil Law of the
People’s Republic of China and other laws and regulations related to
protection of the right to use personal data and privacy, requires that
the data inputting and system maintaining should be only carried
out by related and authorised salespersons, and customer data should
not be transferred to other departments or third parties without
the approval of the management to reduce the risk of customer
privacy leakage. In the process of project marketing, the Group is
fully aware of the importance of accurate information. According to
the requirements of the Regulations on the Release of Real Estate
Advertising and the Advertising Law of the People’s Republic of
China, each customer shall be provided with real, legal and accurate
real estate advertising information to avoid any false, misleading or
inductive contents for customers, so as to reduce customer’s risk. In
addition, the Group has purchased the public liability insurance for all
commercial properties to protect the rights and interests of customers.
If a customer is dissatisfied with a product or service, he/she can
lodge a complaint by telephone, e-mail or WeChat. The Group will
immediately assign an employee to follow up on the complaint, and
the case must be reported within the specified time limit, so as to
ensure that it can be handled in a timely and effective manner, and
improve customer’s satisfaction and maintain the Company’s goodwill
and image. During the Year, the Group has not received any major

complaint about the products or setvices.
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Anti-Corruption

In order to maintain a corporate culture of honesty and integrity,
the Group has established a complete governance structure and
comprehensive risk assessment management and internal control
systems to provide clear principles and guidelines of business ethics
to all Directors, staff members and suppliers. All staff members of
the Group can learn about the Group’s requirements on honesty and
integrity of the staff, reporting system, definition of staff corruption,
etc, by referring to the internal honesty and integrity management
regulations. All staff members are required to spontaneously report
and hand in presents, cash gifts, and other items, and when invited
for business purposes, they are also required to obtain the approval
of the General Manager in advance. New recruits are required to
attend integrity and self-discipline courses to enhance their integrity

awareness and anti-corruption ability.

In addition, the Group has established various anti-corruption
reporting channels, including telephone, email, WeChat official
account, etc. All complaints about alleged corruption cases can
be reported anonymously or non-anonymously. Upon receipt of a
report, the Group’s legal department and the internal audit office
will investigate and handle the complaints under the guidance of the
Group’s vice chairman. During the Year, the Group did not violate any
laws or regulations relating to anti-corruption, monopolization and
improper receipt of benefits, and did not dismiss or take disciplinary

action against any staff member for corruption incidents.
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Community Investment

To fulfill its social responsibility as a listed company, the Group is
always committed to repaying the society by playing an active role
in charity events such as donations, establishment of foundation and
blood donation by staff. In the future, the Group will continue to
provide the previous community investment services. During the
Year, the Group continued to make major contributions to education
and make use of resources to cultivate tomorrow’s elites for the society.
During the Year, the Group has donated a total amount of over RMB1

million in various community investment activities.

Supporting education

The Group is well aware that the help and support from all walks of
life is indispensable to the development of enterprises. In order to
cultivate a sense of humanity and culture for the neighborhood, Golden
Wheel Lakeside Orchid Garden invested RMB15.6 million to build
an elite kindergarten, which has been delivered to the government on
31 December 2020. This kindergarten covers an area of nearly 4,000
square meters and has 12 classes planned, which is beneficial to the
radiation of educational resources in Mashan area upon its completion.
Tt is the Group’s contribution to the education cause and also reflects

its social responsibility as a real estate enterprise.
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In addition, the Group has cooperated with Zhuzhou Golden Wheel
Qiaoxin (Baijing) School since entering Hunan. For over a decade, the
infrastructures, characteristic education and others of Golden wheel
Qiaoxin School have been significantly improved with support and
concern of the chairman, Mr. Wong Yam Yin. The chairman promised
to continue to support its expansion at the centennial celebration of
the school in 2019. Furthermore, at the beginning of this year, the
Company donated RMB100,000 to Runxin Education Foundation in
Lusong District of Zhuzhou in order to improve the quality of school

education and teaching.

Celebrating the Mid-Autumn Festival and respecting the elderly
overseas Chinese

On 15 September 2021, the activity of “Celebrating the Mid-Autumn
Festival and respecting the elderly overseas Chinese” and the book
launch of “Research on the Living Situation of Returned Overseas
Chinese Under ‘One Country, Two Systems’ sponsored by the Hong
Kong Overseas Chinese Studies Centre (7 # # 15 % A B 5%
/) and the Editorial Committee of Hong Kong Returned Overseas
Chinese Historical Materials Series (%‘Q{%Eﬁ & s ﬂﬁéuéx = %ﬁ
and co-organized by Hong Kong Qiao Ai Foundation Limited (7
ﬁ%ﬁ%%@) was held in Palace Restaurant, 13th Floor, The One
building, Tsim Sha Tsui, Kowloon.
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Guests present included Mr. Wong Yam Yin (the chairman of Hong Kong Qiao Ai Foundation Limited and chairman of
Golden Wheel Tiandi Holdings) and his wife; Mr. Wong Ying Loi (the chairman of Chiao Yao Association Limited (éf@fg KAty
and his wife; and Wong Kam-piu, Chan Chin Keung and Chan Chi Wei, the elected members of the Fifth Election Committee for
Hong Kong. Chairman Wong Yam Yin delivered a speech for the new book.
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Building a harmonious society

The Group participated in the Party Day activity with a theme of
“building the dream of overseas Chinese for a century” in Huaqiao
Road Sub-district to celebrate the 100th anniversary of the founding
of the Communist Party of China and won the title of “Advanced Pair
Construction Unit”. In order to celebrate the 100th anniversary of the
founding of the Communist Party of China, carry forward the Party's
fine traditions, maintain and carry forward the Party's advanced nature,
guide the majority of Party members to remain true to the original
aspiration and keep the mission firmly in mind, the Party Day activity
with a theme of “building the dream of overseas Chinese for a century”
in the Huaqiao Road Sub-district was held on the afternoon of 23 June
2021. Provincial and municipal leaders at all levels, representatives of
more than 40 co-construction units, all Party members and cadres in
the neighborhood, members of the two community committees and

some representatives of Party members attended the activity.

2 R b ¥ B A B A ] GOLDEN WHEEL TIANDI HOLDINGS COMPANY LIMITED



[F] BRF > 7 48 45 6 2 07 AL D
BREE T RERENER - BT
BATESHN LA 119%
@ﬁuzﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁ‘ﬁﬁﬁ
B > MR TAEM B R >
B TR BN ET M
MAEBEGRREERERERE
B o S K O [ 4
s A AL

HF2021F 12 H 13 H > 25/l 5 =
KEREEBRRARH - BAE
KB Rp i JE 8 > AE B RS A Y
B REFRBEH 77T AR
HMBE - AEEMEEAE TR LS
TREEE— MR - SERCIE
D |

BRE b g R Eh
Environmental, Social and Governance Report

At the same time, various co-construction units of the sub-district
played a significant role in the harmonious development of the
community. At present, there are 119 co-construction Party branches
paired with the sub-district. In various ways, these branches work
together with the sub-district and the community to jointly build and
govern the neighborhood, and actively support the implementation
of this sub-district’s work. Either parties make contributions to the
high quality development of Huagiao Road Sub-district, reflecting the
responsibilities and undertakings of the units under the jurisdiction. In
this regard, Golden Wheel Tiandi Holdings won the title of “Advanced

Pair Construction Unit”.

13 December 2021 marked the eighth National Memorial Day for
Nanjing Massacre Victims. In memory of those killed and died in the
massacre, cars stopped and honked and pedestrians stood still as sirens
blared across Nanjing. All employees of the Group observed a moment
of silence at 10:01 am to remember the history and never forget the

national humiliation!
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H [ R Jointly fighting against the COVID-19 epidemic

2021 4F » 7 76k 1% 1R A A B E o K In 2021, COVID-19 epidemic continued to spread. The Group
SE BB R R A - 7R A A AR actively responding to the call for volunteers, Zhu Ling, deputy chief
BWARMWASKEET  HEEE & executive of Golden Wheel Tiandi Holdings organized to publicize
JRH -~ EimEE N2 80, —i it, and employees including Dai Xiaoqgian, Cheng Xinyue, Wang
I T B TAE &R B AR - ZUH Rupeng actively joined in the volunteer team to prevent and control
ZTESFHHE FEfH - L[ B the epidemic. Under the scorching sun for five days, they worked hard
J1FE A % B RL R i B to help Nanjing fight the epidemic, demonstrating selfless spirit and
RFEWE - HHh > T A R corporate responsibility of the Company. In addition, Nanjing Golden
JEB B BT R E - fE A Wheel Atour Hotel responded to the government’s call and agreed to
95— 1A I A A be used as a hotel for unified isolation.
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B R
Corporate Governance Report

The Company is committed to maintaining high standards of corporate governance

practices to safeguard the interests of the shareholders and enhance the performance

of the Group. The Board reviews and improves the corporate governance practices

from time to time to ensure that the Company is under the leadership of an effective

board to optimise return for the shareholders.

As a responsible business enterprise, the corporate governance standards of the

Company are built on the principles of independence, accountability, transparency

and honesty.

(A) CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

(B)

The Company is committed to maintaining high standards of corporate
governance. The Board firmly believes that conducting the Group’s business
in a transparent and responsible manner and following good corporate
governance practices serve its long-term interests and those of shareholders.
The Company has adopted the code provisions set out in the Corporate
Governance Code (the “Corporate Governance Code”) contained in
Appendix 14 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”) as its own code to

govern its corporate governance practices.

In the opinion of the Directors, during the Year, the Company has adopted,
applied and complied with the code provisions (the “Code Provisions”)

contained in the Corporate Governance Code.

The Board will continue to review and monitor the practices of the Company
with an aim to maintain and improve its high standard of corporate

governance practices.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as set out in Appendix 10
to the Listing Rules as its code of conduct regarding Directors’ securities
transactions. Upon specific enquiry, all Directors confirmed that they have

complied with the Model Code during the Year.
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The Board members for the Year were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Wong Yam Yin (Chairman)

Mr. Wong Kam Fai (Vice Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Wong Kam Keung, Barry (Standing Vice President)

M:r. Tjie Tjin Fung (Vice Chairman)

Mr. Janata David

Non-executive Directors
Mr. Suwita Janata (Vice Chairman)
Mr. Gunawan Kiky

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Wong Ying Loi

Mr. Lie Tak Sen

Mr. Wong Cho Kei, Bonnie

Mr. Li Sze Keung

Mr. Wong Yam Yin is the husband of Ms. Hung So Ling, the father of Mr.
Wong Kam Fai (an Executive Director) and Mr. Wong Kam Keung, Barry
(an Executive Director), and the brother of Ms. Julia Oscar (the wife of Mr.
Suwita Janata, a Non-executive Director). Mr. Suwita Janata is the father of
Mr. Janata David (an Executive Director), and the uncle of Mr. Wong Kam
Fai (an Executive Director) and Mr. Wong Kam Keung, Barry (an Executive

Director).

The Board currently comprises a total of 11 Directors, with five Executive
Directors, two Non-executive Directors, and four Independent Non-executive
Directors. The number of Independent Non-executive Directors represents
more than one-third of the Boatd as required by Rule 3.10A of the Listing
Rules. The biographies of the Directors are set out on pages 96 to 105 of this

Annual Report.

The Articles of Association of the Company (the “Articles of Association”)
provides that at each annual general meeting, one-third of the Directors
for the time being shall retire from office by rotation, provided that every
Ditector (including those appointed for a specific term) shall be subject to
retirement by rotation at least once every three years. Also, pursuant to the
Articles of Association, any Director appointed to fill a casual vacancy or
as an addition to the Board is subject to re-election at the next following
general meeting or next following annual general meeting of the Company

respectively.
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Regular Board meetings are held at least four times a year. Special meetings
of the Board will be convened whenever necessary. The Board convened a

total of eleven meetings for the Year.

Details of the directors” attendance at the Board meetings, Board committee

meetings and general meetings during the Year were as follows:

/B R
Meeting Attended/Held

/83 R
BEXE  HHAE

Annual  Extraordinary

cREFE FHZAG HMEAG NAZAQ

Audit Remuneration ~ Nomination General General

Full Board ~ Committee = Committee ~ Committee Meeting Meeting
1111 = = 22 11 0/0
11/11 - 212 - 11 0/0
111 = = = 11 0/0
1111 = = - 11 0/0
11/11 - - - n 0/0
11/11 - - - n 0/0
111 = = = 11 0/0
11/11 - - 212 111 0/0
1111 33 212 = 11 0/0
11/11 313 212 - 1n 0/0
111 33 - 212 11 0/0

The Board is accountable to the shareholders for leading the Company in a
responsible and effective manner. It is responsible for formulating strategies
and management policies of the Company, approving the strategic objectives
of the Company and ensuring the availability of necessary financial and other
resources to meet such objectives. The Board also constantly supervises and
reviews the Company’s regulations and rules. The Directors perform their
duties in a faithful and diligent manner and act in the best interests of the

Company and its shareholders as a whole.

20215 ¥ it % ANNUAL REPORT 2021

85



86

i

NV

EHrH

C01p01ate Gmemance Report

B EHGIAFORA N A 2 KB
Bt BHOE W R FFF IR > R REE AT
S WA 2 ] R A A ) B IR
Z 0 B B R H A R R R

EILIE A TP T 0 M BUR BOR IR -
DL RS RE B BEAR N A B BB S g
BATHHHE -

AR A DY 2 B S AT R (DB ar T
frEE]) > MREEHHA K20 E
— AL IR ATE A R B
HER, o

AnFC g BB AT EERE L
RS 3.3 38t B 4R BE M T PE AR -
EEGRA > R LARA . 28I
AT S5 o -

wHEREI

AR\ T € 0 4 8 AT AR B
BEIRER > BEEE RS THALFN
R JCETS > DA RO R A B B R
BRI BRI AT o 2 )BT R i
A IRE S T AR ) R At A B T R B TR
HTE 1 J T 5 e 5 Y 1) AR RO
il o

ANTFISE M ERS HA SR
DL ST B B 00 4 I R BB © A
AnFC PR > G 2
{95 55 ) AR R R

rAEESE > ESRE L EHBLAE
T 838 %6 &~ Tjie Tjin Fung S5 2 ~ Janata
David G 2E ~ Suwita Janata %&£ » Gunawan
Kikyf‘ﬁi CEERSEE  FEERE &

RS R R RS AR
SMFFHBEERRE - RFERSHEF N
R A — B ST A 36 IR 57 A 2 SF AR SC
C1Afk-

AAFCLHHEERARLNFZ BRI E
WEREY 2 EE RSB AR -

Moreover, the Board is also responsible for presenting a clear and balanced
assessment of the Company’s performance and prospects, preparing accounts
that give a true and fair view of the Company’s financial position on a going

concern basis and disclosing other inside information.

The management is responsible for implementing the policies and strategies
as determined by the Board, and is delegated with the daily management,

operations and administration of the Company.

The Company has four Independent Non-executive Directors (“Independent
Non-executive Directors”), at least one of whom has appropriate financial

management expertise in compliance with the Listing Rules.

The Company has received annual confirmation of independence from all
the Independent Non-executive Directors in accordance with Rule 3.13 of
the Listing Rules. The Board is of the view that all the Independent Non-

executive Directors are independent in accordance with the Listing Rules.

Directors’ training

Each newly appointed Director is provided with necessary induction
and information to ensure that he/she has a proper understanding of the
Company’s operations and businesses as well as his/her responsibilities under
the relevant statues, laws, rules and regulations. The Company Secretary
and our legal advisors also provide the Directors with updates on latest
development and changes in the Listing Rules and other relevant legal and

regulatory requirement from time to time.

All of the Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. The Company
has arranged in-house trainings for the Directors to update and refresh their

relevant knowledge during the Year.

All of the Directors, namely Mr. Wong Yam Yin, Mr. Wong Kam Fai, Mr.
Wong Kam Keung, Barry, Mr. Tjie Tjin Fung, Mr. Janata David, Mr. Suwita
Janata, Mr. Gunawan Kiky, Mr. Wong Ying Loi, Mr. Lie Tak Sen, Mr.
Wong Cho Kei, Bonnie and Mr. Li Sze Keung had confirmed that they had
complied with the Code Provision C.1.4 of the Corporate Governance Code
during the Year or his tenure during the Year by participating in continuous

professional development.

The Company has arranged appropriate directors” and officers’ liabilities

insurance coverage for the Directors and officers of the Company.
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(D) CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

(E)

(F)

The Chairman, Mr. Wong Yam Yin, has executive responsibilities and
provides leadership to the Board in terms of establishing policies and business
directions. He ensures that the Board works effectively and discharges its
responsibilities, and that all key and appropriate issues are discussed by the
Board in a timely manner. He also ensures that all Directors are properly
briefed on issues to be discussed at Board meetings. Mr. Wong Kam Fai,
the Chief Executive Officer, is responsible for overseeing the day-to-day
management of the Group’s business. Mr. Wong Yam Yin is the father of Mr.
Wong Kam Fai.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Each of the Non-executive Directors and the Independent Non-executive
Directors has entered into a formal letter of appointment with the Company
for a term of one year or two years, subject to termination provisions therein

and retirement by rotation in accordance with the Articles of Association.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Company currently has established three committees with respective
responsibilities, namely the audit committee (the “Audit Committee”),
the remuneration committee (the “Remuneration Committee”) and
the nomination committee (the “Nomination Committee”). All Board
committees are empowered by the Board under their terms of reference which
have been posted on the websites of the Company and The Stock Exchange of

Hong Kong Limited.

Audit committee

The Audit Committee was established with written terms of reference
in compliance with the Listing Rules. The primary duties of the Audit
Committee are to review and supervise the Company’s financial reporting
process, half-yearly and annual results, risk management and internal control
systems, effectiveness of the internal audit function performed by the internal
audit department of the Group and provide advice and comments to the
Board. The Audit Committee consists of three Independent Non- executive
Directors, namely Mr. Li Sze Keung (Chairman), Mr. Lie Tak Sen and
Mr. Wong Cho Kei, Bonnie, who together have sufficient accounting and
financial management expertise and business experience to carry out their

duties.
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During the Year, the Audit Committee held three meetings to review the
interim results and annual results and provide recommendation on the
Company’s risk management and internal control systems. All members of
the Audit Committee attended the meetings. The Chief Financial Officer and
the representatives of the external auditor of the Company also attended the

meetings.

Remuneration committee

The Remuneration Committee was established with written terms of
reference in compliance with the Listing Rules. The primary duties of the
Remuneration Committee are to make recommendations to the Directors
on the Company’s policy and structure for all remuneration of the Directors
and senior management and on the establishment of a formal and transparent
procedure for developing policies on such remuneration; to assess performance
of each Executive Director; to recommend to the Board on the terms of
the specific remuneration package of each Executive Director and senior
management (adopted the approach under Code Provision E.1.2(c)(ii));
and to review and approve performance-based remuneration by reference
to corporate goals and objectives resolved by Directors from time to time.
The Remuneration Committee consists of two Independent Non-executive
Directors, namely, Mr. Wong Cho Kei, Bonnie (Chairman) and Mr. Lie Tak

Sen, and an Executive Director, Mr. Wong Kam Fai.

During the Year, the Remuneration Committee held two meetings to assess
the performance of the Executive Directors, review the remuneration of
the Executive Directors under their service contracts and the remuneration
policies of the Company, and made recommendations to the Board. All

members of the Remuneration Committee attended the meetings.

Nomination committee

The Nomination Committee was established with written terms of reference
in compliance with the Listing Rules. The primary duties of the Nomination
Committee are to review the structure, size and composition of the Board
on a regular basis; to make recommendations to the Board regarding any
proposed changes; to identify, select or make recommendations to the
Board on the selection of individuals nominated for directorships; to assess
the independence of the Independent Non-executive Directors; and to
make recommendations to the Board on relevant matters relating to the
appointment or reappointment of Directors and succession planning for
Directors. The Nomination Committee consists of an Executive Director, Mr.
Wong Yam Yin (Chairman), and two Independent Non-executive Directors,

namely Mr. Wong Ying Loi and Mr. Li Sze Keung.
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The Nomination Committee has adopted a board diversity policy, setting
out the approach to diversity on the Board. It is believed that a truly diverse
Board will include and make good use of differences in the skills, regional
and industrial experience, background, race, gender and other qualities of
members of the Board. Selection of candidates will be based on a range of
diversity perspectives, which include gender, age, cultural and educational
background, professional experience, regional and industry experience, skills,
knowledge and other qualities. The Company will take these perspectives
into account in determining the optimum composition of the Board which,
when possible, should be balanced appropriately. In informing its perspective
on diversity, the Company will also take into account factors relating to
its own business model and specific needs from time to time. The ultimate
decision will be based on merit and contribution that the selected candidates

will bring to the Board.

The Nomination Committee has also adopted a nomination policy, setting
out the approach for nominating and appointing a Director either to fill a
casual vacancy on the Board, or as an addition to the existing Board. Selection
of candidates will be based on criteria including character and integrity,
qualifications, any measurable objectives adopted for achieving diversity on
the Board, any potential contributions that the candidate can bring to the
Board and the candidate’s willingness and ability to devote adequate time
to discharge his/her duties. Upon receipt of the proposal on appointment of
new Director and the biographical information (or relevant details) of the
candidate, the Nomination Committee will evaluate such candidate based on
the criteria as set out above to determine whether such candidate is qualified
for directorship. If the process yields one or more desirable candidates, the
Nomination Committee will rank them by order of preference based on the

needs of the Company and recommend to the Board.

During the Year, the Nomination Committee held two meetings to assess
the independence of Independent Non-executive Directors, recommend the
re-appointment of Directors at the forthcoming annual general meeting
and review the policies implemented by the Nomination Committee. All

members of the Nomination Committee attended the meetings.
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Corporate governance function

The Board is responsible for performing corporate governance duties which
include developing, reviewing and approving the Company’s policies and
practices on corporate governance; reviewing and monitoring the training and
continuous professional development of Directors and senior management;
reviewing and monitoring the Company’s policies and practices on compliance
with legal and regulatory requirements; developing, reviewing and
monitoring the code of conduct and compliance manual (if any) applicable
to employees and Directors; and reviewing the Company’s compliance with
the Corporate Governance Code and disclosure in the Corporate Governance

Report.

During the Year, the Board held meetings to review the Company’s policies

and practices on corporate governance and perform all duties as set out above.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The Board is responsible for presenting a balanced and clear assessment of
the Group’s performance and prospects. The Directors acknowledged their
responsibility for preparing the accounts that give a true and fair view on
the Group’s financial position on a going-concern basis and other financial
disclosures. Management of the Company provides all relevant information
to the Board, giving its members sufficient explanation and information that
they need to discharge their responsibilities. A statement by the auditor of
the Company in respect of their reporting responsibilities is set out in the

Independent Auditor’s Report section contained in this Annual Report.

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the total fee paid/payable in respect of
service provided by KPMG were RMB2.9 million, comprising fee for audit

service of RMB2.5 million and for non-audit service of RMB0.4 million.
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(H) COMPANY SECRETARY

@

The Company Secretary is a full time employee of the Company and has day-
to-day knowledge of the Company’s affairs. The Company Sectetary reports to

the Board and is responsible for advising the Board on governance matters.

Ms. Lee Wai Yan who is a full time employee of the Company and has day-
to-day knowledge of the Company’s affairs was appointed as the Company
Secretary on 1 April 2019. Ms. Lee has confirmed that for the Year, she has
taken no less than 15 hours relevant professional training. The biographical

details of Ms. Lee are set out on page 106 of this Annual Report.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHT

There are no provisions allowing shareholders of the Company to propose new
resolutions at the general meetings under the Cayman Islands Companies Law

(Revised). However, pursuant to the Articles of Association, it provides that:

Procedure for shareholders to convene an extraordinary
general meeting

Any one or more shareholders holding at the date of deposit of the requisition
not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying
the right of voting at general meetings of the Company (the “Eligible
Shareholders”) shall at all times have the right, by written requisition to the
Board or the Company Secretary of the Company, to require an extraordinary
general meeting to be called by the Board for the transaction of any business
specified in such requisition; and such meeting shall be held within two
(2) months after the deposit of such requisition. If within twenty-one (21)
days of such deposit the Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting the
requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may do so in the same manner, and all
reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure

of the Board shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

2021 4E JE# % ANNUAL REPORT 2021

91



92

e 3

/\(\‘
SRR &

Corporate Governance Report

i 0 At 2 P
$R A/ LLE Y A I RE R SR A L2
FEAB R E R B EARAFEL TR
BEHEE (k2 K G R 68 T
KM 27 284) THEGHAAME - A
) B R A L ]

RIRAEG LREREZE P

BERISHRAZ BT LRERRZGE
A PBORZE $2 2 Wk S 0 S T A0 > 2 ) ML E
MB AR BREAQAFAFELETHE
ARG Gtk 2 A o K 5 BRI 68 B &
KHuo7-2848) THEGHAAMNE - R
BASERAN - A ERERRE PO
AR B SCTIR A B R R & 2 2 )
P #RE FE A B ORI K& e

S YN DN
HEZERF

W — 2 R S AR 2T T B R K
FhEgaER OB EEM ((Z%E
oI EAEREZA AL AN
VRS bR R ER 1351 KL E 1
ZEEMANER RRBESEEEZNRE
o P LR ERE OB EAN
AEBZ FEEEME GhitAFB KRG
T T 68 BE 4 i K M 27-28 M) B AN T
FHRHBF BT REEFETRELRE
RO PR B (Hb bk 2% 7 S A 5 5 R R
183 A M AL 17 #1712-1716 %) > W4
T H b (7) KB A - W A R R A B
SR i SRR AR RSk A IR RE
2 A RE 1 R R R AR
Ke@mz B EEANBERARBARKEH
WHE @)K

AR

Procedures for making enquiries to the Board

The enquiries must be in writing with the detailed contact information of the
requisitionist(s) and deposited to the Board or the Company Secretary at the
principal place of business of the Company in Hong Kong located at 27-28/F,
Golden Wheel Plaza, 68 Electric Road, Tin Hau, Hong Kong. The Company

will endeavour to respond in a timely manner.

Procedures for putting forward proposals at shareholders’
meetings

Eligible shareholder who wishes to put forward proposal(s) at shareholders’
meeting which is to be held, should submit a written notice of the proposal
with his/her detailed contact information to the Board or the Company
Secretary at the principal place of business of the Company in Hong Kong
located at 27-28/F, Golden Wheel Plaza, 68 Electric Road, Tin Hau, Hong
Kong. Pursuant to the Articles of Association, shareholders who wish to
put forward a proposal should convene an extraordinary general meeting by
following the procedure set out in “Procedure for shareholders to convene an

extraordinary general meeting” above.

Procedures for shareholders to propose a person for election
as a director at a general meeting

If a shareholder intends to propose a person for election as a Director at any
general meeting, he must sign a notice (the “Notice”) stating his intention
to propose such person for election. The Notice which includes the personal
information of the proposed person as required by Rule 13.51(2) of the
Listing Rules and a letter of consent signed by the proposed person stating
his willingness to be elected shall be lodged with the Company at its
principal place of business in Hong Kong located at 27-28/F, Golden Wheel
Plaza, 68 Electric Road, Tin Hau, Hong Kong; or the Company’s branch
share registrar and transfer office in Hong Kong, Computershare Hong Kong
Investor Services Limited, located at Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell
Centre,183 Queen’s Road East, Wan Chai, Hong Kong, with at least (7) days’
notice given. If the Notices are submitted after the dispatch of the notice of
the general meeting appointed for such election, the petiod for lodgment of
such Notice(s) shall commence on the day after the dispatch of the notice of
the general meeting appointed for such election and end no later than seven (7)

days prior to the date of such general meeting.

2 R b ¥ B A B A ] GOLDEN WHEEL TIANDI HOLDINGS COMPANY LIMITED
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Corporate Governance Report

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The management of the Company believes that effective and proper investor
relations play a vital role in creating shareholders’ value, enhancing the
corporate transparency as well as establishing market confidence. As such,
the Company has adopted a stringent internal control system to ensure true,
accurate, complete and timely disclosure of information in order to ensure
all shareholders as well as the public have equal access to information. The
management of the Company has proactively taken and will continue to take
the following measures to ensure effective shareholders’ communication and

transparency:

. Maintain frequent contacts with shareholders and investors through

various channels such as meetings, telephone and emails;

. Regularly update the Company’s news and developments through the

investor relations section of the Company’s website;

. Arrange on-site visits to the Group’s projects for potential investors

and research analysts.

Through the above measures, the Company endeavors to communicate with
the investment community and provide them with the latest development of

the Group and the PRC real estate industry.

The Company discloses information in compliance with the Listing Rules,
and publishes periodic reports and announcements to the public in accordance
with the relevant laws and regulations. The primary focus of the Company
is to ensure information disclosure is timely, fair, accurate, truthful and
complete, thereby enabling shareholders, investors as well as the public to

make rational and informed decisions.

In addition, shareholders and investors are welcome to write their enquires
directly to the Board (a) by mail to the principal place of business of the
Company in Hong Kong, (b) by fax on (852) 2566 3070 or (c) by email at
IR@gwtd.com.hk.
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SYSTEMS

The Board is responsible for the risk management and internal control of the
Group and for reviewing and maintaining its effectiveness of the systems.
Procedures have been designed for safeguarding assets against unauthorised
use or disposition, the maintenance of proper accounting records for the
provision of reliable financial information for internal use or for publication

and the compliance of applicable laws, rules and regulations.

The risk management and internal control systems are reviewed and assessed
on an on-going basis by the Executive Directors, and are further reviewed and
assessed by the Board on an annual basis to ensure that the systems in place

are effective and adequate.

During the Year, the internal audit department of the Group has conducted
an assessment on the effectiveness of the risk management and internal

control systems of the Group and the assessment result was positive.

During the Year, the Board, through the Audit Committee, has conducted an
annual review of the effectiveness of the risk management and internal control
systems of the Group, covering financial, operational, compliance and risk

management aspects. The systems were considered effective and adequate.

In addition to the Board’s oversight responsibilities, the Company has
developed a risk management process to identify, evaluate and manage
significant risks and to resolve material internal control defects (if any).
Senior management, through the Company’s internal audit department, is
responsible for the annual risk reporting process. Members of the internal
audit department meet with various members of the senior management
to review and assess risks and discuss solutions to address material internal
control defects (if any), including any changes relevant to a given year. Risks
are compiled, ratings are assigned and mitigation plans are documented. The
risk assessment is reviewed by certain members of senior management and

presented to the Audit Committee and the Board for their review.

Risks are evaluated by the Board and senior management based on (i) the
severity of the impact of the risk on the Company’s financial results; (ii) the
probability that the risk will occur; and (iii) the velocity or speed at which a

risk could occur.
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The Group’s risk management framework includes the following elements:

. identify significant risks in the Group’s operation environment and

evaluate the impacts of those risks on the Group’s business;
. develop necessary measures to manage those risks;
. monitor and review the effectiveness of such measures.

The controls built into the risk management system are intended to manage,

not eliminate, significant risks in the Group’s business environment.

The internal control system is designed to provide reasonable, but not
absolute, assurance. The system aims to eliminate, or otherwise manage, risks

of failure in achieving the Company’s objectives.

The internal audit department reports the internal audit plan and results to

the Audit Committee directly.

The Audit Committee assists the Board in leading the management
and overseeing their design, implementation and monitoring of the risk

management and internal control systems.

The Company have formulated an inside information policy providing

guideline on handling inside information.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a dividend policy, setting out principles and
guidelines that the Company intends to apply in relation to the declaration,
payment or distribution of its net profits as dividends to the shareholders
of the Company. With a view to achieving a sustainable and balanced
development, the Company sees developing a dividend distribution system as
an essential element in supporting the attainment of its strategic objectives
and its sustainable development. The declaration of dividends, in addition to
the Companies Act of the Cayman Islands and the Articles of Association, is
subject to the discretion of the Board, which the Company expects will take
into account the financial results, shareholders’ interests, general business
conditions and strategies, capital requirements, contractual restrictions
on the payment of dividends by the Company to its shareholders or by
the Company’s subsidiaries to the Company, taxation considerations and
possible effects on creditworthiness, statutory and regulatory restrictions. The
Company intends to distribute not more than 50% of its net distributable
profits as dividends to its shareholders for each financial year, subject to the

conditions and factors as set out above.
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Below are biographies of the current Directors and senior management of the Group.

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Wong Yam Yin (I@(E’), aged 80, is an Executive Director and the
Chairman of our Board and our Nomination Committee. Mr. Wong is one of the
founders of our Group and our controlling shareholders. He is responsible for our
overall strategy, business and investment planning. Mr. Wong was appointed as a

Director on 26 April 2012.

Mr. Wong has over 30 years of experience in business management. He established
Golden Wheel Trading Company Limited (4 ¥ % 5 A FR A Al ) in 1983 in Hong
Kong to engage in metal trading business. He, together with his wife Ms. Hung So
Ling, his elder son Mr. Wong Kam Fai and his younger son Mr. Wong Kam Keung,

Barry, established our Group in 1994 to engage in real estate development business.

Other than his role in our Group, Mr. Wong is involved in various associations,

including being:

U a consultant of All-China Federation of Returned Overseas Chinese
Association®;

U a Standing Council Member of China Overseas Exchange Association*;

J a Standing Deputy Chairman of China Federation of Overseas Chinese
Entrepreneurs*;

a Chairman and Permanent Honorary President of Hong Kong Federation of

Overseas Chinese Association®;

U a Permanent Honorary President of Hong Kong Chiao Yao Association*;

U a Chairman & CEO of Hong Kong Qiao Ai Foundation Limited*;

U a Standing Director of Hong Kong Federation of Fujian Associations™;

° a Standing Director of Federation of Hong Kong Guangdong Community

Organisations®; and

. the Honorary Principal of Zhuzhou Golden Wheel Qiaoxin School*.
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Mr. Wong received various awards in recognition of his contribution to society,
including the “Chief Executive’s Commendation for Community Service (17 B
= H 4 IR IR B 884K )7 by the Hong Kong government in 2004, the “Prize for
Outstanding Contribution to Beichuan Middle School*” by All-China Federation
of Returned Overseas Chinese Association®, the “Manufacturer with Honesty and
Integrity of 2010” by All-China Federation of Industry and Commerce, Hardware
and Electromechanical Chamber in 2010, the “Award of Outstanding Chinese”
jointly held by Global Outstanding Chinese Association and Chinese Literature
Publishing House in 2014, and the “Honor of Serving Chinese Society” by Overseas’
Chinese Office of the State Council* in 2014. In 2019, Mr. Wong was also awarded

the “Overseas Chinese Charity Star”.

Mr. Wong received his bachelor’s degree in physics from Huaqiao University in

1967.

Mr. Wong Yam Yin is the husband of Ms. Hung So Ling, the father of Mr. Wong
Kam Fai (an Executive Director) and Mr. Wong Kam Keung, Barry (an Executive
Director), and the brother of Ms. Julia Oscar (the wife of Mr. Suwita Janata, a Non-

executive Director).

The discloseable interests of Mr. Wong in the shares and underlying shares of the
Company under the provisions of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance
(the “SFO”) are set out in the section headed “Directors’ Report — Directors’ and
Chief Executives’ Interests and Short Positions in Shares, Underlying Shares and

Debentures” in this Annual Report.

Mr. Wong Kam Fai (B8, aged 51, is an Executive Director, a Vice Chairman
of our Board, the Chief Executive Officer of our Group and a member of our
Remuneration Committee. Mr. Wong is one of the founders of our Group and
our controlling shareholders. Mr. Wong held several positions within our Group
immediately after completion of his bachelor’s degree. He has been the General
Manager of Nanjing Golden Wheel Real Estate Development Company Limited
since 1 May 1994 and Nanjing Jade Golden Wheel Realty Company Limited since
1 July 2002, respectively. Mr. Wong is responsible for our overall business operation
and management. Mr. Wong was appointed as a Director on 26 April 2012. Mr.

Wong has over 20 years of experience in the real estate industry.

20215 ¥ it % ANNUAL REPORT 2021

97



3 I TR A L R P R

Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

ERAES RS AR - RIFEEE - Mr. Wong is involved in various associations, including being:

. HEAREGHEEIIHMEZEERE o a member of Jiangsu Provincial Committee of the Chinese People’s Political

Consultative Conference*;

. R R ERH ST RS J a member of All-China Federation of Returned Overseas Chinese
Association®;

J A TAL E R 1 o a Deputy Chairman of Hong Kong Federation of Overseas Chinese
Associations®;

1 T VLA E A g B R o a Deputy Chairman of Federation of HK Jiangsu Community Organisation®;

o HEBEESARAAERFES

a Chairman and Director of Hong Kong Qiao Ai Foundation Limited;

. LB LHERGgRE . a standing committee member of All-China Federation of Industry &

Commerce of Jiangsu Province*;

. T#HE LEREEREER . Chairman of Real Estate Chamber of Jiangsu Provincial Federation of

Industry & Commence*;

d IHEEM R ERER & . a Deputy Chairman of Jiangsu Provincial Overseas Exchange Association*;
and

0 METEHRRECERGEERER - U a Standing Deputy Chairman of Nanjing Overseas Chinese Chamber of
Commerce*.

F R — U AR S H A5 B e B Mr. Wong received his bachelor’s degree in computer science from The University of
REFHREBPER2 LR - New South Wales of Australia in June 1994.

T iR S A ] AT # LB Lt Z¥8 UL Mr. Wong Kam Fai is the elder son of Mr. Wong Yam Yin (an Executive Director)
THRTEHATESE EHE AT - and Ms. Hung So Ling, and the elder brother of Mr. Wong Kam Keung, Barry (an

Executive Director).

F e R AR A R BOAR B R A7 o B AR AR R The discloseable interests of Mr. Wong in the shares and underlying shares of the
75 T B B AR B 5 X R SCZR T B R 2 i A Company under the provisions of Part XV of the SFO are set out in the section
AAEREFGRE —HEFREBITHABRK headed “Directors” Report — Directors’ and Chief Executives’ Interests and Short
5~ AR TR B A B i o O E 45 IR | — B o Positions in Shares, Underlying Shares and Debentures” in this Annual Report.
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Mr. Wong Kam Keung, Barry (E 8 ), aged 48, is an Executive Director
and the Standing Vice President of our Group. He is also one of our controlling
shareholders. He is responsible for administration, human resources management
and projects development in Hunan province. Mr. Wong joined our Group in 1996.
Mr. Wong has been the General Manager of Zhuzhou Golden Wheel Real Estate
Limited since 1 August 2004 and Zhuzhou Golden Wheel Business Management
Limited since 1 February 2010, respectively. Mr. Wong was appointed as a Director

on 26 April 2012. He has over 20 years of experience in the real estate industry.

Mr. Wong is involved in various associations, including being:

o a member of Hunan Provincial Committee of the Chinese People’s Political

Consultative Conference*;

. a member of Youth Committee of All-China Federation of Returned Overseas

Chinese Association®;

. a standing committee member of Guangdong Provincial Overseas Chinese
Association®;

o a Deputy Chairman of Shenzhen Returned Overseas Chinese Association*;

J a Deputy Chairman of Hunan Provincial Federation of Overseas Chinese
Entrepreneurs*;

o a Director of Hong Kong Federation of Overseas Chinese Associations™;

J a standing committee member of Hunan Provincial Federation of Returned

Overseas Chinese Association®;

U a standing committee member of Changsha Overseas Fraternal Association™;
and
U a standing committee member of Nanjing Overseas Fraternal Association®.
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Mr. Wong completed the Foundation Studies Certificate Course of Unisearch
Limited (now known as New South Innovations Pty Limited, an entity controlled by

the University of New South Wales) in 1993.

Mr. Wong Kam Keung, Barry is the younger son of Mr. Wong Yam Yin (an
Executive Director) and Ms. Hung So Ling, and the younger brother of Mr. Wong

Kam Fai (an Executive Director).

The discloseable interests of Mr. Wong in the shares and underlying shares of the
Company under the provisions of Part XV of the SFO are set out in the section
headed “Directors” Report — Directors’ and Chief Executives’ Interests and Short

Positions in Shares, Underlying Shares and Debentures” in this Annual Report.

Mr. Tjie Tjin Fung, aged 71, is an Executive Director and a Vice Chairman of our
Board. Mr. Tjie is responsible for overseeing our Group’s operation, and formulating
our Group’s investment strategies. He joined our Group in 2002. Mr. Tjie was

appointed as a Director on 26 April 2012.

Mz. Tjie is an Indonesian Chinese. Being an entrepreneur, he established his own

manufacturing business in Indonesia in the 1970s.

M:z. Tjie is involved in various associations, including being:

. a counselling committee member of Indonesia Kota Bandung Social Welfare
Fund*;

. a Chairman of Indonesia Bandung Hakka Chinese Association*;

o a Charter President of Indonesia Bandung Lions Clubs International®;

. an Honorary Chairman of Guangdong Provincial Federation of Indonesian

Social Institutes®;

o an Honorary Chairman of Indonesia Hakka Chinese Association™;
. an Honorary Chairman of Indonesia Mei Zhou Club*; and
J an Honorary Chairman of Indonesia Chinese Association*.
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The discloseable interests of Mr. Tjie in the shares and underlying shares of the
Company under the provisions of Part XV of the SFO are set out in the section
headed “Directors’ Report — Directors’ and Chief Executives’ Interests and Short

Positions in Shares, Underlying Shares and Debentures” in this Annual Report.

Mr. Janata David, aged 40, is an Executive Director. He is responsible for
managing our investors’ relationship. He joined our Group in 2005. Mr. Janata

David was appointed as a Director on 26 April 2012.

Mzr. Janata David is an Indonesia Chinese. He also served as a general manager
of The Royal Beach Seminyak Bali, a company running a resort hotel in Bali,
Indonesia, from 2010 to 2011. He and his family members established PT Golden
and Mitra Property in Indonesia in August 2009 to engage in property development

business in Indonesia.

M:r. Janata David received his bachelor’s degree in business from Monash University
in Australia in December 2002 and his master’s degree in business systems from the

same university in December 2004.

Mr. Janata David is the son of Mr. Suwita Janata (a Non-executive Director) and
Ms. Julia Oscar who is the sister of Mr. Wong Yam Yin (an Executive Director).

Therefore, Mr. Janata David is a nephew of Mr. Wong Yam Yin.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Suwita Janata, aged 71, is a Non-executive Director and a Vice Chairman of
our Board. He joined our Group in 2002. Mr. Suwita Janata was appointed as a
Director on 26 April 2012.

Mr. Suwita Janata is an Indonesian Chinese. He commenced his career as an
entrepreneur by establishing his own trading company in the 1970s. Mr. Suwita
Janata and his family members established PT Golden and Mitra Property in

Indonesia in August 2009 to engage in property development business in Indonesia.
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Mr. Suwita Janata is/has been involved in various associations, including being:

° the former Executive Chairman of Chinese Committee of Indonesia Chamber

of Commerce (West Java)*;

° the former head of the Indonesia Chamber of Commerce (West Java),

Commerce Division*;

. an advisory council member of Indonesia Bandung Yayasan Dana Welfare

Foundation®; and

. a member of the supervisory committee of Indonesia Bandung Minnan

Gonghui*.

Mr. Suwita Janata is the father of Mr. Janata David (an Executive Director) and the
husband of Ms. Julia Oscar. Ms. Julia Oscar is the sister of Mr. Wong Yam Yin (an
Executive Director) and the aunt of Mr. Wong Kam Fai (an Executive Director) and

Mr. Wong Kam Keung, Barry (an Executive Director).

The discloseable interests of Mr. Suwita Janata in the shares and underlying shares of
the Company under the provisions of Part XV of the SFO are set out in the section
headed “Directors’ Report — Directors’ and Chief Executives” Interests and Short

Positions in Shares, Underlying Shares and Debentures” in this Annual Report.

Mr. Gunawan Kiky, aged 74, is a Non-executive Director. He joined our Group in

2002. Mr. Gunawan was appointed as a Director on 26 April 2012.

Mr. Gunawan is an Indonesian Chinese. In the 1980s, he established his own trading

business.

Mr. Gunawan joined Indonesia Bandung Lions Clubs International* in 1989. In
2000, Mr. Gunawan founded Indonesia Bandung Hakka Chinese Association® and

has been a financial supervisor of the association.

The discloseable interests of Mr. Gunawan in the shares and underlying shares of
the Company under the provisions of Part XV of the SFO are set out in the section
headed “Directors’ Report — Directors’ and Chief Executives’ Interests and Short

Positions in Shares, Underlying Shares and Debentures” in this Annual Report.

2 R b ¥ B A B A ] GOLDEN WHEEL TIANDI HOLDINGS COMPANY LIMITED



B BT

HHASGE - 775 B R AT ERRREL S
BfRE - HEAER T4+ Ht+HE
% AF J #0 o BSR A T 3 B 4 4 20
LR o e T AR R —
A B B 55 B B e

B S B AAS > IR

FREHER

o  TEARBAWHEEGHRBILEZEEGE
THEZH &

o WERBEENEGHAGRELZA -
Sy I AVAE S ol R ZCE 3 PN S
R -

BREAESE B3R WU FNTER FHE
BERFMEZREMA - FRER -F—ZF
TEATHERERESE - FC A @205
KBEHAH - A - NMNTFFEEREHAL
(98 5 3685 -
FREZHZ WA BFERIE:

o WEXPENEGHSGITIERA: K

o LU B S R -

3 I e A LR R PR 1

Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Wong Ying Loi (¥ %% ), aged 77, is an Independent Non-executive
Director and a member of our Nomination Committee. Mr. Wong was appointed
as a Director on 10 December 2012. Mr. Wong has over 20 years of experience in
business management. He has been operating his own trading and manufacturing

business since the 1980s.
Mt. Wong is involved in various associations, including being:
. the Chairman of Chiao Yao Association Limited*;

o a member of the Ninth and Tenth sessions of the Chinese People’s Political

Consultative Committee of, Hubei province*; and

o an honorary member of All-China Federation of Returned Overseas Chinese

Association*.
Mr. Wong obtained a diploma in English from Huaqiao University in July 1968.
Mr. Lie Tak Sen (Z=# 4 ), aged 73, is an Independent Non-executive Director
and a member of our Audit Committee and our Remuneration Committee. Mr.
Lie was appointed as a Director on 10 December 2012. Mr. Lie has over 20 years of
experience in business management. He has been operating his own trading business
since 1990.

Mr. Lie is involved in various associations, including being:

o a former member of All-China Federation of Returned Overseas Chinese

Association®; and

o a consultant of Beijing Returned Overseas Chinese Federation*.
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Mr. Wong Cho Kei, Bonnie (ﬁ@%), aged 54, is an Independent Non-executive
Director, the Chairman of our Remuneration Committee and a member of our Audit
Committee. Mr. Wong was appointed as a Director on 1 August 2017. Mr. Wong

has over 10 years of experience in business strategies and corporate management.
Mr. Wong is/has been involved in various associations, including being:

J a member of the 13th National Committee of the Chinese People’s Political

Consultative Conference*;

o a member of the 11th, 12th and 13th Guangzhou Municipal Committee of

the Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference*;
U a President of Hong Kong Federation of Overseas Chinese Associations;

. a standing committee member of Hong Kong Petroleum, Chemicals and

Pharmaceutical Materials Merchants Association; and
° a vice president of Centum Charitas Foundation.

Mr. Wong is currently a managing director of Wah Fu Petroleum Company
Limited, the business of which includes the wholesale distribution of petroleum and
petroleum products. Mr. Wong is mainly responsible for overseeing the financial

performance and implementing business strategies of that company.

He is also a director of Chuan Chiong Company, Limited, which is involved in
the trading and wholesale of proprietary Chinese medicine, food product and tea,
where he is involved in the determination of that company’s strategic objectives and
policies and monitoring its overall achievement. He is also an independent non-
executive director of Ahsay Backup Software Development Company Limited which
is engaged in the provision of online backup software solutions to clients via the
internet, and listed on GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited with
stock code 8290.

Mr. Wong obtained a Bachelor of Science in Biomedical Engineering from Boston
University, the United States, and a Master of Engineering (Electrical) from Cornell

University, the United States, in May 1990 and August 1991 respectively.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

Mr. Li Sze Keung (R, aged 43, is an Independent Non-executive
Director, the Chairman of our Audit Committee and a member of our Nomination
Committee. Mr. Li is a Certified Public Accountant of the Hong Kong Institute of

Certified Public Accountants.

Mzr. Li obtained his Bachelor of Business Administration (Honours) degree in
Accountancy from the City University of Hong Kong in November 2001. Mr. Li
joined PricewaterhouseCoopers as Senior Consultant of the Tax Department in
June 2004 and was promoted to the position of Manager in October 2007. He left
PricewaterhouseCoopers in February 2009 to join RSM Nelson Wheeler as Manager
of the Tax Services Department, and became a Senior Manager of the Tax Services
Department from January 2010 to October 2011. Mr. Li was a Senior Manager of
the Tax Department in Ernst & Young from December 2011 to May 2012. Mr. Li

has been the director of The Concord Consulting Service Limited since 2012.

Mzr. Li has over 15 years of experience in providing tax advisory and compliance
services to local and multinational corporations. Mr. Li has wide experience in
serving a wide spectrum of clients including trading companies and financial or
professional services firms. He has extensive experience in various tax advisory and

investment projects, and regularly represents clients in handling tax-related matters.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Yiu Chi Man (8% 30) is the Chief Financial Officer. Mr. Yiu is responsible
for overseeing the Group’s financial management and regulatory compliance. He has
approximately 20 years” experience of providing audit and advisory services to listed
companies and multinational companies with a focus on properties and financial

services industries.

Mr. Yiu joined the Group in 2013. Before joining the Group, Mr. Yiu was a partner
of KPMG China.

Mzr. Yiu obtained his Bachelor of Arts degree in accountancy from Hong Kong
Polytechnic University in 1993. Mr. Yiu is a fellow member of Chartered
Association of Certified Public Accountants, and an associate member of the Hong

Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
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Ms. Lee Wai Yan (ZEJ% J) is the Company Secretary of the Group. Ms. Lee is
responsible for overseeing the corporate governance, regulatory compliance and

investor relations of the Group.

Ms. Lee joined the Group in March 2018. Before joining the Group, Ms. Lee was the
company secretary of a company listed on the main board of The Stock Exchange of

Hong Kong Limited.

Ms. Lee obtained her Bachelor of Business Administration (Honours) degree in
Accountancy from the City University of Hong Kong and was admitted as a
Chartered Secretary by completing the International Qualifying Scheme in 2010.
She is an associate member of both The Chartered Governance Institute (the “CGI”),
and The Hong Kong Chartered Governance Institute (the “HKCGI”). She was
awarded the Chartered Governance Professional qualification from the CGI and the
HKCGI in September 2018.

Mr. Tao Kang (P ) is the Vice President of the Group. Mr. Tao is responsible
for overseeing our project management. Mr. Tao joined the Group in 2006. Before
joining the Group, Mr. Tao worked at various companies, including being the

Deputy Director of Nanjing Science and Technology Hall*.

Mr. Tao obtained his diploma degree in industrial and civil construction from the
Southeast University* in 1994. Mr. Tao obtained his senior engineer qualification in

2007 and is a Registered Supervision Engineer and a Certified Constructor.

Ms. Sun Hui Hong (%%ﬂ) is the Assistant Vice President of the Group. She is
responsible for financial management. Ms. Sun joined the Group in 2009. Before
joining the Group, Ms. Sun worked at various companies, including being the
financial controller of Xinshi (Nanjing) Textile Co., Ltd* and the audit supervisor of

Ren Tianhua Zhongxing CPA, Jiangsu Branch*.

In 2001, she obtained her certified public accountant qualification.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

Mr. Chen Gang (Pfi8]) is the Standing Deputy General Manager of the Group.
He is responsible for financial management. Mr. Chen joined the Group in 2012.
Before joining the Group, Mr. Chen worked at various companies, including being
the Financial Controller of Jiangsu Joyque Information Industry Co., Led* and the

financial manager of Intech Group*.

Mzr. Chen obtained his diploma degree in economic management from Hehai
University in 1999. In 2000, he obtained his middle level accountant qualification.

In 2013, he obtained his advanced level accountant qualification.

Ms. Gu Xiaofang (A 8E77) is the General Manager of Golden Wheel Time Square.
Ms. Gu is responsible for overseeing the operation of Golden Wheel Time Square.
Ms. Gu joined the Group in 2010. Prior to joining the Group, Ms. Gu worked
at various companies, including being the assistant to the general manager and
marketing manager of Zhuzhou Dajiang Property Service Management Company

Limited* and a deputy general manager of Jindi Property Management Company*.

Ms. Gu is a member of Hunan Province Apparel Industry Association Ladies

Apparel Committee™.

Ms. Gu obtained her diploma degree in business management from Hubei Radio
and TV University* in July 1996.

Ms. Jiang Jian (4 M) is the Assistant Vice President of the Group. Ms. Jiang is
responsible for overseeing the operation of Golden Wheel Xintiandi Mall. Ms. Jiang
joined the Group in 2006. She has over 15 years of experience in the management
of large scale shopping mall. Before joining the Group, Ms. Jiang worked at
various companies, including being the vice general manager of Nanjing Shangmao
Shopping Center* and the general supervisor of Zhongnan Holdings Group

Company Limited (subsidiary commercial company).

*  For identification purposes only
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The Board is pleased to present the Annual Report together with the audited

consolidated financial statements of the Group for the Year.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company, and its subsidiaries established in
the PRC are primarily engaged in property development, property leasing and hotel
operation. The activities and particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries are shown
under note 14 to the consolidated financial statements. An analysis of the Group’s
revenue and operating profit for the Year by principal activities is set out in the
section headed “Management Discussion and Analysis” in this Annual Report and

note 4 to the consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the Year are set out in the Consolidated Statement of
Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income on pages 138 to 139 of this Annual

Report.

PAYMENT OF FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board does not recommend the payment of any final dividend in respect of the
year ended 31 December 2021.
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Directors’ Report

CLOSURE OF THE REGISTER OF MEMBERS

For determining the entitlement to attend and vote at the AGM

The register of members of the Company will be closed from Monday, 23 May
2022 to Friday, 27 May 2022 (both days inclusive), during which period no transfer
of shares of the Company will be effected. In order to determine the identity
of members who are entitled to attend and vote at the AGM, all share transfer
documents accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged with the
Company’s branch share registrar and transfer office in Hong Kong, Computershare
Hong Kong Investor Services Limited, at Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell
Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wan Chai, Hong Kong for registration no later
than 4:30 p.m. on Friday, 20 May 2022.

The record date for such purposes is Friday, 27 May 2022.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of the Group during the

Year are set out in note 12 to the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in share capital of the Company during the Year are set

out in note 32 to the consolidated financial statements.

ISSUANCE OF SENIOR NOTES

Please refer to the section headed “Financing” in this Annual Report for information
regarding the Group’s issuance of the Additional Notes and the Exchange Offer
regarding the USD 2022 Notes, USD 2023 Notes and USD 2023 July Notes, as

well as the proposed restructuring.
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SETTING UP AND MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND
DISPOSALS OF SUBSIDIARIES AND AFFILIATED
COMPANIES

As at the end of the Year, the Company had set up and/or acquired a total of 68
subsidiaries, the details of which are set out in note 14 to the consolidated financial

statements.

Save as disclosed above, the Company did not have any material acquisitions or

disposals of subsidiaries and affiliated companies during the Year.

RESERVES

As at 31 December 2021, the aggregate amount of the distributable reserves of the
Company was RMB482.9 million.

Details of the movement in the reserves of the Group and of the Company during
the Year are set out in Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity and note 32

and 37, respectively, to the consolidated financial statements.

BORROWINGS

Details of the borrowings are set out in the section headed “Management Discussion
and Analysis” in this Annual Report and note 28 and 29 to the consolidated

financial statements.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'’S LISTED SECURITIES

With respect to the senior notes in the principal amount of USD400 million
with a coupon rate of 7% per annum and due in January 2021 (the “USD
2021 Notes”), the Company repurchased and cancelled part of the USD 2021
Notes in the aggregate principal amount of USD43,353,000, USD43,085,000,
USD17,500,000, USD119,992,000, USD20,000,000 and USD18,496,000 (the
“2021 Purchased Notes”). After cancellation of the 2021 Purchased Notes, the
aggregate outstanding principal amount of the USD 2021 Notes as at 31 December
2020 was USD137,574,000. The USD 2021 Notes matured on 18 January 2021,
and the Company has completed the redemption of the outstanding notes in full
in an aggregate principal amount of USD137,574,000. The USD 2021 Notes were

then cancelled and delisted from the Singapore Exchange.

From April to May 2021, the Company also repurchased USD4,000,000 of the USD
2022 Notes and USD6,000,000 of the USD 2023 Notes which were cancelled on
29 June 2021 right after the Exchange Offer was completed on 11 June 2021. The
remaining outstanding principal amounts of the USD 2022 Notes and the USD
2023 Notes were USD121,506,000 and USD178,495,000, respectively, as of 31
December 2021.

With respect to the shares of the Company (the “Share(s)”), the Company
repurchased 1,600,000 Shares, 1,158,000 Shares and 678,000 Shares on 31 March
2021, 1 April 2021 and 7 April 2021, respectively, under the repurchase mandate
approved by the shareholders of the Company on 22 May 2020 at the annual general
meeting. All of the repurchased Shares during the reporting period, which amounted
to 3,436,000 Shares in total, were cancelled on 19 April 2021 and the total number
of issued Shares as at the date of this Annual Report is 1,799,020,000.

Save as disclosed above, there was no purchase, sale or redemption of any of the
Company’s listed securities by the Company or any of its subsidiaries during the year
ended 31 December 2021.
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TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION

The Directors are not aware of any tax relief and exemption available to the

shareholders by reason of their holding of the Company’s securities.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of Association,
or the law of Cayman Islands, being the jurisdiction in which the Company is
incorporated, under which would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-

rata basis to existing shareholders.

CHARGES ON GROUP ASSETS

Details on the charges of the Group’s assets and guarantees provided by the Group

are set out in notes 28 to the consolidated financial statements.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the Year and up to the date of this Annual Report are:

Mr. Wong Yam Yin (Chairman)

Mr. Wong Kam Fai (Vice Chairman, Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Wong Kam Keung, Barry (Standing Vice President)

M. Tjie Tjin Fung (Vice Chairman)

Mr. Janata David

Non-executive Directors

Mzr. Suwita Janata (Vice Chairman)
Mr. Gunawan Kiky

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Wong Ying Loi

Mr. Lie Tak Sen

Mr. Wong Cho Kei, Bonnie

Mr. Li Sze Keung

In accordance with the Articles of Association, one-third of the Directors shall retire
from office by rotation at AGM and be eligible for re-election. Also, any Director
appointed to fill a casual vacancy or as an addition to the Board is subject to re-

election at the next following general meeting or next following AGM, respectively.
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Mr. Janata David, Mr. Wong Ying Loi, Mr. Lie Tak Sen and Mr. Li Sze Keung are
due to retire from the Board by rotation at the AGM. Each of Mr. Janata David, Mr.
Wong Ying Loi and Mr. Lie Tak Sen has decided not to offer himself for re-election
at the AGM. Accordingly, Mr. Janata David, Mr. Wong Ying Loi and Mr. Lie Tak
Sen shall retire from office at the conclusion of the AGM. Mr. Li Sze Keung, being
eligible, offers himself for re-election as an independent non-executive Director at
the AGM.

The Company has received from each of the Independent Non-executive Directors
an annual confirmation of his independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules. The Company considers all of the Independent Non-executive Directors to be

independent.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of our Executive Directors has entered into a service contract with the Company
for a term of two years commencing from the listing date, and may thereafter be
renewed for a term of two years by agreement between the parties and in accordance
with our Articles of Association and the applicable laws. Either the Company or the
Executive Director may terminate the service contract at any time by giving not less

than three months’ notice in writing to the other.

Each of our Non-executive Directors has signed an appointment letter with the
Company for a term of two years commencing from the listing date and may
thereafter be renewed for a term of two years in accordance with our Articles of
Association and the applicable laws. Either the Company or the Non-executive
Director may terminate the appointment letter at any time by giving not less than

three months’ notice in writing to the other.

Each of our Independent Non-executive Directors has signed an appointment letter
with the Company for a term of one year, and may be renewed for a term of one year
in accordance with our Articles of Association and the applicable laws. The term of
the appointment letters of Mr. Wong Ying Loi and Mr. Lie Tak Sen commenced
from the listing date. The term of the appointment letters of Mr. Wong Cho Kei,
Bonnie and Mr. Li Sze Keung commenced on 1 August 2017 and 14 June 2019,
respectively. Either the Company or the Independent Non-executive Director may
terminate the appointment letter at any time by giving not less than one month’s

notice in writing to the other.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors who are proposed for election or re-
election at the forthcoming AGM has a service contract/appointment letter with
the Company which is not determinable within one year without payment of

compensation.
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COMPENSATION OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

The remuneration (including fees, salaries and other benefits, retirement benefit
scheme contribution) paid to our Directors in aggregate for the years ended 31
December 2021 and 2020 were approximately RMB9.8 million and RMB15.9

million, respectively.

The remuneration (including salaries and other benefits, retirement benefit scheme
contribution) paid to our Group’s five highest paid individuals in aggregate for the
years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020 was approximately RMB13.4 million and
RMB19.6 million, respectively.

For the Year, no emoluments were paid by our Group to any Director or any of the
five highest paid individuals as an inducement to join or upon joining our Group or
as compensation for loss of office. None of the Directors has waived any emoluments

for the years ended 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020.

Save as disclosed above, no other payments have been made or are payable, for the
years ended 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020, by our Group to or on
behalf of any of the Directors.

LOAN OR GUARANTEE FOR LOAN GRANTED TO THE
DIRECTORS

During the Year, the Group had not made any loan or provided any guarantee for
any loan, directly or indirectly, to the Directors, senior management, its controlling

shareholders or their respective close associates.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

Brief profiles of the current Directors and senior management of the Group
are set out in the section headed “Biographical Details of Directors and Senior

Management” of this Annual Report.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

Pursuant to the share option scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”) adopted by the
Company on 10 December 2012, the Directors may invite participants (including
any executive, non-executive or independent non-executive Directors or any
employees (whether full-time or part-time) of the Company, or any of its subsidiaries
or associated companies or any other person whom the Directors consider, in their
sole discretion, has contributed or will contribute to the Group) (the “Participants”)
to take up options at a price determined by the Board provided that it shall be at
least the highest of (a) the closing price of the shares of the Company (the “Shares”)
as stated in the daily quotations sheet of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Stock Exchange”) on the date on which an offer is made by the Company to
the grantee (which date must be a business day, “Offer Date”); (b) a price being
the average of the closing prices of the shares of the Company as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the 5 business days immediately preceding

the Offer Date; and (c) the nominal value of a Share.

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to provide incentives or rewards to
the Participants for their contribution to the Group and/or to enable the Group
to recruit and retain high caliber employees and attract human resources that are

valuable to the Group and any entity which the Group holds any equity interest.

The Share Option Scheme will remain effective for a period of ten years commencing
from 10 December 2012.

The total number of shares which may be issued upon exercise of all options to
be granted under the Share Option Scheme and any other share option scheme of
the Company shall not in aggregate exceed 180,000,000, being 10% of the total
number of Shares in issue immediately following the completion of the initial public
offering of the Company, unless the Company obtains a fresh approval from the

shareholders to refresh the limit.
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In respect of the maximum entitlement for each Participant, the total number of
the Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of the options granted under the
Share Option Scheme to each participant (including both exercised and outstanding
options) in any 12-month period shall not exceed 1% of the total number of Shares
in issue unless otherwise approved by the shareholders at a general meeting of the

Company.

Offer of an option shall be deemed to have been accepted by any Participant who
accepts the offer by signing the letter of acceptance together with a remittance in
favour of our Company of HK$1 as consideration for the grant of the option within

such period as our Board may determine and specify in the offer letter.

The option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the Share Option
Scheme at any time during the option period which may be determined and notified
by the Board to the grantee at the time of making an offer which shall not expire

later than 10 years from the grant date.

During the Year, no share options were granted, exercised, cancelled or lapsed under
the Share Option Scheme. There were 8,700,000 share options outstanding under

the Share Option Scheme.

As at the year ended 31 December 2021 and the date of this Annual Report, the
total number of Shares available for issue under the Share Option Scheme was

171,300,000 shares, representing approximately 9.5% of the issued Shares.

For further details of the Share Option Scheme and the share options granted

thereunder, please refer to note 30 to the consolidated financial statements.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2021, the interests and short positions of the Directors and chief
executives of the Company in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the
Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”)), as recorded in the register required
to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for
Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) set out in

Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules, were as follows:

Interests in shares and underlying shares of the Company:

HE Long positions
i A2 )
CEBAT A 2
EREY B/ BER T E JBe Ay 5 B Bt Ay 48 BEAE O
Approximate %
Aggregate number of interest in the
of sharesor  issued share capital
Name of Director Capacity/Nature of interest underlying shares of the Company™
FikE Z % W i 706,785,600 39.29%
Wong Yam Yin® Interest of a controlled corporation
T S Z kL B 706,785,600 39.29%
Wong Kam Fai Interest of a controlled corporation®
-8k 2PN 29,684,000 1.65%
Beneficial owner®
At Toral: 736,469,600 40.94%
B L Z R ERE R 706,785,600 39.29%
Wong Kam Keung, Barry Interest of a controlled corporation®
-8k 2PN 29,684,000 1.65%
Beneficial owner®
5t Toral: 736,469,600 40.94%
Tjie Tjin Fung® YRR R A 80,268,950 4.46%

Interest of a controlled corporation
Suwita Janata® YL IME LR i (6 HE 2% 128,539,400 7.14%

Interest of a controlled corporation/Interest of spouse

Gunawan Kiky® YRR B A

86,360,950 4.80%

Interest of a controlled corporation
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706,785,600 Bt e iy « TSk BB AERBU KR L+ A
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JBC 3 T B SRR e A R SR R e A R A R o

Tjie Tjin Fung 5E4 #EA M 6235 1 Tiie Tjin Fung
S RHFERAN AR EHBEARA A FHFA
180,268,950 e e f ©

Suwita Janata e LA A (i) FH Suwita Janata
O A A AN ) A TR AR B MR AT PR 4
T A7 980,268,950 i i i+ M (ii)Julia Oscar & = 2
A I 2 R 4 OO gk B HE A A BRA R R
48,270,450 J1& i 73 © Suwita Janata 55 2 % Julia Oscar
LMk RSB AR KR

Gunawan Kiky 75 4 #4716 1 03 2 15 () Gunawan 5
R AT I ) KRR PR AT PR R AT Y
80,268,950 BB A+ J& (i) Gunawan Kiky J64E F5 5 HY
6,092,000 & B 17 <

Notes:

(1)

(2)

(3)

)

)

(6)

The total number of issued shares of the Company as at 31 December 2021 (that was,

1,799,020,000 shares) had been used for the calculation of the approximate percentage.

Shares owned by Mr. Wong Yam Yin, Ms. Hung So Ling, Mr. Wong Kam Fai and Mr.
Wong Kam Keung, Barry consist of 706,785,600 shares held by Golden Wheel Realty
Company Limited, a company controlled by Mr. Wong Yam Yin and his family (the “Wong
Family”). Mr. Wong Yam Yin and Ms. Hung So Ling are husband and wife. Mr. Wong
Kam Fai and Mr. Wong Kam Keung, Barry are sons of Mr. Wong Yam Yin and Ms. Hung
So Ling.

Shares are jointly owned by Mr. Wong Kam Fai and Mr. Wong Kam Keung, Barry.

Shares owned by Mr. Tjie Tjin Fung consist of 80,268,950 shares held by Chun Hung

Investments Limited, a company owned by Mr. Tjie Tjin Fung and his family.

Shares owned by Mr. Suwita Janata consist of (i) 80,268,950 shares held by Golden Era
Forever Holding Company Limited, a company wholly owned by Mr. Suwita Janata, and
(i1) 48,270,450 shares held by Golden Joy Forever Holding Company Limited, a company
wholly owned by Ms. Julia Oscar. Mr. Suwita Janata is the husband of Ms. Julia Oscar and a
brother-in-law of Mr. Wong Yam Yin.

Shares owned by Mr. Gunawan Kiky consist of (i) 80,268,950 shares held by Fire Spark
Holdings Limited, a company owned by Mr. Gunawan Kiky and his family, and (ii)
6,092,000 shares held by Mr. Gunawan Kiky.
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JA T — %
CHE ST
[}S &4 Ve T4 B/ Wt fi e £ i BE 5 A fe e W H
Aggregate Amount of
amount of debentures
Currency of debentures in same class
Name of shareholder Capacity/Nature of Interest Debentures bought in issue
EX7¢ YRR eV 1,836,000 144,999,000
Wong Yam Yin Interest of a controlled corporation™ USD
3 2NG ey 936,000 144,999,000
Beneficial owner® USD
At Total: 2,772,000
F o R A eV 1,836,000 144,999,000
Wong Kam Fai Interest of a controlled corporation™ ush
Hit A A E S 936,000 144,999,000
Beneficial owner® USD
A5l Total: 2,772,000
EHE XA E L O E 1,836,000 144,999,000
Wong Kam Keung, Barry Interest of a controlled corporation™ usD
Et ZNG ESH 936,000 144,999,000
Beneficial owner? USD
A7t Total: 2,772,000
Suwita Janata HadAa A ESn 200,000 144,999,000
Beneficial owner ush
Gunawan Kiky HadEa A EH 1,162,000 178,495,000
Beneficial owner ush
ETE DN ES 2,938,000 144,999,000
Beneficial owner ush
&t Total: 4,100,000
BiF&E Notes:

(1) W5 & 1,836,000 3 T Y L BERE i T R KR (1) These debentures in a sum of USD1,836,000 are held by Golden Wheel Realty, a company

R 2 7 i R AT o controlled by the Wong Family.
(2) AR B RS A (2)  These debentures are jointly owned by the Wong Family.
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Save as disclosed above and to the best knowledge of the Directors, as at 31
December 2021, none of the Directors or chief executive of the Company had
registered an interest or short position in the shares, underlying shares or debentures
of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV
of the SFO) that was required to be recorded pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or
as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model

Code set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS® AND OTHER
PERSONS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES

As at 31 December 2021, the interests and/or short positions of the persons in the
shares and underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the register required to
be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO or which would fall to
be disclosed to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 2 and 3
of Part XV of the SFO were as follows:

Long positions in the shares and underlying shares of the Company

A 7

e S A Bl BT R AE 25
et 48 BHE L

Approximate

percentage of
Aggregate number interest in the

of shares or  issued share capital

Name of shareholder Capacity/Nature of Interest underlying shares of the Company™
FhE XA 706,785,600 39.29%
Wong Yam Yin® Interest of a controlled corporation
HR®KO e W 706,785,600 39.29%
Hung So Ling®? Interest of a controlled corporation
ES ) Z A B R R 706,785,600 39.29%
Wong Kam Fai Interest of a controlled corporation”
Hiifh e 29,684,000 1.65%
Beneficial owner®
AT Total: 736,469,600 40.94%
B Z L B 706,785,600 39.29%
Wong Kam Keung, Barry Interest of a controlled corporation®
Haifh Ao 29,684,000 1.65%
Beneficial owner®
AT Total: 736,469,600 40.94%
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N/

OB AT RAHE 25
BEATE O

Approximate

percentage of

interest in the

issued share capital
of the Company”

Suwita Janata® Z e B / Fi (B HE 45
Interest of a controlled corporation/Interest of spouse 128,539,400 7.14%
Oscar Julia® ZREE R RS
Interest of a controlled corporation/Interest of spouse 128,539,400 7.14%
EWmEFEARAA Ha A A
Golden Wheel Realty Company Beneficial owner 706.785.600 39.29%
Limited?

BiF&E Notes:

(1) AR A EARAE B BTG (1) The total number of issued shares of the Company as at 31 December 2021 (that was,
M (5 1,799,020,000 1) TR AL E D - 1,799,020,000 shares) had been used for the calculation of the approximate percentage.

(2) EHEEE  MRB L L FMEEERERE ) Shares owned by Mr. Wong Yam Yin, Ms. Hung So Ling, Mr. Wong Kam Fai and Mr.
SeHE B B RO B4 B T B R HE 2 ] 4 Wong Kam Keung, Barry consist of 706,785,600 shares held by Golden Wheel Realty
BEA WA AR 706,785,600 B M o £ 81 E Company Limited, a company controlled by the Wong Family. Mr. Wong Yam Yin and
S BRI b R TE o EMMEAE R TR Ms. Hung So Ling are husband and wife. Mr. Wong Kam Fai and Mr. Wong Kam Keung,
TR B e M R L LIRS o Barry are sons of Mr. Wong Yam Yin and Ms. Hung So Ling.

(3) JReA T E T SRR S A B R AR B A AT (3)  Shares are jointly owned by Mr. Wong Kam Fai and Mr. Wong Kam Keung, Barry.

(4) Suwita Janataf‘ﬁiiﬁﬁﬂgﬂi{ﬁ@:ﬁ (i) B Suwita Janata (4) Shares owned by Mr. Suwita Janata consist of (i) 80,268,950 shares held by Golden Era
St A AT I 2 ) 4 IR AR K P AT PR ) R AT Forever Holding Company Limited, a company wholly owned by Mr. Suwita Janata, and
180,268,950 It Bt 47 > K (ii)Julia Oscar & 1: 2 & (ii) 48,270,450 shares held by Golden Joy Forever Holding Company Limited, a company
A 2 R 42 TR AR I AT BR 2 R RE AT 119 48,270,450 wholly owned by Ms. Julia Oscar. Mr. Suwita Janata is the husband of Ms. Julia Oscar and a
JB B AR © Suwita Janata 5E4E 2 Julia Oscar 2 1 3L K brother-in-law of Mr. Wong Yam Yin.

K ESRB AR -
) Julia Oscar % = #E A7 1) I 0y 6245 (i) Eﬂjulia Oscar & ) Shares owned by Ms. Julia Oscar consist of (i) 48,270,450 shares held by Golden Joy

LA B A A F BB K EE A R A AR
148,270,450 & & A > B (ii) B Suwita Janata 5 4
2R 2 w4 AR R A PR F R A Y
80,268,950 B A 13 © Julia Oscar % 1 £} Suwita Janata
FetE T T SR SR A A IR I o

Forever Holding Company Limited, a company wholly owned by Ms. Julia Oscar, and (ii)
80,268,950 shares held by Golden Era Forever Holding Company Limited, a company
wholly owned by Mr. Suwita Janata. Ms. Julia Oscar is the wife of Mr. Suwita Janata and
the younger sister of Mr. Wong Yam Yin.
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Save as disclosed above and to the best knowledge of the Directors, as at 31
December 2021, no person had an interest or a short position in the shares or the
underlying shares of the Company which would fall to be disclosed to the Company
under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of the Part XV of the SFO and no person
was, directly or indirectly interested in 5% or more of the nominal value of any class
of share capital carrying rights to vote in all circumstances at general meetings of
the Company, or of any other company which is a member of the Group, or in any

options in respect of such share capital.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole or any
substantial part of the business of the Company were entered into or existed during

the Year.

ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Other than the Share Option Scheme as adopted on 10 December 2012 and the
redemption of debentures and repurchase of shares as stated under the section
headed “Purchase, Sale or Redemption of the Company’s Listed Securities” of this
Annual Report, at no time during the Year was the Company, its holding company,
or any of its subsidiaries, a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors to
acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debt securities including

debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTION,
ARRANGEMENT OR CONTRACT OF SIGNIFICANCE

No transaction, arrangement or contract of significance (as defined under note
15.2 of Appendix 16 to the Listing Rule) to which the Company, nor any of its
subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director of the Company had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the Year or at any

time during the Year.
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Directors’ Report

PERMITTED INDEMNITY

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, the applicable laws and regulations, every
Director shall be indemnified and secured harmless out of the assets and profits of
the Company against all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses which
they or any of them may incur or sustain in the execution of their duties in their
offices. Such permitted indemnity provision has been in force throughout the Year.
The Company has arranged appropriate Directors’ and officers’ liability insurance

coverage for the Directors and officers of the Group.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

During the Year, none of the Directors or their respective close associates (as defined
in the Listing Rules) had any interest in a business that competed or might compete

with the businesses of the Company and its subsidiaries.

Reference is made to the non-competition deed (the “NCD”) dated 10 December
2012, the details of which are set out in the section headed “Relationship with
our Controlling Shareholders — Non-Competition Deed” of the prospectus issued
by the Company dated 31 December 2012. As at 31 December 2021, each of the
covenanters under the NCD who or which remained to be a controlling shareholder
of the Company and/or associate of any controlling shareholder of the Company
and/or director of any member of the Group, being Mr. Wong Yam Yin, Mr.
Wong Kam Fai, Mr. Wong Kam Keung, Barry, Ms. Hung So Ling, Golden Wheel
Realty Company Limited, Mr. Tjie Tjin Fung, Chun Hung Investments Limited,
Mr. Gunawan Kiky, Fire Spark Holdings Limited, Mr. Suwita Janata, Golden
Era Forever Holding Company Limited, Ms. Julia Oscar and Golden Joy Forever
Holding Company Limited, declared that they have complied with the NCD. The
Board has also reviewed the relevant undertakings and has not noticed any non-

compliance incident.

CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS IN
CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

No contract of significance or contract of significance for the provision of services (as
defined under note 15.2 of Appendix 16 to the Listing Rule) to which the Company,
nor any of its subsidiaries was a party and in which a controlling shareholder of the
Company had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end

of the Year or at any time during the Year.
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MAJOR SUPPLIERS AND CUSTOMERS

During the Year, purchases from the Group’s single largest supplier accounted
for approximately 4.84% of the Group’s total purchases, and the percentage of
purchases attributable to the Group’s five largest suppliers combined was 19.07% of
the Group’s total purchases. The percentage of turnover attributable to the Group’s
five largest customers combined was 10.6% of the Group’s total turnover. To the
Director’s best knowledge and belief, none of the Directors nor his close associates
and none of the shareholders interested in over 5% of the shares of the Company has

any interest in the above-mentioned suppliers and customers.

EMPLOYEES

As of 31 December 2021, the Group had a total of approximately 670 (2020:
825) full-time employees in Hong Kong and China. The Group’s employment
contracts with its employees cover terms such as position, term of employment,
wage, employee benefits and liabilities for breaches, and grounds for termination.
Remuneration of the Group’s employees includes basic salaries, allowances, pensions,
performance bonus, share options and other employee benefits. Remuneration is
determined with reference to the performance, skills, qualifications, experience of

the employee concerned and the prevailing industry practice.

The Group remunerates its employees based on their performance, work experience
and the prevailing market wage level. The total remuneration of the employees

consisted of basic salary, cash bonus and share-based incentives.

The emolument policy for the employees of the Group is set up by the Board on the

basis of their merit, qualification and competence.

The emoluments of the Directors and senior management of the Group are decided
by the Remuneration Committee, having regard to the Group's operating results,

individual performance and comparable market statistics.

Total employee costs for the Year, including directors” emoluments, amounted to

approximately RMB158.9 million (2020: RMB130.8 million).
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Directors’ Report

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS

During the Year, none of related party transactions set out in note 36 to the
consolidated financial statements fall under the definition of “connected transaction”
or “continuing connected transaction” under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. In
addition, there were no other transactions which constituted connected transaction(s)
or continuing connected transaction(s) for the Company under Chapter 14A of the

Listing Rules during the Year.

Save as disclosed under the paragraph headed “Related Party Transactions” stated
in note 36 of the Notes to the consolidated financial statements, no contract of
significance in relation to the Group’s business to which the Group was a party and
in which a Director had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted

during the Year.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and within the
knowledge of the Directors at the latest practicable date prior to the issue of this
Annual Report, the Company has maintained the public float as required by the

Listing Rules.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Group has compliance policies and procedures in place to ensure adherence to
applicable laws, rules and regulations, in particular, those have a significant impact
on the Group. The Group would seek professional advice from its legal advisers to
ensure transactions and business to be performed by the Group are in compliance
with the applicable laws and regulations. During the Year, the Group was not aware
of any non-compliance with any relevant laws and regulations that had a significant

impact on it.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Board and management of the Company are committed to maintaining high
standards of corporate governance. The Board firmly believes that conducting
the Group’s business in a transparent and responsible manner and following good
corporate governance practices will serve its long-term interests and those of
shareholders. The Company has adopted the code provisions set out in the Corporate
Governance Code contained in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules as its own code to

govern its corporate governance practices.

Please refer to the Corporate Governance Report of the Company on pages 83 to 95

of this Annual Report.
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DONATION

Donation made by the Group during the Year amounted to RMB168,000.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES

The Group is committed to promoting awareness and decisions that contribute
to achieving environmentally sustainable development. The Group will comply
fully with all applicable environmental laws and regulations. We will use fuel,
water and other natural resources efficiently and conservatively. We recognise
this to be a continuous process of improvement and we seek to actively look for
environmentally-friendly options and carry out environmentally-friendly practices

whenever appropriate and possible.

Please refer to the Environmental, Social and Governance Report of the Company on

pages 36 to 82 of this Annual Report.

KEY RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES, CUSTOMERS
AND SUPPLIERS AND OTHERS

Employees are remunerated equitably and competitively. Continuing training
and development opportunities are provided to equip them to deliver their best
performance and achieve corporate goals. During the Year, our staff continually
pursue training and career development through our policy on top of mandatory
training on anti-corruption, safety and health awareness. They also work under
motivating remuneration and reward schemes and were provided with a smoke-free,

healthy and safe working environment.

Customers’ feedback and advice could be taken into account via customer

communication channel.

The Group uses suppliers that reflect its values and commitment. The Group has
policies and procedures to select suppliers and contractors who share our social,
environmental and labour practice standards. Appropriate steps are taken to ensure

that our partners and suppliers do not employ child labour or abuse human rights.
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Directors’ Report

BUSINESS REVIEW

A fair review of the business of the Company and further discussion and analysis
of the Group’s activities as required by Schedule 5 to the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance (Cap. 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong), including a discussion of the
principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group, important events affecting the
Group that have occurred since the end of the Year, and an indication of likely
future developments of the Group’s business, can be found in the Chairman’s
Statement, the Management Discussion and Analysis and the Corporate Governance
Report set out on pages 6 to 11, pages 12 to 35 and pages 83 to 95 of this Annual

Report, respectively.

In addition, the Group’s environmental, employee, customer and supplier matters
and compliance with the relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact
on the Company can be found in the Environmental, Social and Governance Report
and the Corporate Governance Report set out on pages 36 to 82 and pages 83 to 95
of this Annual Report, respectively. These discussions form part of this Directors’

Report.

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS AND
EXPECTED SOURCES OF FUNDING

Save as disclosed under the sections headed “Chairman’s Statement” and
“Management Discussion and Analysis”, the Group had no future plans for material

investments as at the date of this Annual Report.

AUDITOR

KPMG was appointed as the auditor of the Company and will hold office until
the conclusion of the forthcoming AGM. A resolution will be proposed at the

forthcoming AGM to re-appoint KPMG as the auditor of the Company.

On behalf of the Board

Wong Yam Yin

Chairman

Hong Kong, 30 March 2022
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
GOLDEN WHEEL TIANDI HOLDINGS COMPANY LIMITED

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Golden Wheel Tiandi
Holdings Company Limited (“the Company”) and its subsidiaries (“the Group”)
set out on pages 138 to 290, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 December 2021, the consolidated statement of profit or loss,
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income,
the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated cash flow
statement for the year then ended and notes to the consolidated financial statements,

including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of
the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2021 and of its
consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”)
issued by the International Accounting Standard Board ("IASB”) and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong

Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing
(“HKSAs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(“HKICPA”). Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements
section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (HKICPA)'s Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (“the Code”) together with any ethical requirements
that are relevant to our audit of the consolidated financial statements in the Cayman
Islands, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with
the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and

appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

MATERIAL UNCERTAINTY RELATED TO GOING
CONCERN

We draw attention to note 2(b) to the consolidated financial statements, which
indicates that the Group incurred a net loss of RMB1,987 million for the year ended
31 December 2021 and recorded net current liabilities of RMB1,315 million as at
31 December 2021. Included in the current liabilities were loans and borrowings
of RMB1,726 million and senior notes of RMB2,814 million. The recent
macroeconomic conditions and the volatility in China real estate industry since the
second half of 2021 has brought certain uncertainties to the Group. It may be more
challenging for the Group to refinance loans than it has historically been. The Group
may be unable to repay the loans and borrowings and senior notes in full when they
fall due unless the Group is able to generate sufficient cash inflows from its normal
operations or, if necessary, dispose of the Group’s assets at a reasonable price and to
renew or refinance the banking loans and senior notes upon maturity. As stated in
note 2(b), these facts and circumstances, along with other matters as set forth in note
2(b) indicate that a material uncertainty exists on the Group’s ability to continue as

a going concern. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of
most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated
financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not
provide a separate opinion on these matters. In addition to the matter described in
the Material uncertainty related to going concern section, we have determined the
matters described below to be key audit matters to be communicated in our report.
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B 4 O
The Key Audit Matter

T A v ) B

How the matter was addressed in our audit

BE YR
Valuation of investment properties
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Refer to note 13 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies on page 158.
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As at 31 December 2021, the Group’s investment properties comprise
completed properties and properties under development in the
Mainland China. These investment properties are stated at their fair
values based on valuations performed by an independent firm of
qualified valuers (the “Valuer”) at an aggregate amount of RMB4.33
billion.

The valuation process involves significant judgement and estimation
in determining the appropriate valuation methodology and in
estimating the key assumptions, including adjusted market price,
capitalisation rates, daily unit rent and budget cost. The valuations are

highly sensitive to key assumptions applied.
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Our audit procedures to assess the valuation of investment properties

included the following:

. Obtaining an understanding of and assessing the design,
implementation and operating effectiveness of management’s
key internal controls in relation to the valuation of investment

properties;

o Obtaining and inspecting the valuation reports prepared by the
Valuer engaged by management and on which the directors’

assessment of the fair values of investment properties was based;

U Assessing the Valuer’s qualifications, experience and expertise
in the properties being valued and considering its objectivity

and independence;

U With the assistance of our internal property valuation
specialists, discussing with the Valuer its valuation
methodology and the key estimates and assumptions adopted in

its valuations;
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How the matter was addressed in our audit
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Valuation of investment properties (continued)
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Refer to note 13 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies on page 158. (continued)
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We identified the valuation of investment properties as a key audit
matter because of the significance of investment properties to the
Group’s total assets and because determining the fair values of
investment properties involves a significant degree of judgement and

may be subject to management bias.

AP £l (F 7 325 3 DAl e X BB A T 35 R
BT 8 A B I 05 A BB AT H R A (E R R
) B S A AR (BB T - EAL R REH
RLOLAE &) $ B E

DA B 7 2B A8 5 BRI > DA B R
HETE > Sl 5 MR SRR o A AR A B i A5 5 T
OB R G R R/ SO BIE 58 T 8 5
S AR RO S S R B ) 9 T
frath s &

itk U ERF R B ARNHERM AR
B £ A 2 (3L A EL A 1) S B8 5 T AR B ST FAEA T B

Evaluating the valuation methodology and challenging the
key estimates and assumptions (including adjusted market
price, capitalisation rate, and daily unit rent) adopted in the
valuations, on a sample basis, by comparison with available

market data and/or government produced market statistics;

Conducting site visits to important investment properties,
on a sample basis, to observe the development progress and
evaluating management’s development budgets reflected in
the latest forecasts with reference to market statistics about
estimated construction costs, signed construction contracts and/

or unit construction costs of recently completed projects; and

Comparing tenancy information, including committed rents
and occupancy rates, provided by the Group to the Valuer with
underlying contracts and related documentation, on a sample

basis.
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How the matter was addressed in our audit
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Assessing the net realizable value of properties under development for sale and completed properties for sale
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Refer to notes 18 and 19 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies on page 170.
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The carrying amount of properties under development for sale and
completed properties for sale totalled RMBG6.04 billion as at 31
December 2021, which accounted for 44% of the Group’s total assets
as at that date. Properties under development for sale and completed
properties for sale of the Group are primarily residential and retail
projects, located mainly in Mainland China and Hong Kong, and are

stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.

The assessment of the net realizable value of properties under
development for sale and completed properties for sale involves
the exercise of significant management judgement, particularly in
estimating forecast development costs and forecast selling prices.
Forecast development costs and selling prices are inherently uncertain

due to changes in market conditions.

T B BH 8% o 8 B 4 3 S © R TR W S Y T A BT (EE
Al i AR A

o TR RN BRI B B RO T A0 A R R B A
W A B A R R R~ G SO AT AR 5

I U SES T SETUES P T
RIS - 1 5 BB A WA 33
DB T 0240 B S B SR M 5 TR 9 T
R A BT 1 PR 9 9 R
LU

o BHHUARSEREEBU E MR A AR TR AR BTN
AR PRI DL B 7 A S L A MR 5

Our audit procedures to assess the net realizable value of properties
under development for sale and completed properties for sale included

the following:

. Obtaining an understanding of and assessing the design,
implementation and operating effectiveness of management’s
key internal controls in relation to the preparation and

monitoring of management forecasts of development costs;

o Conducting site visits to properties under development for
sale, on a sample basis, to observe the development progress
and evaluating management’s development budgets reflected
in the latest forecasts with reference to market statistics about
estimated construction costs, signed construction contracts and/

or unit construction costs of recently completed projects;

o Assessing the accuracy of management’s historical forecasts of
selling prices by comparing the actual selling prices achieved in

the current year with forecasts prepared in previous years; and
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W i A e T () KEY AUDIT MATTERS (concinued)
I ST A 8 A i i B ¥k
The Key Audit Matter How the matter was addressed in our audit

R4 A eh R B 0 3 % Tk T B SE I WT S B ()

Assessing the net realizable value of properties under development for sale and completed properties for sale (continued)

BRI L IR G 18 J 19 LA R4 170 H 11 £ GHECH o

Refer to notes 18 and 19 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies on page 170.

ERABEPREVENCRIAEY EH B EHMAEREN
HEM > KA R EEA R MR TR A
SHFE RE ERA AT ) 7 24 E R A
& F BT - %5 AT REAF 7 B W U B e A 5 A 1 B
H R ) SE A 3R T 1 W 3 T A U (E Y A 1 2 R
B EIH -

We identified the assessment of the net realizable value of the Group’s
properties under development for sale and completed properties for
sale as a key audit matter because of the significance of properties
under development for sale and completed properties for sale to the
Group’s total assets and because the inherent uncertainties involved in
assessing the net realizable value of the properties under development
for sale and completed properties for sale that require a significant
degree of management judgement which could be subject to error or

management bias.

A A R AT A B 5 P R R ISR R TR R K
f ] A58 5L (L AT R 400 1O A (B 7 35 > Bl A% 8 7 BT 4%
F T 2 A T D MR (A B By 48 S B A A B O A
B fBew) SELRT T 4 Wb X o AR T A 4 T A B
HEATHL -

Evaluating the valuation methodology adopted by management
for assessing the net realizable value of properties under
development for sale and completed properties for sale and
comparing the key estimates and assumptions adopted in the
valuations, including those relating to average net selling
prices, with market available data and the sales budget plans

maintained by the Group.
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INFORMATION OTHER THAN THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND AUDITOR’S REPORT
THEREON

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information
comprises all the information included in the annual report, other than the

consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other

information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether
the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be

materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have

nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with IFRSs issued by the
TASB and the disclosure requirement of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance
and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable
the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material

misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible
for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as
applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease

operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are assisted by the Audit Committee in discharging their

responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.
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T8 S B
Independent Auditor’s Report

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated
financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due
to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. This
report is made solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this

report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated

financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional judgement

and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

. Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform
audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional

omissions, misrepresentations, ot the override of internal control.

J Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to
design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s

internal control.
U Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the

reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the

directors.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(continued)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern
basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a
material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention
in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group

to cease to continue as a gOiIlg concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated
financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated
financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a

manner that achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to express
an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for
the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain

solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters, the

planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any

significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have complied with

relevant ethical requirements regarding independence and communicate with them

all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our

independence and, where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards

applied.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(continued)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine those
matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We
describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes
public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the
adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the

public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report

is Chan Ting Yuen.

Certified Public Accountants
8th Floor, Prince’s Building
10 Chater Road

Central, Hong Kong

30 March 2022
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss

HWE T —F 1+ H=1—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2021

(AN BT R) (Expressed in Renminbi)

—®= SRR

2021 2020

M 5E ANRETFI ARWFIC

Note RMB’000 RMB000

Wezs Revenue 4 1,782,495 1,389,119
8 A Cost of sales (1,810,025) (1,155,977)
T A Gross (loss)/profit (27,530) 233,142
WEYENTEEY Changes in fair value of investment properties 13(a) (1,597,661) 91,971
HAbA ~ B3~ ks g R Other income, expenses, gains and losses 5 17,787 318,124
S T B B 52 Selling and marketing expenses (88,604) (81,415)
B Administrative expenses (143,050) (155,686)
®E (ER) R (Loss)/profit from operations (1,839,058) 406,136
Bl & R AR Finance costs 6(a) (254,759) (233,545)
JRE A 625 ) 1) 5 4R Share of losses of associates 15 (14,772) (46,930)
JREA A2 A 200 8 Share of profits of joint ventures 16 28,149 1,105
BrBiaT (B 4R) /WAl (Loss)/profit before taxation 6 (2,080,440) 126,766
REY) Income tax 7 93,355 (76,521)
EN(EE),wA (Loss)/profit for the year (1,987,085) 50,245

DL A A Attributable to:

EN/NEIL Y Equity shareholders of the Company (1,980,195) 34,788
T FE I 45 Non-controlling interests (6,890) 15,457
ER(BR) wF (Loss)/profit for the year (1,987,085) 50,245

55146 3 290 E 1 R 1 4 BZ 5 A SR 19 — The notes on pages 146 to 290 form part of these financial statements.
ﬁ o
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
WE FE " —F+ " H =1 —HIL4FJF For the year ended 31 December 2021
(LI B WS R ) (Expressed in Renminbi)

St S et =
2021 2020
Wi st AR T ANRET T
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
RO C8A esproficorcheyear (1987.085) 50,245
FER A2 (BRBERER  Other comprehensive income for the
GHBREAR) year (after tax and reclassification
adjustments): 10
HETGEEM A ER 2 B H © Item thar may be reclassified subsequently to
profit or loss:
B NRELIINDIRe & WA E RS Exchange differences on translation of financial
T 2 1) B 5, 7 B statements of the entities with functional
currencies other than RMB (881) 1,149
PRt RmNGE  Othercomprehensive income for theyear @8y L9
A% ) HE 235 SRR AG A 9 2 Total comprehensive income for the year
W i 48 7 attributable to equity shareholders of
the Company (1,987,966) 51,394
VLR N A - Attributable to:
AR L RE £ B Equity shareholders of the Company (1,981,076) 35,937
FEHE I HE %5 Non-controlling interests (6,890) 15,457
A Py 2 ML 25 AR A Total comprehensive income for the year (1,987,966) 51,394
B (1) /#F (Loss)/earnings per share 11
A (HFRARKT) Basic (RMB per share) (1.100) 0.019
B (HRARYT) Diluted (RMB per share) (1.100) 0.019

55146 2 290 LI B G A A% 5 A5 R R 1 — 8 The notes on pages 146 to 290 form part of these financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
T E T —4+ " H =+1+—H At 31 December 2021
(LI RS R) (Expressed in Renminbi)

SR e S 253
+=A +=A
=+—H =+—H
31 December 31 December
2021 2020
i ARHF AR ¥T T
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
B E Non-current assets
L EN NG Property, plant and equipment 12 599,451 266,713
g7/ Investment properties 13 4,326,157 6,628,565
QNP Interests in associates 15 75,001 204,233
nNEEhE LR Interests in joint ventures 16 493,619 413,064
Hofh 4 Other financial assets 17 213,146 289,529
% PRAIERAT A7 3R Restricted bank deposits 23 33,770 181,011
R S B JE Deferred tax assets 31 126,994 143,629
5,868,138 8,126,744
WEE & Current assets
P Y% Properties under development for sale 18 4,149,446 5,254,447
CRILHEWE Completed properties for sale 19 1,894,938 1,903,760
BRERE Contract assets 21 34,210 15,205
B 5 T H A i E Trade and other receivables 22 462,927 534,943
FlE B ER IR E = Non-current asset held for sale 20 184,289 -
T L b (B KT 13 Land appreciation tax and income tax prepaid 64,224 51,929
Hofth 4 il Other financial assets 17 - 39,966
Z R SRAT A K Restricted bank deposits 23 834,241 383,182
Ba RIS EY Cash and cash equivalents 24 346,910 849,120
77777777777777777777777777777777777777 7,971,185 9,032,552
B A A Current liabilities
B Gy Je HoAt e A 2R Trade and other payables 25 1,796,636 2,175,139
GHEE Contract liabilities 26 2,370,706 1,881,711
TA A 4 Rental received in advance 35,298 32,106
HEAMH Lease liabilicies 27 44,482 45,862
TR Bank loans 28 1,726,249 1,831,855
IR Current taxation 498,521 556,871
B EE Senior notes 29 2,814,024 1,221,429
o 9,285)916 7,744,973
ﬁ@] (Afk) /& Net current (liabilities)/assets (1,314,731) 1,287,579
A 7 VA ) £ £ Total assets less current liabilities 4,553,407 9,414,323
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A ERILE
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
Ui\ /‘:‘ 1*/'|:‘ | “H= I* H At 31 December 2021

(LA RIS 7R ) (Expressed in Renminbi)

R TR
+=H +=H
=+—H =+—H
31 December 31 December
2021 2020
Bt ANRETFI ARWF
Note RMB000 RMB'000
R A H Non-current liabilities
HE A H Lease liabilities 27 152,618 215,188
B|ATEH Bank loans 28 504,990 979,651
RACHIIE A ME Deferred tax liabilities 31 965,304 1,200,435
P Rental received in advance - 15,647
B R Senior notes 29 - 2,083,456
Y 1622912 4,494,377
R HE NET ASSETS 2,930,495 4,919,946
B K it CAPITAL AND RESERVES
f&N Share capital 32() 112,883 113,099
fitefhi Reserves 32(d) 2,731,606 4,713,951
A2 ) RE i R E A RBE 2 48 7 Total equity attributable to equity
shareholders of the Company 2,844,489 4,827,050
T e 25 Non-controlling interests 86,006 92,896
R 23 TOTAL EQUITY 2,930,495 4,919,946

BHHRAPW R E=SH =T HMMERIZRETE o Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 30 March 2022,

EHE F i
Wong Yam Yin Wong Kam Fai
#H #H
Directors Directors

55146 & 290 HL 1A B 5 B8 0K 5 B S R 1) — T The notes on pages 146 to 290 form part of these financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

WE E " —F+ " H =1 —HILFJF For the year ended 31 December 2021
(LA B HFFY 7R ) (Expressed in Renminbi)

RATEARREN
Autributable to equity shareholders of the Company

Bk MR WERE AMERRE WFEGRE  BRERE  EERE  RRRA Bt RERE it

Property Share Non-
Shate Share Special Exchange  revaluation options Surplus Retained controlling
capital premium feserve feserve feserve feserve eserve earnings Total nterests Total
W ARKFET AREFT ARETE ARETE ARETE ARETT ARRFT ABRTE ARETE ARETE ARETE
Note RIMBYD RIMBYD B0 RMBI00 B0 RMB0 RIBYY RIBYD RIBYD RIBYD RIBYD
(Wstso) (k3] (W o) - (W 320 (Hist30) - (R 20
(note 32¢)) ~ (note 32)D)  (note 32A)i)  (note 32(d)ii)) (note 30)  (note 32(d)v)
BEFZFETZR Balancear 3 December 2020 and
8 0 S | )
B . . S\ SN U DU LN S O B B
CRIEREES:  Changesinequity for 201
Ly Tassforthe yar - - - - - - - L980M%) (1980%5) 6890 (1987,089)
EiEbRERE Other comprehenive income for the
year - - - (881) - - - - (881) - (881)
ERAE T ompebvcinone - - . . - R L - - L L T
Rihfes Surplustesrve appropriation 3di) - - - - - - 6,969 (6,969) = = =
WRASERBINLS  Bqitpseced sharesbased ranacions 30 - - - - - 52 - - 52 - 52
MERARD Pucscolomds oL L - - - - - .. U i
BEZZ-FFZR Balanceat 3] December 2021
Zt-Rekk (11 )] 1967 15,53 16631 B9 1B 2844 86006 20304%
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

WE - E FEF+ " H =4 — H IL4FJE For the year ended 31 December 2020
(LI B B51R) (Expressed in Renminbi)

KATIEERREL
Actrbuteble o equity shareholders of the Company

B BBEE  BWRE MREARE WEEERE  BRERE  EBRE  REEA Bt hEREE it
Property Share Non-
Share Share Special Exchange tevaluation options Suplos Retained controlling
apital premium teserve teserve reserve reserve eserve camings Toul interests Toul
it ARRFT BT ARETT  ARKTT  ARETT  ARKFT  AREFT BT ARETT ARETT ARETX
Note RMB 00 RMB00 KB 00 KB 00 KB 000 RMB 00 RMBO0 RiBI0 R0 R0 R0
(o) (Wbl (Hianam) (HiEsnogi) (a0 (i)
(note 32€)  (note 32)i)  (note 32ANGH)  (note 32(dNi) (note30)  (note32(div)
BEF=NETZR Balancear 3 December 2019 and
ST-RRZEZEE 1 January 200
B Fiﬁﬁ‘]ﬁﬁﬁ 77777777777777777777777777 11309 47643 145,986 14,985 16631 1,322 163,728 3,885,303 4817197 134%9 4830636
CRCREEAEE:  Changesinequityor 2020
i Proft o e ear - - - - - - - 34788 34788 15457 50245
EiEbRERE Other comprehensive income for the
year - - - 1,149 - - - - 1,149 - 1,149
ekt Total comprehensive income - - - 1,149 - - - 34,788 35937 15457 51,394
i Surplusreserve appropriaion 32d)i) - - - - - - 20,601 (20,691 - - -
EERCRE Dividends declared n respectof the
previous year 320b) - - (26313) - - - - - (26313) - (26313)
WRASERRINTS  Bqitpsected sharesbased rangcions 30 - - - - - 9 - - ) - i
FERRRES Capital injction from non-controling
shareholders - - - - - - - - - 04,000 04,000
RERZBETZA Balanceat 31 December 2020
SH-ReAR w614 19673 16134 16631 5 18419 38940 4807050 0% 4919946

55146 2 290 LI B 5T 4 A% 55 B 5 R R 1 — 8 The notes on pages 146 to 290 form part of these financial statements.
é} o
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HEBSmER
Consolidated Cash Flows Statement

BEZE T H =1+ — H ILF B For the year ended 31 December 2021

(LA B HFFY 7R ) (Expressed in Renminbi)

SR ZECETAE
2021 2020
Wit & AR T ANRIFTT
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
REWES) Operating activities
TR Bl 4 Cash generated from operations 24(b) 1,197,164 624,680
RENEA Tax paid (173,744) (88,054)
RN ) B A B A Net cash generated from operating
activities 1,023,420 536,626
BEWS) Investing activities
SRATAE R E A B Interest received from bank deposits 27,323 31,503
N TEFI ARG (A FMEF A Incerest received from financial assets
HaS 1) 1 EmE E o o R measured at fair value through profit or loss
(“FVTPL”) - 878
MEE W R B Purchases of property, plant and equipment (82,632) (47,762)
WE AT EF ARG Purchases of financial assets measured at
SREE FVTPL - (179,145)
BEYER M Increase in investment properties (61,377) (317,201)
N—HEEEAENE Investment in a joint venture (61,297) (35,664)
H— A8 R EUOR N & Investment received from a joint venture 114,459 -
e AR 2/ E Investment in an associate (10,000) -
B — S A Disposal of an associate - 78,000
HEREYE Disposal of investment properties 223,502 49,994
HELRATEF ARG Z SR EE  Disposal of financial assets measured at FVTPL 45,509 76,237
i) ﬁﬁé&/ﬁﬁj &é\%ﬂ:\ﬁﬁ%{%%%’\ Advance to associates and joint ventures (55,243) (91,918)
e — 1 Bt/ 2 ) i 3 2 Repayment received from an associates 66,712 26,556
Eva el %“/ (B ) Bl 455 Net cash generate from/(used in) investing
activities 206,956 (408,522)

144 20 R b B 4 B A il GOLDEN WHEEL TIANDI HOLDINGS COMPANY LIMITED



HE-AL 4+ ZH=1T—H1

HERBEemER
Consolidated Cash Flows Statement

I For the year ended 31 December 2021

(LA RIS 7R ) (Expressed in Renminbi)

TR —FFE
2021 2020
Wit &E AR T ANRWTT
Note RMB’000 RMB000
il 35 ) Financing activities
A R /A GIE-%:¢ Advance from associates and joint ventures 67,286 53,584
I B A B R AR SRR K Repayment to associates and joint ventures (111,767) (31,000)
BT P 5 B Proceeds from issue of senior notes 521,052 2,561,986
ST EEAT B e SRR R AL B S Payment of expense attributable to issue of
senior notes (11,930) (34,006)
HERAT B 3 3 Proceeds from new bank loans 1,101,854 468,748
B ERAT B Repayments of bank loans (1,647,483) (1,274,181)
L Am; %m?ﬁf{ Repurchase of senior notes (61,518) (1,790,411)
IR R R A S Repayment of principal of senior notes (892,099) -
& A FLE Interest paid (533,578) (476,418)
SCAT A mRE 2 AR 2 R Dividends paid to equity shareholders of the
Company = (26,313)
(BRHR) /fF AL ERAT B FCRL4H 1Y (Withdraw)/placement of deposits pledged for
173K bank loans (113,909) 273,402
EALN=E=g el Purchase of own shares (1,537) -
JEVE R R T A Capital injection from non-controlling
shareholders — 64,000
B EHSEART S Capital element of lease rentals paid (31,079) (22,008)
B A B L 4 R B Ay Interest element of lease rentals paid (14,840) (16,530)
Al 5 B BT R B 4 Net cash used in financing activities (1,729,548) (249,147)
& RBEEEM A FHE Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (499,172) (121,043)
R—H—HWEEEREESEEY Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January 849,120 979,208
A1 R B 2% 5 ) 5 28 Effect of foreign exchanges rates changes (3,038) (9,045)
WTFZAZT—HWE &K Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December
Be%H 24(a) 346,910 849,120

55146 7 290 LA B RE A% 1% 55 T8 HOR I — 3

A

The notes on pages 146 to 290 form part of these financial statements.
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(a)

GENERAL

Golden Wheel Tiandi Holdings Company Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated as an exempted Company with limited liability in the Cayman
Islands on 26 April 2012 and its shares are listed on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Hong Kong Stock Exchange”) with effect from
16 January 2013.

The Company is an investment holding company. The Company and
its subsidiaries (hereinafter collectively referred to as the “Group”) are
principally engaged in the property development, property leasing and hotel

operation.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Statement of compliance

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with all
applicable International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”), which
collective term includes all applicable individual International Financial
Reporting Standards, International Accounting Standards (“IASs”) and
Interpretations issued by the International Accounting Standards Board
(“IASB”). These financial statements also comply with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and the applicable
disclosure provisions of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. Significant accounting policies

adopted by the Group are disclosed below.

The IASB has issued certain new and revised IFRSs that are first effective or
available for early adoption for the current accounting period of the Group.
Note 2(c) provides information on any changes in accounting policies
resulting from initial application of these developments to the extent that
they are relevant to the Group for the current and prior accounting periods

reflected in these financial statements.
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(b)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Basis of preparation of the financial statements
The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2021

comprise the Group and the Group’s interest in associates and joint ventures.

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the financial statements is

the historical cost basis except as set out in the accounting policies hereunder.

Non-current assets and disposal groups held for sale are stated at the lower of

carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell (see note 2(y)).

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRSs requires
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the
application of policies and reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and
expenses. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical
experience and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable
under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis of making the
judgements about carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily

apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis.
Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the
estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of
the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future

periods.
Judgements made by management in the application of IFRSs that have

significant effect on the financial statements and major sources of estimation

uncertainty are discussed in note 3.
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(b)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Basis of preparation of the financial statements (Continued)

Materiality uncertainty related to going concern

The Group incurred a net loss of RMB1,987 million for the year ended 31
December 2021 and recorded net current liabilities of RMB1,315 million
as at 31 December 2021. Included in the current liabilities were loans and
borrowings of RMB1,726 million and senior notes of RMB2,814 million.

The Group is aware of recent macroeconomic conditions which have potential
implications on the business of the Group in the near to medium term. This
includes the tightened policies adopted by the local Chinese governments
towards the real estate sector and deteriorating consumer sentiment in China
resulting in the whole real estate sector suffering from short-term liquidity

pressures.

The recent macroeconomic conditions and the volatility in China real estate
industry since the second half of 2021 has brought additional uncertainly to
the Group. It may also be more challenging for the Group to refinance loans
than it has historically been. The Group may be unable to repay the loans and
borrowings and senior notes in full when they fall due unless the Group is
able to generate sufficient cash inflows from its future operations or disposal
of the Group’s assets at a reasonable price in an appropriate timeframe and to
renew or refinance the banking facilities and senior notes upon maturity. All
these facts and circumstances indicate the existence of a material uncertainty
which may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a

going concern.

In view of these circumstances, the directors of the Company have given
consideration to the future liquidity of the Group and its available sources of
finance in assessing whether the Group will have sufficient financial resources
to continue as a going concern. The directors have reviewed the Group’s cash
flow projections prepared by management, which covers a period of at least
12 months from 31 December 2021. Certain plans and measures have been
taken to mitigate the liquidity pressures and to improve its financial position

which include, but not limited to, the following:
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Basis of preparation of the financial statements (Continued)

Materiality uncertainty related to going concern (Continued)

©)

As at 31 December 2021, the Company has senior notes with carrying
amount of US$178 million (equivalent to RMB1,132 million) with
maturity date on 9 January 2023 (the “Notes”). Each holder of the
Notes has the right, at such holder’s option, to require the Company
to repurchase for cash all of such holder’s Notes on 10 January 2022.
The Company also has senior notes with carrying amount of US$267
million (equivalent to RMB1,682 million) with maturity date on
14 March 2022 and 11 July 2023. Up to date of the approval of the
consolidated financial statements, no senior notes holders exercise their
rights. The Group announced a proposed restructuring of the existing
senior notes through a scheme of arrangement in the Cayman Islands
(the “Cayman Scheme”). Existing senior note holders representing
more than 85% of the aggregate outstanding principal amount of all
three series of the senior notes and more than 80% of the aggregate
principal amount of each series of the senior notes have duly executed,
or have duly acceded to, restructuring support agreement. The Scheme
will then be subject to the approval of the Grand Court of the Cayman
Islands on 4 April 2022. If the Cayman Scheme is approved by the
Group Court of the Cayman Islands, the existing senior notes will
be replaced by New Notes that have maturity date for 3 years with
mandatory redemption by instalment repayment after the restructuring
effective date (“RED”) (see note 29). The Company intends to dispose
of certain onshore properties in the next three years in order to assist
the Group with meeting the various repayment obligations under the

New Notes.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Basis of preparation of the financial statements (Continued)
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Materiality uncertainty related to going concern (Continued)

©)

(Continued)

The New Notes will mature on April 2025 and the interest rate of
the New Notes is 10%. The Issue Amount of the New Notes is the
total outstanding principal amount of the existing Notes and their
accrued and unpaid interest up to but excluding the RED (noting
that this would be US$493 million on the basis that the expected
RED is 31 March 2022). The New Notes repayment details are as
follows: 5% of the Issue Amount plus accrued but unpaid interest up
to but excluding the relevant payment date shall be repaid by the date
falling 90 days after the RED. 5% of the Issue Amount on or before
date falling 9 months after issue date. 15% of the Issue Amount on
or before date falling 15 months after issue date.10% of the Issue
Amount on or before date falling 21 months after issue date.10% of
the Issue Amount on or before date falling 27 months after issue date.
Any remaining outstanding principal amount of the New Notes shall
be redeemed in full on or before the New Notes Maturity Date. The

interest will be paid semi-annually.
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G EE RSP 3 LAN BT 7 ) (Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(b)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Basis of preparation of the financial statements (Continued)

Materiality uncertainty related to going concern (Continued)

(i1)  Included in the current bank loans were bank loans of RMB276
million which had original scheduled payment date after twelve
months period since 31 December 2021. As at 31 December 2021,
the Group breached certain covenants of these loans and therefore
these loans became repayable on demand. These loans and borrowing
are secured by the Group’s assets. Management is actively negotiating
with these banks not to exercise the repayable on demand clause and
the Group can repay the loans and borrowing based on the original
payment schedule. Management is also negotiating with the banks and
borrowers for renewal of existing bank facilities, as well as discussing
with various parties (including but not limited to banks and financial
institutions) to secure additional sources of financing for the Group.
No commitment or agreement had been reached as of the date of

approval of these annual financial statements date yet.

As at 31 December 2021, the Group has contract liabilities amounted to
RMB2,371 million. The amounts to be received from the contract sales
amounted to RMB509 million. Based on the management estimation, four
property development projects are expected to complete in the twelve months
ending 31 December 2022 and the Group can release part of the contract

liabilities and receive additional cash from the property buyers.

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had cash and cash equivalents and
restricted bank deposits amounting to RMB347 million and RMB868
million, respectively. The Group also had investment property, completed
properties for sale and properties under development for sale of RMB4,326
million, RMB1,894 million and RMB4,149 million, respectively.
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(b)

(c)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Basis of preparation of the financial statements (Continued)

Materiality uncertainty related to going concern (Continued)

The Group will continue its efforts to recover from the volatility in China real
estate industry, and expedite sales of properties and investment properties,
and collection of receivables, while maintaining more stringent cost control
measure and containment of discretionary capital expenditures. The plans
and measures as described above incorporate assumptions about future events
and conditions. If the above plans and measures are successful, the Group will
be able to generate sufficient financing and operating cash flows to meet its
liquidity requirements for at least the next twelve months from the end of the
reporting period. Based on the directors’ intentions and the cash flow forecast
mentioned above, the directors are of the opinion that it is appropriate to
prepare the Group’s financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2021 on a going concern basis. Should the Group not be able to continue
to operate as a going concern, adjustments would have to be made to write
down the value of assets to their recoverable amounts, to provide for further
liabilities which might arise and to reclassify non-current assets and non-
current liabilities as current assets and current liabilities respectively. The
effect of these adjustments has not been reflected in these annual financial

statements.

Changes in accounting policies
The Group has applied the following amendments to IFRSs issued by the

IASB to these financial statements for the current accounting period:

. Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39, IFRS 7, IFRS 4 and IFRS 16, Interest

rate benchmark reform — phase 2

. Amendment to IFRS 16, Covid-19-related rent concessions beyond 30
June 2021

None of these developments had a material effect on how the Group’s results
and financial position for the current or prior years have been prepared
or presented in this financial report. The Group has not applied any new
standard or interpretation that is not yet effective for the current accounting

year.
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(d)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The Group controls
an entity when it is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns
through its power over the entity. When assessing whether the Group has
power, only substantive rights (held by the Group and other parties) are

considered.

An investment in a subsidiary is consolidated into the consolidated financial
statements from the date that control commences until the date that control
ceases. Intra-group balances, transactions and cash flows and any unrealised
profits arising from intra-group transactions are eliminated in full in
preparing the consolidated financial statements. Unrealised losses resulting
from intra-group transactions are eliminated in the same way as unrealised

gains but only to the extent that there is no evidence of impairment.

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in a subsidiary not attributable
directly or indirectly to the Company, and in respect of which the Group has
not agreed any additional terms with the holders of those interests which
would result in the Group as a whole having a contractual obligation in
respect of those interests that meets the definition of a financial liability.
For each business combination, the Group can elect to measure any non-
controlling interests either at fair value or at the non-controlling interests’

proportionate share of the subsidiary’s net identifiable assets.

Non-controlling interests are presented in the consolidated statement of
financial position within equity, separately from equity attributable to the
equity shareholders of the Company. Non-controlling interests in the results
of the Group are presented on the face of the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income as an allocation of the total profit or
loss and total comprehensive income for the year between non-controlling
interests and the equity shareholders of the Company. Loans from holders
of non-controlling interests and other contractual obligations towards these
holders are presented as financial liabilities in the consolidated statement
of financial position in accordance with note 2(q) or 2(r) depending on the

nature of the liability.
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(d)

(e)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests (Continued)

Changes in the Group’s interests in a subsidiary that do not result in a loss
of control are accounted for as equity transactions, whereby adjustments
are made to the amounts of controlling and non-controlling interests
within consolidated equity to reflect the change in relative interests, but no

adjustments are made to goodwill and no gain or loss is recognised.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it is accounted for as a disposal
of the entire interest in that subsidiary, with a resulting gain or loss being
recognised in profit or loss. Any interest retained in that former subsidiary
at the date when control is lost is recognised at fair value and this amount is
regarded as the fair value on initial recognition of a financial asset (see note
2(g)) or, when appropriate, the cost on initial recognition of an investment in

an associate or joint venture (see note 2(e)).

In the Company’s statement of financial position, an investment in a
subsidiary is stated at cost less impairment losses (see note 2(k)), unless the
investment is classified as held for sale (or included in a disposal group that is
classified as held for sale).

Associates and joint ventures
An associate is an entity in which the Group or company has significant
influence, but not control or joint control, over its management, including

participation in the financial and operating policy decisions.

A joint venture is an arrangement whereby the Group or company and other
parties contractually agree to share control of the arrangement and have rights

to the net assets of the arrangement.

20 R b B 4 B A il GOLDEN WHEEL TIANDI HOLDINGS COMPANY LIMITED



fo B S R A

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

(BR AR R S LN R 1551 ) (Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

R BOR ()

i E R B AR ()

BN A B ENIE TR
AL A MBIRE > (BB BA HE ()
CRIADBARABEN R EHS) Mk
EERAD o RIEHERR IS > A BBE LAY
e AMR > SIf gt As A [ i i BB A e A
A E AT S (R (R A A
A BB () 1E 90 o BB RA 4%
B A~ B DR WA B 1 LA R
AR5 Dh RS A A A R 4 R — A
BE A REECENTMELRE - 1L
> AR S BTG A R (A
Wi B 1 5 T L B 5 A A A A £ 3k
ERG TR AR (BB 5E 20k)Gii) o F Ui
IR 38 B A AT AT O A 42 4R TR BT A
A D O 1 15 2 A B AT AT sk {E
B TR A A TR AR R P RERR o T A 42 [ BT A
BB A R i 1 B 1% HL At & v o 4 T
H A4 A 18 o B At 22 T £ 38 PP AERR. o

EALEMEILEEARSNAESEEHER
IR A A A s S ENRER R A
EH PGSR EZ > I AR
SR o M A SR 1A E M E R
g AR A A A SRR BR A1 o ke T
B o FEAS BUE R RAE E HAt
BRI 2% (s ) > A58 [k HE
0 I ARE 4 R A RE AR &8 AR
HHE A EEEREARSEE S
BOE W —r  R IR A e (RMEE
2(k)(1)) e

AL B B AT R BB R MRS
P R B BLR 4R - SR AR B B
B F A AR HL AR ¢ (H A R B
AR R Y L O B R U BB AE
1848 R

WA A Al I BUE B B AR e
BB BN G A SE R BUE 5 R T A
MBCE > M HE TR R R B AR - e
AR E R AR -

(e)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Associates and joint ventures (Continued)

An investment in an associate or a joint venture is accounted for in the
consolidated financial statements under the equity method, unless it is
classified as held for sale (or included in a disposal group that is classified as
held for sale). Under the equity method, the investment is initially recorded
at cost, adjusted for any excess of the Group’s share of the acquisition-date fair
values of the investee’s identifiable net assets over the cost of the investment (if
any). The cost of the investment includes purchase price, other costs directly
attributable to the acquisition of the investment, and any direct investment
into the associate or joint venture that forms part of the Group’s equity
investment. Thereafter, the investment is adjusted for the post acquisition
change in the Group’s share of the investee’s net assets and any impairment
loss relating to the investment (see note 2(k)(iii)). Any acquisition-date
excess over cost, the Group’s share of the post-acquisition, post-tax results
of the investees and any impairment losses for the year are recognised in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss, whereas the Group’s share of
the post-acquisition post-tax items of the investees’ other comprehensive
income is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other

comprehensive income.

When the Group’s share of losses exceeds its interest in the associate or the
joint venture, the Group’s interest is reduced to nil and recognition of further
losses is discontinued except to the extent that the Group has incurred legal
or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of the investee. For
this purpose, the Group’s interest is the carrying amount of the investment
under the equity method, together with any other long-term interests that
in substance form part of the Group’s net investment in the associate or the
joint venture (after applying the ECL model to such other long-term interests

where applicable (see note 2(k)(1)).

Unrealised profits and losses resulting from transactions between the Group
and its associates and joint venture are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s
interest in the investee, except where unrealised losses provide evidence of
an impairment of the asset transferred, in which case they are recognised

immediately in profit or loss.
If an investment in an associate becomes an investment in a joint venture or

vice versa, the retained interest is not remeasured. Instead, the investment

continues to be accounted for under the equity method.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Associates and joint ventures (Continued)

In all other cases, when the Group ceases to have significant influence over an
associate or joint control over a joint venture, it is accounted for as a disposal
of the entire interest in that investee, with a resulting gain or loss being
recognised in profit or loss. Any interest retained in that former investee at
the date when significant influence or joint control is lost is recognised at fair
value and this amount is regarded as the fair value on initial recognition of a

financial asset (see note 2(g)).

Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of

(i) the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration transferred, the
amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree and the fair
value of the Group’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree;

over

(i)  the net fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable assets and liabilities

measured as at the acquisition date.

When (ii) is greater than (i), then this excess is recognised immediately in

profit or loss as a gain on a bargain purchase.

Goodwill is stated at cost less accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill
arising on a business combination is allocated to each cash-generating unit, or
groups of cash generating units, that is expected to benefit from the synergies

of the combination and is tested annually for impairment (see note 2(k)).

On disposal of a cash generating unit during the year, any attributable
amount of purchased goodwill is included in the calculation of the profit or

loss on disposal.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Other investments in debt and equity securities

The Group’s policies for investments in debt and equity securities, other than

investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures, are set out below.

Investments in debt and equity securities are recognised/derecognised on the
date the Group commits to purchase/sell the investment. The investments are
initially stated at fair value plus directly attributable transaction costs, except
for those investments measured at fair value through profit or loss (FVPL)
for which transaction costs are recognised directly in profit or loss. For an
explanation of how the Group determines fair value of financial instruments,
see note 33. These investments are subsequently accounted for as follows,

depending on their classification.

Investments other than equity investments
Non-equity investments held by the Group are classified into one of the

following measurement categories:

- amortised cost, if the investment is held for the collection of
contractual cash flows which represent solely payments of principal
and interest. Interest income from the investment is calculated using

the effective interest method (see note 2(v)(v)).

- fair value through other comprehensive income (“FVOCI”) —
recycling, if the contractual cash flows of the investment comprise
solely payments of principal and interest and the investment is held
within a business model whose objective is achieved by both the
collection of contractual cash flows and sale. Changes in fair value are
recognised in other comprehensive income, except for the recognition
in profit or loss of expected credit losses, interest income (calculated
using the effective interest method) and foreign exchange gains and
losses. When the investment is derecognised, the amount accumulated
in other comprehensive income is recycled from equity to profit or

loss.

- fair value at profit or loss (FVPL) if the investment does not meet the
criteria for being measured at amortised cost or FVOCI (recycling).
Changes in the fair value of the investment (including interest) are

recognised in profit or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Other investments in debt and equity securities (Continued)

Equity investments

An investment in equity securities is classified as FVPL unless the equity
investment is not held for trading purposes and on initial recognition of
the investment the Group makes an irrevocable election to designate the
investment at FVOCI (non-recycling) such that subsequent changes in fair
value are recognised in other comprehensive income. Such elections are
made on an instrument-by-instrument basis but may only be made if the
investment meets the definition of equity from the issuer’s perspective. Where
such an election is made, the amount accumulated in other comprehensive
income remains in the fair value reserve (non-recycling) until the investment
is disposed of. At the time of disposal, the amount accumulated in the fair
value reserve (non-recycling) is transferred to retained earnings. It is not
recycled through profit or loss. Dividends from an investment in equity
securities, irrespective of whether classified as at FVPL or FVOCI, are
recognised in profit or loss as other income in accordance with the policy set

out in note 2(v)(iv).

Investment properties

Investment properties are land and/or buildings which are owned or held
under a leasehold interest (see note 2(j)) to earn rental income and/or for
capital appreciation. These include land held for a currently undetermined
future use and property that is being constructed or developed for future use

as investment property.

Investment properties are stated at fair value, unless they are still in the
course of construction or development at the end of the reporting period
and their fair value cannot be reliably measured at that time. Any gain or
loss arising from a change in fair value or from the retirement or disposal of
an investment property is recognised in profit or loss. Rental income from

investment properties is accounted for as described in note 2(v)(iii).

In the comparative period, when the Group held a property interest under
an operating lease and used the property to earn rental income and/or for
capital appreciation, the Group could elect on a property-by-property basis
to classify and account for such interest as an investment property. Any such
property interest which had been classified as an investment property was
accounted for as if it were held under a finance lease (see note 2(j)), and the
same accounting policies were applied to that interest as were applied to
other investment properties leased under finance leases. Lease payments were

accounted for as described in note 2(j).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

RN AR LA RS ) (Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated

depreciation and impairment losses (see note 2(k)):

The cost of self-constructed items of property, plant and equipment includes
the cost of materials, direct labour, the initial estimate, where relevant, of the
costs of dismantling and removing the items and restoring the site on which
they are located, and an appropriate proportion of production overheads and

borrowing costs (see note 2(x)).

Gains or losses arising from the retirement or disposal of an item of property,
plant and equipment are determined as the difference between the net
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the item and are recognised in
profit or loss on the date of retirement or disposal. Any related revaluation
surplus is transferred from the revaluation reserve to retained profits and is

not reclassified to profit or loss.

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of items of property, plant and
equipment, less their estimated residual value, if any, using the straight-line

method over their estimated useful lives as follows:

- Leasehold land and hotel property 20-50 years
- Land and buildings held for own use 20-306 years
- Motor vehicles 4-10 years
- Computers and office equipment 3 years

- Leasehold improvements over the lease period or 5 years,

whichever is shorter
Right-of-use assets are depreciated over the unexpired term of lease.
Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different
useful lives, the cost or valuation of the item is allocated on a reasonable basis

between the parts and each part is depreciated separately. Both the useful life

of an asset and its residual value, if any, are reviewed annually.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Leased assets

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether the contract is, or
contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the
right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange
for consideration. Control is conveyed where the customer has both the right
to direct the use of the identified asset and to obtain substantially all of the

economic benefits from that use.

As a lessee

Where the contract contains lease component(s) and non-lease component(s),
the Group has elected not to separate non-lease components and accounts for
each lease component and any associated non-lease components as a single

lease component for all leases.

At the lease commencement date, the Group recognises a right-of-use asset
and a lease liability, except for short-term leases that have a lease term of
12 months or less and leases of low-value assets which, for the Group are
primarily laptops and office furniture. When the Group enters into a lease
in respect of a low-value asset, the Group decides whether to capitalise the
lease on a lease-by-lease basis. The lease payments associated with those leases
which are not capitalised are recognised as an expense on a systematic basis

over the lease term.

Where the lease is capitalised, the lease liability is initially recognised at the
present value of the lease payments payable over the lease term, discounted
using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot be readily
determined, using a relevant incremental borrowing rate. After initial
recognition, the lease liability is measured at amortised cost and interest
expense is calculated using the effective interest method. Variable lease
payments that do not depend on an index or rate are not included in the
measurement of the lease liability and hence are charged to profit or loss in

the accounting period in which they are incurred.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Leased assets (Continued)

As a lessee (Continued)

The right-of-use asset recognised when a lease is capitalised is initially
measured at cost, which comprises the initial amount of the lease liability plus
any lease payments made at or before the commencement date, and any initial
direct costs incurred. Where applicable, the cost of the right-of-use assets also
includes an estimate of costs to dismantle and remove the underlying asset or
to restore the underlying asset or the site on which it is located, discounted to
their present value, less any lease incentives received. The right-of-use asset
is subsequently stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment
losses (see notes 2(i) and 2(k)(ii)), except for the following types of right-of-

use asset:

- right-of-use assets that meet the definition of investment property are

carried at fair value in accordance with note 2(h).

The initial fair value of refundable rental deposits is accounted for separately
from the right of use assets in accordance with the accounting policy
applicable to investments in debt securities carried at amortised cost (see
notes 2(g)(i), 2(v)(v) and 2(k)(i)). Any difference between the initial fair value
and the nominal value of the deposits is accounted for as additional lease

payments made and is included in the cost of right-of-use assets.

The lease liability is remeasured when there is a change in future lease
payments arising from a change in an index or rate, or there is a change in
the Group’s estimate of the amount expected to be payable under a residual
value guarantee, or there is a change arising from the reassessment of whether
the Group will be reasonably certain to exercise a purchase, extension or
termination option. When the lease liability is remeasured in this way, a
corresponding adjustment is made to the carrying amount of the right-of-use
asset, or is recorded in profit or loss if the carrying amount of the right-of-use

asset has been reduced to zero.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Leased assets (Continued)

As a lessee (Continued)

The lease liability is also remeasured when there is a change in the scope of a
lease or the consideration for a lease that is not originally provided for in the
lease contract (“lease modification”) that is not accounted for as a separate
lease. In this case the lease liability is remeasured based on the revised lease
payments and lease term using a revised discount rate at the effective date of
the modification. The only exceptions are rent concessions that occurred as a
direct consequence of the COVID-19 pandemic and met the conditions set
out in paragraph 46B of HKFRS 16 Leases. In such cases, the group has taken
advantage of the practical expedient not to assess whether the rent concessions
are lease modifications, and recognised the change in consideration as
negative variable lease payments in profit or loss in the period in which the

event or condition that triggers the rent concessions occurred.

The Group presents right-of-use assets that do not meet the definition of
investment property in ‘property, plant and equipment’ and presents lease

liabilities separately in the consolidated statement of financial position.

In the consolidated statement of financial position, the current portion of
long-term lease liabilities is determined as the present value of contractual
payments that are due to be settled within twelve months after the reporting

period.

As a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it determines at lease inception whether
each lease is a finance lease or an operating lease. A lease is classified as a
finance lease if it transfers substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to
the ownership of an underlying assets to the lessee. If this is not the case, the

lease is classified as an operating lease.

When a contract contains lease and non-lease components, the Group
allocates the consideration in the contract to each component on a relative
stand-alone selling price basis. The rental income from operating leases is

recognised in accordance with note 2(v)(iii).

When the Group is an intermediate lessor, the sub-leases are classified as a
finance lease or as an operating lease with reference to the right-of-use asset
arising from the head lease. If the head lease is a short-term lease to which
the Group applies the exemption described in note 2(j)(i), then the Group

classifies the sub-lease as an operating lease.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Credit losses and impairment of assets

Credit losses from financial instruments, contract assets and lease
receivables
The Group recognises a loss allowance for expected credit losses (ECLs) on the

following items:

- financial assets measured at amortised cost (including cash and cash
equivalents, trade and other receivables, including loans to associates
and joint ventures, which are held for the collection of contractual cash

flows which represent solely payments of principal);

- contract assets as defined in IFRS 15 (see note 2(n));

- debt securities measured at FVOCI (recycling); and

- lease receivables.

Other financial assets measured at fair value, including funds, equity
securities measured at FVPL, and structured bank deposits, are not subject to

the ECL assessment.

Measurement of ECLs

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses. Credit losses are
measured as the present value of all expected cash shortfalls (i.e. the difference
between the cash flows due to the Group in accordance with the contract and

the cash flows that the Group expects to receive).

The expected cash shortfalls are discounted using the following discount rates

where the effect of discounting is material:

- fixed-rate financial assets, trade and other receivables and contract
assets: effective interest rate determined at initial recognition or an
approximation thereof;

- variable-rate financial assets: current effective interest rate;

- lease receivables: discount rate used in the measurement of the lease

receivable.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

Credit losses from financial instruments, contract assets and lease
receivables (Continued)

Measurement of ECLs (Continued)

The maximum period considered when estimating ECLs is the maximum

contractual period over which the Group is exposed to credit risk.

In measuring ECLs, the Group takes into account reasonable and supportable
information that is available without undue cost or effort. This includes
information about past events, current conditions and forecasts of future

economic conditions.

ECLs are measured on either of the following bases:

- 12-month ECLs: these are losses that are expected to result from
possible default events within the 12 months after the reporting date;

and

- lifetime ECLs: these are losses that are expected to result from all
possible default events over the expected lives of the items to which

the ECL model applies.

Loss allowances for trade and other receivables, lease receivables and contract
assets are always measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs. ECLs on
these financial assets are estimated using a provision matrix based on the
Group’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are specific
to the debtors and an assessment of both the current and forecast general

economic conditions at the reporting date.

For all other financial instruments, the Group recognises a loss allowance
equal to 12-month ECLs unless there has been a significant increase in credit
risk of the financial instrument since initial recognition, in which case the

loss allowance is measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

Credit losses from financial instruments, contract assets and lease
receivables (Continued)

Significant increases in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk of a financial instrument has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group compares the risk of default
occurring on the financial instrument assessed at the reporting date with
that assessed at the date of initial recognition. In making this reassessment,
the Group considers that a default event occurs when (i) the borrower is
unlikely to pay its credit obligations to the Group in full, without recourse
by the Group to actions such as realising security (if any is held); or (ii) the
financial asset is 90 days past due. The Group considers both quantitative
and qualitative information that is reasonable and supportable, including
historical experience and forward-looking information that is available

without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into account when assessing

whether credit risk has increased significantly since initial recognition:

- failure to make payments of principal or interest on their contractually

due dates;

- an actual or expected significant deterioration in a financial

instrument’s external or internal credit rating (if available);

- an actual or expected significant deterioration in the operating results

of the debtor; and

- existing or forecast changes in the technological, market, economic or
legal environment that have a significant adverse effect on the debtor’s

ability to meet its obligation to the Group.

Depending on the nature of the financial instruments, the assessment of a
significant increase in credit risk is performed on either an individual basis or
a collective basis. When the assessment is performed on a collective basis, the
financial instruments are grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics,

such as past due status and credit risk ratings.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

Credit losses from financial instruments, contract assets and lease
receivables (Continued)

Significant increases in credit risk (Continued)

ECLs are remeasured at each reporting date to reflect changes in the financial
instrument’s credit risk since initial recognition. Any change in the ECL
amount is recognised as an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss. The
Group recognises an impairment gain or loss for all financial instruments
with a corresponding adjustment to their carrying amount through a loss
allowance account, except for investments in debt securities that are measured
at FVOCI (recycling), for which the loss allowance is recognised in other

comprehensive income and accumulated in the fair value reserve (recycling).

Basis of calculation of interest income

Interest income recognised in accordance with note 2(v)(v) is calculated
based on the gross carrying amount of the financial asset unless the financial
asset is credit-impaired, in which case interest income is calculated based on
the amortised cost (i.e. the gross carrying amount less loss allowance) of the

financial asset.

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether a financial asset is credit-
impaired. A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events that
have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial

asset have occurred.

Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes the following

observable events:
- significant financial difficulties of the debtor;
- a breach of contract, such as a default or past due event;

- it becoming probable that the borrower will enter into bankruptcy or

other financial reorganisation;,
- significant changes in the technological, market, economic or legal

environment that have an adverse effect on the debtor; or

- the disappearance of an active market for a security because of financial

difficulties of the issuer.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

Credit losses from financial instruments, contract assets and lease
receivables (Continued)

Werite-oft policy

The gross catrying amount of a financial asset, lease receivable or contract
asset is written off (either partially or in full) to the extent that there is no
realistic prospect of recovery. This is generally the case when the Group
determines that the debtor does not have assets or sources of income that
could generate sufficient cash flows to repay the amounts subject to the write-

off.

Subsequent recoveries of an asset that was previously written off are
recognised as a reversal of impairment in profit or loss in the period in which

the recovery occurs.

Credit losses from financial guarantees issued

Financial guarantees are contracts that require the issuer (i.e. the guarantor)
to make specified payments to reimburse the beneficiary of the guarantee (the
“holder”) for a loss the holder incurs because a specified debtor fails to make

payment when due in accordance with the terms of a debt instrument.

For financial guarantee contracts, the date that the Group becomes a party to
the irrevocable commitment is considered to be the date of initial recognition
for the purposes of assessing the financial instrument for impairment. In
assessing whether there has been a significant increase in the credit risk since
initial recognition of a financial guarantee contract, the Group considers the

changes in the risk that the specified debtor will default on the contract.

For a financial guarantee contract, the Group is required to make payments
only in the event of a default by the debtor in accordance with the terms of
the instrument that is guaranteed. Accordingly, the expected losses is the
present value of the expected payments to reimburse the holder for a credit
loss that it incurs less any amounts that the Group expects to receive from the

holder, the debtor or any other party.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

Credit losses from financial guarantees issued (Continued)

For ECL on financial guarantee contracts for which the effective interest rate
cannot be determined, the Group will apply a discount rate that reflects the
current market assessment of the time value of money and the risks that are
specific to the cash flows but only if, and to the extent that, the risks are
taken into account by adjusting the discount rate instead of adjusting the

cash shortfalls being discounted.

To determine ECLs, the Group considers changes in the risk of default of
the specified debtor since the issuance of the guarantee. A 12-month ECL is
measured unless the risk that the specified debtor will default has increased
significantly since the guarantee is issued, in which case a lifetime ECL
is measured. The same definition of default and the same assessment of

significant increase in credit risk as described in note 2(k)(i) apply.

As the Group is required to make payments only in the event of a default
by the specified debtor in accordance with the terms of the instrument
that is guaranteed, an ECL is estimated based on the expected payments
to reimburse the holder for a credit loss that it incurs less any amount that
the Group expects to receive from the holder of the guarantee, the specified

debtor or any other party.

Impairment of other non-current assets

Internal and external sources of information are reviewed at the end of each
reporting period to identify indications that the following assets may be
impaired or, except in the case of goodwill, an impairment loss previously
recognised no longer exists or may have decreased:

- property, plant and equipment, including right-of-use assets;

- goodwill;

- interests in associates and joint ventures; and

- investments in subsidiaries in the Company’s statement of financial

position.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

Impairment of other non-current assets (Continued)
If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. In
addition, for goodwill, the recoverable amount is estimated annually whether

or not there is any indication of impairment.

Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of an asset is the greater of its fair value less costs of
disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash
flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that
reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset. Where an asset does not generate cash inflows largely
independent of those from other assets, the recoverable amount is determined
for the smallest group of assets that generates cash inflows independently (i.e.

a cash-generating unit).

Recognition of impairment losses

An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss if the carrying amount of an
asset, or the cash-generating unit to which it belongs, exceeds its recoverable
amount. Impairment losses recognised in respect of cash-generating units
are allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to
the cash-generating unit (or group of units) and then, to reduce the carrying
amount of the other assets in the unit (or group of units) on a pro rata basis,
except that the carrying value of an asset will not be reduced below its
individual fair value less costs of disposal (if measurable) or value in use (if

determinable).

Reversals of impairment losses

In respect of assets other than goodwill, an impairment loss is reversed
if there has been a favourable change in the estimates used to determine
the recoverable amount. An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not

reversed.

A reversal of an impairment loss is limited to the asset’s carrying amount that
would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised in prior
years. Reversals of impairment losses are credited to profit or loss in the year

in which the reversals are recognised.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

Interim financial reporting and impairment

Under the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited, the Group is required to prepare an interim financial
report in compliance with IAS 34, Interim financial reporting, in respect of
the first six months of the financial year. At the end of the interim period, the
Group applies the same impairment testing, recognition, and reversal criteria

as it would at the end of the financial year (see notes 2(k)(i) and (ii)).

Impairment losses recognised in an interim period in respect of goodwill
are not reversed in a subsequent period. This is the case even if no loss, or a
smaller loss, would have been recognised had the impairment been assessed

only at the end of the financial year to which the interim period relates.

Property under development for sale

Properties under development for sale, representing leasehold land and
buildings located in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) under
development for future sale in the ordinary course of business, are stated at
the lower of cost and net realizable value. Cost comprises the costs of land
use rights, construction costs, borrowing costs capitalised and other direct
development expenditure. Net realizable value represents the estimated
selling price in the ordinary course of business less estimated costs of
completion and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale. Properties
under development for sale are transferred to completed properties for sale

upon completion of development.

Completed properties for sale

Completed properties for sale are stated at the lower of cost and net realizable
value. Cost comprises the costs of land use rights, construction costs,
borrowing costs capitalised and other direct development expenditure. Net
realizable value represents the estimated selling price in the ordinary course

of business less the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

When a completed property for sale is transferred to property, plant and
equipment as evidenced by commencement of owner-occupation, the carrying

amount of such property is the deemed costs at the date of transfer.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Completed properties for sale (Continued)

When a completed property for sale is transferred to investment property
when there is a change of intention to hold the property to earn rentals or/and
for capital appreciation rather than for sale in the ordinary course of business,
which is evidenced by the inception of an operating lease to another party.
Any difference between the fair value of the property at the date of transfer

and its previous carrying amount is recognized in profit or loss.

Contract assets and contract liabilities

A contract asset is recognised when the Group recognises revenue (see
note 2(v)) before being unconditionally entitled to the consideration under
the payment terms set out in the contract. Contract assets are assessed for
expected credit losses (ECL) in accordance with the policy set out in note 2(k)
(i) and are reclassified to receivables when the right to the consideration has

become unconditional (see note 2(0)).

A contract liability is recognised when the customer pays non-refundable
consideration before the Group recognises the related revenue (see note
2(v)). A contract liability would also be recognised if the Group has an
unconditional right to receive non-refundable consideration before the Group
recognises the related revenue. In such cases, a corresponding receivable

would also be recognised (see note 2(0)).

For a single contract with the customer, either a net contract asset or a net
contract liability is presented. For multiple contracts, contract assets and

contract liabilities of unrelated contracts are not presented on a net basis.

When the contract includes a significant financing component, the contract
balance includes interest accrued under the effective interest method (see note

2(v)).
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Trade and other receivables

A receivable is recognised when the Group has an unconditional right to
receive consideration. A right to receive consideration is unconditional if only
the passage of time is required before payment of that consideration is due.
If revenue has been recognised before the Group has an unconditional right
to receive consideration, the amount is presented as a contract asset (see note

2(n)).

Receivables are stated at amortised cost using the effective interest method

less allowance for credit losses (see note 2(k)(1)).

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on hand, demand
deposits with banks and other financial institutions, and short-term, highly
liquid investments that are readily convertible into known amounts of cash
and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, having
been within three months of maturity at acquisition. Bank overdrafts that
are repayable on demand and form an integral part of the Group’s cash
management are also included as a component of cash and cash equivalents
for the purpose of the consolidated cash flow statement. Cash and cash
equivalents are assessed for expected credit losses (ECL) in accordance with

the policy set out in note 2(k)(i).

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair value. Except for
financial guarantee liabilities measured in accordance with note 2(k)(ii), trade
and other payables are subsequently stated at amortised cost unless the effect

of discounting would be immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost.

Interest-bearing borrowings

Interest-bearing borrowings are measured initially at fair value less transaction
costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, interest-bearing borrowings are
stated at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Interest expense
is recognised in accordance with the Group’s accounting policy for borrowing

costs (see note 2(x)).
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits and contributions to defined
contribution retirement plans

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave, contributions to defined
contribution retirement plans and the cost of non-monetary benefits are
accrued in the year in which the associated services are rendered by employees.
Where payment or settlement is deferred and the effect would be material,

these amounts are stated at their present values.

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (“MPF Scheme”)
for all qualifying employees in Hong Kong under the Mandatory Provident
Fund Scheme Ordinance. The assets of the schemes are held separately
from those of the Group, in funds under the control of trustees. The Group
contributes 5% of relevant payroll costs to the scheme, which contributions is

matched by employees.

The employees of the PRC subsidiaries are members of the state-managed
retirement benefits scheme operated by the PRC government (the “PRC
Scheme”) The PRC subsidiaries are required to contribute specified rate of
the employees’ salaries to the retirement benefits scheme to fund the benefits.
The only obligation of the Group with respect to the retirement benefits

scheme is to make the required contributions under the scheme.

Share-based payments

The fair value of share options granted to employees is recognised as an
employee cost with a corresponding increase in a capital reserve within
equity. The fair value is measured at grant date using the binomial lattice
model, taking into account the terms and conditions upon which the options
were granted. Where the employees have to meet vesting conditions before
becoming unconditionally entitled to the options, the total estimated fair
value of the options is spread over the vesting period, taking into account the

probability that the options will vest.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Employee benefits (Continued)

Share-based payments (Continued)

During the vesting period, the number of share options that is expected
to vest is reviewed. Any resulting adjustment to the cumulative fair value
recognised in prior years is charged/credited to the profit or loss for the year
of the review, unless the original employee expenses qualify for recognition
as an asset, with a corresponding adjustment to the capital reserve. On
vesting date, the amount recognised as an expense is adjusted to reflect the
actual number of options that vest (with a corresponding adjustment to the
capital reserve) except where forfeiture is only due to not achieving vesting
conditions that relate to the market price of the Company’s shares. The equity
amount is recognised in the capital reserve until either the option is exercised
(when it is included in the amount recognised in share capital for the shares

issued) or the option expires (when it is released directly to retained profits).

Income tax

Income tax for the year comprises current tax and movements in deferred tax
assets and liabilities. Current tax and movements in deferred tax assets and
liabilities are recognised in profit or loss except to the extent that they relate
to items recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in
which case the relevant amounts of tax are recognised in other comprehensive

income or directly in equity, respectively.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year,
using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the end of the reporting

period, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from deductible and taxable temporary
differences respectively, being the differences between the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and their tax bases.

Deferred tax assets also arise from unused tax losses and unused tax credits.
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(t)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Income tax (Continued)

Apart from certain limited exceptions, all deferred tax liabilities, and all
deferred tax assets to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits
will be available against which the asset can be utilised, are recognised.
Future taxable profits that may support the recognition of deferred tax assets
arising from deductible temporary differences include those that will arise
from the reversal of existing taxable temporary differences, provided those
differences relate to the same taxation authority and the same taxable entity,
and are expected to reverse either in the same period as the expected reversal
of the deductible temporary difference or in periods into which a tax loss
arising from the deferred tax asset can be carried back or forward. The same
criteria are adopted when determining whether existing taxable temporary
differences support the recognition of deferred tax assets arising from unused
tax losses and credits, that is, those differences are taken into account if they
relate to the same taxation authority and the same taxable entity, and are
expected to reverse in a period, or periods, in which the tax loss or credit can

be utilised.

The limited exceptions to recognition of deferred tax assets and liabilities
are those temporary differences arising from goodwill not deductible
for tax purposes, the initial recognition of assets or liabilities that affect
neither accounting nor taxable profit (provided they are not part of a
business combination), and temporary differences relating to investments in
subsidiaries to the extent that, in the case of taxable differences, the Group
controls the timing of the reversal and it is probable that the differences will
not reverse in the foreseeable future, or in the case of deductible differences,

unless it is probable that they will reverse in the future.

Where investment properties are carried at their fair value in accordance
with the accounting policy set out in note 2(h), the amount of deferred
tax recognised is measured using the tax rates that would apply on sale of
those assets at their carrying value at the reporting date unless the property
is depreciable and is held within a business model whose objective is to
consume substantially all of the economic benefits embodied in the property
over time, rather than through sale. In all other cases, the amount of deferred
tax recognised is measured based on the expected manner of realisation or
settlement of the carrying amount of the assets and liabilities, using tax rates
enacted or substantively enacted at the end of the reporting period. Deferred

tax assets and liabilities are not discounted.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Income tax (Continued)

The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset is reviewed at the end of each
reporting period and is reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable
that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow the related tax benefit
to be utilised. Any such reduction is reversed to the extent that it becomes

probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available.

Additional income taxes that arise from the distribution of dividends are

recognised when the liability to pay the related dividends is recognised.

Current tax balances and deferred tax balances, and movements therein, are
presented separately from each other and are not offset. Current tax assets are
offset against current tax liabilities, and deferred tax assets against deferred
tax liabilities, if the Company or the Group has the legally enforceable right
to set off current tax assets against current tax liabilities and the following

additional conditions are met:

- in the case of current tax assets and liabilities, the Company or the
Group intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and

settle the liability simultaneously; or

- in the case of deferred tax assets and liabilities, if they relate to income

taxes levied by the same taxation authority on either:

- the same taxable entity; or

— different taxable entities, which, in each future period in which
significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets are
expected to be settled or recovered, intend to realise the current
tax assets and settle the current tax liabilities on a net basis or

realise and settle simultaneously.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a legal or constructive
obligation arising as a result of a past event, it is probable that an outflow
of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable
estimate can be made. Where the time value of money is material, provisions
are stated at the present value of the expenditure expected to settle the

obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be
required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably, the obligation is
disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow of
economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations, whose existence will only
be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future
events are also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the probability of

outflow of economic benefits is remote.

Revenue and other income

Income is classified by the Group as revenue when it arises from the sale of
goods, the provision of services or the use by others of the Group’s assets

under leases in the ordinary course of the Group’s business.

Revenue is recognised when control over a product or service is transferred
to the customer, or the lessee has the right to use the asset, at the amount
of promised consideration to which the Group is expected to be entitled,
excluding those amounts collected on behalf of third parties. Revenue

excludes value added tax and is after deduction of any trade discounts.

Further details of the Group’s revenue and other income recognition policies

are as follows:

Sale of properties

Revenue arising from the sale of properties developed for sale in the ordinary
course of business is recognised when the customer obtain the control of
the completed property, which is the point in time when the customer has
the ability to direct the use of the property and obtain substantially all of
the remaining benefits of the property, and the Group has present right
to payment and the collection of the consideration is probable. Deposits
and instalments received on properties sold prior to the date of revenue
recognition are included in the consolidated statement of financial position

under contract liabilities (see note 2(n)).
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Revenue and other income (Continued)

Sale of properties (Continued)

In determining the transaction price, the Group adjusts the promised amount
of consideration for the effects of the time value of money if the timing of
payments agreed (either explicitly or implicitly) provides the customer or the
Group with a significant benefit of financing the transfer of goods or services
to the customer. In those circumstances, the contract contains a significant
financing component. A significant financing component may exist regardless
of whether the promise of financing is explicitly stated in the contract or
implied by the payment terms agreed by the parties to the contract. For
contracts where the period between payment and transfer of the associated
goods or services is less than one year, the Group applies the practical
expedient of not adjusting the transaction price for any significant financing

component.

For advance payments received from customers before the transfer of the
associated goods or services in which the Group adjusts for the promised
amount of consideration for a significant financing component, the Group
applies a discount rate that would be reflected in a separate financing
transaction between the Group and the customer at contract inception. The
relevant interest expenses during the period between the advance payments
were received and the transfer of the associated goods and services are

accounted for on the same basis as other borrowing costs(see note 2(x)).

Hotel service income
Revenue from hotel accommodation and other ancillary service is recognised

when relevant services are provided.

Rental income from operating leases

Rental income receivable under operating leases is recognised in profit or
loss in equal instalments over the periods covered by the lease term, except
where an alternative basis is more representative of the pattern of benefits
to be derived from the use of the leased asset. Lease incentives granted are
recognised in profit or loss as an integral part of the aggregate net lease
payments receivable. Variable lease payments that do not depend on an index
or a rate are recognised as income in the accounting period in which they are

earned.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Revenue and other income (Continued)

Dividends
- Dividend income from unlisted investments is recognised when the

shareholder’s right to receive payment is established.

- Dividend income from listed investments is recognised when the share

price of the investment goes ex-dividend.

Interest income

Interest income is recognised as it accrues under the effective interest method
using the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through
the expected life of the financial asset to the gross carrying amount of the
financial asset. For financial assets measured at amortised cost or FVOCI
(recycling) that are not credit-impaired, the effective interest rate is applied
to the gross carrying amount of the asset. For credit-impaired financial assets,
the effective interest rate is applied to the amortised cost (i.e. gross carrying

amount net of loss allowance) of the asset (see note 2(k)(1)).

Government grants

Government grants are recognised in the statement of financial position
initially when there is reasonable assurance that they will be received and
that the Group will comply with the conditions attaching to them. Grants
that compensate the Group for expenses incurred are recognised as income in
profit or loss on a systematic basis in the same periods in which the expenses
are incurred. Grants that compensate the Group for the cost of an asset are
recognised as deferred income and subsequently recognised in profit or loss

over the useful life of the asset.

Translation of foreign currencies

Foreign currency transactions during the year are translated at the foreign
exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates. Monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the foreign exchange
rates ruling at the end of the reporting period. Exchange gains and losses
are recognised in profit or loss, except those arising from foreign currency
borrowings used to hedge a net investment in a foreign operation which are

recognised in other comprehensive income.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Translation of foreign currencies (Continued)

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured in terms of historical
cost in a foreign currency are translated using the foreign exchange rates
ruling at the transaction dates. The transaction date is the date on which the
Company initially recognises such non-monetary assets or liabilities. Non-
monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies that are
stated at fair value are translated using the foreign exchange rates ruling at

the dates the fair value was measured.

The results of foreign operations are translated into Renminbi (‘RMB”) at the
exchange rates approximating the foreign exchange rates ruling at the dates
of the transactions. Statement of financial position items, including goodwill
arising on consolidation of foreign operations are translated into RMB at
the closing foreign exchange rates at the end of the reporting period. The
resulting exchange differences are recognised in other comprehensive income

and accumulated separately in equity in the exchange reserve.

On disposal of a foreign operation, the cumulative amount of the exchange
differences relating to that foreign operation is reclassified from equity to

profit or loss when the profit or loss on disposal is recognised.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition, construction
or production of an asset which necessarily takes a substantial period of time
to get ready for its intended use or sale are capitalised as part of the cost of
that asset. Other borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they are

incurred.

The capitalisation of borrowing costs as part of the cost of a qualifying asset
commences when expenditure for the asset is being incurred, borrowing costs
are being incurred and activities that are necessary to prepare the asset for
its intended use or sale are in progress. Capitalisation of borrowing costs is
suspended or ceases when substantially all the activities necessary to prepare

the qualifying asset for its intended use or sale are interrupted or complete.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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(y)

(z)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Non-current assets held for sale

A non-current asset (or disposal group) is classified as held for sale if it is
highly probable that its carrying amount will be recovered through a sale
transaction rather than through continuing use and the asset (or disposal
group) is available for sale in its present condition. A disposal group is a
Group of assets to be disposed of together as a group in a single transaction,
and liabilities directly associated with those assets that will be transferred in

the transaction.

When the Group is committed to a sale plan involving loss of control of
a subsidiary, all the assets and liabilities of that subsidiary are classified as
held for sale when the above criteria for classification as held for sale are met,
regardless of whether the Group will retain a non-controlling interest in the

subsidiary after the sale.

Immediately before classification as held for sale, the measurement of the
non-current assets (and all individual assets and liabilities in a disposal group)
is brought up-to-date in accordance with the accounting policies before the
classification. Then, on initial classification as held for sale and until disposal,
the non-current assets (except for certain assets as explained below), or
disposal groups, are recognised at the lower of their carrying amount and fair
value less costs to sell. The principal exceptions to this measurement policy so
far as the financial statements of the Group and the Company are concerned
are deferred tax assets, assets arising from employee benefits, financial assets
(other than investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures) and
investment properties. These assets, even if held for sale, would continue to

be measured in accordance with the policies set out elsewhere in note 2.

Related parties

()

A person, or a close member of that person’s family, is related to the

Group if that person:
(1) has control or joint control over the Group;
(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii)

is a member of the key management personnel of the Group or

the Group’s parent.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Related parties (Continued)

(b)

An entity is related to the Group if any of the following conditions

applies:

(i) The entity and the Group are members of the same group (which
means that each parent, subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is

related to the others).

(ii)  One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or
an associate or joint venture of a member of a group of which

the other entity is a member).

(iii)  Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party.

(iv)  One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other

entity is an associate of the third entity.

(v)  The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit
of employees of either the Group or an entity related to the

Group.

(vi)  The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person

identified in (a).

(vii) A person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over the
entity or is a member of the key management personnel of the

entity (or of a parent of the entity).

(viii) The entity, or any member of a group of which it is a part,
provides key management personnel services to the Group or to

the Group’s parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those family members who may

be expected to influence, or be influenced by, that person in their dealings

with the entity.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment item reported in the
financial statements, are identified from the financial information provided
regularly to the Group’s most senior executive management for the purposes
of allocating resources to, and assessing the performance of, the Group’s

various lines of business and geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated for financial
reporting purposes unless the segments have similar economic characteristics
and are similar in respect of the nature of products and services, the nature
of production processes, the type or class of customers, the methods used
to distribute the products or provide the services, and the nature of the
regulatory environment. Operating segments which are not individually

material may be aggregated if they share a majority of these criteria.

ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT AND ESTIMATES

Critical accounting judgements in applying the Group’s
accounting policies
In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, management has

made the consolidated accounting judgement:

Determining the lease term

As explained in policy note 2(j), the lease liability is initially recognised
at the present value of the lease payments payable over the lease term. In
determining the lease term at the commencement date for leases that include
renewal options exercisable by the group, the group evaluates the likelihood
of exercising the renewal options taking into account all relevant facts and
circumstances that create an economic incentive for the group to exercise the
option, including favourable terms, leasehold improvements undertaken and
the importance of that underlying asset to the group’s operation. The lease
term is reassessed when there is a significant event or significant change in
circumstance that is within the group’s control. Any increase or decrease in
the lease term would affect the amount of lease liabilities and right-of-use

assets recognised in future years.
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(a)

(i)

ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT AND ESTIMATES
(Continued)

Critical accounting judgements in applying the Group’s
accounting policies (Continued)

Deferred taxation on investment properties

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax liabilities arising from investment
properties that are measured using the fair value model, the directors have
reviewed the Group’s investment properties and concluded that, except
certain investment properties which will be recovered through sale, the
Group’s investment properties are held under a business model which
objective is to consume substantially all of the economic benefits embodied
in the investment properties over time. Therefore, the directors determined
deferred taxation in relation to the Group’s certain investment properties
which will be recovered through sale have been measured based on the tax
consequences of recovering the carrying amounts entirely through sale. In
determining that Group’s deferred taxation on investment properties held
under a business model which objective is to consume substantially all of
the economic benefits embodied in the investment properties over time,
the directors have determined the presumption that investment properties

measured using the fair value model are recovered through sale is rebutted.

As a result, the Group has recognised the deferred taxes on changes in fair
value of investment properties. The carrying amount of deferred taxation on

investment properties at 31 December 2021 was RMB911,950,000.
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(b)

()

(i)

ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT AND ESTIMATES
(Continued)

Sources of estimation uncertainty

The followings are the key assumptions concerning the future, and other key
source of estimation uncertainties at the end of the reporting period, that have
a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of

assets and liabilities within the next financial year.

Fair value of investment properties

At the end of the reporting period, investment properties are stated at fair
value based on the valuation performed by the independent professional
valuer. In determining the fair value, the valuer have based on a method of
valuation which involves certain estimates. In relying on the valuation report,
the management has exercised their judgement and is satisfied that the
assumptions used in valuation have reflected the current market conditions.
Changes to these assumptions would result in changes in the fair value of the
investment properties of the Group and the corresponding adjustments to the

amount of fair value gain and loss reported in profit or loss.

Land appreciation tax (“LAT”)

The LAT is levied at progressive rates ranging from 30% to 60% on the
appreciation of land value, being the proceeds of sales of properties less
deductible expenditures including sales charges, borrowing costs and all

property development expenditures.

The Group is subject to LAT in the PRC. The details of implementation have
been announced by the local tax bureau in certain major cities, however, the
Group has not finalised its LAT calculation and payments with the local tax
bureau in those cities in the PRC. Accordingly, significant judgments are
required in determining the amount of land appreciation and its related taxes.
The Group has recognised these liabilities based on the management’s best
estimates according to the understanding of the tax rules. Where the final
tax outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that were initially
recorded, such differences will impact the income tax expenses in the period

in which such determination will be made.
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(iv)

(v)

ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT AND ESTIMATES
(Continued)

Sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Net realizable value of properties under development for sale and
completed properties for sale

Properties under development for sale and completed properties for sale are
stated at the lower of the cost and net realizable value. The net realizable
value of properties under development for sale is determined by reference
to the estimated selling prices less estimated selling expenses and estimated
cost of completion, which are estimated based on the Directors’ best available

information and the prevailing market conditions.

Where there is any decrease in the estimated selling price arising from any
changes to the property market conditions, properties under development
for sale and completed properties for sale may be written down. There is no
write-down of properties under development for sale or completed properties

for sale during both years.

Fair value measurement of financial instruments

Certain of the Group’s financial assets and unquoted equity instruments
are measured at fair values with fair values being determined based on
unobserved inputs using valuation techniques. Judgement and estimation are
required in establishing the relevant valuation techniques and the relevant
inputs thereof. Changes in assumptions relating to these factors could affect
the reported fair values of these instruments. Further details of disclosure of

the fair value measurement are set out in note 33(e).

ECL on financial guarantee
The management estimates the expected credit losses for the financial
guarantee issued. Should the actual outcome differ with the estimation, a

material loss may arise.
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e g B o i Bt 4  REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING
& (a) Revenue
AEBZ FREGHREFHERE Y The principal activities of the Group are property development, property
SERH B DT B AR o e R DR 0 i leasing and hotel operation. In a manner consistent with the way in which
RIS A SR B S AT BUE LB B WRE information is reported internally to the Group’s most senior executive
RHI AR 7 2 AR Rk = A K management for the purposes of resource allocation and performance
AR o A A AR R R RS TR assessment, the Group has identified three operating and reportable segments.
HE— 2B RENE I BT 5 4(b) i Further details regarding the Group’s principal activities are disclosed in note
4(b).
Weas 4 5 (i)  Disaggregation of revenue
TSR R & P B B B R F A Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers by business lines
AR AR and geographical location of customers is as follows:
S S e
2021 2020
ARET T ARWTIT
RMB’000 RMB’000
75 b B Property development 1,512,330 1,144,467
S EiiN= Property leasing 207,159 207,594
TG 2 Hotel operation 63,006 37,058
Wi i 48 7 Total revenue 1,782,495 1,389,119
& P I E 1 Disaggregated by geographical location
of customers
H 12 A b Mainland China 1,769,711 1,387,245
s Hong Kong 12,784 1,874
1,782,495 1,389,119

YU %8 e RR IRF (R HEAT I B P A B0 zs (19 43
FEBE 2 1 B 6 4(b)) ©

7% S T S A B — % 5 A 4 I 1 4
10% U b2 i i o

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers by the timing of

revenue recognition is disclosed in note 4(b)(i).

No single customer of the Group contributed 10% or more to the Group’s

revenue for both years.
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4 Wt By WA ) 4 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued)
(a) [‘K\(J_illi (#%) (a) Revenue (Continued)
i) REEFEF GG FBAEFEZ 15 (ii)  Transaction price allocated to the remaining performance obligation

AR —FEF A=t HOEERT
BHEAT (REM) 285 B I 16 1 i
SR 2 W R

—AER
TR — A EL AR R T A

Within one year

More than one year but not more than two years

for contracts with customers
The transaction price allocated to the remaining performance obligations
(unsatisfied) as at 31 December 2021 and the expected timing of recognising

revenue are as follows:

S Sl
Sales of
properties
ARWFTIT
RMB'000

2,483,081
328,208

2,811,289

(b) A HE
AL B A =R S L -
T2 R TR A0 i o 3R B A ) A SR B B i AT
B ARG B ME R X AEED
EHIPAT = AT o M A fE SR
BN, B W R -

(b)

Segment reporting

The Group manages its businesses by three business lines. In a manner
consistent with the way in which information is reported internally to the
Group’s most senior executive management for the purposes of resource
allocation and performance assessment, the Group has presented the following
three reportable segments. No operating segments have been aggregated to

form the following reportable segments.

FHENE  — HRKEERME Property development —  Development and sale of properties

Y E TN - WEME (BHEHHA Property leasing —  Property leasing (including lease of self-
B R Mg owned properties and sub-lease of rented
) properties)

T I 7 — 5B E Hotel operation —  Hotel operation
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued)

Segment reporting (Continued)

Segment results, assets and liabilities

For the purposes of assessing segment performance and allocating resources
between segments, the Group’s senior executive management monitors the

results, attributable to each reportable segment on the following bases:

Revenue are allocated to the reportable segments with reference to sales
generated by those segments and the expenses incurred by those segments
or which otherwise arise from the depreciation or amortisation of assets
attributable to those segments. Segment revenue all generated from external

customers. There were no inter-segment sales during the reporting year.

Segment profit before tax represent the profit earned by each segment without
changes in fair value of investment properties, other income, expenses, gains
and losses, unallocated head office and corporate expenses, finance costs, share

of results of associates and share of results of joint ventures.
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4  REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued)

(b) Segment reporting (Continued)

(1) Segment results, assets and liabilities (Continued)
Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers by the timing of
revenue recognition, as well as information regarding the Group’s reportable
segments as provided to the Group’s most senior executive management for
the purposes of resource allocation and assessment of segment performance
for the year ended 31 December 2021 and 2020 is set out below. No segment
assets and liabilities are presented as they were not regularly provided to the
chief operating decision maker for the purposes of resource allocation and

performance assessment.

FHERE HESN WkEE it

Property development Property leasing Hotel operation Total
i S SR S S S R S & e s R S < e s e S 2
2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020
ANBHTE ARW T AENTxE ARWTT ARETx ARHTT AREFT ARHTZ
RMBUOO  RMBUOO ~ RMBUOOO  RMBUOO ~ RMBUOO  RMBU00  RMBUOO  RMBUOO

HRERARFAE  Disaggregated by timing of
revenue recognition

Gk Poin i time S0 L1446 - - - - LSRR LE
] Over time - - W9 2075% 63,006 308 20165 24465

RGNS Reportable segment revenue 1,512,330

1,144,467 207,159 207,594 63,006 37,058 1,782,495 1,389,119

RBATRENS  Reportable segment (loss)profit

() /fAl before tax (308,351)

(715,373) 95,961 119,682 (31,559) (7,609) (243,949) 36,700
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4  REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued)

SR (48) (b) Segment reporting (Continued)
A 3R 7 4 i 1R s 19 2 G (ii)  Reconciliations of reportable segment profit or loss
—Eo SRR
2021 2020
A BT ANRET T
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR () R Reportable segment (loss)/profit (243,949) 36,700
BB N TE%H Changes in fair value of investment properties (1,597,661) 91,971
HAmA ~ B~ Wss g R Other income, expenses, gains and losses 17,787 318,124
H 0 T S Fe A w1 B 52 Unallocated head office and corporate expenses (15,235) (40,659)
T A Finance costs (254,759) (233,545)
JREAG 6 4 A ) B e 1R Share of losses of associates (14,772) (46,930)
JRE A 788 > S 1 i Share of profits of joint ventures 28,149 1,105
BrBiAT 42 (B 18) /% Al Consolidated (loss)/profit before taxation (2,080,440) 126,766

H Al 53

w8 IR AR T AR P2 s 2 A

(iff)  Other segment information

segment profit or loss:

Depreciation of property and equipment included in the measurement of

TR “ECERE

2021 2020

AR T ARWT T

RMB’000 RMB000

EINY Property leasing 4,002 4,145
5 Hotel operation 36,247 28,133
Ko i Unallocated 4,417 4,402
At Total 44,666 36,680
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(BR1FEFI 2R 40 2 AN R W51 7 ) (Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

4 Wodm B oy i () 4  REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING (Concinued)
(b) 4rEREE (4g) (b) Segment reporting (Continued)
(iv) HIPEER (iv)  Geographic information
AR E AR B AN % I it B AR 5 H The Group’s revenue from external customers is derived substantially from
A S - T AR B2 B 1 I L 8 e O A its operations in the Mainland China, and non-current assets of the Group are
AL F I A also substantially located in the Mainland China.
AEBZFmEEE e mEE - % The following is an analysis of the Group’s non-current assets other than
BRE ) SR A7 17 3R JIR JE o I S PR L) H other financial assets, restricted bank deposits and deferred tax assets by
7 FRAT ] o 2 AT geographical location of assets:
e S R B
Specified non-current assets
—®o SRR
2021 2020
ARWT T ANRH T
RMB’000 RMB'000
FR R A Mainland China 5,494,228 7,512,575
5,494,228 7,512,575
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
(BR1F I 2 21 2 AN B H$DY 7 ) (Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

5 JLAMOA ~ BSE - W B i 4t 5 OTHER INCOME, EXPENSES, GAINS AND LOSSES
@ FHAKA (a) Other income
e L =T
2021 2020
AR¥F7 ANRBT T
RMB’000 RMB000
AT FF B A Interest income from bank deposits 27,323 31,503
A TR FE A A A T i s 1 Interest income from financial assets measured
SR LS A at FVTOCI — 878
N T ERE AR 25 1 4 /& Dividend income from financial assets measured
B A at FVTPL 1,659 6,267
RELZIEHAZ Compensation income from early termination of 6,063 7,776
A leasing contract
LR A B (B 5E) Government grants (Note) 1,017 869
HAtr Others 3,131 2,699
39,193 49,992
B« 54 A I R OO 42 [ T A B Note:  The amount mainly represented the unconditional subsidies received from the local
JRF 7 S5 J 77 i b ) S 8 TR O By 2 AR governments where the Group entities were located for encouragement of business
GRS development activities in the local areas.
(b) oA 25 % fes 1R (b)  Other gains and losses
e T = 2
2021 2020
ANBRH T NRBT T
RMB’000 RMB'000
FE 5, AL 2t s 46 5% 40 Net foreign exchange gain 110,604 231,650
AT EFABRGH S EE (Loss)/gain on changes in fair value of financial
NS (B1R) g assets measured at FVTPL (74,934) 368
N TFEFFAHGBNSMEREHE  (Loss)/gain on disposal of financial assets at FVTPL
(4H) /A (1,520) 2,956
5 5 T FAh WS E 2 e (E B 1R Impairment losses of trade and other receivables (55,896) -
i I I O S E A 2 (A Gain on repurchase/redemption of senior notes 2,867 36,970
(18,879) 271,944
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
(BE1F 2 2 H AN B2 ) (Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

5 HABWCA P - M REHE %) 5 OTHER INCOME, EXPENSES, GAINS AND LOSSES

(Continued)
(© FHAhBH % (c) Other expenses
S =
2021 2020
ARH T ARWT T
RMB’000 RMB 000
SiEL Donation (168) (126)
HoAts Others (2,359 (3,686)
(2,527) (3,812)
Ast Total 17,787 318,124
6 BRBiw Okid) A 6 (LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION
BrBiEr ) mAEER 7 (FEA) ¢ (Loss)/profit before taxation is arrived at after charging/(crediting):
(a) FE A (a) Finance costs
S
2021 2020
AR¥F NR BT
RMB’000 RMB000
SRATEHA L (M 2400) Interest on bank loans (note 24(c)) 179,480 199,010
L&A B L (B3 2400) Interest on lease liabilities (note 24(c)) 14,840 16,530
BEE R R (3 24(0) Interest on senior notes (note 24(c)) 457,149 487,480
W BRI BB EYER Less: Interest expense capitalised into properties
B 8 v 15 S Y UG B S under development for sale and investment
properties under development* (396,710) (469,475)
Rt Total 254,759 233,545
* HEBACHAERNE11.06% (ZFZF4HF - * The borrowing costs have been capitalised at a rate of 11.06% per annum (2020:
11.02%) EAAL - 11.02%).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
(BR4F I FER 20 2 LU B W55 75 ) (Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

6 BRBLET Ol #) %A ) 6 (LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION (Continued)
by HIEA (b)  Staff costs
e It = 2
2021 2020
ANBRH T ANRWTIT
RMB’000 RMB’000
Wi~ LA R LAt AR A Salaries, bonuses and other benefits 148,003 127,054
RARARE R F S 4 3% Contributions to retirement benefit schemes 10,854 3,558
e A% 456 B BB A S A (B 30) Equity-settled share-based payments (note 30) 52 229
W B BRSPS ER Less: amount capitalised to properties under
BEE P B EN & development for sale and investment
properties under development (31,235) (34,446)
127,674 96,395
(© FHAIHH (©)  Other items
SR CECEE
2021 2020
ARWTFT ANRET T
RMB’000 RMB’000
K- Depreciation
—BEME - WFE KA — Owned property, plant and equipment 36,868 31,239
—{ff R e — Right-of-use assets 7,798 5,441
44,666 36,680
BT 4 Auditors’ remuneration 2,500 1,400
LIEII®N Cost of properties 1,704,474 1,102,025
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
J $8 7 S T LA BT 7 ) (Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BR 15

7 BRE R BB
(@ AREHEE TR

(a)

INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

Taxation in the consolidated statement of profit or loss

represents:

R TR R
2021 2020
ANRWFr AR BT
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR - Current tax:
— TSR ([ EHR])  —PRC corporate income tax (“CIT”) 26,016 64,970
— T Hb I (EB —LAT 81,625 (21,479)
—H WA — Hong Kong Profits Tax - 2,861
o lorer 46,352
TEAERL A (B 5E31) Deferred tax (note 31)
— AR EB —CIT (286,288) 13,268
— (R —LAT 85,292 16,901
o (200990) 30,169
93,355) 76,521

7% R 12 T 7 5 I D S L
S5 g ML 2 O v SR AR AR AT B I > i
7 40 9 % 55 O ) e AT (T B TE B A o

B A 2 ) — R WY g 2 ) 2 T AR 15 B G
REETHAERARN AR -F - —
A s A 15 HEUMWMHEJ%
FERE D 165%)

B A5 $88 ) AR AR (60 % r I 1
J& 2 R AR B b S PTRBUBL R EH I > % 5
oL 25 T MR 4% o I A B o o TS B3k
WL E o

No provision for taxation has been recognised for companies incorporated in
the Cayman Island and the British Virgin Islands as they are not subject to

any tax during both periods.

The provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax for 2021 is calculated at 16.5%
(2020: 16.5%) of the estimated assessable profits for the year, except for one
subsidiary of the group which is a qualifying corporation under the two-

tiered Profits Tax rate regime.

The provision for PRC income tax is based on the respective corporate income
tax rates applicable to the subsidiaties located in the PRC as determined in

accordance with the relevant income tax rules and regulations of the PRC.
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(b)

(BR 157

W2 S0 LA RS ) (Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

B AR AR B BTGB ()

B AR TR ()

-+ b 394 (B0 R b S (B 4 A - 309 2 60%
() A B SR Al > i % (L D 4 S B
75 3R TEL U2 AT IR S (B ek Wi -
PR REE T S O~ b b B B OB M T
P2 i 1 B AS R > BB AT R R
Y~ A R S b 1 I 80 T LA
Jo B BB e HeA TN E H ) - BR -
AL - [ Hb EE BH R R AT A A
U S T Bt Aot R HE A O I
B 2 A BT M R I AR AR AR Y
20% °

H@m&>M”Mﬁm$l
Xt (R

) /B
H) /i A B R -

(a)

(b)

o A S A A

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS (Continued)

Taxation in the consolidated statement of profit or loss

represents: (Continued)

The LAT is levied at progressive rates ranging from 30% to 60% on the
appreciation of land value, being the proceeds from the sale of properties less
deductible expenditures including payments made for acquisition of land use
rights, costs and expenses for the development of the land or for construction
of new buildings and supporting facilities, or the assessed value for old
buildings and structures, tax payable relating to transfer of the real estate
and other deductible items prescribed by the Ministry of Finance. Apart
from the aforementioned deductions, property developers enjoy an additional
deduction, which is equal to 20% of the payment made for acquisition of
land use rights and the costs of land development and construction of new

buildings or related facilities.

Reconciliation between tax (benefit)/expense and accounting
(loss)/profit at applicable tax rates:

“ERTE e S <0 3
2021 2020
ABRH T ANRHTIT
RMB’000 RMB 000
BrBian (ks48) /% Fl (Loss)/profit before taxation (2,080,440) 126,766
259 W H B A EFTAFBIBL T A Tax using PRC CIT rate of 25%
H B (520,110) 31,692
AT 18 B S BB Tax effect of expenses not deductible for
tax purpose 110,499 45,845
TEJE SRR B 7 e 22 Tax effect of income not taxable for tax purpose (39,796) (1,786)
JRE A B 8 ) SE A B B i 2 Tax effect of share of results of associates 3,693 11,733
JEAG A48 A S 2 AR B S 5 2 Tax effect of share of results of joint ventures (7,037) (276)
1 (R LAT 162,816 (21,479)
T 35 (EBE O B 7 Tax effect of LAT (40,704) 5,370
o B R0 B TEL i 1R P B S 2 Tax effect of tax losses not recognised 170,335 13,154
nJ :f T B IR 25 5L 2 Bl s Tax effect of deductible temporary difference 78,229 -
AR 5'5 il RR B T R T Y Tax effect of previously unrecognised tax losses
fﬁ W now recognised (1,981) (5,052)
9 e R T 2 ) AR o T i A Effect of withholding tax on undistributed
YA B TN RO R profit from PRC subsidiaries (9,299) (2,680)
BEBIE (R 25) /ﬁ?ﬁj{ Actual tax (benefit)/expense (93,355) 76,521
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(BRI F2 o5 51 3 AN R I 5 7R ) (Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

8 HIME 8  DIRECTORS EMOLUMENTS
I 4 AR A U N A G B AR 383(1) 16 e Directors’ emoluments disclosed pursuant to section 383(1) of the Hong
2N ) (9 0 R i R BB 5 2 T4 R Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of
) 2 S 0 T Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation are as follows:
BE_F_—F+HA=1—H For the year ended 31 December 2021
14 B
ek feir B ik
EHE HAtiA (Wit i) il BB i
Contributions
Salaries and Bonuses to retirement
Directors’ fees other benefits (note i) benefit schemes Total
AR TR ARMTZ  ARWFxE  ARKTZ  ARWFZ
RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000
WTES Executive directors
THEERE Mr. Wong Yam Yin 299 = 1,058 = 1,357
THMEE (F3E)  Mr. Wong Kam Fai (note i) 120 3,682 253 15 4070
FHBEE Mr. Wong Kam Keung Barry 120 2,498 253 15 2,886
Tjie Tjin Fung 6/ Mr. Tjie Tjin Fung 239 = 30 = 269
David Janata 76 Mr. David Janata 239 = 2 = 261
FAnES Non-executive directors
Kiky Gunawan &4 Mr. Kiky Gunawan 199 - 22 - 21
Janata Suwita 765 Mr. Janata Suwita 242 = 30 = m
B kHES Independent non-executive
directors
EERSE Mr. Wong Ying Loi 120 - - - 120
FRERE Mr. Lie Tak Sen 120 - - - 120
ZREEA Mr. Li Sz¢ Keung 120 - - - 120
HREEE Mr. Wong Cho Kei Bonnie 120 = = = 120
1,938 6,180 1,668 30 9,816
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o A S A A

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

8§ WML 8  DIRECTORS EMOLUMENTS (Concinued)
(E_FR_FETH=+—H For the year ended 31 December 2020
1R 4E BE
ek fLiL RIRAE A
S HAER (B3 i) at Bl st
Contributions
Salaries and Bonuses to retirement
Directors’ fees other benefits (note i1) benefit schemes Total
ARBTr ANRBTr ANRETr ANR¥TF NEWTF
RMB 000 RMB 000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000
WhE$ Executive directors
FHE LS Mr. Wong Yam Yin 303 - 4857 - 5,160
THASE () Mr. Wong Kam Fai (note i) 121 3,733 1,162 15 5,031
T o Mr. Wong Kam Keung Barry 121 2,533 1,162 15 3,831
Tjie Tjin Fung 7 M. Tjie Tjin Fung 242 - 139 - 381
Janata David JE /£ M. Janata David 202 - 105 - 307
FhfTES Non-executive directors
Gunawan Kiky 74 Mr. Gunawan Kiky 202 - 105 - 307
Suwita Janata 7E £ Mr. Suwita Janata 242 - 139 - 381
BukBmEs Independent non-executive
directors
FRASAE Mr. Wong Ying Loi 121 - - - 121
BRESRE Mr. Lie Tak Sen 121 - - - 121
FREEE Mr. Li Sz¢ Keung 121 - - - 121
FRAE Mr. Wong Cho Kei Bonnie 121 - - - 121
1917 6,266 7,669 30 15,882
Bt 5k Notes:
(i) S R IR By AR WAT B AR HUOR b (i) Mr. Wong Kam Fai is also the Chief Executive of the Company and his emoluments
SO R T 4 0 TR £ AT BUB R AR 1 A disclosed above include those for his services as the Chief Executive and
W RAEBATERNMS - remuneration as the Executive Director.
(i1) REMBCAL I 2B ERNMARBEEE - (i) Performance related bonuses is determined by reference to the individual

performance of the directors.
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8 WML 8  DIRECTORS EMOLUMENTS (Continued)
JRAE N A A [ AR A 1) A A R AT o] 3 = SE During the year, no emoluments were paid by the Group to any directors
AT T 485 1 2 I A A 2 [ sl B IR 2 4 Jih of the Company as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or
R KWL 2 A 18 o A A HE M B AT as compensation for loss of office. None of the directors has waived any
frT B 455 emoluments during the year.
9 mEMEAL 9  INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS
T m e NN > =4 (& FAE: Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments, 3 (2020: 3) are directors
=) Ry MG R s o A B whose emoluments are disclosed in note 8. The aggregate of the emoluments
44 (T AR W) N LR 4 A in respect of the other 2 (2020: 2) individuals are as follows:
HESIWT
RO e
2021 2020
AR T ANRET T
RMB’000 RMB’000
Wi B H A AR A Salaries and other benefits 3,212 3,012
fEAL Bonuses 1,707 2,476
DY ES NS TN Or | Equity-settled share-based payments 39 39
RARAE AT B Contributions to retirement benefit schemes 99 76
5,057 5,603
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ERMEANL @) 9 INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS

A FE A 7 2 L AT R S 2 A

FHME B BE W

(Continued)

The number of the highest paid employees who are not the directors of the

Company whose remuneration fell within the following bands is as follows:

SRR CERRA

2021 2020

BTL¥A BT#H
Number of Number of

individuals individuals

Z2 I8 £ 1,000,000 ¥ 70 HK$Nil — HK$1,000,000 - -
1,000,001 #5 76 F 1,500,000 ¥ JC HK$1,000,001 — HK$1,500,000 - -
1,500,001 ¥ 7T % 2,000,000 #5 7C HK$1,500,001 — HK$2,000,000 1 -
2,000,001 #5 7T % 2,500,000 #5 TG HK$2,000,001 — HK$2,500,000 = -
2,500,001 # JC £ 3,000,000 # JC HK$2,500,001 — HK$3,000,000 - 1
3,000,001 ¥ 7T £ 3,500,000 # 7T HK$3,000,001 — HK$3,500,000 = -
3,500,001 ¥ 7T % 4,000,000 5 7T HK$3,500,001 — HK$4,000,000 = -
4,000,001 #5 7T F 4,500,000 ¥ TC HK$4,000,001 — HK$4,500,000 1 1
2 2

TAAR AL » A% S5 T A0 0 1) 4% e g8 PN L
KA AR — 24 SR < R 2% i A 4 B
T 5 IR 2 B8 M B K 2 M A

During the year, no emoluments were paid by the Group to any of the five
highest paid individuals as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group

or as compensation for loss of office.
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10 3ol 2 i W 2 10 OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
BELJC At 4 T W % AL BSR4 A A Y Tax effects relating to each component of other
Bl i 2 comprehensive income
e o
2021 2020

i B X% Wik BBl AR X BrBiik
Before tax ~ Tax expense Net of tax Before tax Tax expense Net of tax
ARMTFL  ARWTZ  ARWTE  ARKTT  ARETT  ARKTZ
RMB000 RMB000 RMB 000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000

B DT & THRFAIME  Exchange differences on
REE AR translation of financial
PISNHEE G MG E  scatements of encities with

i functional currencies other
than RMB (881) - (881) 1,149 - 1,149
HAth 2 T 4 Other comprehensive income (881) - (881) 1,149 - 1,149
11 &k OE#) /8 11 (LOSSYEARNINGS PER SHARE
(@) TFRIEARE A (a) Basic earnings per share
T EE AR, A T AR YR A R A The calculation of basic loss/earnings per share is based on the losses
i SR IRE A s $R N R 1,980,195,000 76 (=% attributable to ordinary equity shareholders of the Company of
AR - Y AN R 34,788,000 7T) MAE AR RMB1,980,195,000 (2020: profit of RMB34,788,000) and the weighted
ﬁqE%ﬁ?”%?_ﬂiﬁ@bu%%ﬂﬁﬂz1,799,883,000 average of 1,799,883,000 ordinary shares (2020: 1,802,456,000 shares) in
W (T —AE 1 1,802,456,000 %) FHAA © issue during the year.
328 P R T Weighted average number of ordinary shares:
S e =
2021 2020
A i
shares ‘000 shares 000
R —H—H BT ik Issued ordinary shares at 1 January 1,802,456 1,802,456
e 1 I £ ) 32 Effect of shares repurchased (2,573) -
i = oy el = B S 1Y i Weighted average number of ordinary shares at
JinHEF-34) % 31 December 1,799,883 1,802,456
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

(/»/:4/’ VS S INE 2L, (Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

B O3 /8 )

g S U A

P T 4 4 00 2 4 1A
AT BB ey 2 PRI - B ot
15 M 20 O 0 B 028 T
02 B < L - 0 90 2
LB IR AL R -

JER VAT

11 (LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE (Continued)

(b) Diluted earnings per share
The computation of diluted earnings per share does not assume the exercise of
the Company’s outstanding share options because the exercise price of those
options was higher than the average market price for shares for both reporting
periods. Accordingly, the diluted earnings per share was same as the basic

earnings per share for both periods.

12 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

MELRE  BEARS L HEDE
WEDE  LURET o RARH kb fmlxE fRIR &t
Leasehold Land and Computers
land and hotel  Buildings held Motor and office Leasehold  Right-of-use  Construction
property  for own use vehicles equipment  improvements assets in progress Total
ARRFE  ARBFL  ARBFE  ARWFT  ARBFLE  ARWFT ARKFL  ARFF©
RMBU0O RMBU0O RMBO0O RMBU0O RMBU0O RMBO0O RMBU0O RMBU0O
Bk Cost
REFZZE—A—H  Acl January 200 99,520 100,079 9,633 16,488 66,530 60,624 - 352874
RE Additions 3910 - 593 2534 44405 - - 51,462
B £ Exchange differences - - (107) (48) - - - (159)
HE Disposals - (9,639) (195) (334) - - - (10,168)
R-Z-ZE At31 December 2020 and
TZAZT-BR 1 January 2021
ZEFZ-E-R-H 103,430 90440 9924 18,640 110955 60,624 - 394013
ihE Additions 1321 - - 6,53 51,184 23,044 - 82,082
HEARENE Transfer from investment properties 211,000 - - - - - - 211,000
ERAMBRGENE  Tonder fom properties under
development for sale 26,748 = - - - - 57,647 84,395
ExEH Exchange differences = = (48) (24) - - - (72)
HE Disposals = = (417 (20 - = = 7
REEZ-E At 31 December 2021
TZAZ1-H 342499 90,440 9459 25,129 162,139 83,008 57,647 770981
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12 3%~ B K st (41) 12 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)
MELRE  HEARS R HEDE
HEIE S VY €5 e RARE & fmlinE  RIR E
Leasehold Land and Computers
land and hotel ~ Buildings held Motor and office Leasehold ~ Right-of-use  Construction
property  forown use vehicles equipment  improvements assets in progress Total

NRHFE  ARRTT  AREKTL  ARKTT  ARNTT  ARKFT  ARKTrT  ARETFE
RMBUO  RMBUO  RMBWO  RMBUOO  RMBUW  RMBUW  RMBUW  RMBUW

Zithil Accumulated depreciation
BEZZEE-A—H Acl Janvary 2020 (5,099) (32,139) (1,774) (8,240) (33:427) (5.496) - 92,175)
L Charge for the year (7815) (4400) (1,035) (3,110) (14877) (5.441) - (36,680)
EiER Exchange differences - - 107 38 - - - 145
bk Disposals - 895 195 320 - - - 1410
REFZFE At 31 December 2020 and

TZAZ-HE 1 January 2021

“RT-F-A-H (129149 (35,646) 8300 (10,992) (48,304) (10,937) - (127,300)
B, Charge for the year a4 (441 71249 (3,278) (13672 (7,99) - (44,666)
AR Exchange differences - - 48 % - - - 7
HE Disposals - - 347 17 - - - 364
REFZ—F At 31 December 2021
B L A @e dogey 689 ) 6L aam . S
WA Net book value
i S 3 At31 December 2021

FoA=-H 314,808 50,377 623 10,900 100,163 04,933 57,647 599451
REZZEHEF At31 December 2020

“A=t-H 90,516 54,794 1417 7,648 62,051 49,687 - 260,713
WoE—F A= —H REEAD As at 31 December 2021, leasehold land and hotel property and land and
AR 55,553,000 70 (& ZFA4F - NRH buildings with carrying amount of approximately RMB55,553,000 (2020:
59,388,000 7C) A FHL & 1 3t K i I W 2E DA I RMB59,388,000) were pledged to banks to secure certain banking facilities
3 R T T R AT DA AR granted to the Group.

YA T 8RAT BB AR R -
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13 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

(@ Reconciliation of carrying amount

fo B S R A
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
(BR1FF I 2 21 2 AN B HEDY 7 ) (Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

CRIL R
BEMHF REWH 1o PR ¥ At
Investment
Completed properties
investment under Right-of-use
properties development assets Total
ARETT ANRET T AR T ANRH T
RMB000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
R-BZFFE—-A—H At 1 January 2020 6,013,688 54,400 190,809 6,258,897
NE Additions 19,406 297,795 2,901 320,102
ERACR LIEYE Transfer from completed properties
for sale 19,900 - - 19,900
i Disposals (49,994) - (12,311) (62,305)
AR G R 2 T E Net change in fair value recognised
HE in profit or loss (38,432) 157,305 (26,902) 91,971
REZRZREFTA At 31 December 2020 and
Et—HRZRZ& 1 January 2021
—H—H 5,964,568 509,500 154,497 6,628,565
nE Additions 30,423 - - 30,423
R H R LFEYE Transfer from uncompleted
properties for sale - 59,500 - 59,500
HHEME - B R Transfer to property, plant,
il equipment (211,000) - - (211,000)
W R RERE Transfer to non-current assets held
T By for sale (318,000) - - (318,000)
i Disposals (223,502) = (42,168) (265,670)
AR & R 2 A TE Net change in fair value recognised
SHRE in profit or loss (1,609,930) 36,600 (24,331) (1,597,661)
I s S Y At 31 December 2021
=+—H 3,632,559 605,600 87,998 4,326,157
Mk : R=FZ—F A=+ —H REEA Note: As at 31 December 2021, investment properties with carrying amount of

NH52,477,803,000 70 (ZF ZFA4F « AR
3,102,778,000 7C) 14 G 4 E ML T 84T >
DA Fy AR S5 [ HE 452 () 45 T 4R AT RV AR 1

approximately RMB2,477,803,000 (2020: RMB3,102,778,000) were pledged to

banks to secure certain banking facilities granted to the Group.
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13 HEWE @

(b) WENATVEGE

Q) ATEER
2% 51 A% A B R 0 R A e
SHEIENATE - S eB T ADR
N B B 2 U8 13 5 T P (B
FIF 3R 52 1) = AR A E 54 - A B L
A (7 2 BT 6 R 9 A S T OB R
FE AT A o T 8 E A B R B
JRE B B 1 S A

BB RGNS A
e VAR 2 0 GO0 1
{1 I 353 A R A A D) R R
i

o R BUAHE (TS A A R
(B O 222 55 — & iy T 8L 55 i A %)
Slf 4 FE KA AT B A (2R
ZV-{E o A LB i\ (B2 36 Xk
17 85 R AY A BhR

o CRZBNE: RMERAATBIEKE
ARG B A TE

13

(b)
()

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

Fair value measurement of properties

Fair value hierarchy

The following table presents the fair value of the Group’s properties
measured at the end of the reporting period on a recurring basis, categorised
into the three-level fair value hierarchy as defined in IFRS 13, Fair value
measurement. The level into which a fair value measurement is classified is
determined with reference to the observability and significance of the inputs

used in the valuation technique as follows:

. Level 1 valuations: Fair value measured using only Level 1 inputs
i.e. unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or

liabilities at the measurement date

. Level 2 valuations: Fair value measured using Level 2 inputs i.e.
observable inputs which fail to meet Level 1, and not using significant
unobservable inputs. Unobservable inputs are inputs for which market

data are not available

. Level 3 valuations: Fair value measured using significant unobservable

inputs
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

13 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

(b)  Fair value measurement of properties (Continued)

(1) Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

REZZ—-E+ZA=+—HE

R AT R
- H?J‘ AP Fair value measurements as at
bt e 31 December 2021 categorised into
31 December B B F=H
2021 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
AR T AR T ARMW T ARM T
RMB000 RMB000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AU in Recurring fair value
measurement
H g A Mainland China:
LE3/ES — Commercial properties 4,180,300 - - 4,180,300
—{FH ~ Car park 57,859 - - 57,859
—fE G - Right-of-use assets 87,998 - - 87,998
A5 Total 4,326,157 - - 4,326,157
WoB-%E REFZEREFZA=Z+—HE
+=H=+—H AFERH R B
AR Fair value measurements as at
Fair value at 31 December 2020 categorised into
31 December Bk B =
2020 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
ARWT T ANRWT T ANRH T AR T
RMB000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB 000
WA T Recurring fair value
measurement
H g Mainland China:
LE3/ES — Commercial properties 6,399,380 - - 6,399,380
—{F L — Car park 74,688 - - 74,688
— M FREE - Right-of-use assets 154,497 - - 154,497
5t Total 6,628,565 - - 6,628,565
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13

(b)
1)

BEWE @)
ZESVSRTE I
AFAEEE (47)

REE B R R RET A
Sf - HRAERE o SEE  G 2 B
TR T S N A S - A4
54 2 (2 40 2 T s B 8 0 4
22 1 e R M o

AREBMPRTAC R THREYE - MR
B ERFRAEEEYNCOR T - —F
TAZ T HETEA o fh{E T i Y
AR A R A A (T35 ) (— & W
T A AL E AR A R > 74 A (E T
AT AT B AR B ) AT o B4 P B AR
& H AT A E R AEBMO B EED
BELAf L B 5 s A (MR B A B 55 2R

13

(b)
)

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

Fair value measurement of properties (Continued)

Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2021 and 2020, there were no transfers
between Level 1 and Level 2, or transfers into or out of Level 3. The Group’s
policy is to recognise transfers between levels of fair value hierarchy as at the

end of the reporting period in which they occur.

All of the Group’s completed investment properties, investment properties
under development and right-of-use assets were revalued as at 31 December
2021. The valuations were carried out by CHFT Advisory And Appraisal
Led. (“CHFT”), a firm of independent qualified valuers in Hong Kong with
relevant experience in the valuation of properties. The Group’s chief financial
officer has discussion with the surveyors on the valuation assumptions and
valuation results when the valuation is performed at each interim and annual

reporting date.
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(b)
(1)

13

(b)
(i)

BeEWE 20
Y& AP R B ()
H A=A T ] 21 A
IES 1 PSS hE
Property Fair value Valuation
category hierarchy techniques
CRIBENE WX iRty BB
Completed investment  Commercial Level 3 Direct comparison
properties properties
H=4 oAk
Level 3 Income method
2 H=4 BRIHHE
Car park Level 3 Direct comparison
LE G EIES =8 k(S
Investment properties Level 3 Residual approach
under development

o A S A A

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
(Br 1 /;'////TEHT GFE LA R ’/:/}?Jzﬁ/ﬁf/ (Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

Fair value measurement of properties (Continued)

Information about Level 3 fair value measurements

EARTREH AL

Significant

unobservable inputs

e
(NRHT/FIk) R
Adjusted market price

(RMBJsquare meter), and
Flng

Level adjustment

ERfER

Capitalisation rate, and

Bl A (ARKL/THK)
Daily unit rent

(RMBJsquate meter)
L

(AR /et
Adjusted market price

(RMBJper car park)

LR
(AR FIk)
Adjusted market price (RMB/

square meter)

BERA ARET/ FHk)

Budgeted cost
(RMBJsquare meter)
ikl ey

Anticipated developer's profic

margin

AT RS ABGEER
Range of

unobservable inputs

5,758 £100,700 ( ~F 4

7970 109,200)

5,758 10 100,700

(2020: 7,970 to 109,200)
0% E65% (“E-FE:

0% £ 65%)

0% to 65%

(2020: 0% t0 63%)
495 6% (“FZFE 4 B o)
49 to 6%

(2020: 4% 10 6%)
1816(2F2%F %)
21016

2020:210 17)

68,000% 361,000 (~F “F4E -

158,730 316,667
68,000 t0 361,000

(2020: 158 730 t0 316,667)

12500% 16,000 (~F-F4F :
11,045 22,582
12,500 t0 16,000
(2020: 11,045 10 22,582)
535028756 (“F Fh
4975 57,736)
535010 8,756
(2020:4973 t07,736)
10% £ 20% (ZF T4
10% £.20%)
10% to 20%
(2020: 10% to 20%)

2021 4F B %

ATEEEARERAFENR R

Relationship of unobservable

inputs to fair value

o

W A

peein g

The higher the adjusted market price,

the higher the fair value.

SNSRI ATERE

The lower the level adjustment, the
higher the fair value.

BAMLI KR - AFERE -

The higher the capitalisation rate, the
lower the fair value

B AEER AFEER -

The higher the daily unit ren, the higher
the fair value

WRETEER AFEER-

The higher the adjusted market price, the

higher the fair value

The higher the adjusted market price, the

higher the fair value

BRRARR AFER(E -

The higher the budgeted cost, the lower
the fair value

TSRS o A PR -

The higher the anticipated developer's

profit margin, the lower the fair value
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13 HEWE @

by WA VEFE )
Gi)  HHF=RA PGB EF ()
ES Bl PSS hE
Property Fair value Valuation
category hierarchy techniques
fEREEE Lik/Ed =8 o83
Right-of-use assets Sub-leased Level 3 Income method
properties

CRTHREMEN LT EIKBETEWL
ﬁ%%ﬁ’]ﬂi 58 oy 55Tl AR (LA DL T
CLLEALIR A B AT E
E‘Jiﬁ%ﬂﬁl)\%’a%%@ o Sl 5 S R
BRSNSy (78 ) T 78 € o

13

(b)
(i)

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

Fair value measurement of properties (Continued)

Information about Level 3 fair value measurements (Continued)

EARTREH AL AUEEHALEER ATEEEARERAFENR R

Significant Range of Relationship of unobservable

unobservable inputs unobservable inputs inputs to fair value

3[R 65% £ 675% (“F-F4 : HAM R ATEEE-
63% £6.75%)

Capitalisation rate 0.5% t06.75% The higher the capitalisation rate, the
(2020: 6.5% t0 6.75%) lower the fair value

B AR ARYL/ Pk 120(CFRE 05 BEAEEE APHER-

Daily unit rent lwol? The higher the daily unit rent, the higher

(RMB/square meter) (2020: 10 16) the fair value

The fair value of completed investment properties is determined by making
reference to the market transactions or asking evidence, as the case may be, of
comparable properties, and on the basis of capitalisation of the rental income
derived from existing tenancies or market rental with due allowance for

reversionary income potential of the properties, where appropriate.
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32 M 1 JaL By A T Y T e A RS
i H R B ARG (E) T

8RR S 0 P (EL 7 A0 {6 Y I o o
S 358 25 S AL A B A TR B L R 81
EATRE BT RE < fSEIES & HEE
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MRARE B NS BT o N (Rt B
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AEELAR 2 A -
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(b)
(i)

fo B S R A

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

Fair value measurement of properties (Continued)

Information about Level 3 fair value measurements (Continued)

The fair value of investment properties under development is determined
by making reference to the current or recent prices of similar properties and
estimated costs to completion based on construction budget, committed
contracts, allowances for contingencies as well as developer’s profit margin,
which reflect the risks in relation to, inter alia, the completion of the
construction and marketability of proposed development, and in achieving

the anticipated income or capital appreciation on the date of valuation.

The fair value of right-of-use assets is determined by discounting a projected
cash flow series associated with the assets using risk-adjusted discount rates.
The valuation takes into account capitalisation rate and rental rate of the
respective assets. The discount rates used have been adjusted for the quality
and location. The fair value measurement is positively correlated to the
capitalisation rate and the rental rate, and negatively correlated to the risk-

adjusted discount rates.
Fair value adjustment of investment properties is recognised in the line item

“changes in fair value of investment properties” on the face of the consolidated

statement of profit or loss.
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13 BHEWE @) 13 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

© MEHREEE () Right-of-use assets
e AR A B 0 R Y MR R The analysis of the net book value of right-of-use assets by class of underlying
BESHWT asset is as follows:
“®o—E CEEE
+ZA=+—H" +ZA=t+—H
31 December 31 December
2021 2020
AR WTF T ANRET T
RMB’000 RMB000
&R K H A Other properties leased for own use, carried at
(LI EE A 510 ) (Bt aE) depreciated cost (Note) 64,933 49,687
RGN T4 10 2 M Ownership interests in leasehold investment
THEBE Y E T A HERE & property, carried at fair value, with remaining
(Fe (a5 HR) lease term of between 4 to 10 years 87,998 154,497
152,931 204,184
B < A A ] O i AL B T A 15 £ LA 3 Note: The Group has obtained the right to use of other properties through tenancy

AR RER - M EE W E BN E
154F o R B A 30 F B 2 3 —ik
AR BT i 4 o

AR 4 AR AL A B 1Y 2 T I E 2

agreements to operate hotels. The leases typically run for an initial period of 8 to
15 years. Lease payments are usually increased every 1 to 3 years to reflect market

rentals.

The analysis of expense items in relation to leases recognised in profit or loss

I

AL B AE B H A SRR &
73 ) A8 G 4 5 B

A E Y SRR B 73 1 i ) R
EER A THES)

FLE B EFE (3 6)
E i COVID-19 # B HH 4 3 fe

212

is as follows:

TR TR TR
+ZA=+—H +-A=+—H
31 December 31 December
2021 2020
ANBRH T ANRHT T
RMB’000 RMB’000

Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets by
class of other properties leased for own use 7,798 5,441

Fair value change of right-of-use assets by

class of investment property 24,331 26,902
Interest on lease liabilities (note 6(a)) 14,840 16,530
Covid-19-related rent concessions received - 5,545
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BEWE @)

i FREE & (48)

A B E B 40 A KR A
BT B FEAE 20 S B 5 24(d) B 27 »

HEE A HE YR
7% S 1) 72 2 L 5 O il AR 6 Y A 36
LB TE B HER o FEL A0 40 0 T PR A8 2
8E 154 o B — Mt 1 2 345 & Y
> DA B 5 4

o REL 5 T A4S S 4 A4 SO R 4t oRUAR T A
SMER o FERATRE IR o A TR R
A [ T4 A AR SR AR DUSRALE
G o A MR AL B 4R H IR A 7 6
R BRI 2 P R R T o kA
W B E AT B AR SRR T AR 0 ]
AR AT B AR T AR E AR E -
% 24 R AR A R TR A AL

g ali g Operate hotels

fo B S R A

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FIl $2 7 S0 2 AN RS 7 ) (Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

13
(c)

()

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

Right-of-use assets (Continued)

Details of total cash outflow for leases and the maturity analysis of lease

liabilities are set out in notes 24(d) and 27, respectively.

Other properties leased for own use

The Group has obtained the right to use other properties through tenancy
agreements to operate hotels. The leases typically run for an initial period of 8
to 15 years. Lease payments are usually increased every 1 to 3 years to reflect

market rentals.

Some leases include an option to renew the lease for an additional period after
the end of the contract term. Where practicable, the Group seeks to include
such extension options exercisable by the Group to provide operational
flexibility. The Group assesses at lease commencement date whether it
is reasonably certain to exercise the extension options. If the Group is
not reasonably certain to exercise the extension options, the future lease
payments during the extension periods are not included in the measurement
of lease liabilities. The potential exposure to these future lease payments is

summarised below:

3 48 R AR B R AR
Ch e 8 i L B A AL IR A M VB AE R K
(CHiE) HLE Ak (RIGB)

Potential future lease
payments under extension
options not included in

Lease liabilities recognised lease liabilities

(discounted) (undiscounted)
R ZEIFE DRI ZEDFRF
2021 2020 2021 2020
ANREFLE AREFL AREFLT ARKTFIL
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
52,170 56,300 68,270 75,858

2% A T R M s AR B RO 5 AT L &
HHEH&R R T —F > E/HIWH
COVID-19 % 16 4% » 45 48 [ LA 5 £+ 3K
ZAEIENE 0 KA (CF
TR KR S,545,00070) ©

The Group entered into a number of lease agreements for use of metro leasing
and hotels. During 2021, the group did not receive rent concessions in the
form of a discount on the lease payments to contain the spread of COVID-19
(2020: RMBS,545,000).
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(BR4FE 2R S0 LU BB ) (Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

13 BHEWE @) 13
d) HEYE )
A SR AR PR S TS I A % - TS

WEVAL B —ZRAE - HERHET S
— BN — K > DU BTG 4 -

TASR T F - AR 4 R R A FEFJFELMIE’JT
AR A AL IR A9 R 4 BB A+ 3K

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

Investment properties
The Group leases out investment property under operating leases. The leases
typically run for an initial period of 1 to 5 years. Lease payments are usually

increased every 1 to 2 years to reflect market rentals.

Undiscounted lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases in place

at the reporting date will be receivable by the Group in future periods as

T follows:
:g:_'ﬁ — < = Eﬁ
2021 2020
ARWFr AR BT
RMB’000 RMB'000
1R Within 1 year 185,985 190,860
VFEBE S B X After 1 year but within 5 years 296,598 280,543
SHR After 5 years 51,046 41,039
533,629 512,442

14 RWBAFZEE 14
TR FEHARERR 4
FTA=ZF—HES - G AR
BB I B N R RENE o BRIE B A TR AL >
I B A 2 A B i % % o

AR AR RS EHERPR
Place of incorporation  Form of business
Name of company and business structure
SRERARLA ERRLHE HREME L
(EBELHE])
Golden Wheel Jade Company British Virgin Islands Limited liability
Limited (‘BVI") company

214

INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

The following list contains only the particulars of subsidiaries which
principally affected the results, assets or liabilities of the Group as at 31

December 2021. The class of shares held is ordinary unless otherwise stated.

BRI
Proportion of ownership interest

CRARAERA ARE KR WEAR

RfgHERHE HhEE A B TERER
Particulars of issued Group's Held Held

and paid-up capital effective by the bya  Principal

and debt securities interest ~ Company  subsidiary activities

£ 100% 100% - BEEE

Uss1 100% 100% - Investment holding
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14 RWBAHZHE @) 14 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

BT ke
Proportion of ownership interest

BRI RARRA ARE KA WEAR

AR MRS RHERDR JUTT v HEEE R FEE TERE
Particulars of issued Group's Held Held
Place of incorporation  Form of business and paid-up capital effective by the bya  Principal

Name of company and business structure and debt securities interest ~ Company  subsidiary  activities

SRRRARLA FREAHE HRAIELH £ 100% 100% - REER

Golden Wheel Pearl Company BVI Limited liability Us$1 100% 100% - Investment holding
Limited company

SRADARAT EREARE HRAEAT ESTH 100% 100% - REER

Golden Wheel Diamond Company ~ BVI Limited liability Uss1 100% 100% - Investment holding
Limited company

SRANARL FREAHE AREELR 1R 100% 100% - BEER

Golden Whee! Jewel Company BVI Limited liability Uss1 100% 100% - Investment holding
Limited company

SRKRARAA FREAHE ARFIELH £ 100% 100% - REER

Golden Wheel Crystal Company BVI Limited liabilicy Us$1 100% 100% - Investment holding
Limited company

SREHARLT EREARE HRAELA 1ETL 100% 100% - REER

Golden Wheel Amber Company BVI Limited liability Uss1 100% 100% - Investment holding
Limited company

SRETARLA FRELHE AREELR 1R 100% 100% - BEER

Golden Wheel Tourmaline BVI Limited liability Uss1 100% 100% - Investment holding
Company Limited company

SRATARAA EREAME ARFIELH £ 100% 100% - REER

Golden Wheel Opal Company BVI Limited liability US$1 100% 100% - lnvestment holding
Limited company

SRAEARAT ERRLHE HRAEAT 1£7 100% 100% - REER

Golden Wheel Ruby Company BVI Limited liability Uss1 100% 100% - Investment holding
Limited company
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14 B AWZEE @) 14 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

BT ke
Proportion of ownership interest

BRI RARRA ARE KA WEAR

AR MRS RHERDR JUTT v HEEE R FEE TERE
Particulars of issued Group's Held Held
Place of incorporation  Form of business and paid-up capital effective by the bya  Principal
Name of company and business structure and debt securities interest ~ Company  subsidiary  activities
SRATARLA FREAHE HRAIELH £ 100% 100% - REER
Golden Wheel Emerald Company ~ BVI Limited liability Us$1 100% 100% - Investment holding
Limited company
SRETARAT EREARE HRAEAT ESTH 100% 100% - REER
Golden Wheel Sapphire Company ~ BVI Limited liability Uss1 100% 100% - Investment holding
Limited company
SRREARAA FREAHE AREELR 1R 100% 100% - BEER
Golden Whee! Jasper Company BVI Limited liability Uss1 100% 100% - Investment holding
Limited company
SRETARAA FREAHE ARFIELH £ 100% 100% - REER
Golden Wheel Treasure Company ~ BVI Limited liabilicy Us$1 100% 100% - Investment holding
Limited company
SRAEARA EREARE HRAELA 1ETL 100% 100% - REER
Golden Wheel Trinity Company ~ BVI Limited liability Uss1 100% 100% - Investment holding
Limited company
SRR FRELHE AREELR 1R 100% 100% - BEER
Golden Wheel Enamel Company ~ BVI Limited liability Uss1 100% 100% - Investment holding
Limited company
SRARARAA EREAME ARFIELH £ 100% 100% - REER
Golden Wheel Liuli Company BVI Limited liability US$1 100% 100% - lnvestment holding
Limited company
ERNRARAA ERRLHE HRAEAT 1£7 100% 100% - REER
Golden Wheel Bright Jade BVI Limited liability Uss1 100% 100% - Investment holding
Company Limited company
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14 B AWZEE @) 14 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

G el
Proportion of ownership interest
ERTRSERA ARE  AMT WEAR
AR MRS RHERDR JUTT v HEEE R FEE TERE
Particulars of issued Group's Held Held
Place of incorporation  Form of business and paid-up capital effective by the bya  Principal
Name of company and business structure and debt securities interest ~ Company  subsidiary  activities
BEARAR FREAHE HRRELA IFSH 100% - 00 BEER
Winner Year Company Limited BVI Limited liability US$100 100% - 100%  Investment holding
company
ERYEARAT EREARE HRAEAT ESTH 100% 100% - REER
Golden Wheel Jumbo Company BVI Limited liability Uss1 100% 100% - Investment holding
Limited company
SRAREEARAA Fib HRAELH 100,000,000 7 100% - 0% SEER
Golden Wheel Incernational Hong Kong Limited liability HK$100,000,000 100% - 100%  Investment holding
Tnvestment Limited company
SRARAZHRAA B ARFIELH 48,000,000 ¢ 100% - 0% BEER
Golden Wheel Incernational Hong Kong Limited liabilicy HK$48,000,000 100% - 100%  Investment holding
Corporation Limited company
SRARARARLA Fik ARFIELR 30,000,000 10 100% - 0% SEER
Golden Wheel International Hong Kong Limited liability HK$30,000,000 100% - 100%  Investment holding
Creation Company Limited company
SHRERAEARAR Fi ARRERA 30000000 7C 100% - 0% SEER
Golden Wheel Incernational Capital ~ Hong Kong Limited liability HK$30,000,000 100% - 100%  Investment holding
Company Limited company
SRERAEARAR Eik ARFIELR 10,000,000 72 100% - 0%  fEER
Golden Wheel Incernational Billion ~ Hong Kong Limited liability HK$10,000,000 100% - 100%  Investment holding
Limited company
SRARARARLA Bk ARFMAT 10,000,000 1T 100% - 0% SEER
Golden Wheel International Wealth ~ Hong Kong Limited liability HK$10,000,000 100% - 100%  Investment holding
Limited company
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14 RWBAHZHE @) 14 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

AL I
Proportion of ownership interest

CRTRAERA A%E AR WEAR

Ai4H AR REERS  REERDRA RfgH@ERHE RS FHE R TEER
Particulars of issued Group's Held Held
Place of incorporation ~ Form of business and paid-up capital effective by the bya  Principal
Name of company and business structure and debt securities interest ~ Company  subsidiary activities
SRARAEARLA Fi ARAIELH 10,000,000 ¢ 100% - 0% REER
Golden Wheel Incernational Trend  Hong Kong Limited liability HK$10,000,000 100% - 100%  Investment holding
Limited company
SRERASARAR Bk ARFIELT 10,000,000 T2 100% - 0% BEHER
Golden Wheel Incernational Success  Hong Kong Limited liability HK$10,000,000 100% - 100%  Investment holding
Limited company
SRARARARLA wik HRAMEAA 10,000,000 7 100% - 0% SEER
Golden Wheel International Glory ~ Hong Kong Limited liability HK$10,000,000 100% - 100%  lvestment holding
Company Limited company
SRERAEARAR Fik ARFIELH 10,000,000 72 100% - 0% REER
Golden Wheel International Idea ~ Hong Kong Limited liability HK$10,000,000 100% - 100%  Investment holding
Company Limited company
SRERAFARAR Fik ARFIELT 10,000,000 72 100% - 0% fEER
Golden Wheel Incernational Hong Kong Limited liability HK$10,000,000 100% - 100%  Investment holding
Innovation Company Limited company
SRABAYARAR Fik FRELAT 10,000,000 78 100% . 00 REER
Golden Wheel International Hong Kong Limited liability HK$10,000,000 100% - 100%  lvestment holding
Harvest Limited company
SRERAEARAR Fik ARFIELH 10,000,000 72 100% - 0% REER
Golden Wheel International Meric ~ Hong Kong Limited liability HK$10,000,000 100% - 100%  Investment holding
Limited company
SRARAGHRAR Fik ARFHEAT 10,000,000 72 100% - 0% fEER
Golden Wheel Incernational Inherit  Hong Kong Limited liability HK$10,000,000 100% - 100%  Investment holding
Company Limited company
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AR

Name of company

ShRERABERLA
Golden Wheel International
Wisdom Company Limited

SRABAEARAR
Golden Wheel International

Excellent Limited

ARARLA

Success Seeker Limited

ERERERERARLT
Nanjing Jade Golden Wheel Realty

Company Limited*

KHERENERE
BRAHA
Zhuzhou Golden Wheel Real Estate

Development Co., Led *

PHEmEERY
iR
Yangzhou Golden Wheel Real

Estate Development Co., Led.*

KHARHEERERAA
Zhuzhou Golden Wheel Business

Management Co., Ltd. *

14 JAKE 2 A 2 B ¥ )

R B R B
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
(/»/:4/’ S S INE 2L, (Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

14 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

MR RE RS RHERDR

Place of incorporation

and business

Fi
Hong Kong

Fil
Hong Kong

Fik

Hong Kong

il
The PRC

i

The PRC

i

The PRC

Gl
The PRC

Form of business

structure

HREMELT
Limited liability

company

HREMELT
Limited liability

company

HRAMERA
Limited liability

company

e EEE

Sino-foreign joint venture

EEL®

Wholly-foreign invested

enerprise

b E

Sino-foreign joint venture

Ak ARE(L A

Domestic limited liability

company

CRTRAERA

JUUT vl

Particulars of issued
and paid-up capital

and debt securities

10,000,001
HK$10,000,000

10,000,000 ¢
HK$10,000,000

LT
HKS1

14950000 7C
US§14,950,000

13,200,000 ¢

U8513,200,000

13,000,000 0

U8$1,000,000

B 500,000 72
RMB500,000

B R ke

Proportion of ownership interest

K%M
L
Group’s

effective
interest
100%
100%

100%
100%

100%
100%

100%
100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%
100%

ARd WEAR
Bk e

Held Held
by the bya

Company  subsidiary

- 100%

- 100%

- 100%
- 100%

- 100%
- 100%

- 100%
- 100%

- 100%

- 100%

- 100%

- 100%

- 100%
- 100%

FEEH

Principal

activities
Rk

Investment holding

BEHR

Investment holding

FHERE

Property development

FHERE ARG
Property development and

property leasing

P 3 Rk

Property development and

property leasing

FHERS

Property development

FHEXHER

Property operation
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
(BRI F2 o5 51 3 AN R I 5 7R ) (Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

14 B AWZEE @) 14 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

AL I
Proportion of ownership interest
CRTRSERA ARE KR WEAR
Ai4H AR REERS  REERDRA JUUT vl RS FHE R TEER
Particulars of issued Group's Held Held
Place of incorporation ~ Form of business and paid-up capital effective by the bya  Principal
Name of company and business structure and debt securities interest ~ Company  subsidiary activities
HRERFNERS i SBERE 6,130000%7C 100% - BRERRRERE
HRAR
Nanjing Golden Wheel Real Estate ~ The PRC Wholly-foreign invested  US$6,130,000 100% - 100%  Property development and
Development Co., Ltd. * enterprise property leasing
ERNRERERARAT:  HH BELE 2000000 % TC 100% - 100%  FHERERIEEEE
Nanjing Pearl Golden Wheel The PRC Wholly-foreign invested  U$$2,000,000 100% - 100%  Property Development and
Realty Co., Led.* enter-prise hotel operation
HREERMEREAR W ARERELEAT  ARH 2800000007 100% - 0% FHERE
YR
Nanjing Metro Real Estate The PRC Domestic limited liability ~ RMB280,000,000 100% - 100%  Property development
Tnvestment Co., Led. * company
HRKRERERARAT: R IBELE NEHES 0000007 100% - 0% FHERE
Nanjing Crystal Golden Wheel The PRC Wholly-foreign invested ~ RMB3,000,000 100% - 100%  Property development
Realty Co,, Led.* enter-prise
HRERIEE ARG i P EEE N8 32,0000007C 100% - 0% RS
HRAR
Nanjing Golden Wheel Business ~ The PRC Sino-foreign joint venture - RMB32,000,000 100% - 100%  Property leasing
Management Co., Led.*
RUSRERWEARAA  HH AAAREELR  ARHs0000007 100% - 100% BEEE
Changsha Golden Wheel Xinghao ~ The PRC Domestic limited liabilicy ~ RMB3,000,000 100% - 100%  Hotel operation
Hotel Co., Led. * company
HREHSRERARAA: AR P EEE B 20,000,000 T 100% - 0% FHERE
Nanjing Sapphire Golden Wheel ~ The PRC Sino-foreign joint venture - RMB20,000,000 100% - 100%  Property development

Realty Co., Led. *
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
(/»/:4/’ S S INE 2L, (Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

14 B AWZEE @) 14 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

AL I
Proportion of ownership interest
CRTRSERA ARE KR WEAR
Ai4H AR REERS  REERDRA RfgH@ERHE RS FHE R TEER
Particulars of issued Group's Held Held
Place of incorporation ~ Form of business and paid-up capital effective by the bya  Principal
Name of company and business structure and debt securities interest ~ Company  subsidiary activities
ERDHERERARMAA R P EEE IR 500,000,000 T 88% - 8% FHERE
Nanjing Jumbo Golden Wheel The PRC Sino-foreign joint vencure  RMB300,000,000 88% - 88%  Property development
Realty Company Limited*
HRAESRERARAT  HH P REE NEH 452,000,007 100% - 0% FRERE
Nanjing Ruby Golden Wheel Real  The PRC Sino-foreign joint venture  RMB452,000,000 100% - 100%  Property development
Estate Co., Led.*
ST R hE IBELE N EH230000,0007C 100% - 0% FHERE
HRAT
Waxi Yizhong Real Estate The PRC Wholly-foreign invested ~ RMB230,000,000 100% - 100%  Property development
Development Co., Led.* enterprise
PNBRRERARAT e BAAREEAT  ARH 20000007 32.64% - Nele BHERE
Yangzhou Sufangtou Realty The PRC Domestic limited liability ~ RMB20,000,000 32.64% - 32.64%  Property development
Co., Led D company
PATERLTRSESE 08 BAERRELT  ARE20000007 100% - 100% BEEE
R EERAR LA
Yangzhou Economic & The PRC Domestic limited liabilicy ~ RMB2,000,000 100% - 100%  Hotel operation
Technological Development Zone company
Golden Wheel Sing Yuet Hotel
Management Co., Ltd *
RUSREREFAMAA  HH SEBELE 5,000,000 % ¢ 100% - 0% FHERE
Changsha Jade Golden Wheel The PRC Wholly-foreign invested  USD3,000,000 100% - 100%  Property development

Realty Company Limited*

enter-prise
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14 JRRE A vl Z B ¥ ) 14 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)
AL I
Proportion of ownership interest
CRTRSERA ARE KR WEAR
Ai4H AR REERS  REERDRA RfgH@ERHE RS FHE R TEER
Particulars of issued Group's Held Held
Place of incorporation ~ Form of business and paid-up capital effective by the bya  Principal

Name of company and business structure and debt securities interest ~ Company  subsidiary activities

EHeREHERY i SEBELRE 6,000,000% 72 100.00% - w000 BHERERMERE
HRAR

Wuxi Golden Wheel Real Estate ~ The PRC Wholly-foreign invested ~ USD6,000,000 100.00% - 100.00%  Property development and
Development Co., Ltd * enterprise property leasing

HRERARR R i IBELE 2000000 % TC 100.00% - l000%  BEER
ARAT

Nanjing Golden Wheel Glory The PRC Wholly-foreign invested  USD2,000,000 100.00% - 100.00%  Investment Holding
Commercial Management enterprise
Co., Led *

SRMEEARRARLAY AR HRREAA 1T 100.00% - l000%  EHEEKER

Golden Wheel Commercial Hong Kong Limited liability HK$1 100.00% - 10000%  Property operation
Management Holdings Limited company

HHERERERARAA  hH SEBELRE AR 4000000007C  100.00% - l000%  FHERE

Zhuzhou Jade Golden Wheel Realty ~ The PRC Wholly-foreign invested ~ RMBA00,000,000 100.00% - 100.00%  Property development
Company Limited* enterprise

BHERARNEEH il AR RAL NRHELO0OOTT — 10000% - l000%  HEME
HRAR

Wuxi Chuanghui Golden Business  The PRC Domestic limited RMBT,000,000 100.00% - 100.00%  Property leasing
Management Co., Ltd * liability

EREBELREARAA: R BAAREL AEHS 000007 10000% - 000 EEEE

Nanjing Golden Wheel Xingzhi ~ The PRC Domestic limited RMBS,000,000 100.00% - 100.00%  Hotel operation
Hotel Co., Led.* liability



14 JAKE 2 A 2 B ¥ )

AR

Name of company

B RN TRARAA
Nanjing Xinghao Decoration

Engineering Co., Ltd. *

BRAHERERARAA
Nanjing Emerald Golden Wheel
Realty Co., Ltd.*

BRI E AR
Nanjing Golden Wheel Hotel

Management Co., Ltd. *

BEHEREREXARLA
Wuxi Jade Golden Wheel Realty

Company Limited*

BHREERRARLA
Wuxi Metro Business Development

Company Limited*

HREREEREE
AR
Nanjing Golden Wheel Xingda

Business Management Co., Ltd *

B EHEERARLA
Nanjing Jinyi Business

Management Co., Led. *

Ak B A

Place of incorporation

and business

il
The PRC

il
The PRC

T
The PRC

il
The PRC

i
The PRC

hE

The PRC

i
The PRC

14

FHEREA

Form of business

structure

A RAR

Domestic limited

lsbility

b REE

Sino-foreign joint venture

UL et
Wholly-foreign invested

enterprise

BRARERE
Domestic limited

liability

BRAREL
Domestic limited

liability

AR RRL

Domestic limited

liability

A ARE N

Domestic limited

lisbility

ERERAERA
BB b

Particulars of issued
and paid-up capital

and debt securities
AFEH1,000,000 10

RMB1,000,000

820,000,000
RMB20,000,000

2,000000F T
USD2,000,000

B820,000,000 7C
RMB20,000,000

830,000,000 1T
RMB30,000,000

NE®12,000,000

RMB12,000,000

B 6,000,0007C
RMB6,000,000

R B R B
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
(/»/:4/’ S S INE 2L, (Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

B R ke

Proportion of ownership interest

K%M
L
Group’s

effective

interest

100.00%
100.00%

100.00%
100.00%

100.00%
100.00%

100.00%
100.00%

00.00%
60.00%

100.00%

100.00%

100.00%
100.00%

AR
it
Held

by the
Company

(i P
kiR
Held
bya

subsidiary
- 100.00%

- 100.00%

- 100.00%
- 100.00%

- 100.00%
- 100.00%

- 100.00%
- 100.00%

- 00.00%
- 60.00%

- 100.00%

- 100.00%

- 100.00%
- 100.00%

INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

FEEH

Principal

activities

VES 3

Property decoration

FHER#S

Property development

et

Investment Holding

FER#%

Property development

WEHE

Property leasing

VESiN

Property leasing

VELS

Property leasing
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14 JAKE 2 A 2 B ¥ )

AR

Name of company

HRERERT AR
Nanjing Golden Wheel Xinghao
Hotel Co., Led.*

BRAEREERARL A
Nanjing Tourmaline Business

Management Company Limited*

Ak B A

Place of incorporation

and business

il
The PRC

G
The PRC

14

Form of business

structure

A RAR

Domestic limited

lsbility

AAARES

Domestic limited

liability

* Ao F Y SE SRR 2% o RS A T

(08 7 &R b e

Wish1 s ARG Bk ARSI B A R
% T R R 8
HR AL R EME RGP
VLR o (R AR 4 3 SRR R R AR
VL e 40 36 o T R AT (45 o

INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

ERERAERA AEE AN WEAR
RfgH@ERHE RS FHE R TEER
Particulars of issued Group's Held Held
and paid-up capital effective by the bya  Principal
and debt securities interest ~ Company  subsidiary activities
B 2,000,000 100.00% - loo00%  EEER
RMB2,000,000 100.00% - 100.00%  Hotel operation
ARHS 000007 10000% - 000 BREREER
RMBS,000,000 100.00% - 100.00%  Property operation
* The English translation of the above companies are for reference only. Their official

B R ke

Proportion of ownership interest

names are in Chinese.

Note 1: The entity is accounted for as a subsidiary as in accordance with the investment
agreement. The board of directors of the entity can direct the relevant activities of
the entity. Since the Group is able to appoint more than half of the directors in the

board of the entity, the directors of the Group consider that the Group is able to

exercise control to the entity.

224 20 R b B 4 B A il GOLDEN WHEEL TIANDI HOLDINGS COMPANY LIMITED



15

TG B 2 ¥ 1 i 4
TR E KR S A Ik
RoE A S S B
RS A K

Wandak

Name of joint venture

HRAERERRARAT
(T8

Nanjing Ruiyu Real Estate
Development Co., Ltd *

(‘Nanjing Ruiyu”)

T R A
AIRA ([ H M)

Changzhou Peiling Real Estate
Development Co., Ltd *
(“Changzhou Peiling”)

TR ST A
HRAH  (NLHRER )
Jiangsu Realty Tnvestment Urban
Development Co., Ltd *

(‘Jiangsu Fangtou”)

BEEREREEARAT
(HEEHRES)

Lianyungang Sufangtou Realty
Tnvestment Co., Ltd *

(‘Lianyungang Sufangtou”)

LB 7 B A R ¢
(LB f )

Jiangsu Shanghao Real Estate
Development Co., Ltd *
(‘Jiangsu Shanghao”)

o A S A A

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

(BR AR R S LN R 1551 ) (Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

FHERREA

Form of business

structure

B GTRE (A

Domestic limited liabilicy

company

b B

Sino-foreign joint venture

B ETRE( A

Domestic limited liabilicy

company

BB TRE (A

Domestic limited liabilicy

company

B ETRE( A

Domestic limited liabilicy

company

15 INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES

The following list contains only the particulars of material associates, all
of which are unlisted corporate entities whose quoted market price is not
available as at 31 December 2021:

AL I
Proportion of ownership interest
Ak AEE kAR WEAY
LA (ARW)  EEER  FRE FRE 2ERE
Group's Held by
Place of incorporation Registered capital ~ effective the Held by
and business (RMB) interest ~ Company  asubsidiary  Principal activity
il WAET 25% - ue FHERE (W)
The PRC 20 million 5% - 25%  Property development
(Note 1)
il WAET 133 - By BHERE )
The PRC 20 million 13.33% - 13.33%  Property development
(Note 2)
i L0 B 18% - 187 SEPER (3E3)
The PRC 1,000 million 18% - 18%  Investment holding (Note 3)
il S0H B 10% - 0% FHERE (K
The PRC 50 million 10% - 10%  Property development
(Note 4)
il WAET 37% - 9 FHERE ()
The PRC 20 million 37% - 37%  Property development
(Note 5)

2021 4E JEH % ANNUAL REPORT 2021

225



226 -

o B S R M

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

s

(BR1F I 21 2 AN B HE DY 7 ) (Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

15 RBE A v WHER )

15 INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Concinued)

BEATLR EHRREA R R
Form of business Place of incorporation
Name of joint venture structure and business
IRk i A R+ BRARREAR  HH
(N )
Jiangsu Shangqing Real Estate Domestic limited liabilicy ~ The PRC
Development Co., Led. company
(‘Jiangsu Shangging”)
BRECRENERTARLA AAAREEL Gl
(MEZELH)

Lianyungang Golden wheel Real Estate  Domestic limited liabilicy ~ The PRC
Development Co., Led.

company

(‘Lianyungang Golden Wheel’)

=

BfeE2

o R 3L A RS 255« A
X%ﬁﬁﬁﬁ@%

BT bE+H > REBESIN =4
TS =7 S T B s
%\ R 5,000,000 7T 3 1 A 259 i HE
T I S 5 A v R ST B A R AT A D
REREMEEE - R T4
T 0 8 B B R e R A A 2

WZE—LETZH > AEBE R
208 5 =y LT T H N B 0
EE AR 100,000,000 76 1 35 47 13.33%
JREHE o A B B IR S o N g 2 R &
T—%#EH Wit AEHEER LA
BN KR o F N
BHRFBEBSI A REMTAR  fF
J75 7 B SE TS o Nl R 2R N 58
WEFEMESREH > R % T
PR RZIEE o i ZF = —4F > H M
¥ EEAR D ZE AR 20H# T -

Note 1:

Note 2:

BN 1
Proportion of ownership interest
Ak KRR KA WEAT
(ARW)  HEEE  FEE fRE BERE
Group's Held by
Registered capital ~ effective the Held by
(RMB) interest ~ Company ~ asubsidiary  Principal activity
WHET 3% - % RERE (Rt
20 million 37% - 37%  Property development
(Note 6)
EL Y 20% - 0 FERE (R)
50 million 2% - 2% Property development
(Note 7)

The English translation of the above companies are for reference only. Their

official names are in Chinese.

In October 2017, Nanjing Ruiyu was established by the Group and other three
independent third parties, among which the Group injected capital contribution
of RMB5,000,000 and has a 25% equity interest. Nanjing Ruiyu is a limited
liability company established in PRC and engaged in property development. In
2021, Nanjing Ruiyu has almost completed delivery of project in Nanjing, PRC.

In December 2017, Changzhou Peiling was established by the Group and
other two independent third parties, among which the Group injected capital
contribution of RMB100,000,000 and has a 13.33% equity interest. The Group
is able to appoint a director in the board of directors of Changzhou Peiling and
therefore the directors of the Group consider that the Group has significant
influence over Changzhou Peiling. Changzhou Peiling is a limited liability
company established in PRC and engaged in property development. Changzhou
Peiling has completed the construction of its property development project in
Changzhou and commenced delivery of project in 2020. In 2021, Changzhou
Peiling reduced its capital to RMB20 million.
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15
B &k s

Wi5E4 -

Bt 5Es

Btk -

Wi5E7 -

(7

TR A vl W RE SR (40)

WZZE—UFENA > REBB R I A
T SL A = BSL T RE S 4% > A 4 ) i 1
& AR #36,000,000 7C 3 £ 4 18% K
o AREMAHNIHERNEREGF
TH—%EH WL REBEFEDR
AREEBLEERA KRS - TR
[ 45 B — R m B R ST A B4 A PR AT
AR REFWERE - T —JUE
TLRR G5 3500 ob B 45 N 4% 5 5 ot 7S ) % 0
Ho i ZZRE IREREREF
B A — {8 5 B 0B B R A B
E Y 28 55 BB A < TLRR S 1R
P BEE Y 2E BB I H R 2022 4F5E R, o

S T AR N A 4 (] B A U 47
WL S ML R R T KA
£ W E B R 5,000,000 78 K A 10%
FCHE o A< 42 [ A A0 1A B R 1 10 o
FERT—FESR MALEERZA
REMBEEBEEEFERLE
L T2 R 5 43 2 S o I R T Y A 1 R
FALAE S fEF R e B g 2T - R
SRR BERRERZE TR
W 10— (8 5 b BB T o

WO TEBAENA > REERS - ZH
i 55 =5 BT TR WA o AR SE B
N B #8,900,000 7T K HE A 499 B HE - A&
EEAOGEHER - TENAZH A

379% MBI B A R B N R 97,900,000
TCo i B T AR TR M AR T
B 1 — W 5 PR IEE -

TLERM TG oL A B RN o R
T AEEER AR
7,900,000 JG J% #E i 37% M HE YL RR 14 1
Pl 7 PRI — (R A B R EE

WoEZ—FHA AEMER —ZH
1t 98 3755 = 7 BT o Al o A
T N R ¥ 14,000,000 7T K A 709% 1B
ME o AEBMBER —_F - —F LA
BE 20w KEBEESE L AR
10,000,000 7G ° it — & = —4F » HE 4
AT b A — S
THH -

At B A W N R M AR A AR A
B -

A

15

Note 3:

Note 4:

Note 5:

Note 6:

Note 7:

fo B S R A

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FHI S AN WD 7R ) (Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

In September 2019, Jiangsu Fangtou was established by the Group and other five
independent third parties, among which the Group injected capital contribution
of RMB36,000,000 and has a 18% equity interest. The Group is able to appoint a
director in the board of directors of Jiangsu Fangtou and therefore the directors of
the Group consider that the Group has significant influence over Jiangsu Fangtou.
Jiangsu Fangtou is a company limited by shares established in PRC and engaged
in property investment. In 2019, Jiangsu Fangtou has invested a property
development project in Yangzhou, PRC. In 2020, Jiangsu Fangtou has invested
a property development project in Nanjing, PRC, and 2 properties development
projects in Lianyungang, PRC. The property development project invested by
Jiangsu Fangtou in Yangzhou will be completed in 2022.

In August 2020, Lianyungang Sufangtou was established by the Group and
other four independent third parties, among which the Group injected capital
contribution of RMB5,000,000 and has a 10% equity interest. The Group is
able to appoint a director in the board of directors of Lianyungang Sufangtou
and therefore the directors of the Group consider that the Group has significant
influence over Lianyungang Sufangtou. Lianyungang Sufangtou is a company
limited by shares established in PRC and engaged in property investment. In
2021, Lianyungang Sufangtou has invested a property development project in

Lianyungang, PRC.

Jiangsu Shanghao was established by the Group and the other third party in
April 2020. The Group injected capital contribution of RMB8,900,000 and has a
49% equity interest. The Group’s equity interests changed to 51% in June 2020.
Afterwards, the Group changes the entity interests to 37% and the actual amount
of capital contribution was RMB7,900,000. In 2021, Jiangsu Shanghao has

invested a property development project in Lianyungang, PRC.

Jiangsu Shangqing was established in August 2020. In December 2021, The
Group injected capital contribution of RMB7,900,000 and has a 37% equity
interest. Jiangsu Shangqing has invested a property development project in

Lianyungang, PRC.

Lianyungang Golden wheel was established the Group and the other third party in
May 2021. The Group injected capital contribution of RMB14,000,000 and has a
70% equity interest. The Group’s equity interests changed to 20% in September
2021 and the actual amount of capital contribution was RMB10,000,000. In
2021, Lianyungang Golden wheel has invested a property development project in

Lianyungang, PRC.

All of the above associates are accounted for using the equity method in the

consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

(BRI F2 o5 51 3 AN R I 5 7R ) (Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

15 BB AR MR 2 15 INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)
B ORI E B AR 2 TR
T8 08 ) (R I V%) Y B S R A L
G RS R R T Y B T P B R AR R I

Summarised financial information of the material associate, Changzhou
Peiling, adjusted for any differences in accounting policies, and reconciled to
the carrying amounts in the consolidated financial statements, are disclosed

below:

Wil
Changzhou Peiling
RO EEE
2021 2020
ANBRH T ANRHT T
RMB’000 RMB’000
i 2 ) R TH A Gross amounts of the associate’s
TE Current assets 290,133 1,196,605
I iy Non-current assets 3,600 220
WE A Current liabilities (115,309) (278,109)
R4 Equity (178,424) (918,716)
& Revenue 13,263 1,729,004
FRass (1R) /i (Loss)/profit from continuing operations (10,292) 205,961
4 17 45 AR R Total comprehensive income (10,292) 205,961
SR A [ W 2 A ) P R 4 R Reconciled to the Group’s interests in
the associate
W ) V(L R T L Gross amounts of net assets of the associate 178,424 918,716
AAE [ E R 5 Group’s effective interest 13.33% 13.33%
7S (B IR A T A R 1) B VR (E Group’s share of net assets of the associate 23,789 122,495
& B R R Z IR A Carrying amount in the consolidated
financial statements 23,789 122,495
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TR A vl W RE SR (40)

1 51 SR Hg 2 ) Y MR R

R B R B
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
(/J;/:Jf /;'////TEHT GFE LA R ’/:/}?Jzﬁ/ﬁf/ (Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

15 INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

Aggregate information of associates that are not individually material:

SR SRR
2021 2020
ANRWFr AR T
RMB’000 RMB’000
SRR B ER AR JEE R Aggregate carrying amount of individually
2 ) 1 % 1 4L (E immaterial associates in the consolidated
financial statements 51,212 81,738
75 [ A 5% 5 W N R Y Aggregate amounts of the Group’s share
k] of those associates’
%%@% ESi ] 2] Loss from continuing operations (13,400) (12,215)
VNIESFFE-{ 25 Loss from discontinued operations - (62,170)
2 T i s AR Total comprehensive income (13,400) (74,385)
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16

T8 A R I AR
UTFAEME =% - —F A=t
IS B S B R » 2 3 (0

MR IRFT A SR A B R A

fRLELR

Name of joint venture

BRSBRMHARAA
(TEFRE A ) |) (B3k 1)
Powetlong Golden Wheel Coral
Company Limited* (‘Powerlong
Golden Wheel Coral”) (Note 1)

HESRARNBARA A
(EELRABAR)
(WD)

Powerlong Golden Wheel
International Famous Limited*
(‘Powerlong Golden Wheel
Famous”) (Note 1)

PN eRERE AR
(MM e R E R )
(W3 1)

Yangzhou Golden Wheel Powerlong
Realty Co., Led.* (*Yangzhou
Golden Wheel Powerlong
Realty”) (Note 1)

DM F IR R AR A A
(MMt ) (i3 2)
Yangzhou Jiashiwei Construction

Development Limited*
(“Yangzhou Jiashiwei") (Note 2)

SEARBEARAA
(M AR ) (B3 3)

Jin Gang Corporation Investments
Company Limited* (‘Jingang
Corporation”) (Note 3)

EHEREA

Form of business
structure

HRRELA

Limited liability
company

HRRELA

Limited liability
company

SEBELRE

Wholly-foreign invested
enterprise

BB TRE(E A

Domestic limited liability
company

HRRELA

Limited liability
company

16 INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES

Details of the Group’s interest in joint ventures 31 December 2021, which
is accounted for using the equity method in the consolidated financial

statements, are as follows:

B ARG ke

Proportion of ownership interest

ARE KR WEAR
LA EES alEA  REEE R B TR
Group’s Held Held
Place of incotporation effective by the bya
and business Registered capital interest ~ Company  subsidiary  Principal activity
ERELHE 50,000 % T 9% 499 - BEER
(B aRE]
British Virgin Islands US$50 thousand 49% 49% - Investment holding
(‘BVI)
Fi Yt 4% - do  BEER
Hong Kong HK$10 million 49% - 49%  Investment holding
il 6IHEET 4% - i FHERE
the PRC US$61 million 49% - 49%  Property development
il AT 20% - 0 FHERE
the PRC RMB140 million 20% - 20%  Property development
&b NS0BT 55.56% - onsen  BRER
Hong Kong HK$11,250 59.56% N 59.56%  Investment holding
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*

B

BE5E3

(/J/»/:/

A B AR RS ()

LA A R SRR A 255 -
XATRITIER 4 A -

CRCE R CF EE T

=ob B ARG AT B b M B
499 WA A% - T T RE A 4 0 ) 5
HE AR R AR sE  TTE BEe A
SEEREAT P 4 0 B HE R A R AR IR (R
A (SR ) -

AR A S B o o I 4 P o R 4
By —wT#Jr e B AR ELS
SEL S 35 41 1 S5 (o] i 2 AR B ) o AR
ST B LR F5 A ERIRE R 50 — TR Tr 2
— B0 A o A o B SE I T AR S £
ARz BERE-

CRCE R CFCEEL N

= H o AR A BN 5 1 209
) B HE < MR R A S i o BN B A
A A B B H A T 4 77 S R
T 50 B 2 S M 3 M [ i 2 A
I 7 8 8 A A T T St ) AT G
Fb T 4977 2 — B 5o RBE > #5005
e s ARSI s A LB 2 R E AR

PR EE T AZT o AREH

Fi A 4 3L 55,569 1) IR HE o IR 18 &%
Ak o v AL b A SR R AT
#1707 SRR FER] - R B B 2 B 4 v ot
O3 5 [ 4 2 A B D % A A it
e A 7 L HE A LA T #0022 — SRR
W &M ARN AAERZ &

-

e

16

*

Note 1:

Note 2:

Note 3:

o A S A A

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FHIEE S 2 AN BT 7 ) (Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (Continued)

The English translation of the above companies are for reference only. Their

official names are in Chinese.

At 31 December 2021 and 2020, the Group holds 49% of the equity investments
of Powerlong Golden Wheel Coral, which holds 100% interests in Powerlong
Golden Wheel Famous and which in turn holds 100% equity interests in
Yangzhou Golden Wheel Powerlong Realty (collectively referred to as the “Coral
Group”).

Under the joint venture agreement, the Coral Group is jointly controlled by
the Group and the other party because the relevant activity affecting its returns
from its involvement with the Coral Group requires the unanimous consent of
the Group and other party sharing the control. Therefore the Coral Group is

accounted for as a joint venture of the Group.

At 31 December 2021 and 2020, the Group holds 20% of the equity interests
of Yangzhou Jiashiwei. Under the joint venture agreement, Yangzhou Jiashiwei
is jointly controlled by the Group and other parties because the relevant activity
affecting its returns from its involvement with the Yangzhou Jiashiwei requires
the unanimous consent of the Group and other parties sharing the control.

Therefore, Yangzhou Jiashiwei is accounted for as a joint venture of the Group.

At 31 December 2021, the Group holds 55.56% of the equity interests of Jingang
corporation. Under the joint venture agreement, Jingang corporation is jointly
controlled by the Group and other parties because the relevant activity affecting
its returns from its involvement with the Jingang corporation requires the
unanimous consent of the Group and other parties sharing the control. Therefore,

Jingang corporation is accounted for as a joint venture of the Group.
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16 REBEENHER 2 16 INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (Continued)

LB IR A A o 22 510 o 8 2 3
T 1 A RO SRR B R IR

Summarised financial information of Coral Group, adjusted for any differences

in accounting policies, and a reconciliation to the carrying amount in the

{2 #IRPEH W consolidated financial statements, are disclosed below:
e St e S 22
2021 2020
AR T AR T T
RMB’000 RMB 000
381 45 1 A A Gross amounts of Coral Group
BB Current assets 611,635 709,712
T B Non-current assets 705,000 683,908
E) A fH Current liabilities (230,280) (307,812)
EIEN=K i Non-current liabilicies (273,220) (293,220)
W5 Equity (813,135) (792,588)
b EE AR Included in the above assets and liabilities:
B KB &S EY) Cash and cash equivalents 10,167 5,483
nEemAE FEE S K Current financial liabilities (excluding trade and
JFC A B A BRI DA B A other payables and provisions) - (4,120)
EREeMaE AEEEsS X Non-current financial liabilities (excluding trade
JFC A B A5 FRIE DA B B M) and other payables and provisions) (185,000) (205,000)
g Revenue 112,019 91,966
A A S Ui Profit from continuing operations 20,545 4,637
A 1A 36 ) Profit for the year 20,545 4,637
2 T 4 ARAE Total comprehensive income 20,545 4,637
Al s A LA Included in the above profit:
I8 I 85 Depreciation and amortisation 87 -
FLE WA Interest income 100 120
B 74 5 [ 77 S50 4 T E 5 MR Reconciled to the Group’s interest in
Coral Group
I 888 4 19 O U A Gross amounts of Coral Group net assets 813,135 792,588
A AL R 45 Group’s effective interest 49% 49%
A B JRE A W A R I S VR (E Group’s share of net assets of the associate 398,436 388,368
75 5 B HE 4 R T Carrying amount of the Group’s interests 398,436 388,368
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16 INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (Continued)

Aggregate information of joint ventures that are not individually material:

SR SRR
2021 2020
AR T AR T T
RMB’000 RMB'000
SRR B ER AR JEE R Aggregate carrying amount of individually
A N R A immaterial joint venture in the consolidated
financial statements 95,183 24,696
AL ZE RSB AE Aggregate amounts of the Group’s share of the
PURIEH 88 joint venture’s
TR A8 28 1 JE Vi / (E18) Profit/(loss) from continuing operations 18,082 (1,167)
At 2 TR WA R Other comprehensive income - -
2T i R AR Total comprehensive income 18,082 (1,167)
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17 Hofb 4 b 17 OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS
SR TR
2021 2020
A REFor ARWEFIT
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR A B0 4 S = Financial assets measured at FVTPL
—FEEE — Held-for-trading = 39,966
=k Bl AR S (M5E) — Unlisted equity securities (Note) 193,240 192,440
—HAth — Others 16,207 93,255
N TR R HAt 2 1 i 45 9 Financial assets measured at FVTOCI
Gl E 3,699 3,834
213,146 329,495
B c VLY A T — AR Less: amounts due within one year
shown under current assets = (39,966)
FE B A E Amounts shown under non-current assets 213,146 289,529

BEGE © JF b T PR R 2 A R P I R 4R AT IR0 A PR
A A] (TBE M B B 8T D) 0 SO > S8R4T
— T BT P R R P AT o R
HWATHET - TERAT IREE - R
RS BRI AT EFHE - R s
AR T (A R 193,240,000 0 (. F &
A0 NR 192,440,000 7C) KA F 84T
DA B AR SE B4 () 25 T SR AT RV AR I

18 P EmE

RoF-—F+A=+—H > AE@MZ
bR T AR SR T B o T B
B 3E TG e R A B AT 8 BV 2 AR
GIBR o AR IR > A B BRI (49 A R
5 1,464,990,000 TG (& —F4E : NR W
2,742,114,000 70) Z % T BB b 1 B4 3
CHEH T R1T - DR AR B IR < 5 T8
FTREEHELR -

18

Note: The unlisted equity securities represent an equity interests in Xiamen International
Bank Co., Ltd. (“XIB”), a licensed commercial bank established in the PRC and is
principally engaged in the banking business, retail banking and funding business.
The carrying amount is measured at fair value at the end of the reporting period.
At the end of reporting period, total carrying amount of RMB193,240,000 (2020:
RMB192,440,000) were pledged to banks to secure certain banking facilities
granted to the Group.

PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT FOR SALE

At 31 December 2021, the Group’s properties under development for
sale are located in the PRC. All of the properties under development for
sales are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. At the end of
reporting period, certain of the Group’s properties under development for
sale with a carrying amount of approximately RMB1,464,990,000 (2020:
RMB2,742,114,000) were pledged to banks to secure certain banking

facilities granted to the Group.
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20

(7

RF, ERENLIE S

RoZFEZ—F+ZH=1+—H AEHD
B TAFE AL B A R A o BT R
O T B 0 2 T i A BT 8 BV 2.
AR 5B o TR SR AR > A B2 R T
#NR¥#1,653,327,000 00 (& A4
N B #1251,619,000 C) 2 %5 F B % T.0%
B O TRIT > DA EEER
HTHRATHEESER -

FFA 1 B 1 5 8

SRR TR A B R

A

19

20

Assets classified as held for sale

fo B S R A

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FHI S AN WD 7R ) (Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

COMPLETED PROPERTIES FOR SALE

At 31 December 2021, the Group’s completed properties for sale are situated
in the Mainland China and Hong Kong. All completed properties for sales
are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. At the end of reporting
period, certain of the Group’s completed properties for sale with a carrying
amount of approximately RMB1,653,327,000 (2020: RMB1,251,619,000)
were pledged to banks to secure certain banking facilities granted to the

Group.

NON-CURRENT ASSET HELD FOR SALE

R R R
2021 2020
ANREFT ANRBETT
RMB’000 RMB’000
184,289 -

BE-Z-—HF+-A=+—HILEE
PSR A sy A T REDUNE
318,000,000 JC F A AE th & —THI B 2 o
REFEZ—F+ZA=1—H > %xHM
R ZREWENR—FE_—F+H
=t — BB ARG A MR R AR
TEHER R B & E -

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group entered into an
agreement with an independent third party to dispose an investment property
for a consideration of RMB318,000,000. As at 31 December 2021, the
transaction have not been completed, the investment property was classified
as non-current asset held for sale in the consolidated statement of financial

position as at 31 December 2021.

2021 4E JEH % ANNUAL REPORT 2021

235



236

o 7 A S A A

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

(Br 15 B #2n IP B LI RS ) (Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

21

BRI R 21 CONTRACT ASSETS
SR e S 222
2021 2020
ARWFr ARWT T
RMB’000 RMB 000
TEAG A A G B A Incremental costs to obtain contracts 34,210 15,205

WEoFE R FEZREF A=
H B AL 2 A &) A B S A 7 6 B R B K%
F b AR B (5 5 10 8 B 0 B R O % 5 Ak
AEE RS B E RN ETLE
Fhnwk) M EHEEMSEH - &4 A
AR E i R MM A4S
1R 5 WSR2 B O B BH S — 3 4
AR R R B AR AR S
N #34,210,000 70 (ZF ZF4 « AR
15,205,000 7C) * 4F A HE 40 A ) 5 A AL AR
) &5 B K AL AR 1 BB A

Contract costs capitalised as at 31 December 2021 and 2020 relate to the
incremental sales commissions paid to sales employees and property agents
whose selling activities resulted in customers entering into sale and purchase
agreements for the Group’s properties which are still under construction
at the reporting date. Contract costs are recognised as part of selling and
marketing expenses in the consolidated statement of profit or loss in the
period in which revenue from the related property sales is recognised. The
amount of capitalised costs recognised in profit or loss during the year was
RMB34,210,000 (2020: RMB15,205,000). There was no impairment in
relation to the opening balance of capitalised costs or the costs capitalised

during the year.
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U B Ui R ek

52 5 REMSGHOR £ AR 3 B e 4 T X
(B DA R B 150 ) 3 B o3 R 3 9 e i
& o B P36 2 AU AR A B S 1 ok
TR o A & — & TSRO - SR

AREEMERTA TR RRIGEREN -

22

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

Trade receivables mainly comprises certain consideration for sale of properties
and rental receivable in respect of self-owned investment properties and sub-
leased properties. Consideration in respect of sale of properties is receivable in
accordance with the terms of related sale and purchase agreements. Rentals
are usually received in advance. However, longer credit periods might grant

to certain customers on a discretions basis.

TR “ECEH
2021 2020
Bif & AR T ANRIEFTT
Note RMB’000 RMB000
B 5 RE WA Trade receivables 28,066 77,996
FEW A 7 A ¥ 30H Amounts due from associates and
joint ventures (1) 83,474 110,427
HoAh R i E Other debtors 178,543 253,914
AR R CEi=E ] Less: allowance for credit losses (27,714) (27,714)
TR A F R Y 4 A Financial assets measured at amortised cost 262,369 414,623
45 7B T Y B Advances to contractors (1) 35,434 12,023
o T A BLIH Other taxes prepaid (i) 165,124 108,297
462,927 534,943
B &E Notes:
(1) HTEEAR GEEENRE ?Aﬁ 11 # (1) The advances to associates, joint ventures and contractors are unsecured, interest-
Ty BEIRAT G B R E R A free and repayable on demand.
(ii) A T AT B T A 0 S A vl (i) Included in other taxes prepaid are value added tax receivables in PRC arising from

WO B -

the sales of property.
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22 ®5) B 34l HE WO I () 22
A 1% 2 b

BEBAIAR - HRYERA AR
e H 251 7 5 B UCGRIE (R (5 SR

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)

Ageing analysis

As of the end of the reporting period, the ageing analysis of trade receivables

net of allowance for credit losses presented based on the date of delivery of

) ARE AT properties/date of rendering of services, is as follows:
Sf e e
2021 2020
ANBRH T ANRWTIT
RMB’000 RMB’000
30KA Within 30 days 25,125 69,510
312 60K 31 to 60 days 2,236 6,709
G1E 180K 61 to 180 days 705 1,777
28,066 77,996

JT A Al B 5 B F A R OSSR T S — 4
P i o] e 5 A S

A B A 4 15 SRR I 5 (UHE L 2 B
ST E A 9 £ B0 JRUB A W5 330a)

All of the other trade and other receivables are expected to be recovered or

recognised as expense within one year.

Further details on the Group’s credit policy and credit risk arising from trade

debtors and bills receivable are set out in note 33(a).
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23 SZRR ST Ak

23  RESTRICTED BANK DEPOSITS

e St S i
2021 2020
Bif & AR T ANRIEFTT
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
Foft 32 R 147 3K Other restricted deposits (i) 451,034 257,138

R PRI 5 DRI 9 £7 35K Deposits pledged for guarantees granted
to customers (i1) 9,977 13,957
FRARAT B R 9 A7 K Deposits pledged for bank loans (i) 407,000 293,098
868,011 564,193

AT Analysed as:

HiE Current 834,241 383,182
E| el Non-current 33,770 181,011
868,011 564,193

i}

(@)

(ii)

(iii)

BY

A HORE A BA R B T AT IR W
SRAT A A T YA AR 5 1 o B B T
7 H E R R IE B o 52 BRI SRAT A SO IR )
K E R TR MR -

4 AT T AT AR SR & 5
HRATEE T4 T 1048 BB R 490 0 9 A R
SRATAE A o 2 IR SR AT A7 e SRAT W 31 &
FF 1] S5AT 4 5 AR B 90 2 9 B R B AR
1R P45 th 4% 48 5 3 A HEAT 3 420 6 A B o
ARV ERR S R BT A R AR R A
T AR A R

%5 FOEAR HEAT T AT AR 4 T SRAT A K
MOS0 L I N R AT Ao

Notes:

(ii)

(iii)

The amounts represent bank deposits in RMB placed with certain banks in the PRC
and the usage of which are restricted to certain of the Group’s property development
projects in the PRC. The restricted bank deposits will be released when the property

projects obtain the certification of the completion.

The amounts represent bank deposits in RMB pledged to banks as security for
certain mortgage loans granted by the banks to the Group’s customers. The
restricted bank deposits will be released upon receiving the building ownership
certificate of the respective properties by the banks from the customers as a pledge
for security to the mortgage loans granted. In the opinion of the directors of the
Company, the building ownership certificates will be granted within the next

twelve months.

The amounts represent bank deposits in RMB pledged to banks as security for

certain bank borrowings.
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23 ZRGRHBAT K (4)

X BRI SR AT A7 Y 8] 2 M 3 ANF

A 3

23  RESTRICTED BANK DEPOSITS (Continued)

The restricted bank deposits carry fixed interest rates as follows:

e ey 2
2021
Range of interest rate per annum 0.3%-2.75%

= i
2020

0.3%-3.575%

24 Bl RIVBBL & YR
(a) BlEmPIT4M:

24 CASH AND OTHER CASH FLOW INFORMATION

(a)  Cash comprise:

R TR

2021 2020

AR T AR BT

RMB000 RMB'000

FHE & Cash on hand 1,116 1,605
|ITH & Cash at bank 345,794 847,515
HE Total 346,910 849,120
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24 CASH AND OTHER CASH FLOW INFORMATION
(Continued)

(b)  Reconciliation of (loss)/profit before taxation to cash generated from

I -

BRBLHT (iR ik A1

EFDUT A IR R
BEYIENTHES)

o FE R AR AR 1Y 4
NV B

Fi A B R A H A A T W42 19
4 A W (L 1R

52 5 B HC A WS T U (D 1R

ERN Y& Eiy

S A
R AR i 1 8 8 E 1Y
3=V ON
BATAE A B MA
SR E A Sl A
AT EF ARG
SMEERE (ki)

S o B 51 SR R 1 i i

FEAG % 2 w1 A s 4R

B At 8 i 2 A i

DLIBCAS 55 5 B S A SRR A 32

HEE 5 05 3

operations:

e St S i
2021 2020
P & AR T AR T T
Note RMB’000 RMB 000
(Loss)/profit before taxation (2,080,440) 126,766
Adjustments for:
Changes in fair value of investment
properties 1,597,661 (91,971)
Changes in fair value of financial assets
measured at FVTPL 5(b) 74,934 (368)
Impairment loss of financial assets measured
at FVTOCI 135 3,930
Impairment loss of trade and other
receivable 5(b) 55,896 -
Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment 6(c) 44,666 36,680
Finance costs 6(a) 254,759 233,545
Dividend income from financial assets
measured at FVTPL 5(a) (1,659) (6,267)
Interest income from banks deposits S(a) (27,323) (31,503)
Interest income from financial assets - (878)
Loss/(gain) on disposal of financial assets
measured at FVTPL 5(b) 1,520 (2,956)
Gain on repurchase of senior notes 5(b) (2,867) (36,970)
Share of losses of associates 15 14,772 46,930
Share of profits of joint ventures 16 (28,149) (1,105)
Equity-settled share-based payment
expenses 52 229
Foreign exchange gains (110,604) (231,650)
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24 BlERIABBL G YR ) 23 CASH AND OTHER CASH FLOW INFORMATION
(Continued)
(b)  BRBLHT (B54H) /i B B AC 2 B 15 Bl 42 2 (b)  Reconciliation of (loss)/profit before taxation to cash generated from
IR () operations: (Continued)
S L
2021 2020
Wit & AR F ANRHT T
Note RMB’000 RMB 000
BE ARG Changes in working capital:
B P RFE MWD, () Decrease/(increase) in properties under
development for sale 1,284,999 (96,553)
B LRrEY R Y / (B8m) Decrease/(increase) in completed properties
for sale 6,167 (758,010)
Z 5 Jo HoAth E WL R TH Ik D Decrease in trade and other receivables 37,432 316,617
B 5y e HoAh e s B (Increase)/decrease in trade and other
() Bib payables (192,416) 265,789
HHBAERN Increase in contract liabilities 488,995 910,532
BEEERM Increase in contract assets (19,005) (8,732)
TE A4 (B8 ) / W (Increase)/decrease in rental received in
advance (12,455) 13,861
3% PR SR AT A7 3K Increase in restricted bank deposits (189,906) (63,236)
BB R4 Cash generated from operations 1,197,164 624,680
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24 BlERIABBL G YR )

(0)

Al B 2 A R
TR MG BT &

EH & R R e -

MEFRHEEZA

BT B 4 & SRR B & i & i A R
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

23 CASH AND OTHER CASH FLOW INFORMATION
(Continued)

(¢) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities
The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities from financing
activities, including both cash and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from
financing activities are liabilities for which cash flows were, or future cash

B A B U R v 0 B 0 s flows will be, classified in the Group’s consolidated cash flow statement as
EEHHEREZ AR - cash flows from financing activities.
- BBELTY
Rirgat EMHA BERE  aebEA HEAR %
Amount due to
Interest associates and
Bank loans payables Senior notes joint ventures Lease lablites Total
\EEF:  Adfrr  lEePr  ARERT ARERT AR
RBI0 RMBIW RIBOW RIBU RIBUY RMBIW
(Wil (Fi 29) (Bt 2) (Bt )
(note 28) (note 29) (note 25) (note 27)
REBZREFZAZ=HR Ac31 December 2020 and 1 January 2021
i e g 811,506 195593 3304885 260,43 261050 6833177
RESATERY: Changes from financing cash flows:
%ﬁﬁﬁ/_ Wf B Proceeds from new bank loans 1,101,854 - - - - 1,101,854
Té?%f%ﬁm Repayment of bank loans (1,647,483) - = - - (1,647,483)
RahdlhatEan Advances from associates and joiat ventures = - - 67,286 - 67,286
HESARRAR L LR Repaymens to associates and joint ventures = = = (111,767) = (111,767)
ﬁiﬂgﬁﬁ% Bk Capical element of lease rentals paid - - - - (31,079) (31,079)
g Wﬁgiﬁ%ﬂ% o Tnterest element of lease rentals paid = = = = (14,840) (14,840)
%ﬁfi%%%ﬁﬁ BaR Proceeds from issue of senior notes - - 521,052 - - 521,052
BhrREERERL Payment of expense artibutzble o isue of
senior notes - - (11,930) - - (11.930)
%@Eﬁ%ﬁ Repurchse of senior note = = (61,518) = = (61,518)
BRELIERS Repayment of principel of senior notes = = (892,099) = = (892,009)
EHFIE Tnteet aid = (33578 = = = (33578
RERERERAAN Tod s o g s | 560 | R iy i 99 g
Bae Bebogalnens o S I R
S Other changes:
Rl v E S5 E Tncrease in lease Liablites from entering into
B s y new leases during the year = = - o 2,044 2,044
HER Kkt Inetestexpenses (oote () 179480 - 57,49 - 14840 651,469
FS B . Termination and modification of lease - - - - (55,915) (55915)
BH BT (e Gain on redemption ofsenior notes (note 5(b) - - (2,867) - - (2,867)
R BN Alﬁﬁi’l‘ Dectease of amount due to an associate - - - (8,576) - (8,576)
i ETCFT’E UERATER Amortzacion of senior notes and bank loan (181,587) 549,132 (437974) - - (70,429)
L e T S DO LU .
REFZ-EFZAZ-1 A3 December 2021 231.% 2LI47 2814004 207086 197,100 5,660,539
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24 Bl RIBB AR BB ) 23 CASH AND OTHER CASH FLOW INFORMATION
(Continued)
© MEGSH Z AR ) (c) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities
(Continued)
EftBEATR
Rrgat FEffHI8 BERg  aEbEH HEAE i
Amount due to
associates and
Bank loans Intetest payables Senor notes joint ventures Lease liahlicies Toul
NRRFE NEHFE NEHFE ARKFL NRRFI NEHFE
RMBUO RMBUOO RMBUIO0 RMBUI0O RMBUO0 RMBUO
(W) (W) (k) (Bt )
(note 28) (note 29) (note 29) (note 27)

REF-MEFZAZF=RR Ae31 December 2019 and 1 January 2020

B sy s s By i 1.60056
BERERERS Changes from financing cash flows:
FREEIRESH Proceeds from new bank loans 468,748 - - - - 468,748
R E Repayment of bark oans (L274,181) . . . . (L274,181)
BhARAELELS Advances from associates and joint ventures - - - 53,584 - 53,384
) AN &ﬁ ShERN Repayments to associates and joint ventures - - - (31,000) - (31,000)
EfEERSERR} Capital element ofese rentls pid - - - - (2,008) (2,008
ERHEREHERS Tnterest element of lease rentals paid - - - - (16,330) (16,330)
BHER TR GE Proceeds from issue of senior notes - - 2561986 - - 2561986
BrRARREERGE Payment of expense ateibutzble o isue of
Senior notes - - (34,000) - - (34,006)

BHELER Repurchase of senior note - - (1,790,411) - - (1,790,411)
EftHE Interest paid - (476,418) - - - (476,418)
BOLSRERIAN  Tdwgiwiwcgadle L e ns 659 60
L Bwgeadomens wwm SR WO 6478
Klesa: Other changes:
REERT iR EEE Tncteae in leas lnbilices from entering into

AR new leases during the year - - - - 290 2902
FER (H ) Tnttet expenses (note 6) 199,010 - 487480 - 16530 705,020
SRR Termination and modification of lease - - - - (12310) (12311)
B BT (W3t s Gain on redemption of senior notes (note 5(b) - - (36,970) - - (36970)
JEff— B AL WE‘W‘ Dectease of amounts due to an associate - - - (201,300) - (201,300)
PEEREERRATER  Amoriation o seniornoes and bank lomn (182,13) 571,385 (384.091) - - 4762
i Tooderchangs ] g mwy_ B8y o m o 0105
REFZRELZHZ=H Acd! December 2020 2811506 195593 3304889 260,145 21050 6833177
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23 CASH AND OTHER CASH FLOW INFORMATION

(Continued)
FiLES B 4 0 1 AR (d) Total cash outflow for leases

=
2021 2020
ARWFr ARWEFIC
RMB’000 RMB’000
MERERE Within financing cash flows 45,919 38,538
45,919 38,538

HECHET I GHEAR - These amounts relate to the following:
e L = T
2021 2020
ANRWFr AR T
RMB’000 RMB’000
EAMHEMHS Lease rentals paid 45,919 38,538
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25 RS B S0 ALK 25 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES
“RT A “ECEE
2021 2020
BT A BT ANR#T T
Note RMB’000 RMB000
2 5 REAS B E Trade payables 789,754 1,260,938
JEAT EE 95 Bills payables 157,240 -
L A R A RIE Other payables 642,556 654,058
RSB E I F B A Amounts due to associates and
IR joint ventures ) 207,086 260,143
1,796,636 2,175,139
Fff = - Note:
(i) JRE AT B 85 ) B A 2 R A S AT (i) Amounts due to associates and joint ventures are unsecured, interest-free and
%1@\&25:&%5}?%% ° repayment on demand.
R IR > B H 2500 E 5 A As of the end of the reporting period, the ageing analysis of trade payables
AIAR BRI ATt presented based on the invoice date, is as follows:
“ERTE S o
2021 2020
ANBH T ANRET T
RMB’000 RMB000
180 K I Within 180 days 681,656 1,175,729
181 365 K 181 to 365 days 157,384 114
14D B Over 1 year 107,954 85,095
H 5y REA 3R R A Total trade payables 946,994 1,260,938
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pre-sale of properties
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

26 CONTRACT LIABILITIES

Deposits and prepayments received from

R R
2021 2020
ANRIEFT AR BTor
RMB’000 RMB’000
2,370,706 1,881,711

JAZAR S 0 B 5 AT S R M By > AN
WO 5 RV AR B & P & o 5% 4%
EHEB/EHAR HEYHET T RKE
EEETEE o AUE T8 WA
PR ST RS S o R > AR S T R AR 4
LR R 8 5 B B A T & Ik HAT
% 7 [ 55 B 0 T S A
IR B AT ST BR K o A7 B BEKR B AR B
KRR ER T W36 R 2 2 AR 2
BHERE o LA o B A0 B IR A 4R T R
FR RGP ST 48 DAR R SR B 2
AT H T B AR R AT
B R R R B A A
AEEHN @M ARERT
W) S 2 T RE S 2% P RE R T 2 e R
R

The Group receives part of the contract value as a deposit from customers
when they sign the sale and purchase agreements. These deposits are
recognised as a contract liability until the properties are completed and legally
assigned to the customers. The rest of the consideration is typically paid when
legal assignment is completed. However, depending on market conditions,
the Group may offer customers a discount compared to the listed sales price,
provided that the customers agree to pay the balance of the consideration
early while construction is still ongoing, rather than on legal assignment.
Such advance payment schemes result in contract liabilities being recognised
throughout the remaining property construction period for the full amount
of the contract price. In addition, the contract liabilities will be increased
by the amount of interest expense being accrued by the Group to reflect the
effect of any financing benefit obtained from the customers during the period
between the payment date and the completion date of legal assignment. As
this accrual increases the amount of the contract liability during the period
of construction, it therefore increases the amount of revenue recognised when

control of the completed property is transferred to the customer.
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26 BRI E

26 CONTRACT LIABILITIES (Continued)

Movements in contract liabilities during the year are as follows:

R R T
2021 2020
ANR¥Fx ANRWT T
RMB’000 RMB’000
N—H—H 2z 4t Balance at 1 January 1,881,711 971,179
TR AER & 2B ER Decrease in contract liabilities as a result of
AF N AR E A Y A A recognising revenue during the year that
A WD was included in the contract liabilities at the
beginning of the year (1,512,330) (1,144,467)
H% T 45 5 0 ) AR Y Increase in contract liabilities as a result of billing
BHIBEMERE in advance of pre-sales activities 2,001,325 2,054,999
S = Ry sl = 4 75 Balance at 31 December 2,370,706 1,881,711

A TR 0 S B BRI T 4 < R LA R
ST —F KRR A A -

The amount of forward sales deposits and prepayments received from pre-sale

of property is expected to be recognised as income within one year.
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27 HBAaM 27 LEASE LIABILITIES
TR AR B T SR R O R The following table shows the remaining contractual maturities of the
HEARBT &HRIEN Group’s lease liabilities at the end of the current and previous reporting
periods:
RERZ-EFZAZF—H RoEZ—F—HA—H
At 31 December 2021 At 1 January 2021

R AGH & Sl RIKHE KT &

A BUE k84 R BLE (EREsL

Present value Total Present value Total

of the minimum minimum of the minimum minimum

lease payments lease payments lease payments lease payments

ARWF ARW T ARBFI ARBTT

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
TEN Within Lyear sk S vz A2

—EHEAER After 1 year but within 2 years 44,551 49,094 45,121 49,803

AR H AR A After 2 years but within 5 years 84,887 104,148 113,284 140,160

HAER After 5 years 23,180 35,643 56,783 86,816
e 102018 LEEY . 215,188 26179

197,100 234,949 261,050 324,151

B RACH BB S Less: total future interest expenses (37,849) (63,101)

HEAKBE Present value of lease liabilities 197,100 261,050
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28 BUTRH 28 BANK LOANS
REZFZ—FTZ A=+ —H o HERE At 31 December 2021, the bank loans were repayable as follows:
TR
e L =T
2021 2020
ARHFI AR BT
RMB’000 RMB000
CARRdRERER Within L yearorondemand 1726249 1831855
—HFRHEMERN After 1 year but within 2 years 167,490 601,848
WA B AR After 2 years but within 5 years 337,500 377,803
TS TUUUUUTIUUUUTUTUTUUOTUUOO 504990 979,651
2,231,239 2,811,506
W oE -+ H=+—H RITEK At 31 December 2021, the bank loans were secured as follows:
ERFW T
e ST =t
2021 2020
ANREFr AR T
RMB’000 RMB’000
Eii L Secured 2,198,076 2,718,866
LA Unsecured 33,163 92,640
2,231,239 2,811,506
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BANK LOANS (Continued)

At the end of respective reporting petiods, the following assets were pledged

to banks to secure banking facilities granted to the Group:

R 2

2021 2020

ANBRH T AR T

RMB’000 RMB’000

VESY & Property, plant and equipment 55,553 59,388
REWE Investment properties 2,477,803 3,102,778
BT EFT ARG SRS E Financial assets measured at FVTPL 193,240 192,440
PEE R E Y Properties under development for sale 1,464,990 2,742,114
B LrEyE Completed properties for sale 1,653,327 1,251,619
% IR HIERAT 73K Restricted bank deposits 407,000 293,098
6,251,913 7,641,437

A SR B A SR AT B RR R BUR B AR SR
TR AR R AR T AR o i
ASEWE RS AR ERFHECE)
JRAY B o 742 7 0 B o 2 B Y
ST DL o A B AR B B B A B
e — 2 R R B RE 330) ©

TR A > AR 48 R I T ERAT B
o FEEAEMEEHEES LEAH
ARSI B e St i oy i £ et
B 2% 55 [ 1 SR AT B0 R T 1B (E 2 Bl Ay
N B 883,736,000 7T S A B 5 396,057,000
TG o HR B BN I 8 ) L A R
RER IR HER] > HGZRERE R =
FoRCRCEFT A= —HA
KR TR B o A EIE BERT R T > )L
A SR B R % A A SR TR o

All of the Group’s banking facilities are subject to the fulfilment of covenants
relating to certain of the Group’s balance sheet ratios. If the Group were to
breach the covenants the drawn down facilities would become payable on
demand. The Group regularly monitors its compliance with these covenants.
Further details of the Group’s management of liquidity risk are set out in
note 33(b).

During the reporting period, in respect of a bank loan with a carrying
amount of RMB883,736,000 and RMB396,057,000 as at 31 December 2021
and 2020 respectively, the Group breached certain of the terms of the bank
loan, which are primarily related to the debt-equity ratio of the Group. Since
the lender has not agreed to waive its right to demand immediate payment
as at the end of the reporting period, the loan has been classified as a current
liability as at 31 December 2021 and 2020. The Group is in discussions
with the banks for not demanding immediate repayment and renewing the

existing bank facilities.
ting bank facilit
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29 BRFEE 29 SENIOR NOTES

er S TS 2

2021 2020

ARWFr AR BT

RMB’000 RMB’000

mr—H—H As at 1 January 3,304,885 2,686,511
AF N AT BT A5 Sk Net proceeds from issuing during the year 509,122 2,527,980
ERFE Interest for the year 457,149 487,480
EREAS / JRE A 1) S, Interest paid/payable for the year (437,974) (384,691)
A A R 500 7 Exchange gain for the year (62,674) (185,014)
BBAL Repayment of principal (892,099) (1,827,381)
DL Senior notes repurchase (64,385) -
wt+—-H=+—H As at 31 December 2,814,024 3,304,885
W B A E A Less: shown as current liabilities (2,814,024) (1,221,429)
Bl IR TR E) A 1R Shown as non-current liabilities - 2,083,456
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29

SENIOR NOTES (Continued)

On 11 January 2018, the Company issued at par senior notes in an aggregate
principal amount of US$200,000,000 (the “Fifth Senior Notes”). The Fifth
Senior Notes are US$ denominated and listed on the Singapore Exchange
Limited. The Fifth Senior Notes carty interest at a nominal rate of 7% per
annum, payable semi-annually in arrears, and matured on 18 January 2021,
unless earlier redeemed or repurchased. The purpose of the Fifth Senior Notes
is to refinance existing indebtedness, and to fund new property projects and

for general corporate purposes.

On 25 February 2019, the Company further issued additional senior notes of
the Fifth Senior Notes in an aggregate principal amount of US$160,000,000
(the “Additional Notes of the Fifth Senior Notes”) listed on the Singapore
Exchange Limited. The offering price of the Additional Notes of the Fifth
Senior Notes was 89.024% of the principal amount. The other terms of
the Additional Notes of the Fifth Senior Notes are same to the Fifth Senior
Notes. Details of the Additional Notes of the Fifth Senior Notes are set out in

the Company’s announcement dated 25 February 2019.

On 20 September 2019, the Group further issued additional senior notes of
the Fifth Senior Notes in an aggregate principal amount of US$40,000,000
(the “Second Additional Notes of the Fifth Senior Notes”) listed on the
Singapore Exchange Limited. The offering price of the Additional Notes of
the Fifth Senior Notes was 91.04433% of the principal amount. The other
terms of the Second Additional Notes of the Fifth Senior Notes are same to
the Fifth Senior Notes. Details of the Additional Notes of the Fifth Senior

Notes are set out in the Company’s announcement dated 20 September 2019.
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

SENIOR NOTES (Continued)

On 6 January 2020, the Company issued at par senior notes in an aggregate
principal amount of US$200,000,000 (the “Sixth Senior Notes”) listed on
the Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Singapore Exchange
Limited. The Sixth Senior Notes carry interest at a nominal rate of 12.95%
per annum, payable semi-annually in arrears, and will mature on 14 March
2022, unless earlier redeemed or repurchased. The offering price of the
Additional Notes of the Sixth Senior Notes was 99.943 % of the principal
amount. The purpose of the Sixth Senior Notes is to refinance existing
indebtedness, and to fund new property projects and for general corporate
purposes. Details of the Sixth Senior Notes are set out in the Company’s

announcement dated 6 January 2020.

On 29 June 2020, the Company issued at par senior notes in an aggregate
principal amount of US$170,000,000 (the “Seventh Senior Notes”) listed
on the Singapore Exchange Limited. The Seventh Senior Notes carry interest
at a nominal rate of 14.25% per annum, payable semi-annually in arrears,
and will mature on 9 January 2023, unless earlier redeemed or repurchased.
The offering price of the Seventh Senior Notes was 100% of the principal
amount. The purpose of the Seventh Senior Notes is to refinance existing
indebtedness, and to fund new property projects and for general corporate
purposes. Each holder of the notes has the right, at such holder’s option, to
require the Company to repurchase for cash all of such holder’s Notes, or any
portion of the principal amount on 10 January 2022 (the “Put Settlement
Date”) at the repurchase price equal to 100% of the principal amount of the
Notes to be repurchased, plus accrued and unpaid interest to, but excluding
the Put Settlement Date. Details of the Seventh Senior Notes are set out in

the Company’s announcement dated 29 June 2020.
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29

SENIOR NOTES (Continued)

On 6 January 2021, the Company further issued additional senior notes of the
Seventh Senior Notes in an aggregate principal amount of US$85,000,000
listed on the Singapore Exchange Limited. The offering price of this
additional notes was 99.327% of the principal amount. The Additional
Seventh Senior Notes carry interest at a nominal rate of 14.25% per annum,
payable semi-annually in arrears, and will mature on 9 January 2023, unless
earlier redeemed or repurchased. The purpose of the Seventh Senior Notes is
to refinance existing indebtedness, and to fund new property projects and for
general corporate purposes. Each holder of the notes has the right, at such
holder’s option, to require the Company to repurchase for cash all of such
holder’s Notes, or any portion of the principal amount on 10 January 2022
(the “Put Settlement Date”) at the repurchase price equal to 100% of the
principal amount of the Notes to be repurchased, plus accrued and unpaid
interest to, but excluding the Put Settlement Date. Details of this additional

notes are set out in the Company’s announcement dated 6 January 2021.

The Company repurchased US$4,000,000 of the Sixth Senior Notes and
US$6,000,000 of the Seventh Senior Notes on 31 May 2021, 28 April 2021,

respectively.

On 31 May 2021, the Company offered to exchange its Sixth Senior Notes
and Seventh Senior Notes up to the aggregate maximum acceptance amount
of US$145 million. On 11 June 2021, the Exchange Offer was completed
and the exchange amount of the Sixth Senior Notes due 2022 was US$74.5
million and the exchange amount of the Seventh Senior Notes due 2023 was
US$70.5 million. The new senior notes of Eighth Senior Notes will mature
on 11 July 2023 and the interest rate of the Eighth Senior Notes is 16.0%,
and the interest will be paid on 11 December 2021, 11 June 2022, 11
December 2022 and 11 July 2023. Details of the Eighth Senior Notes are set
out in the Company’s announcement dated 31 May 2021, 9 June 2021 and
11 June 2021.
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SENIOR NOTES (Continued)

On 21 December 2021, The Group announced a proposed restructuring of
the existing senior notes through a scheme of arrangement in the Cayman
Islands (the “Cayman Scheme”). Should the Cayman Scheme is approved
by the Group Court of the Cayman Islands, the existing senior notes will be
replaced by New Notes that having maturity date for 3 years with instalment
repayment after the restructuring effective date (“RED”). The Company
intends to dispose certain onshore properties in the next three years in
order to assist the Group with meeting the various repayment obligations
under the new notes. The Restructuring Plan offered to delay all unpaid
principal of its Sixth Senior Notes with outstanding principal amount of
US$121,506,000, Seventh Senior Notes with outstanding principal amount
of US$178,495,000 and Eighth Senior Notes with outstanding principal
amount of US$144,999,000, including unpaid interest of Eighth Senior
Notes with outstanding interest of US$11,599,000. The New Notes will
mature on April 2025 and the interest rate of the New Notes is 10%. The
Issue Amount of the New Notes is the total outstanding principal amount of
the existing Notes and their accrued and unpaid interest up to but excluding
the RED (noting that this would be US$493 million on the basis that the
expected RED is 31 March 2022). The New Notes repayment details are
as follows: 5% of the Issue Amount plus accrued but unpaid interest up to
but excluding the relevant payment date shall be repaid by the date falling
90 days after the RED. 5% of the Issue Amount on or before date falling 9
months after issue date. 15% of the Issue Amount on or before date falling 15
months after issue date.10% of the Issue Amount on or before date falling 21
months after issue date.10% of the Issue Amount on or before date falling 27
months after issue date. Any remaining outstanding principal amount of the
New Notes shall be redeemed in full on or before the New Notes Maturity

Date. The interest will be paid semi-annually.

20 R b B 4 B A il GOLDEN WHEEL TIANDI HOLDINGS COMPANY LIMITED



29

30

( /J;//\\ /

BB 9% ()

BH 2 B S KUk BE ([ H:Be )) 46 A B st 8
EREAGH® (FtEg®]) - DEE R
HEHERZTT B o B2 51 B & S R B s IR
T AR H = H g R NREERAT o 4T
BRI B HE AR AL e AL HERR I HEE -
Fnt B R B R A R
YA Y E M b R T o

ANFRZF—TAFT A T B R
HEGHE (T RERTE ) > AW A TR
I8 FBEHE 1.00 Y5 T (9 AR AE I AR A A AR
el g 2 ) M 2 R B A AT AT - TR
TT 8008 7 JE AT # F S R B (iR &
Bkl ) BE RS AT A EUH
By A SE AR B R AT T Eo A A\ £ (428
(S8 |) 5% R > DAGR I A 2 A
o FEH R B2 B o B RS E
B oF— T AR ERER

FERKEAR N ] R S B HOMER I LT - AR
A58 R FRCRE G ) T REASE A ) S MR B
i AR ATHE A 2N A AT AT 5 B 2 3%
B 10% o FERKEA 2 7] IBCR 3 5E
HEMER I LT - FAE AT — 4 P 58 K vl g
1) A A N 452 o ) B R B T 2 AT
Bt TEATH B8R > AR AL
JAAE AT bRy B 2 B AT B 1% - KT £
BB o o7 JE AT B O AR F A
19.0.19 BB (E A 5 11 4 v T I S e e HI
WA JE JEAG A ) JBOOR S S o o

At

F

fo B S R A

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FIl $2 7 S0 2 AN RS 7 ) (Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

29

30

SENIOR NOTES (Continued)

The Grand Court of the Cayman Islands (the “Court”) has directed that
a meeting of Scheme Creditors (the “Scheme Meeting”) be convened for
the purposes of considering and, if thought fit, approving the Scheme. The
Scheme Meeting will be held at 8 p.m. Hong Kong time on 30 March 2022.
The Scheme will be subject to the subsequent approval and sanction of the
Court. The Scheme Sanction Hearing is presently scheduled to take place at

11 p.m. Hong Kong time on 4 April 2022.

EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED TRANSACTIONS

The Company has a share option scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”)
which was adopted on 10 December 2012 whereby the Company has the
right to grant options to any executive, non-executive or independent non-
executive directors or any employees (whether full-time or part-time) of the
Company, or any of its subsidiaries or associated companies or any other
person whom the Directors consider, in their sole discretion, has contributed
or will contribute to the Group (“Participants”) to subscribe for shares in the
Company for a consideration of HK$1.00 for each lot of share options granted
for the primary purpose of providing incentives to the Participants. The Share
Option Scheme will remain effective for a period of ten years commencing

from 10 December 2012.

The total number of shares in respect of which options may be granted
under the Share Option Scheme is not permitted to exceed 10% of the
ordinary shares of the Company in issue at any point in time, without prior
approval from the Company’s shareholders. The number of shares issued
and to be issued in respect of which options granted and may be granted
to any individual in any one year is not permitted to exceed 1% of the
ordinary shares of the Company in issue at any point in time, without prior
approval from the Company’s shareholders. Options granted to a substantial
shareholder or an independent non-executive director in excess of 0.1% of the
Company'’s share capital or with a value in excess of HK$5 million must be

approved in advance by the Company’s shareholders.
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EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

The exercise price is determined by the Directors, and will not be less than
the higher of (i) the closing price of the ordinary shares of the Company as
stated in the Hong Kong Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the date
of grant; (ii) the average closing price of the ordinary shares of the Company
as stated in the Hong Kong Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the
five business days immediately preceding the date of the grant; and (iii) the

nominal value of the ordinary shares of the Company.

All holders of options granted under the Share Option Scheme may only

exercise their options in the following manner:

Maximum percentage of options

exercisable

25% of the options

Additional 25% of the options

Additional 25% of the options

Additional 25% of the options

Vesting period

Upon the first anniversary of
the date of grant

Upon the second anniversary of
the date of grant

Upon the third anniversary of
the date of grant

Upon the fourth anniversary of

the date of grant

Unless otherwise determined by the directors and specified in the offer letter
to be given to a Participant at the time of the offer of the option, there is
neither any performance target that needs to be achieved by the grantee before
an option can be exercised (the “Performance Target”) nor any minimum

period for which an option must be held before the option can be exercised.

258 20 R b B 4 B A il GOLDEN WHEEL TIANDI HOLDINGS COMPANY LIMITED



(B4

30 DARE R &5 55 DU Ay 2y 08 0 22 )
(41)

REF—ELH =0 ARG
FEEEMA S KB 8,700,000 4 Bt
A7 Hh A T R B R R
ZRDYERBRRED DT

o i B E A PR A U R
E%%(ﬂﬁ%ﬂﬁjzﬁﬁw%
AR JE 7 58 3 1 1% b ) 2 N RB 200
HEITH L BB G
J A TE A AR

. ﬁ%%aﬁ%mmz%m%%ﬁ@

2R A R AR R A

E%ﬂmﬁﬁm>%aﬁﬁmﬁﬁﬁ

MG A B AT 5 A B B R AL T A AR

JiE 57 B 1) > A AR It R A
BoE AR 200 5 # G ©

o i BT 5 A U 2 1 T AR
JE 2 S T A S B (RIS R
Yk R AR - HIE 5B A%
7 B EES o

/

SR B R A
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FINEER IP I AN BT 7 ) (Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

30 EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

On 23 July 2014, the Company granted 8,700,000 share options (the “2014
Options”) to certain key management personnel and employees with certain

Petformance Target determined by the directors as follows:

o If the audited net profit of the fiscal year immediately preceding to
the period when the tranche of the 2014 Options become vested (the
“Vested Tranche”) is RMB200 million or more, the portion of the

Vested Tranche will be completely exercisable.

®  If the audited net profit of the fiscal year immediately preceding
to the period when the Vested Tranche is more than zero but less
than RMB200 million, the portion of the Vested Tranche will be
not exercisable, and will be automatically deferred to the next year
of vesting period and so forth until the audited net profit meets the
required RMB200 million.

N If the audited net profit of the fiscal year immediately preceding to the

period when the Vested Tranche is negative (i.e. audited net loss), the

portion of the Vested Tranche will be cancelled immediately.
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30 DAMERASSDB BIEHERI4E S 30 EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED TRANSACTIONS
(#) (Continued)
TEEBEHE T —FT-A=1T—H
LB CBEF A S HILEE R

The following tables disclosed movements of the 2014 Options granted under

the Share Option Schemes during the years ended 31 December 2021 and 31

MMt B 2 e — DU A B RORE 2 December 2020:
)
e a3 0 a3
A0k TZAET-RR
CRTRE e S <
=A=H TZAET-H
RENEE  Nameofgunee BB Tl fifffe WAL R L LT BERER FAS
Outstanding as Outstanding as
at | January at 31 December
2021 & 2021 &
1 January Grant Exercised Forfeited Lapsed 31 December
Date of grant Exercisable period Exercise price 2000 duringtheyear  duringtheyear  duringtheyear  during the year 2020
FEERAE  Keymmgemenr 2372014 237.2015-22.7.204 00T 2,800,000 - - - - 2,800,000
HKS$L00
572014 B72015-22.1.204 LO0ETC
HKS$L00
[E8 Employees BI04 B72015-22.7.204 1007 5900000 - - - - 5,900,000
HKS$L00
BI04 2572015227204 LODETC
HKSL00
8,700,000 - - - - 8,700,000
REEZZE  Bxecisblea
FZAZF=H 31 December 2020
i 8700000
REZZ-F  Exacisbleat
TZAZF=H 31 December 2001
i 8700000

REFZ—FRFRET A =T
F o R A ot 3 2 932 S R AT B 1Y
Vil PR Jr ¥ B 2 I A B H 5 8,700,000 1
AR A% B B BT RO BB 0.48% »

RRE Bt A=A R E
CEET AT HIEFE S AR A
AR 952 0 RO MEE 2 o0~ A (o B B W
HE > I AR HE SR A o

At 31 December 2021 and 2020, the number of shares in respect of which
options under the Share Option Schemes had been granted and remained
outstanding was RMB8,700,000, representing 0.48% of the total shares of

the Company in issue at that date.

During the years ended 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020, no share
options were granted, exercised or cancelled by the Company, and no share

option were lapsed, under the Share Option Schemes.
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EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

The fair value of the 2014 Options was determined at the date of grant using,
among others, the Black-Scholes-Merton Option Pricing Model based on the
respective vesting period of the share options in accordance with the variables
and assumptions based on the Directors’ best estimate upon the grant date.
The total estimated fair value of the share options granted on the grant date
was HK$2,032,000 (equivalent to approximately RMB1,603,000). During
the year ended 31 December 2021, the Company recognised total expenses of
RMB52,000(2020: RMB229,000) in relation to share options granted by the
Company.
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31 BRE BN DL P I i 4 B 31 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
(a) DOHEERBEEHREEZEKAR: (@) Deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised:
() BB EERA G5 AL A 5 (1)  Movement of each component of deferred tax assets and liabilities
R TR B A B TS IR U 3 1 R 2 AE B A The components of deferred tax (assets)/liabilities recognised in the
() /AEARH S REFHIT consolidated statement of financial position and the movements during the

year are as follows:

WA HAFHE

ARG ABER

NTRAELH IR R E Gl ek el
R Deferred tax arising from: EoOAVIER ikt i WERE  ATHED LS i gt

Withholding

taxon Changes in

Changesin  undistributed fair value of

fair value of profits Allowance financial

AT investment of PRC Tax for other assets at Contract

differences properties  subsidiaries losses~ receivables FVTPL costs Leases Total

ARETE  ARKTE  ARETT  ARKFT  ARETT ARETR ARETT  ARETT  ARETT
RO RMSON RMBOY  RBW RBW  RMBUD RMBOW  RMBW RIBWY

REFZFE-F-0 Al Jamay 2020 sl (L1058 (46722) 1848 6929 (12030 (L619) 06 (0687

BBEAERD Recognied in profi or o (16900 (18268 2680 (1358) - 301 018) 2584 (30169

REBZRETZN Ao December 2020a0d | January

S ) S

F--H 100380 (1138852 (#400) 17,124 6929 (8,760) (800 1206 (1056800
RN Recognised in profior o (85,292) 34 0,299 n (6929) (200) (4752 6150 20099
LIS Pagment inthe yar = = 17500 = - - = = 17500

BEFZ-BEZR A1 December 2021
-0 088 (826400 (35,841) 179 - (6960 (8559) 9006 (B38310)
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B3 SR DL A O 1R 31 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED
(%) STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION (Continued)
O R e BLIR 2 ) AL (40 (a) Deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised: (Continued)
B BRI R (ii)  Reconciliation to the consolidated statement of financial position
R e
2021 2020
A BT ANRET T
RMB’000 RMB’000
A MBIR IR A EILBIIE  Nec deferred tax asset recognised in the
I consolidated statement of financial position 126,994 143,629
JA &5 BB IR DL 2R e R HEBLIH  Ner deferred tax liability recognised in the
AREIFH consolidated statement of financial position (965,304) (1,200,435)
(838,310) (1,056,806)

5':\‘ u/u\f\b/T ’ﬂﬂlﬂ ﬁU_

R B 5 200) T 00 & 5T BOR > A I
F R B Rt B E R 1R ¥ 170,335,000 70
(ZFFAF  NR¥E13,154,000 8) 17 1E
HERTE & 7 o DR G A R RS Wi E I
RS KT B A R A B I A A b 4K A TR
5 4E o RARHATRLIE > p BB 2 /) A
{1 o TEL s 4B 1 A B s R A AR B RE T
AF A JE R o

A% T 20 0 A58 D
WESEFERE HFTN\F—H—
H B fG » Bt =% /A B i B s A1) &
RS IR AT A o R BT A 2 DAY A0 B
B RSN 100 TN BT AR o b
Wi L E AT o EERBLE S %
(B ) o Bk b s 2k vl o B JBg 2 ) B
3 B s A R T e ) o B T 0 T AR R4
WoEZEFEL A= —H TERA
ZETNF—H—HAR AR MEA RS
ANRH1,024 8 #o0 (ZF _FF - AR
1,363 F #70) 1R T FR B2 Ui R 5B AT fo] 48
HERE TR A o DL PR A 4 ) 0 5% 55 I
PR IR 3k o 07 T 2 o 438 [ T I
FEBMWER  HL B I 25 R A T T A AR AR
FIREAS & 43 (] o

(b)

(c)

Deferred tax assets not recognised

In accordance with the accounting policy set out in note 2(t), the Group
has not recognised deferred tax assets in respect of cumulative tax losses of
RMB170,335,000 (2020: RMB13,154,000) as it is not probable that future
taxable profits against which the losses can be utilised will be available in the
relevant tax jurisdiction and entity. The tax losses incurred by the subsidiary
in the PRC will expire within 5 years from the year when such losses were

incurred under current tax legislation.

Deferred tax liabilities not recognised

Under the CIT Law, starting from 1 January 2008, 10% withholding income
tax is imposed on dividends declared in respect of profits earned in year 2008
onwards and distributed to foreign investors for companies established in
the PRC. For investors incorporated in Hong Kong, a preferential rate of
5% will be applied where appropriate. Other than the PRC withholding
income tax provided in respect of undistributed profits of PRC subsidiaries
as above, no deferred taxation has been provided for the remaining retained
profits of approximately RMB1,024 million as at 31 December 2020 (2020:
RMB1,363 million), which was derived from the PRC subsidiaries since
1 January 2008 as the Group has set aside such sum for non-distributable
purpose, and is able to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary
differences and it is probable that the temporary differences will not reverse

in the foreseeable future.
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32 HA - e BB B

(@) MELE T4 5 B
7 2 B 45 5 R 2 45 AL BG40 1) S A S 1 4%
Rz M ERE N G AR E - F
W E AL H 2 AL R AR 55 40 R0 2
MG T

32 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS

(@) Movements in components of equity
The reconciliation between the opening and closing balances of each
component of the Group’s consolidated equity is set out in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity. Details of the changes in the Company’s
individual components of equity between the beginning and the end of the

year are set out below:

VY| Company
Tk R HIRE W RER Bithf it
Share options Accumulated
Share Capital Share premium Special reserve reserve losses Total
[IF:3 NR#FT NEFFr ARKFT AEHFT NEHFE NR#FT
Note RiBI0 RiBI0 RiBI0 RiB I RMB IO RiBI0
WEso)  (WEson) (M) (H¥k 30
(note 32(c) (note 32(d)0) (note 32(d)(if) (note 30)
REBZFE--H Balance at 1 January 2020
Lhf 113,09 116143 289,587 150 (690.063) 190,088
“RRERGRE: Changes in equity for 2020:
ERAEIELE Total comprehensive income for the year - - - - 315,056 313,036
HEERERIRE Dividends declared in respect
\ of the previous year 32(b)i) - - (26313) - - (26313)
DEREEDRHAER  Equirpsetded share-bsed canacions
iy 3 - - - 9 - o]
e 423 | Balance at 31 December 2020 and
SH-RREEZE 1 amary 2001
~R-H2kk 113099 416143 263,74 1551 (377,007) 477,060
“R-FERAE: Changes in equity for 2021:
EREENEAR Total comprehensive income for the year - - - - 120,199 120,199
E%El E %Hﬁ{ﬁ ‘ PUI'ChﬂSC l)fUWﬂ ShﬂIES (216) (1521) _ _ _ (1’537)
DEREEURAAER  Bouitysetled shae-based cansactions
Wi % - - - 5 = 52
e 3 | Balance at 31 December 2021
NP4 i i 112,883 474802 26374 1,603 (256808) 395,174

20 R b B 4 B A il GOLDEN WHEEL TIANDI HOLDINGS COMPANY LIMITED



R B R B
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
(/J;//:Jf /;'////rEﬂT GhET LA N B ’/:/}ifrﬁ/ﬂf/ (Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

32 B~ G B e B ) 32 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS (Continued)
b)) KB (b) Dividends
() FHEMNEL ] a BRI E (i)  Dividends payable ro equity shareholders of the Company in respect of
the year:
ZEIH “ECRE
2021 2020
ANRET T ARWTIT
RMB’000 RMB'000
O E IR RIRAT A h I B A % Interim dividend declared and paid is nil
(TR FE  FIKE) (2020: nil per share) - -
WA B R EN R IR B Final dividend proposed after the end
F(ZFEFE  GFRE) of the reporting period is nil per share

(2020: nil per share) = -

AR R AR RN S The final dividend proposed after the end of the reporting period has not been
R A A o recognised as a liability at the end of the reporting period.

i) GERHEIE TG IRAT YL — BB AE W ff A 4 (ii)  Dividends payable to equity shareholders of the Company attributable

T RE 75 R HG BB to the previous financial year, approved and paid during the year
e e =
2021 2020
AR ANRH T
RMB’000 RMB’000

HERAEUE ZIRAT I & — B LR Final dividend in respect of the previous financial
RIS A ERE (R R year, approved and paid during the year,
BN R 0.0147T) of nil per share (2020: RMB0.014 per share) = 26,313
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32
(0)

(d)
()

B ~ i e B B )
N

i

CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS (Continued)

Share capital
Authorised:

==
2021 and 2020

JRetr ¥ H BHFEIT
No. of shares Amount US$
(TH) TIC
('000) ‘000
B BEEE 0.01 FEICHY S @ (—F Ordinary shares of US$0.01 each
FAF 1 0.01 £ 70) (2020: US$0.01) 3,000,000 30,000
T8 R Ordinary shares issued and fully paid:
SR R T
2021 2020
JRtr 4 H NG et B H NE W
No. of RMB No. of RMB
shares equivalent shares equivalent
(T42) T (TH&) T
('000) ‘000 ('000) ‘000
CEAT BRI Ordinary shares, issued
L and fully paid:
m—H—H At 1 January 1,802,456 113,099 1,802,456 113,099
Ji 473 [m] i Shares repurchased
(B3 3200) (note 32(f)) (3,436) (216) - -
P -H=1—H  At31 December 1,799,020 112,883 1,802,456 113,099

Tl A AT CROR R EIR 2 S >
ATAA R R & Bt BB 8 — 5 < B

W30 B3 A 2 ) 2 TR L A 4
#l o

Tt e M B % 7

A7 i A6 i A 2 ) 01 M £ T (L BB AT AR 2
M A7 7% 5 I St T A 473 S At Y AR
Z MR o AR S TS QR B
i 1B R T (A0 U A R IR > e B
IR BIAR > A R H RS R
— B S AR A o B S0 AT £ S o

(d)
()

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared
from time to time and are entitled to one vote per share at meetings of the
Company. All ordinary shares rank equally with regard to the Company’s

residual assets.

Nature and purpose of reserves

Share premium

The share premium represents the difference between the par value of the
shares of the Company and the proceeds received from the issuance of shares
or the consideration paid for the repurchased shares of the Company. Under
the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands, the share premium account is
distributable to shareholders of the Company provided that immediately
following the date on which the dividend is proposed to be distributed,
the Company will be in a position to repay its debts as they fall due in the

ordinary course of business.
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32 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS (Continued)

(d) Nature and purpose of reserves (Continued)

R (ii)  Special reserve
R R
2021 2020
ARWTFIL ANRETT
RMB’000 RMB 000
BB IR (A) Deemed distributions (A) (25,296) (25,296)
WAL B) (€ Deemed contributions (B) (C) 78,629 78,629
FHCELR T EEZHIAD)  Amount arising on Reorganisation
(as defined below) (D) 105,936 105,936
Wi B = T AR 2 BRJEL(E) Amount arising from acquisition (E) 395,332 395,332
BB @) Dividends (F) (434,928) (434,928)
119,673 119,673

AR LT A 4 TR A % TR 22 FR R

Special reserve comprises amounts arising as a result of the followings:

A REF-FERZHR R A 1In 2010 and 2011, deemed distribution of RMB12,113,000 and
SR Fl A N R 12,113,000 76 A RMB13,183,000 respectively representing the difference between the
B 13,183,000 7G > 46 ME Wi R ot 4 principal amount of the amount due from Nanjing Golden Wheel
75 by 2 B A PR A A (/e 2 & 5 Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. (“Nanjing Golden Wheel Real
e |) T A 4 R UL R Estate”) and its fair value at initial recognition were charged to
A 2 [ B 22 80 5 I ok 1 the special reserve. The fair value is determined by discounting the
ST o AT T 2 0 R A B T estimated future cash flows throughout the expected life of the advance
A A (B B A o Bl 2 1 (that is, from date of advance to expected repayment date).
SRR BT BB R AR B 0
1ii /i €

B jiigte et VA IR WA= R £ B Subsequent to the acquisition of Golden Wheel International

] BB S A R ) (46 i o e L3 )
T L B g 2 ) v 4 e R E AR
A AE [ G v o A e T R
R o A M ARE - R
—CHEFZAZ T HIREE S
H48 15 A 5] R 7 B W 4 i
7 KV B 4 7 A A H
3R A A A T R 2 AR e T
2B 11,597,000 0 A MRS £ 4
A 1) 5 £k A AL 3

Corporation Limited (“Golden Wheel International Corporation”)
and its subsidiary Nanjing Golden Wheel Real Estate on 18 June
2012, the Group waived Nanjing Golden Wheel Real Estate from
repaying the amount due from Nanjing Golden Wheel Real Estate.
The difference between the amount due from Nanjing Golden Wheel
Real Estate carried at amortised cost and the principal amount
of the amount due by Nanjing Golden Wheel Real Estate to the
Group at date of waiver of RMB11,597,000 was credited as deemed
contribution to the special reserve during the year ended 31 December
2012.
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32 WO -l B e L o4 32 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS (Continued)
d) TR X () (d) Nature and purpose of reserves (Continued)
i) FERIER () (i)  Special reserve (Continued)
C i E— AR AR 67,032,000 70 C An amount of RMB67,032,000 due to the then shareholders was
AT i TR I SR VL o R NI waived from repayment and was credited as deemed contribution to
IR Jy WLAE 1o e £ A8 R 5K o special reserve in 2012.
D 1 o SBAR AS 2 W] IR A 7 8 i T 22 BT D As part of the reorganisation for preparing for the listing of
EmmiETEA (TEAD M — the Company’s shares on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange (the
B e R A R A (4R35 “Reorganisation”), Golden Wheel Jade Company Limited (“Golden
RO ZF-ZFEAAHNAH K Wheel Jade”) acquired 100% equity interest in Golden Wheel
e tm BB ER WA A ([4 International Investment Limited (“Golden Wheel International
BBEE ) 2 100% BHE > 705 Investment”) on 18 June 2012 through issuance of 1,000,000
1] 5 IRF 2 JI% SR8 47 1,000,000 % A 24 ordinary shares in the Company to the then shareholders, and the
) A A o T A A DR AR A A Company became the holding company of the Group thereafter. The
LM ZBERAF - HBE_F—Z amount of RMB 105,936,000 credited to special reserve during the
FHZA=+t—HIEFE AR¥ year ended 31 December 2012 represented the difference between the
105,936,000 7C £ 71 A K5 7l i > Bt nominal value of share capital of the Company of approximately RMB
T Ay ) B A T {E 49 A B 864,000 64,000 and the nominal value of the share capital of Golden Wheel
TC K4 i I PR A PR T LA N R International Investment of approximately RMB106,000,000.

5 106,000,000 TC.Z 2= 48 -

E RER-F-"HFAA+N\HZE E Pursuant to the acquisition of Golden Wheel International
iy [ R B T R 4 e R M E R Corporation and Nanjing Golden Wheel Real Estate on 18 June 2012,
MESTE AR %395’332’000)% an aggregate amount of RMB 395,332,000 being (i) the difference
(B = Gy A 2 7] © 8847 M A T (B B between the nominal value of share capital issued by the Company
<o i B R LS % 9 o W T b E A and the fair value of the consolidated net assets of Golden Wheel
FEERHEHZATFHEHZEZRH (KNG International Corporation and Nanjing Golden Wheel Real Estate
T P o o E T RE A 2w o 3 (excluding fair value of 7.50% equity interest in Nanjing Jade Golden
RemBEEARAT (HEBRE Wheel Realty Co., Ltd. (“Nanjing Jade Golden Wheel”) and 3.75%
Wi 1) 7.509 MCHE B 4 M 4w 5 7 equity interest in Yangzhou Golden Wheel Real Estate Development
BB A PR W) (145 M 4 i s b 7 ]) Co., Ltd. (“Yangzhou Golden Wheel Real Estate”) held by Nanjing
3.75% e 2 A T(E) 5 K Gi) B AL Golden Wheel Real Estate); and (ii) the difference between the
B B 2 T M SRS 2 e 2 ) consideration paid and the carrying amount of net assets attributable
Ve MERE S A IR Z to non-controlling interests in subsidiaries being acquired from the
EZH)CFABE-F -4+ non-controlling shareholder, was credited to special reserve during the
Zb— H RS Z R R kA o year ended 31 December 2012.

F B RIERE R R P E IR F Amount represents the dividend declared against special reserve.
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32

(d)
(iid)

(iv)

CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS (Continued)

Nature and purpose of reserves (Continued)

Exchange reserve

The exchange reserve comprises all foreign exchange differences arising from
the translation of the financial statements of foreign operations as well as the
effective portion of any foreign exchange differences arising from hedges of
the net investment in these foreign operations. The reserve is dealt with in

accordance with the accounting policies set out in note 2(w).

Surplus reserve
In accordance with relevant laws and regulations in the PRC and the articles

of association of the PRC subsidiaries:

(1) PRC subsidiaries registered as sino-foreign joint venture:

The PRC subsidiaries may, at the discretion of board of directors of
the PRC subsidiaries, transfer a portion of their profit after taxation
reported in their statutory financial statements prepared under the

applicable PRC accounting standards to the surplus reserve.

(i)  PRC subsidiaries registered as wholly-foreign invested enterprise or

domestic limited liability company:

The PRC subsidiaries are required to transfer at least 10% of their
profit after taxation reported in their statutory financial statements
prepared under the applicable PRC accounting standards to the

surplus reserve.

The appropriation to surplus reserve may cease if the balance of the
surplus reserve has reached 50% of the relevant PRC subsidiaries’

registered capital.

The surplus reserve can be used to make up losses or for conversion into
capital. The PRC subsidiaries may, upon the approval by a resolution of
the owners, convert their surplus reserve into capital in proportion to their
then existing capital contribution. However, when converting the PRC
subsidiaries’ surplus reserve into capital, the balance of such reserve remaining

unconverted must not be less than 25% of their registered capital.
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32
(e)

B ~ i e B B )

BAE B

7R T TR ) 1 AT IR A A
R A I BE S > DA A FORE BB B L
I B M AT 1 M S 0t 5 [ 4
B T B B SR SO P A RS -

O E IR A R L AR SR -
WA 2 — oy > EHE R EA A K
B2 S0 A AT A )RR o ARAREE R 2 4
B AEMIERIRATBE - BITH
P o] W A A LA B B A i 5 8O I B A
{8 - LA LA B A LA -

W] 8 2
RAEERN - AR FRE RS A
PR R e LA B AR IR

JER/is

Month
R —E=R March 31th 2021
=+—H

ZEZ—FMA—H  April 1th 2021
ZEZFMALEH April 7th 2021

32
(e)

®

CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS (Continued)

Capital management

The Group’s primary objectives when managing capital are to safeguard
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, so that it can maximize
the return to shareholders through the optimization of the debt and equity

balance. The Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged from prior year.

The directors actively and regularly reviews and manages its capital
structure on a regular basis. As part of this review, the directors consider the
cost of capital and the risks associates with each class of capital. Based on
recommendations of the Directors, the Group will balance its overall capital
structure through the payment of dividends, new share issues and share buy-

backs as well as the issue of new debt or the redemption of existing debt.

Purchase of own shares

During the year, the Company repurchased its own shares on The Stock

Exchange of Hong Kong Limited as follows:

O R C A ik
$ 1m0 J 43 B HBER i FB AR A e A E
Number of Highest price Lowest price Aggregate
shares repurchased paid per share paid per share price paid
AR ANRH AR T
RMB RMB RMB'000
1,600,000 0.45 0.40 693
1,158,000 0.47 0.43 519
678,000 0.49 0.47 325

B g W i s E - —F+ A
St —HIRFEEMAE AT S Bt A
AT B BT AR B AR S e i T D o
WIEB 2B A AL 37 06 > SHAME SR
A R 216,000 7C #9 30E B 3800 A > 1
FEEk N R 1,321,000 70 E W00 B s A

All the repurchased shares were treated as cancelled during the year ended
31 December 2021 and accordingly the issued share capital of the Company
was reduced by the nominal value of these shares. Pursuant to section 37
of the Cayman Islands Companies Law, an amount equivalent to the par
value of RMB216,000 was reduced the share capital, and the balance of
RMB1,321,000 reduced the share premium.
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33

(a)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Exposure to credit, liquidity, interest rate and currency risks arises in the
normal course of the Group’s business. The Group is also exposed to equity
price risk arising from its equity investments in other entities and movements

in its own equity share price.

The Group’s exposure to these risks and the financial risk management
policies and practices used by the Group to manage these risks are described

below.

Credit risk
Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractual
obligations resulting in a financial loss to the Group. As at 31 December

2021 and 2020, the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk is arising from:

(i) the carrying amount of the respective recognised financial assets as

stated in the consolidated statement of financial position; and

(i)  the amounts of contingent liabilities in relation to financial guarantees

issued by the Group as disclosed in note 35.
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(a)

(1)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

After obtaining a minimum of 30% to 50% (2020: 30% to 50%) down
payment from its customers for property sale business, the Group would
usually provide guarantees to banks in connection with its customers’
mortgage loans to finance their purchase of the properties, for the period
before property certificates are issued to the relevant customers. If a customer
defaults on the payment of his mortgage during the term of guarantee, the
bank may demand the Group to repay the outstanding amount of the loan
and any accrued interest thereon. Under such circumstances, the Group is
able to forfeit the customer’s deposit and re-sell the property to recover any
amounts payable by the Group to the bank. In this regard, the directors

consider that the Group’s credit risk is significantly reduced.

Trade receivables

For trade receivables, the Group has applied the simplified approach in IFRS
9 to measure the loss allowance at lifetime ECL. The ECL on trade receivables
are assessed collectively using a provision matrix with appropriate groupings,
based on the past default experience of the debtor, general economic
conditions of the industry in which the debtors operate and an assessment of
both the current as well as the forward-looking information that is available

without undue cost or effort at the end of the year.

Trade receivables arising from contracts with customers

The Group has policies in place to ensure that property sales are made to
purchasers with an appropriate financial strength and appropriate percentage
of down payments. It also has other monitoring procedures to ensure that
follow-up action is taken to recover overdue debts. In addition, the Group
reviews regularly the recoverable amount of each individual trade receivables
to ensure that adequate impairment losses are made for irrecoverable amounts.
The Group has no significant concentrations of credit risk, with exposure

spread over a large number of counterparties and customers.
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(a)

(i1)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

Trade receivables (Continued)

Trade receivables arising from operating leases

The Group has no significant concentration of credit risk in respect of trade
receivable in respect of the rental income, with exposure spread over a large
number of customers in the PRC. In order to minimize the credit risk, the
management of the Group continuously monitors the level of exposure by
frequent review of the credit evaluation of the financial condition and credit
quality of its customers to ensure that follow-up actions and/or corrective
actions are taken promptly to lower the risk exposure or to recover overdue
balances. The credit risk of trade receivables arising from operating leases
is limited because counterparties make deposits into the Group when they
sign the leasing contracts and the deposits can be forfeited if counterparties

default.

Amount due from associates and joint ventures

For amount due from associates and joint ventures, management makes
periodic collective assessments as well as individual assessment on the
recoverability of amount due from associates and joint ventures based on
historical settlement records and past experience. The directors believe that
there is no material credit risk inherent in the Group’s outstanding balance of

amount due from associates and joint ventures.

Bank balances and restricted bank deposits

The Group has concentration of credit risk in respect of bank balances and
restricted bank deposits. At 31 December 2021, approximately 68% (2020:
44%) of the total bank balances and restricted bank deposits were deposited
at 3 (2020: 3) banks, representing deposits at each bank with a balance
exceeding 10% of total bank balances and restricted bank deposits. The credit
risk of these liquid funds is limited because the counterparties are state-
owned banks located in the PRC or banks with high credit ratings assigned

by international credit-rating agencies.
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(a)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

Financial assets measured at FVTOCI

The Group’s financial assets measured at FVTOCI mainly comprise listed
bonds. In 2021, bonds amounting to RMB 3,699,000 held by the Group have
been defaulted. During the year ended 31 December 2021, expected credit
losses on financial assets measured at FVTOCI amounting to RMB135,000

was recognised in the profit or loss.

The management of the Group believe that the Group’s credit risk in trade

receivables is not high, and ECL is insignificant.

The following tables show reconciliation of loss allowances that has been

recognised for financial assets measured at FVTOCI.

B
fr Bk
(f SRR fi)

Lifetime ECL
(credit-
impaired)
ANRH T
RMB’000
RE-BZRESFZH=Z1—H As at 31 December 2020
R RSN TEiC Impairment losses recognised (3,930)
REFRZEFZH=E+H As at 31 December 2021
£ 2 i 1 s 4R Impairment losses recognised (135)

% )

A S B R A R O B M e
BRAEZE > LIS A 300 P T O 8 1 A P
SR o A B T A N R L R R B U
BE MR B -

TA S A o A A 42 T BRI R 2(b)
Prdif A B AR ERA AR > #
AR BRI AT 200) T AL A i 12
1% ASE BB A T R AR R LR
JA RS AR AR 2D+ AR S S
£

(b)

Liquidity risk

The management of the Group has built an appropriate liquidity risk
management framework for short-term funding and liquidity management
requirements. The Group manages liquidity risk by continuously monitoring

forecasted and actual cash flows.

As at the end of the reporting period, although the Group has expected a
material uncertainty related to going concern as mentioned in note 2(b), the
directors are satisfied that the Group will have sufficient financial resources
to meet its financial obligations as they full due for at least the next twelve
months from the end of the reporting period after assuming the success of the

measures described in note 2(b).
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(b)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

The following tables show the remaining contractual maturities at the end of
the reporting period of the Group’s non-derivative financial liabilities, which
are based the agreed repayment terms. The tables have been drawn up based
on the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest
date on which the Group can be required to pay. Specifically, bank loans
with a repayment on demand clause are included in the earliest time band
regardless of the probability of the banks choosing to exercise their rights.
The maturity dates for other non-derivative financial liabilities are based on
the agreed repayment dates. The tables include both interest and principal
cash flows. To the extent that interest flows are for floating rate instruments,
the undiscounted amount is derived based on interest rate outstanding at the

end of each reporting period.

“EE

2021
ARARMBS 2R
Contractual undiscounted cash outflow

1 V|
Ty HEkE —EULR KEBBE  =T-H
ERAE  AR-E ARLE EENE REAE  WREM

Weighted
average  Ondemand  Over one year Total Carrying
effective orless than  but less than Over  undiscounted amount at
interest rate one year five years five years cash flows 31 December
% AREFIT ARKTZ AREFLT AREFT ARETZL
4 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000
BATR K Bank loans 6.11 1,800,022 567,528 - 2367550 2231239
HEAR Lease liabilicies 640 46,064 153,242 35,643 234,949 197,100

B 5 F At e Trade and other payables

iR - 1796636 - - 796636 1796636
Bk Senior notes 15.66 3,087,522 - - 3,087,522 2,814,024
BB ERE A Financial guarantee contracts = 326,089 = = 326,089 =
7,056,333 720,770 35,043 7,812,746 7,038,999
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(b) BN PE M BR (4

33 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Liquidity risk (Continued)

“EZE
2020
BHARBLE &
Contractual undiscounted cash outflow

3
migry  EERE EUER AWEHE  =t—H
HA % FR— AR TN E Wi A f A

Weighted
average Ondemand  Over one year Total Carrying
effective orless than  but less than Over  undiscounted amount at
interest rate one year five years five years cashflows 31 December
% ARBTT ARETLT ARFTFT ARETZ ARKFTFL
% RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000
AT Bank loans 721 1,962,415 1,007,220 - 2969635 2811506
HEAR Lease liabiliies 640 41372 189,963 86,816 324,151 261,050

B 5 F At e Trade and other payables

iR - 2,090,044 85,095 -9 2175039
[ Fs Senior notes 274 1265966 2,763,126 - 4029092 3304885
WMBEREH Financial guarantee contracts - 268,605 - - 268,605 -
5,634,402 4,045,404 86,816 9,766,622 8,552,580
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(b)

(c)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

Bank loans with a repayment on demand clause are included in the “on
demand or less than one year” time band in the above maturity analysis.
For Senior notes with put option to the note holders, the analysis in 2021
indicated the expected undiscounted cash flow that assuming the put option
would be exercised. In 2020, the analysis assumed that the put option would

not be exercised.

The total undiscounted cash flows of financial guarantee contracts disclosed
above was the maximum amount the Group could be required to settle under
the arrangement for the full guaranteed amount if that amount was claimed
by the counterparties to the guarantee. Based on expectations at the end of
the reporting period, the Group considers that it is more likely than not
amount will be payable under the arrangement. However, this estimate is
subject to change depending on the probability of the counterparty claiming
under the guarantee which is a function of the likelihood that the financial

receivables held by the counterparty which are guaranteed suffer credit losses.

The amounts included above for variable interest rate instruments for non-
derivative financial liabilities is subject to change if changes in variable
interest rates differ to those estimates of interest rates determined at the end

of the reporting period.

Interest rate risk

The Group’s exposure to cash flow interest rate risk relates primarily to the
variable rate bank borrowings, structured bank deposits and bank balances
of the Group. The Group is also exposed to fair value interest rate risk in
relation to its fixed rate restricted bank deposits, bank borrowings and senior
notes and bonds. The Group currently does not have a specific policy to
manage its interest rate risk, but will closely monitor the interest rate risk

exposure in the future.
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APA
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I A A K

HEAR
BATR K
B

EEDEUTE

LRk

Fixed rate borrowings:

Lease liabilities
Bank loans

Senior notes

Variable rate borrowings:

Bank loans

Total borrowings

fE] 78 I 308 F A 3K Fixed rate borrowings as

BB A

a percentage of total

borrowings

33

(c)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Interest rate risk (Continued)

The following table details the interest rate of the Group’s borrowings at the

end of the reporting period.

R4
2021

e
Effective

interest rate

%

6.40%
4.7%-12%
12.78%-17.3%

1.2%-6.5%

AR T

RMB’000

197,100
339,004
2,814,024

3,350,128

1,892,235
1,892,235

5,242,363

64%

20 R b B 4 B A il GOLDEN WHEEL TIANDI HOLDINGS COMPANY LIMITED

—F= % ﬁi
2020
iyl R AR T
Effective
interest rate RMB’000
%
6.40% 261,050
4.85%-12% 331,238
7.88%—-17.18% 3,304,885
R 3,897,175
1.45%—-6.51% 2,480,268
o 2,480,208
6,377,441
61%
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(BR AR R S LN R 1551 ) (Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

4 i MR B 45 P B Ak T L
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BB AT
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AH SRR RS M5 A e BT
/T B 100 fH JE B 5t SO 52 H Y B B
7% 1 ) S PR B U R A ALY R A
R 14,192,000 0 (ZF ZFA4F 0 AR
18,602,000 7C) °
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33

(c)

(d)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Interest rate risk (Concinued)

Sensitivity analysis

At 31 December 2021, it is estimated that a general increase/decrease of 100
basis points in interest rates, with all other variables held constant, would
have decreased/increased the Group’s profit after tax and retained profits by
approximately RMB14,192,000 (2020: RMB18,602,000).

The sensitivity analysis above indicates the instantaneous change in the
Group’s profit after tax (and retained profits) and other components of
consolidated equity that would arise assuming that the change in interest
rates had occurred at the end of the reporting period and had been applied
to re-measure those financial instruments held by the Group which expose
the Group to fair value interest rate risk at the end of the reporting period.
In respect of the exposure to cash flow interest rate risk arising from floating
rate non-derivative instruments held by the Group at the end of the reporting
period, the impact on the Group’s profit after tax (and retained profits) and
other components of consolidated equity is estimated as an annualised impact
on interest expense or income of such a change in interest rates. The analysis

is performed on the same basis as 2020.

Currency risk

The Group is exposed to currency risk primarily through financial
instruments which give rise to cash and bank balance, bank loans and senior
notes that are denominated in a foreign currency, i.e. a currency other than
the functional currency of the operations to which the transactions relate. The
currencies giving rise to this risk are primarily United States dollars (US$)
and Hong Kong dollars (HK$).

The Group currently does not have a foreign exchange hedging policy.
However, the management of the Group monitors foreign exchange exposure
and will consider hedging significant foreign exchange exposure should the

need arises.
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33 iR AT B R il TR AP
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33 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(d) Currency risk (Continued)

The following table details the Group’s exposure at the end of the reporting
period to currency risk arising from recognised assets or liabilities
denominated in a currency other than the functional currency of the entity to
which they relate. For presentation purposes, the amounts of the exposure are
shown in RMB, translated using the spot rate at the year end date. Differences
resulting from the translation of the financial statements of foreign operations

into the Group’s presentation currency are excluded.

T I ¥ B (LA R 1)

Exposure to foreign currencies (expressed in RMB)

TR “ETRE
2021 2020
eV T EMI T
US$ HKS$ Uss$ HK$
AR F ANBRH T ANRBT T AR T T
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB000 RMB000
& KARAT i R Cash and bank 4,226 21,710 191,993 33,098
MWATEK Bank loans (318,785) (1,265,272) (326,245) (1,302,413)
BREE Senior notes (2,814,024) - (3,304,885) -
B 5 B oAb B Trade and other receivables
I - 2,703 - 2,031
B 5 B Al R Trade and other payables
A - (7,311) (103,354) ©9,517)
e R I A Net exposure arising from
M 728 A2 1 3 JE Bk recognised assets
and liabilities (3,128,583) (1,248,170) (3,542,491) (1,276,801)
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B US$
ESTH HK$
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33 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(d) Currency risk (Continued)
Sensitivity analysis
The following table indicates the instantaneous change in the Group’s profit
after tax (and retained profits) that would arise if foreign exchange rates
to which the Group has significant exposure at the end of the reporting

period had increased at that date, assuming all other risk variables remained

constant.
TR e e 28
2021 2020

decrease decrease

Increase in profit after Increase in profit after

in foreign tax and in foreign tax and
exchange rates  retained profits exchange rates retained profits
B i BRI i

B AR B i B R i

A JE % _E T+ Tk SMERER Tt Tk
ARWT 70 ANR#T T

RMB’000 RMB'000
5% (156,429) 5% (177,125)
5% (52,871) 5% (63,840)

In the opinion of the directors, the sensitivity analysis is unrepresentative of
the inherent foreign exchange risk as the year end exposure does not represent

the exposure during the year.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
(B 14275 50 25 LA e 01 7)

2 ol L, B 4 P R 4k T HL A PR
(#%)
NFEE R
Hﬂ¥ﬁ#52£ﬂﬁéﬂﬁﬁ

LT H 2R
@%@%J%ﬁ%@%%m%&%ﬁ%
TR R 2 SN EEF > NG IR
BT R 2 ARERSR TH A
TEHBIIRFE - AT EF RIS S
B T5 2 R AR A S5 2 B R e 2 A]
AR AR i T T AR O e E

o A HRAN(E EME - BEAE
B S R HOIA ) 2 RO T
BT 2 R A B A T

o RN A SEWAME
BORRERF 8 — Mz B
DY ENIIESN N F -2 VN
BOACPE AABEWAEERA
R B i 357 B 2 A [

o B WA ERR TR
MERHRAFA

WA TR Recurring fair value

measurement
SREE Financial assets:
LS Listed bonds
REE AR E Unquoted equity investments
b Bt 4 Insurance and funds

33

(e)
(1)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Fair value measurement

Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value

Fair value hierarchy

The following table presents the fair value of the Group’s financial
instruments measured at the end of the reporting period on a recurring basis,
categorised into the three-level fair value hierarchy as defined in IFRS 13,
Fair value measurement. The level into which a fair value measurement is
classified is determined with reference to the observability and significance of

the inputs used in the valuation technique as follows:

. Level 1 valuations: Fair value measured using only Level 1 inputs
i.e. unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or

liabilities at the measurement date

. Level 2 valuations: Fair value measured using Level 2 inputs i.e.
observable inputs which fail to meet Level 1, and not using significant
unobservable inputs. Unobservable inputs are inputs for which market

data are not available

. Level 3 valuations: Fair value measured using significant unobservable
inputs
e
ey St S e
e LAPHHEAN
Z AT Fair value measurements as at
efie il 31 December 2021 categorised into
31 December % B B
2021 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
ANRHTFT AR¥TFIT ANRHTFT AR¥TFIT
RMB000 RMB'000 RMB000 RMB'000
3,699 3,699 =
193,240 - - 193,240
16,207 - - 16,207
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(e)
1)

(#

AV 4)

VLA Pl 2 2 R E R A ()
LTS A

BHHEATHEF R Recurring fair value

measurement
GMERE Financial assets:
i R 55 Listed equity securities
LS Listed bonds
MR EE ARG Unquoted equity investments
DR B A4 Insurance and funds

BEF-HERF RET A
= LRI 5 S L
R AR50
2 BRI BUM R 2 s AT
(% 9.2 2 W <

F G RT3 R A
g3

i T SRAT A7 K 3 — AP E 9 4% AT R
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

RN SN DL BT R ) (Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Fair value measurement (Continued)

Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value (Continued)

Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

QS <22
+= A REFZFEF A=+ —H
=+—H Pa/ S Tis Vig iV
ZNTAE Fair value measurements as at
Fair value at 31 December 2020 categorised into
31 December B FH =8
2020 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
ARHTT ARHTF T ARHT T ARHTFIT
RMB000 RMB 000 RMB000 RMB000
39,966 39,966 - -
3,834 3,834 -
192,440 - - 192,440
93,255 - - 93,255

During the year ended 31 December 2021 and 2020, there were no transfers
between Level 1 and Level 2, or transfers into or out of Level 3. The Group’s
policy is to recognise transfers between levels of fair value hierarchy as at the

end of the reporting period in which they occur.

Valuation techniques and inputs used in Level 2 fair value measurements
The fair value of structured bank deposits in Level 2 is determined by

discounting cash flow at a discount rate that reflects the expected future

economic benefits at the end of the reporting period.
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33 AMMBEEMEERSBTHAAE 33

(#)
) AVFAaGHE %) (e)
W) UUKFEFEZEHEER AR () @

AR = AL EH 72 7 B

I b AR B 2 AT TR A& L
b ) 2 AR R T (E ] (RE =
TG A RE ) 2 Pl fF Hh 9 ) e - Bt
ZHGERE N 2 I B A T ER =
MEAWEE - R_F_—F+_H=+—
H > Al FHE B A oAt 5 B AR A2 2 A L
T B WGBS 2R
TN 19 > A5 B 2 M 25 4% 43 B34 I/ ek A
NRH1,449,000 0 (ZF ZFF - NRK
1,443,000 7C) °

AT EFFREHYHAZHNT

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Fair value measurement (Continued)

Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value (Continued)
Information about Level 3 fair value measurements

The fair value of unlisted equity investments is determined using the price/
book ratios of comparable listed companies adjusted for lack of marketability
discount. The fair value measurement is negatively correlated to the discount
for lack of marketability. As at 31 December 2021, it is estimated that with
all other variables held constant, a decrease/increase in discount for lack of
marketability by 1% would have increased/decreased the Group’s equity by
RMB1,449,000 (2020: RMB1,443,000).

The movement during the period in the balance of Level 3 fair value

measurements is as follows:

ZEIH “EFFHE
2021 2020
ANBH T NS
RMB’000 RMB'000
R E R AR E - Unquoted equity investments:

h—H—H At 1 January 192,440 203,144

A 79 A 9 45 TR R Y A 5 B 45 5 Net unrealised gains or losses recognised
Jis 45 1 B in profit or loss during the period 800 (10,704)
wt-H=1+—H At 31 December 193,240 192,440

7R SR T 5 P SR 1) 2 S A A 1 I
BT AR I 2 A i s PR R

i e

Any gains or losses arising from the remeasurement of the Group’s unquoted
equity investments held for strategic purposes are recognised in the profit or

loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Fair value measurement (Continued)

Fair value of financial assets and liabilities carried at other than fair
value

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial instruments carried at cost or
amortised cost were not materially different from their fair values as at 31
December 2021 and 2020 except for the following financial instruments, for

which their carrying amounts and fair value are disclosed below:

REFZFAEF =+ —H

At 31 December 2021 At 31 December 2020
i T i AVE AR T (i NPE
Carrying Carrying
amount Fair value amount Fair value
ABRWT T ANBRHET L ANRHT T ANRET T
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB000 RMB 000
& %mﬁ% (FLHEIERT  Senior notes (including
AE) interest payable) 3,021,216 1,174,226 3,498,448 3,260,339
S 34 COMMITMENTS

R-EZ—FF A= —HHRETH

M7 AR S5 0 2 R A B B AR I T

Contracted for

Capital commitments outstanding at 31 December 2021 not provided for in

the financial statements were as follows:

e S —ECERE
2021 2020

AR T ABRWTTT
RMB'000 RMB'000
665,070 713,110
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(BR 15 B #25 IP B LI RS ) (Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

35 BARAME

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

REF_—F  ROFFE
—A

+=H -
=+—H =t—H
At 31 December At 31 December
2021 2020
AR T ANRIEFTT
RMB’000 RMB’000

AREMRHEF MR HHE  Mortgage loan guarantees provided by the Group

BEE R to banks in favour of its customers 326,089 268,605

FZ A PE R IR SRAT W % 5 1 SRAT B2 SCAR B
W) 3 1 ) S T A R A AR 5 L O 4 R
AR B E B - EHERL > AR
S BPBSE DR AR IR TERR ) 24 (I A
Ko B2 R84S WY 2 B AR I E A0 f
PR ORI A 4R fR 5 A T 3L B SR
FoHERCFCREL A= HEE
Ao fHfE -

These guarantees will be released upon receiving the property ownership
certificate of the respective properties by the banks from the customers as
a pledge for security to the mortgage loans granted. In the opinion of the
directors, the fair values of these financial guarantee contracts of the Group
at initial recognition are insignificant and the directors consider that the
possibility of default by the purchasers of the Group’s properties is remote.
Accordingly, no value has been recognised at the inception of the guarantee
contracts and as at 31 December 2021 and 2020.

286 20 R b B 4 B A il GOLDEN WHEEL TIANDI HOLDINGS COMPANY LIMITED



36
(a)

T2 BB s i 5
FEAFHA B H

44 B A BB B (0 40
W T M o 4 5 10 £ A 0 ) o 0
WA REHMIE RIS -

36
(a)

R B R B
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
//)ﬁﬁ#/’?////%’m 3N '/;//j;irﬂ/ﬂf/ (Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Key management personnel remuneration

Remuneration for key management personnel of the Group, including

amounts paid to the Company’s directors as disclosed in note 8 and certain of

the highest paid employees as disclosed in note 9.

JEE Wt B Bt T kD (b)  Amounts due from related parties
S = =
2021 2020
ANRWEFr AR T
RMB’000 RMB’000
- /Nl Associates 61,622 13,350
EEME Joint ventures 21,852 97,077
83,474 110,427

JE A5 R Wk R JE (c)  Amounts due to related parties

SR SRR
2021 2020
ANRWFr AR T
RMB’000 RMB’000
ik -/ Associates 75,809 155,377
EEME Joint ventures 131,277 104,766
207,086 260,143
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37 4 ) g B IR O

37 COMPANY-LEVEL STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL

POSITION
S
+ZA=Z+—H TZA=t+—H
31 December 31 December
2021 2020
ARWBFI ARETT
RMB’000 RMB000
FER B Non-current assets
T BEF B A ) 22 B R W B R A ) Investments in subsidiaries and amounts
FE due from subsidiaries 3,675,138 4,054,940
REEREZ R Interests in joint ventures 411,356 406,855
Hith &R E Other financial assets 13,520 52,909
VESY G L Property, plant and equipment 1,714 12
4,101,728 77777777 4,514,716
WB&E Current assets
B 5 B E A e A Trade and other receivables 5,067 2,957
Bl BB &% B Cash and cash equivalents 34,362 48,054
e . 949 SLOLL
LR Current liabilities
B 5 BT 308 Trade and other payables 208,694 194,205
BATR Bank loans 522,665 589,577
BEEE Senior notes 2,814,024 1,221,429
T 17 .. S 2005211
S Neccurrentliabilities 505950 1954200
AE W AL Total assets less current liabilities 595,774 2,560,516
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37 4w v A R O A ) 37 COMPANY-LEVEL STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL
POSITION (Continued)
S
FEASE-H FoAS R
31 December 31 December
2021 2020
Wk AR T ARBT7
Note RMB000 RMB'000
Fm B E Non-current liability
BEEE Senior notes = 2,083,456
e - .. 2,083,456
B NET ASSETS 595,774 477,060
A Rkl CAPITAL AND RESERVES 32(a)
[IH& Share capital 112,883 113,099
ik Reserves 482,891 363,961
HRERS TOTAL EQUITY 595,774 477,060
38 HAE Kl B P BT 38 IMMEDIATE AND ULTIMATE CONTROLLING
PARTY
REFZ—FET A= —H ERERS At 31 December 2021, the directors consider the immediate parent of the
AL E ) BN T BB A R AT Group to be Golden Wheel Realty Company Limited, which is incorporated
% ) O B I R e A T o in The British Virgin Islands. The ultimate controlling party is Mr. Wong
il B £ SRE e RH R R (ERKIR]) - Yam Yin and his family (the “Wong Family”).
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39 CHEMMEMARKRE -F 4 39 POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS, NEW

T2H =4 — HIRE A B B STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED
Wl T R R 0 VA B BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE FOR THE YEAR ENDED
31 DECEMBER 2021
HEZSMEHREANEmA Y BEe Up to the date of issue of these financial statements, the IASB has issued a
FHEAE e EMm A TREE 2 - — number of amendments and a new standard, IFRS 17, Insurance contracts,
o g I el = N1 S L N S which are not yet effective for the year ended 31 December 2021 and which
T i 7% 0 R R AR A 5T R e HE R - have not been adopted in these financial statements. These developments
BRPAHS iR RIS 1795 RER A4 - 3% include the following which may be relevant to the Group.
GE R R AL R B AEIA B LT
K IH o
WUT Bz &
D 4 7 90 ) A K

Effective for accounting periods

beginning on or after

I B 5 o Y SR 3 SR ERT AR 2 E MR SR —H—H
Amendments to IFRS 3, Reference to the Conceptual Framework 1 January 2022
B B e w16 BB RT A W WS Rk - (FHEE & AT rid sl “HEZTF-A—H
Amendments to IAS 16, Property, Plant and Equipment: Proceeds before Intended Use 1 January 2022
I i YR S5 37 SRERT A > B HE M A7 — IR 1T & A9 A “EFCHF—A—H
Amendments to IAS 37, Onerous Contracts — Cost of Fulfilling a Contract 1 January 2022
I 5 e ) R — VAR R R TR AR I 2 AR R O SHEZTFE-AH
Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2018-2020 Cycle 1 January 2022
I i YR R 1 SR BT A R AT B DB CERC=F—-H—H
Amendments to IAS 1, Classification of Liabilities into Current or Non-current 1 January 2023
8 5 i T A A5 0 S R R S 5 e o e SRS 2 R T i B AR R ) BB T .
Amendments to IAS 1 and IFRS 2 “Accounting Policies Disclosure” 1 January 2023
I % i YR S 5 8 BEAE AT A > @t At 49 i SR C=F—-H—H
Amendments to IAS 8, Definitions of Accounting Estimates 1 January 2023
B B RS 12 SR BRI A S — G 2 BE R A A B BB —EFT=F—HA—H
Amendments to IAS 12, Deferred Tax in Relation to Assets and Liabilities Arising 1 January 2023

from a Single Transaction

A AR B AR TE REAl % 55 0t R B R R B K The Group is in the process of making an assessment of what the impact of
JRE JTI A ) 2 A R o T > AR AR these developments is expected to be in the period of initial application. So
F) 455 i 2 R A 5% S5 4B T O AT YR RIS K ) far it has concluded that the adoption of them is unlikely to have a significant
REB ARG M IR A A R - impact on the consolidated financial statements.
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Summary of Financial Information

BET-A=Z+—HILEE

For the year ended 31 December

R CERCERF R DEF - )\E SR
2021 2020 2019 2018 2017
ANRETIE ARETFLT AREFLT ARWTFLT AREFT
RMB000 RMB'000 RMB000 RMB'000 RMB000
Ed RESULTS
A Revenue 1,782,495 1,389,119 1,605,448 1,446,354 2,303,505
BRBUAT (B548) /% A (Loss)/profit before taxation (2,080,440) 126,766 452,875 793,991 859,402
HiIA Taxation 93,355 (76,521) (200,347) (451,735) (373,941)
R (B5IR) /B HF (Loss)profit for the year (1,987,085) 50,245 252,528 342,256 485,461
DI AN AL - Attributable to:
A\ A HE 4 R OR Equity shareholders
of the Company (1,980,195) 34,788 252,561 342,256 485,461
FPERE S Non-controlling interest (6,890) 15,457 (33) - -
B (BR) /#H (Loss)/earnings per share RMB
NG
FHAR Basic (1,100) 0.019 0.140 0.190 0.269
G i Diluted (1,100) 0.019 0.140 0.190 0.269
R A ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
M E Total assets 13,839,323 17,159,296 16,229,874 13,914,515 10,905,331
B f Total liabilities (10,908,828)  (12,239,350)  (11,399,238)  (9,306,211)  (6,568,197)
2,930,495 4,919,946 4,830,636 4,608,304 4,337,134
A7\ A HE 4 R OR Equity attributable to
e 5 HE 4 Equity shareholders
of the Company 2,844,489 4,827,050 4,817,197 4,608,304 4,337,134
I e O 4 Non-controlling interest 86,006 92,896 13,439 - -
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Schedule of Principal Properties

BEWE INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Cos LR E YW Completed Investment Properties

W WEAR ok lithes it

No.  Name of Property Location Use Type

1 4 B S 0 B VTR 4 A I A 1 O e B 8 EES
Golden Wheel International ~ No. 8, Hanzhong Road, Gulou District, Commercial
Plaza Nanjing City, Jiangsu Province, the PRC

2 o HE T 24 HEVL R E M TS L A 758 WisE
Golden Wheel Waltz No. 7, Shengjuren Lane, Gulou District, Nanjing Commercial

City, Jiangsu Province, the PRC

3 G PNV BV RR & B T SO R T B 108 B K
Golden Wheel Building No. 108, Hanzhong Road, Gulou District, Commercial

Nanjing City, Jiangsu Province, the PRC

4 F 35 R 4 [ R VTR 4 A I U T 33 5% [ES
Nanjing Jade Garden No. 33 Suo Street, Jianye District, Commercial

Nanjing City, Jiangsu Province, the PRC

5 & 7 40 B FR VL A P LR I R 1118 5 A
Golden Wheel New Metro No. 1118 Shuanglong Avenue, Jiangning District, Commercial
Nanjing City, Jiangsu Province, the PRC

6 & 2 R o VL8R 45 M T 45 90 o B 2 [ [HES
B UL B 228 9
Golden Wheel Star City No. 228, Yangtze River Middle Road, Yangzhou Commercial

New Development District, Yangzhou City,

Jiangsu Province, the PRC

7 S LT FEVLH A MR T m TR R 29 ¥
Golden Wheel Star-cube No. 2 Yupan East Road, Yuhuatai Distric, Commercial

Nanjing City, Jiangsu Province, the PRC

8 42 i 35 2R 42 R AR T R T R K 88 B
Zhuzhou Golden Wheel No. 88 Yandi Avenue, Tianyuan District, Zhuzhou Commercial
Jade Garden City, Hunan Province, the PRC

292 20 R b B 4 B A il GOLDEN WHEEL TIANDI HOLDINGS COMPANY LIMITED

WEA T
Approximate
GFA sq.m.

31,674

2,444

238

3,273

18,357

2,977

2,181

1,482

L

Lease term

i

medium

H

medium

1

medium

i

medium

O

medium

1

medium

i

medium

i

medium



i

loﬂf‘]‘;il

11

12

13

14

15

i

Note 1

EXA T
Name of Property

e85 4 L 4%
Wuxi Golden
Wheel Star Plaza

PN B R 0

Yangzhou Powerlong
Golden Wheel Plaza

A AT

Golden Wheel Jinqiao Huafu

R &4 Bt 4
Changsha Golden
Wheel Star Plaza

ST 2R
Golden Wheel Binary

Star Plaza

1 W 5 [
Yangzhou Lakeside Emerald

House

R N <5 A T (—30)
Zhuzhou Golden Wheel
Jingiao Huafu (Phase I)

ok

Location

B VLA 6 0 895 I R S R AR B 3 9
No. 3, Qianwei Road, Xinwu District,

Wausxi City, Jiangsu Province, the PRC

R YRR 7 45 N T 451U B

B PY RS X

The intersection of Yangtze River Middle Road
and Kaifa West Road, Yangzhou City, Jiangsu
Province, the PRC

B T R A T T [

HE MR A 16 3B 3 9%

No. 3, Xiuwen Road, Longmian Road,
Jiangning District, Nanjing City,
Jiangsu Province, the PRC

o B 1) R R T T AL RO 5 B 131 9%
No. 131, Xiangxiu Road, Yuhua District,
Changsha City, Hunan Province, the PRC

B VAR A e T VL [ RO 1101 9%

No. 1101 Shuanglong Avenue, Jiangning District,

Nanjing City, Jiangsu Province, the PRC

HR B AR M i S R A 4 B 31 5%
No. 31 Weiyang Road, Hanjiang District,
Yangzhou City, Jiangsu Province, the PRC

R T A N T R O [ 48 R 9 9

No. 9 Yandi Avenue, Tianyuan District, Zhuzhou

City, Hunan Province, the PRC

b il
Use Type
HES
Commercial
ES

Commercial

EEVE £

Commercial/

Residential

[HES

Commercial

iES

Commercial

[HE S

Commercial

¥/ T
Commercial/

Residential

Schedule of Principal Properties

P40 2 S T
FIK
Approximate
GFA sq.m.

19,625

65,400

2,742

10,970

24,403

1,045

1,673

FHEYER

ikl
Lease term

H

medium

B

medium

i

medium

1

medium

i

medium

O

medium

i

medium
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FEYEE
Schedule of Principal Properties

1o £ Bl 3§ v 1 B W) 8

myE AR
No.  Name of Property

1 P B i AR 2 T
Nanjing Golden Wheel
Cuiyong Hua Ting

2 g5 i B 22 T
Wuxi Golden Wheel
Starry Plaza

3 P AL B

Nanjing Golden Wheel
Galaxy Center

Investment Properties under Development

Ho

Location

B L A R e T K [ R B LA
West of Ning Li Road, Lishui District,
Nanjing City, Jiangsu Province, the PRC

SRR 33 piElgr ]

L6 B B I 22 3L 1 SRR f)
Southeast to the intersection between Jianghai
Road and Fengbin Road, Beitang District,
Wausxi City, Jiangsu Province, the PRC

R B YR 7 I [ T B

e JE R A8 S R AE A

Northeast to the intersection between Jiangnan
Road and Hongyun Avenue, Jiangning District,

Nanjing City, Jiangsu Province, the PRC

294 20 R b B 4 B A il GOLDEN WHEEL TIANDI HOLDINGS COMPANY LIMITED

JiERes kit

Use Type

LES

Commercial

[HE S

Commercial

[HE S

Commercial

B8 4 e S8 T
FIk
Approximate

GFA sq.m.

2,500

15,097

46,647

L

Lease term

i

medium

i)

medium

i

medium



7 435 T A 1 8 55 A 3

W MEAWR
No. Name of Property

1 i B R e

Golden Wheel International Plaza

2 4 i ) P 8 355
Golden Wheel International Plaza
3 G R

Golden Wheel Star City

4 Edm b UR S
Golden Wheel Times Square
5 & A P

Golden Wheel Star Plaza

6 PRt 35 22 4
Zhuzhou Golden Wheel Jade
Garden

7 4 85 4 i B O 44 g
Wuxi Golden Wheel Star Plaza

FHEYER
Schedule of Principal Properties

PROPERTIES HELD FOR SALE OR OCCUPATION BY

THE GROUP

B8 40 2 S T A

ik JitFe 3 kit FIik
Approximate

Location Use Type GFA sq.m.
o VAR 7 T T M [ T B 8 R WA= 2,535
No. 8, Hanzhong Road, Gulou District, Office
Nanjing City, Jiangsu Province, the PRC
P VTR 4 A I A N O e B 8 FEY 2,022
No. 8, Hanzhong Road, Gulou District, Carpark
Nanjing City, Jiangsu Province, the PRC
BB 7 45 M T 45 R B [ w¥/ T/ FE 5,672
Pr 7L 208 5%
No. 228, Yangtze River Middle Road, Commercial/Residential/
Yangzhou New Development District, Carpark
Yangzhou City, Jiangsu Province, the PRC
T4 T A A T [ 3 B 1 5 [ES 185
No. 1, Chezhan Road, Lusong District, Commercial
Zhuzhou City, Hunan Province, the PRC
R VTR 4 AT VL [ R A [LEVER ) 1,732
Wl KA 998 %
No. 998 Chengxin Avenue, Mo Ling Street, Commercial/Carpark
Jiangning District, Nanjing City,
Jiangsu Province, the PRC
R R T R T E R K 88 YR W HEE EEY 8,905
No. 88 Yandi Avenue, Tianyuan District, Zhuzhou Commercial/Residential/
City, Hunan Province, the PRC Carpark
B T S 55 i BT S [ A B 3 [LEVLi L 3,805

No. 3, Qianwei Road, Xinwu District,

Wouxi City, Jiangsu Province, the PRC

Commercial/Residential
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FEYEE
Schedule of Principal Properties

ETh

10

11

12

13

14

15

EXA
Name of Property

45 Wi 47 1
Golden Wheel New Metro

SRRy

Golden Wheel Star-cube

B AR T

Golden Wheel Jingiao Huafu

R & Eot4 B
Changsha Golden Wheel Star Plaza

EA L SR
Golden Wheel Binary Star Plaza

P WA
Yangzhou Lakeside Emerald House

A 553 < i 0 1 R D

Wuxi Golden Wheel Lakeside
Orchid Garden

ERiEA PN
Hong Kong Golden Wheel
Plaza

ok

Location

v VT T T VLR [ R 118 %
No. 118 Shuanglong Avenue, Jiangning District,
Nanying City, Jiangsu Province, the PRC

H BV 7 T AE 6 [ AR R A 2 5%
No. 2 Yupan East Road, Yuhuatai District,
Nanjing City, Jiangsu Province, the PRC

R YT 4 A R

FE AR A 28 16 SC I 3 9%

No. 3 Xiuwen Road, Longmian Road,
Jiangning District, Nanjing City,
Jiangsu Province, the PRC

Fh I R 0TI AL L 7 B 131 9%
No. 131, Xiangxiu Road, Yuhua District,
Changsha City, Hunan Province, the PRC

B TR ) I T I RE KA 1101 9
No. 1101 Shuanglong Avenue, Jiangning District,
Nanjing City, Jiangsu Province, the PRC

VLR 45 TS U e A 45 B 31 9%
No. 31 Weiyang Road, Hanjiang District,
Yangzhou City, Jiangsu Province, the PRC

R VTR 55 i 1

IELER TS|

The intersection between ShiLi Mingzhudi and
Xiaguang Road, Binhu District, Wuxi City,
Jiangsu Province, the PRC

I 7 i 7 R 68 5%
Nos. 68 Electric Road, Hongkong, China

296 20 R b B 4 B A il GOLDEN WHEEL TIANDI HOLDINGS COMPANY LIMITED

HBE A0 7 54 1
bt i 05 K
Approximate
Use Type GFA sq.m.
{EELI 243
Carpark
LEIECa %] 403
Commercial/Carpark
/Y 4,822
Residential/Carpark
W%/ /Y 21,029
Commercial/Residential/
Carpark
[HES 20,254
Commercial
LEYE R 11,484
Commercial/Carpark
[E VxS 6,205
Commercial/Residential
[HES 4,828

Commercial



ETh

16

17%‘;12

Note 2

18%‘;11

Note 1

19%‘;13

Note 3

20

21

22\%’]5'{4

Note 4

EXA

Name of Property

PRI 2 i A O (— 30)
Zhuzhou Golden Wheel Jingiao
Huafu (Phase I)

P 1L

Nanjing Shiguang Shanhu

HME SRS

Yangzhou Powerlong Golden
Wheel Plaza

ELE R

Changzhou Junwang Jia Di

P 2 U 4 4
Nanjing Golden Wheel

Romantic Tower

P 4 K 2 g

Nanjing Golden Wheel
Shuiying Hua Ting

Pa N ERLRACZ

Yangzhou Vanke Future Light

ok

Location

P T e A i R O [ 4 A KA 9 B

No. 9 Yandi Avenue, Tianyuan District, Zhuzhou

City, Hunan Province, the PRC

W LR R A TN A
St MEETEN S

Qinglong Market, Jinniu Lake sub-district,

Liuhe District, Nanjing City, Jiangsu Province,

the PRC

P TR 5 M T4 T A L G

LM

The intersection of Yangtze River Middle Road
and Kaifa West Road, Yangzhou City, Jiangsu

Province, the PRC

B TR M IR L
FE TR B LAY > - LA R

West of Xueye Road, South of Yingping Road,
Xinbei District, Changzhou City,

Jiangsu Province, the PRC

B VAR T SO L L) B 223 9%

No. 223 Zhongshan Road,
Gulou District, Nanjing City,
Jiangsu Province, the PRC

P TR ) AT R T L
DU B 177 9%

No. 177 Wenxi Road,

Gaochun District, Nanjing City,
Jiangsu Province, the PRC

HR TR A 4 M T [
T AR B BRI B 2 A

The intersection between Qingnian Road and
Chuangxin Road, Hanjiang District,
Yangzhou City, Jiangsu Province, the PRC

FHEYER
Schedule of Principal Properties

B8 4 e S8 T
isFe kit FIik
Approximate
Use Type GFA sq.m.
[ Y 15,580

Commercial/Residential

HEYEE R 3,540

Commercial/Carpark

HEYEE R 32,132

Commercial/Carpark

W/ TS 42373

Commercial/Residential/

Carpark

EYEER] 14,713

Commercial/Carpark

LE VY2 ® 11,060

Commercial/Residential/

Carpark

¥y o

FE 9,138

Residential
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FEYEE
Schedule of Principal Properties

i ¢ v 3

ﬁ u}h

ALES

Note 5

6%%‘%

Note 6

EZA

Name of Property

PR R AR 22 T ()
Zhuzhou Golden Wheel Jingiao
Huafu (Phase II)

P 4B R 2

Nanjing Golden Wheel Cuiyong
Hua Ting

e 55 4 i 12 22

Wuxi Golden Wheel Starry Plaza

Pagh 181 98
Yangzhou No.1 Golden Bay

I B P O

Nanjing Golden Wheel
Galaxy Center

< 9 AR R

Golden Wheel Shangdu Age City

Mansion

PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT

H ik

Location

R T A TR O [ 48 A R A 9 9

No. 9 Yandi Avenue, Tianyuan District, Zhuzhou

City, Hunan Province, the PRC

R B YT 4 A I K 8 B LAY
West of Ning Li Road, Lishui District,
Nanjing City, Jiangsu Province, the PRC

P VLK 7 I 85 117 AU I [ VL B LR B
a3l ]

Southeast to the intersection between Jianghai
Road and Fengbin Road, Beitang District,

Wuxi City, Jiangsu Province, the PRC

TR 7 5 M T B D SR B 178 %
No. 178, Jiangyang East Road, Guangling
District, Yangzhou City, Jiangsu Province,

the PRC

B T 7 AT YR [ T B B

R R B 2 S B R AL

Northeast to the intersection between Jiangnan
Road and Hongyun Avenue, Jiangning District,

Nanjing City, Jiangsu Province, the PRC

0 TR 7 e 5 TR L B
12 B Bt AL B

The intersection between Huazhong Road and
Hougong Road, Ganyu District,

Lianyungang City, Jiangsu Province, the PRC

20 R b B 4 B A il GOLDEN WHEEL TIANDI HOLDINGS COMPANY LIMITED

1B 4 e 5 i
b il F ik
Approximate
Use Type GFA sq.m.
[E Y& Exs 170,596
Commercial/Residential
[E YEiE=YE:a &) 115,282
Commercial/Residential/
Carpark
[ES 99,039
Commercial
[HE Vi LY E:a: s 29,220
Commercial/Residential/
Carpark
LEEEa* 195,353
Commercial/Carpark
LEYEIEYLR %) 158,695

Commercial/Residential/

Carpark



FHEYER
Schedule of Principal Properties

R 20 s 4 T
myE EAW ik liERes kit FIik
Approximate
No. Name of Property Location Use Type GFA sq.m.
7RI T AR U B R AR 7 TR i [ B M/ T FEY 56,092
IS Bt A2 B
Now7  Shangdu Fengjing The Intersection between Hailian Road and Commercial/Residential/
Yuzhou Road, Haizhou District, Carpark
Lianyungang City, Jiangsu Province, the PRC
ghiits  EHER P AR R R 9 1 2 T g B e 99,651
B o i A R
Now8  Galaxy Light The intersection between Tongguan South Road ~ Residential
and Jianshe Middle Road, Haizhou District,
Lianyungang City, Jiangsu Province, the PRC
oFie 45 M B R [ P VLR M T TR VLAY B AR W s G 94,826
P Bt A2 M
N9 Yangzhou Kaichen Mansion The intersection between Shisha Road and Shigiao Commercial/Residential/
South Road, Hanjiang District, Yangzhou City,  Carpark
Jiangsu Province, the PRC
1% 10 i i BRI oL R A R TR B N R R R 34,701
[RIRRSE A B 4 TISEE 1y
Nowl0 ™ Shangpin Xuefu South to Guanlan International Community, Commercial/Residential/

north to Times Road and east to Planning Road, ~ Carpark
Ganyu District, Lianyungang City, Jiangsu
Province, the PRC
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FEYEE
Schedule of Principal Properties

Bif5E -

5.

I m AL F A 409 Wi 2 BB A TR -

S I A AT 259 < B N T BB

I H A A 13,339 ZHE AT B -

FZIEH AL A 20% 2 8 A B

% IE FH AR A 32.649% 2 WHE 20 7 BH 5§ o

FZIEH A S AT 379 2 WA R DR R
A2 I8 A BB 10 Z BB A I
AL I8 H A BB 379 2 BB A FI I 8

2 IA A A 24.59% Z I 2w B EE o

FZIE AR BB 200 2 WE A I -

Notes:

1.

2.

3.

4.

5.

6.

7.

8.

9.

10.

The project is developed by a joint venture company in which the Group has a 49%

interest.
The project is developed by an associate company in which the Group has a 25% interest.

The project is developed by an associate company in which the Group has a 13.33%

interest.

The project is developed by a joint venture company in which the Group has a 20%

interest.

The project is developed by a subsidiary company in which the Group has a 32.64%

interest.

The project is developed by an associate company in which the Group has a 37% interest.
The project is developed by an associate company in which the Group has a 10% interest.
The project is developed by an associate company in which the Group has a 37% interest.

The project is developed by an associate company in which the Group has a 24.5%

interest.

The project is developed by an associate company in which the Group has a 20% interest.

300 20 R b B 4 B A il GOLDEN WHEEL TIANDI HOLDINGS COMPANY LIMITED
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